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Dear Sir/Madam:

The purpose of this letter is to request an Advisory Opinion from you pursuant to CFR
112.1(e). e

This firm's client, Armco Steel Company, L.P. ("Armco L.P."), is a Delaware hrmte?l'
partnership. Armco L.P. was formed in May 1989 as a joint venture between Armco Inc,
("Armco Inc.") and Kawasaki Steel Investments, Inc. ("Kawasaki"), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Kawasaki Steel Holdings (USA) Inc., a domestic subsidiary of Kawasaki Steel Corporation,
a Japanese company (collectively referred to as "the Kawasaki companies”). Armco Inc. owiis
a 49.5% limited partnership interest in Armco L.P., as does Kawasaki. AK Management
Corporation ("AK Management”) is the General Partner of Armco L.P. AK Managemeht
Corporation owns a 1% partnership interest in Armco L.P. AK Management is jointly owned
by AJV Investments Inc. and KSCA Incorporated who each own fifty % (50%) of the stock of
AK Management.

Armco L.P. intends to undergo a reorganization by the end of this month, under which
Armco L.P. will become AK Steel Corporation ("AK Steel”), a Delaware corporation and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of AK Steel Holding Corporation ("AK Holding™), a Delaware
corporation. The reorganization will occur as follows:

] Armco Inc. and Kawasaki will contribute their limited partnership interests
Armco L.P. to AK Holding;

o AJV Investments Inc. and KSCA Incorporated will each give their stock in AK
Management to AK Holding;
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° AK Holding will transfer its limited partnership interest (100%) in Armco L.P.
to AK Steel.

° AK Holding will transfer its stock in AK Management to AK Steel.

After this is done, AK Steel will in essence be the sole partner of Armco L.P. and, as such,
Armco L.P. will dissolve by operation of law. AK Steel will own all of the assets of the former
Armco L.P. and all of Armco L.P.’s employees will become the employees of AK Steel. In
essence, through a transfer of stock and partnership interests to AK Steel, Armco L.P. will
become a corporation--AK Steel.

Immediately after the reorganization, AK Holding intends to issue approximately
15,572,222 of its Common Stock to the public through an initial public offering ("IPO"). After
the IPO, Armco Inc. will own approximately 4.2% of the outstanding shares of Common Stock
and Kawasaki will own approximately 22.7% of the outstanding shares of Common Stock.
Copies of the SEC Form S-1 filed by AK Steel and AK Holding are attached as Exhibits 1 and
2, respectively. The red herring Prospectus for the equity offering is attached as Exhibit 3.

Armco Inc. has an Ohio political action committee called the Armco Better Citizenship
Committee ("ABC PAC"), to which employees of Armco L.P. have contributed in the past,
through a payroll deduction plan. Ammco L.P. has a separate Kentucky political action
committee called the Kentucky Armco Steel Company, L.P. Better Citizenship Voluntary
Political Action Committee ("Armco L.P. Kentucky PAC"). Prior to the IPO, Armco L.P.
intends to establish a federal political action committee (referred to in this letter as the "Armco
L.P. Federal PAC"). Thereafter, Armco L.P. intends to have both the ABC PAC and the
Armco L.P. Kentucky PAC act as collecting agents, and transfer the funds in each PAC to the
Armco L.P. Federal PAC, after first obtaining the written authorization of the employee
contributors to make the transfer. The Armco L.P. Federal PAC intends to follow the procedure
for this set forth in Advisory Opinion 1984-31.

Immediately after the reorganization, AK Steel intends to file an Amended Statement of
Organization with the Commission, changing the name of the connected organization of the
Armco L.P. Federal PAC to reflect that AK Steel is the new connected organization, and to
change the name of the PAC to likewise reflect that AK Steel is the new connected organization.
At that time, the employees of Armco L.P. will have become employees of AK Steel. AK Steel
will solicit the written authorization of executive and administrative employees of AK Steel to
authorize the contribution of moneys to the AK Steel PAC by payroll deduction. Armco L.P.
requests an Advisory Opinion concerning the application of the Federal Election Campaign Act
and the FEC Regulations to the proposed transfers from the ABC PAC and the Armco Kentucky
L.P. PAC to the Armco L.P. Federal PAC, and, specifically, whether the transfers can be made
by the collecting agents without either the ABC PAC or the Armco L.P. Kentucky PAC
becoming a political committee with reporting obligations to the Commission. Also, Armco
L.P. requests an Advisory Opinion regarding the change of the name of the connected
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organization and the change of the name of the PAC. In essence, Armco L.P. wants to make
certain that the Armco L.P. Federal PAC will be treated as the PAC of AK Steel after the
reorganization.

Additionally, Armco L.P. requests an Advisory Opinion from the Commission to
determine if the AK Steel PAC will be deemed to be affiliated with any federally-registered
committee of Armco Inc.' The pertinent facts in this regard are as follows. Upon the
completion of the recapitalization, Armco Inc. will own approximately 4.2% of the outstanding
shares of Common Stock of AK Holding and Kawasaki will own approximately 22.7% of the
outstanding shares of Common Stock. Additionally, it is anticipated that the AK Steel
Corporation Master Pension Trust will own approximately 10.7% of the outstanding shares of
Common Stock.

None of the officers or employees of AK Holding or AK Steel will be employees or
officers of either Armco Inc. or the Kawasaki companies. Additionally, it is anticipated that the
shares of AK Holding will be traded vigorously on the open market, leading to large numbers
of different shareholders. Furthermore, it is expected that no single group of shareholders will
hold a controlling interest in AK Holding.

At present, the directors of AK Steel are Thomas C. Graham, James R. Will, Kanji
Emoto, John B. Corey, David G. Harmer, Kinya Yamaguchi and Tadaaki Yanazawa. At the
present, Mr. Graham, Mr. Will and Mr. Emoto are the only directors of AK Holding. It is
anticipated that, prior to completion of the recapitalization, four additional independent directors
will be added to the board of AK Holding and Mr. Corey, Mr. Harmer, Mr. Yamaguchi and .
Mr. Yanazawa will resign as directors of AK Steel. Thus, after the recapitalization, the board
of AK Steel will consist of Mr. Graham, Mr. Will and Mr. Emoto. The board of AK Holding
will consist of Mr. Graham, Mr. Will, Mr. Emoto, and four additional independent directors.
Mr. Graham is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of AK Holding and AK Steel. Mr.
Will is the President and Chief Executive Officer of Armco Inc. and is also a director of Armco
Inc. Mr. Emoto is a Managing Director of Kawasaki Steel Corporation and a former director
of Kawasaki Steel Corporation. In addition, AK Holding and Kawasaki Steel Corporation are
negotiating an agreement pursuant to which, for as long as Kawasaki Steel Corporation
beneficially owns an agreed upon minimum percentage of the outstanding shares of Common
Stock, AK Holding will take all action necessary to nominate and support the nomination of one
person designated by Kawasaki Steel Corporation for election as a director of AK Holding and
to solicit proxies in favor of the election of such nominee as a director. Mr. Emoto is Kawasaki
Steel Corporation’s initial designee to AK Holding’s Board of Directors.

1 Tt is our understanding that neither Kawasaki Steel Corporation, Kawasaki Steel
Holdings (USA) Inc. nor Kawasaki Steel Investments, Inc. have a federally-registered
political action committee.
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It is anticipated that Mr. Will, Mr. Graham and Mr. Emoto may sit on some of the same
boards (of companies other than Armco or Kawasaki) with one or more of the four new
independent board members.

It is anticipated that neither the Articles of Incorporation nor the By-Laws of AK Steel
and AK Holding will enable either Armco Inc. or Kawasaki to participate in the governance of
AK Holding or AK Steel. It is intended that the governance and management of AK Holding
and AK Steel will be separate and independent from Armco Inc. and the Kawasaki companies.
Certain contracts and agreements which are considered necessary and appropriate for AK
Holding and AK Steel to operate effectively after the recapitalization will continue after the
recapitalization. For instance, as is indicated in the SEC Form-1, pursuant to the Joint Venture
Formation Agreement dated March 24, 1989 between Armco Inc. and Kawasaki (the "Formation
Agreement"), Armco L.P. is obligated to indemnify Armco Inc. and Kawasaki for losses relating
to, among other things, Armco L.P.’s management, control,-ownership and operation of its
business and for liabilities (including environmental and employee-related liabilities) relating to
its business. Following the recapitalization, AK Holding and AK Steel will continue to have this
indemnification obligation. Under the Formation Agreement, Armco Inc. is obligated to
indemnify Armco L.P. for (i) certain supplemental unemployment benefit payments up to a
maximum of $20.0 million, and (ii) certain other costs. In connection with the recapitalization,
AK Holding, AK Steel, Armco Inc: and Kawasaki have agreed to terminate these
indemnification obligations of Armco Inc.

We view this situation as being very similar to the situations set-forth in Advisory
Opinions 1989-16 and 1993-23. We request an Advisory Opinion from the Commission setting
forth its opinion on whether the AK Steel PAC will be deemed to be affiliated with any
federally-registered PAC of Armco Inc. (and any federally-registered PAC of any of the
domestic subsidiaries of Kawasaki Steel Corporation should they choose to establish one).

If any additional, pertinent information becomes available to us, we will provide it to
you. In the meantime, should you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me.

Very truly yours,

Ao

Grant S. Cowan
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SECURITIES AND EXAHANGE COMMISSIO

WASHINGT N, D.C. 20549

FORM S-1
REGISTRATION STATEMENT
UNDER
THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

Issuer of Senior Notes registered hereby

AK STEEL CORPORATION
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(Stats or other jurisdiction of (Primary standard industrial employer
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703 Curtis Street
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AK STEEL CORPORATION
AK STEEL HOLDING CORPORATION

CROSS-REFERENCE SHEET

Furnished Pursuant to Item 501(b) of Regulation S-K showing location in the
Prospectus of the information required by items of Form S-1

Form S-1 Item Number and Headlng
1. Forepart of the Registration Statement and
Outside Front Cover Page of Prospectus....

2. Inside Front and Outside Back Cover Pages
of Prospectus. ..ccoeceesecerccncccccnnns

3. Summary Information, Risk Factors and
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges....... .

4 Useof Proceeds ..ccvocnrceccancanes
S. Determination of Offering Price . .........
6. Dilution ........ cecescssasesanans ceees
7. Selling Securityholders .. v.ceeeuneunse.
8. Plan of Distribution «.ccoovveeenanns
9. Description of Securities to Be Registered ..

10. Interests of Named Experts and Counsel ...

11. Information with Respect to
the Registrant ...coeeecrcnecccccccacas ‘e

12. Disclosure of Commission Position
on Indemnification for Securitics
AmL.ubmﬁ“...l....llll_"...ll......‘

Captlon or Location in Prospectus

Outside Front Cover Page of Pr&s.pectlu

Inside Front and Outside Back Cover Pages of
Prospectus

Prospectus Summary; Certain Considerations;
Summary Historical Consolidated Financial Data;
Summary Historical and Pro Forma Consolidated
Financial Data.

Prospectus Summary; The Recapitalization; Use of
Proceeds

Not Applicable

Not Applicable

Not Applicable

Outside Front Cover Page of Prospectus; Underwriting
Outside Front Cover Page of Prospectus; Prospectus
Summary; Description of Senior Notes

Legal Matters; Experts

Outside Front Cover Page of Prospectus; Prospectus
Summary; Certain Considerations; The
Recapitalization; The Company; Capitalization;
Historical and Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated
Financial Data; Selected Historical Consolidated
Financial Data; Management'’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations;
Business; Management; Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions; Ownership of Capital Stock;
Financial Statements

Not Applicable



SUBJECT TO COMPLETION, DATED JANUARY26,1994

PROSPECTUS

$275,000,000

AKX Steel Corporation
% Senior Notes Due 2004
Guaranteed on a Senior Basis by

AIEJ Steel Holding Corporation
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Interest payoble , 2004

The % Senior Notes Due 2004 (the “Senior Notes') are being offersd (the “Senior Notes Offering”) by AK Stee!
Corporation (“AK Steel”). The Senior Notes are sot redeemadle prior 1o : s 1999. Thereafter, the Senior
Notes are redeemable at the option of AK Stecl, in whole or in part, at the redemption prices set forth Aerein plus
acerued interest to the date of redemption. Upon a Change in Control (as defined herein) and subject to certain
conditions, ecach holder of Senior Notes may requirs AK Steel to repurchase such Senior Notes at 101% of the
principal amount thereof plus accrued interest ro the Chasge in Control Payment Date (s defined hereisn).
¢ Senior Notes will be semior unsecursd obligarions of AK Steel oxd will renk pari passu with all other senior
indedtedness of AAg gmf ;1 & I&S‘;nior Notes wi 6;‘ m&u’;«% g;:mmd ;1; a J:;;:Jor :ﬂg‘ru by AK Stel's parens
corporation, el Holding Corporation (“Holding"). cember 31, h givisg pro forma
effecs 1o the recopitolisation described Aervis (' os”), the aggregote amosaf :;umm
indebredness of AK Sueel (indlading secured indebtedness of $128.4 million and the Semior Notes)
would have been approximarely $412.4 million. See “Descriprion of Semior Notes."

The Sensor Notes Offering is part of a Recapitalization that also includes (1) the public offering, pursuant 10 a separate
prospectus, of 15,750,000 shares of Common Stock to be issued by Holdeng (excluding 2,362,500 shares of Common
Srock subject ro an over-allotment option), (1) the issuancs by Holding directly to certaix parties of an estimated
2,500,000 shares of Common Stock in exchange for certsin existing tndedts ond as a contribution to the
AK Steel pension trust, (5ii) a substanricl reducsion in the amoust of AK Stesl's remaining indebtedness and
extension of the marurity dates for a portion of this indebtedasss and (tv) a sew $75 milfion revolving
eredit facility with a froe-year term. The consummarion of the Senior Notes Offering is conditioned upon
the concurrent consummation of the other elements of the Recapitalisanion. See “The Recapitalisation.”
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Certain Considerations” for a discussion of certzin factors that should be considered in
connection with an investment in the Senior Notes.
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THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE
AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION NOR
HAS THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR ANY STATE
SECURITIES COMMISSION PASSED UPON THE ACCURACY OR AD-
BEQUACY OF THIS PROSFECTUS. ANY REPRESENTATION
TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.
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(2) Before deduction of expenses payable by AK Stee! estimated at §

The Senior Notes are offered by the Underwriter when, as and if issued by AK Stedl, deiversd ro and accepted by the
Underwriter and subject to its right 10 rejecs orders in whole or i part. It is expected that the Semior Notes will be ready
Jor delivery on or ., 1994.
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[N CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, THE UNDERWRITER MAY OVER-ALLOT OR .
EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WHICH STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE
SECURITIES OFFERED HEREBY AT A LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE
PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH TRANSACTIONS MAY BE EFFECTED IN THE OVER-
THE-COUNTER MARKET OR OTHERWISE. SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE
DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME,

[PICTURES]



PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

The following summary is qualified in its entirety by, and should be read in conjunction with, the more
detailed information and financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Prospectus. Except where otherwise
indicated, the information in this Prospectus assumes that the over-allotment option granted to the
underwriters with respect to the Common Stock Offering is not exercised. In addition, unless the context
requires otherwise, information in this Prospectus has been adjusted to reflect the reorganization of Armco
Steel Company, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (the “Partnership”), 10 AK Steel Corporation (“AK
Steel”}, a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of AK Steel Holding Corporation (“Hold-
ing”]. a transaction which will be consummated immediately prior 1o the Recapitalization. All references to
the Company shall mean Holding AK Steel and Holding's other consolidated subsidiaries, as the successor to
the Partnership. See “The Company” and “The Recapitalization.”

The Company

The Company is the sixth largest integrated steel producer in the United States, manufacturing primarily
high strength, low carbon flat-rolled steel, the largest segment of the domestic steel market. The Company
concentrates on the production of premium grades, and value-added applications, of hot-rolled steel and
coated and uncoated cold-rolled steel for sale to the automotive, appliance and manufacturing markets, as well
as to the construction industry and independent stee] distributors and service centers.

In June 1992, the Company began implementing a strategic business plan to improve the yield and
reduce the costs of its production operations while enhancing its ability to meet the extremely high product
quality, delivery and technical support requirements of those customers who are the principal users of
premium grades of flat-rolled steel. This strategic plan, which has already achieved significant results, consists
of the following key elements:

New Management. A new senior management team consisting of experienced steel executives was
installed commencing June 1992. Among other actions, new management has instituted changes in the
line management at virtually all of the Company’s production facilities and in the management of its sales
and marketing organization, and has raised the expectations and capabilities of its personnel

Productivity Improvements. Productivity has been increased significantly through the elimination
of redundant, less efficient operations and production facilities and the increase in the operating levels of
the Company’s remaining equipment. Among the specific measures taken are the shift to 100%
continuous casting, the idling of the hot-rolling and cold-rolling mills and associated pickling lines at the
Company’s Ashland, Keatucky, steel works and a restructuring of its equipment maintenance procedures
to increase substantially the operating speeds and productivity of its remaining facilities. As a result of
these changes, the Company has been able to increase its total volume of steel shipments from
3,049,000 tons for the year ended December 31, 1992 to 3,429,400 tons for the year ended December 31,
1993, while reducing its man hours per ton from 5.93 for 1992 to 4.20 for 1993. In the most recent
quarter, man hours per ton were reduced to 4.01 as compared with 5.49 for the quarter ended
December 31, 1992,

Cost Reduction Programs. Costs throughout the Company’s operations have beea reduced substan-
tially. In addition to the cost savings associated with the productivity improvements described above, the
Company has restructured its remaining work force and renegotiated key raw materials and transporta-
tion contracts. These measures resulted in cost reductions of $110.0 million in 1993. The Company
believes that these savings represent permanent reductions in’ its cost structure and anticipates further
savings, although there can be no assurance that any such savings will in fact be achieved in future
periods.

Product Quality and Reliability. Product quality and reliability have been emphasized. Improve-
meats made in virtually every phase of the Company’s production operations have substantially enhanced
the overall quality and consistency of its steel products and its ability to meet customers® just-in-time
delivery requirements. The Company’s customer rejection rate declined from approximately 1.23% of
tonnage shipped for the year ended December 31, 1992 to 0.61% of tonnage shipped for the year ended
December 31, 1993 (0.93% and 0.46% for the fourth quarters of 1992 and 1993, respectively), and its
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tonnage shipped to the secondary market as a percentage of total tons shipped decreased from 16.6% to -
12.2% for these periods (14.0% and 9.0% for the fourth quarters of 1992 and 1993, respectively). In
addition to contributing to higher margins, these improvements bave led to a reduction in the need to
stockpile large inventories of key product lines to ensure timely customer deliveries and also have
enhanced revenues.

High-end Marketing. Marketing cfforts have been increasingly directed toward those high-end
customers, such as automotive and appliance manufacturers, whose exacting quality, on-time delivery
and technical support requirements and need for specialized product applications (such as those that use
coated steels) justify premium pricing. The Company believes that its enhanced product quality and
delivery capabilities, and its emphasis on customer technical support and product planning, are critical
factors in its ability to serve this important segment of the market.

The Company, the successor to the Eastern Steel Division of Armco Inc. (“Armco™), was formed in
May 1989 as a joint venture between Armco and Kawasaki Steel Corporation (“Kawasaki"), and has
operated since that date as the Partnership under the name Armco Steel Company, L.P. The Company and its
predecessors have been in the steelmaking business for over 90 years. Armco, the second largest domestic
manufacturer of stainless steels, also produces electrical and carbon steels and steel products, non-residential
construction products and tubular goods. Kawasaki, the third largest steel company in Japan, is also engaged
in engineering and construction, electronics and chemicals. Upon the completion of the recapitalization
described below, Armco will own approximately 0.1% of the outstanding shares of Common Stock and
Kawasaki will own approximately 21.6% of the outstanding shares of Common Stock,

The Recapitalization

The Senior Notes Offering is part of a recapitalization (the “Recapitalization”) that is intended to
strengthen the Company’s capital position, reduce its total debt and debt service costs and provide it with -
greater financial and operating flexibility. The other principal elements of the Recapitalization, which are
conditioned upon one another and the Senior Notes Offering and will be consummated concurrently with the
Senior Notes Offering, include:

(i) The public offering, pursuant to a separate prospectus (the “Common Stock Offering™), of
15,750,000 of Holding’s Common Stock, $.01 par value (the “Common Stock™). The Scnior Notes
Offering and the Common Stock Offering are referred to herein collectively as the “Offerings™;

(ii) The issuance by Holding of shares of Common Stock having & value equal to $100.0 million
(5,000,000 shares based on an assumed initial public offering price of $20 per share), in exchange for
$100.0 million of subordinated debt duec to an affiliate of Kawasaki (the “Equity-Indebtedness
Exchange”);

(iii) The contribution by the Company to the Trustee of the AK Steel Corporation Master Pension
Trust (the “Pension Trust”) of $50.0 million in cash and shares of Common Stock having a value equal
to $50.0 million (2,500,000 shares based on an assumed initial public offering price of $20 per share) (the
“Pension Trust Contribution™), and a corresponding reduction in the Company’s unfunded pension
obligation; _

(iv) The repayment of $492.0 million principal amount of previously outstanding debt to bank and
other lenders;

(v) The extension of the maturity and adjustment of the amortization schedules of a portion of the
remaining $137.4 million aggregate principal amount of debt to bank and other lenders to coincide more
closely with the Company’s cash generating ability and operating capital requiremeants; and

(vi) The replacement of the Company’s existing revolving credit facility to increase the maximum
allowable borrowings from $50.0 million to $75.0 million and to provide for a five-year term.
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The following table sets forth a summary of the sources and uses of funds associated with the
Recapitalization. -

Sources Amount
R—— (dollars fa millloas)
Senior Notes Offering.....ccvveerineiicinserarnnreiacnenns $275.0
Common Stock Offering ......ocvvviinecrccncnrennnaaaans 315.0
Equity-Indebtedness Exchange ........ccoviviinnennannen., 100.0
Common Stock issuance to Pension Trust..........cc00vnnnss 50.0
Total SOUMCES ... ..oivviieernacresannncnssesssanacanss $740.0
Uses _
Bank and other lenders repayment «....eveeeeiiiienannnn. e $492.0
Exchange of Kawasaki subordinated debt ........ccciiavennes 100.0
Pension Trust Contribution ..... cecesanerevacarovsasseanses 100.0
General corporate PUIrpoSeS «....eeeeesessscnsa cesene Ceeneae 18,0
Underwriting discount and expenses .......ceveevieennacnenes 30.0
Total UsSeS ....vvvveenersceatscenssesscescssnncancnne $740.0

The Recapitalization will significantly reduce the Company’s overall level of indebtedness and other
obligations. After giving effect to the Recapitalization, the Company will have outstanding, on a consolidated
basis, approximatcly $412.4 million of senior long-term indebtedness (including the current portion), as
compared with $729.4 million at December 31, 1993, and an estimated unfunded pension obligation (on an
accumulated benefit obligation basis) of approximately $257.7 million, as compared with approximately
$357.7 million at December 31, 1993. Further, the Company’s stockholders’ deficit will have been reduced
from $584.2 million at December 31, 1993 to $139.2 million. See “Historical and Pro Forma Condensed
Consolidated Financial Data.”

The Recapitalization also will substantially improve the Company’s financial and operating flexibility.
The Company’s scheduled debt amortization requirements will be reduced as follows:

December 31, 1993

Year Acteal  Pro Forma
- . (dollars in milllons)

1994............ beeestssuateseantaasanatsnrannssernonsn $1308 § 9.6
1995 . . iiiieriennsecesniranesnasansnns cesrnenes cevereee . 200.8 17.6
1996. .icciecinveascstssccncnccane 4teevencssstsanssseas 2150 272
1997........ cessesceasrsas teessseteseessicertnansasssan 93.2 253
1998....cccccvcerancnnnes cessece 25.0 25.3
1999 and thereafter .ooovvveeveecensnsacesnnanncnnans ceess __646 3074
Total ......... Ceceereacstrasesesassassensaanssssanans 2;’3_2: ﬁ;

In addition to its cash on hand and cash flow gencrated from operations, the Company will have available a
$75.0 million, five-year revolving credit facility. See “Description of Certain Indebtedness.”




Interest Payment Dates ... ...
Optional Redemption........

Mandatory Redemption......
Change in Control ..........

Certain Covenants ..........

Use of Proceeds .ccecvvvecee

The Senior Notes Offering
$275,000,000 aggregate principal amount of % Senior Notes Due 2004.
and , commencing , 1994,

The Senior Notes are not redeemable prior to + 1999. There-
after, the Senior Notes are redeemable at the option of AK Steel, in whole
or in part, on or after , 1999, at the redemption prices set forth
herein plus accrued interest to the date of redemption.

None. -

Upon a Change in Control (as defined herein) and subject to certain
conditions, each holder of Senior Notes may require AK Steel to repurchase
such Senior Notes at 101% of the principal amount thereof plus accrued
interest to the Change in Control Payment Date (as defined herein).

The Senior Notes will be unconditionally guaranteed on a senior basis by
Holding (“Holding Guarantee™).
The Senior Notes will be senior unsecured obligations of AK Steel and will
rank pari passu with other senior unsecured indebtedness of AK Steel The
Holding Guarantee will be an unsecured senior obligation of Holding and
will rank parf passu with other senior unsecured indebtedness of Holding. At
December 31, 1993, after giving pro forma effect to the Recapitalization, the
gate amount of senior indebtedness of AK Steel (including secured
indebtedness of $128.4 million and the Senior Notes) would have been
approximately $412.4 million. Following consummation of the Senior Notes
Offering and the Recapitalization, AK Steel will have the ability to borrow,
subject to certain limitations contained in the Indenture (as defined herein),
additional senior indebtedness, See “Certain Considerations — Factors re-
lating to the Senmior Notes — Ranking,"” “Description of Senior Notes
— Ranking” and “Description of Certain Indebtedness.”

The Indenture under which the Senior Notes will be issued will limit,
among other things, (i) the incurrence of licns on assets of AK Steel and its
subsidiaries; (ii) sale/leaseback transactions; (iii) the issuance of additional
Debt (as defined herein) by AK Steel; (iv) the issuance of Debt and
Preferred Equity Interests (as defined herein) by AK Steel’s subsidiaries;
(v) the payment of dividends on, and redemption of, capital stock of AK
Steel and its subsidiaries, the redemption of certain subordinated obligations
of AK Steel and the making of investments; (vi) the issuance and sale of
equity interests of subsidiaries; (vii) restrictions on distributions from
subsidiaries; (viii) sales of assets, including subsidiary stock
(ix) transactions with affiliates; (x) lines of business; (xi) consolidations,
mergers and transfers of all or substantially all assets; and (xii) activities and
lilbil‘i,teiru o?'f Holding. However, all of s:m limitations a;'e s:l;!:jectNto a
aum| important qualifications. “Description o ior Notes
= Certain Covenants.” :
3: h':am omsmuli::gr i‘l;lebtedne;s and :i'eduee .:l!(_ Steel's :lnfunded pension

igation as e Recapitalization, and for general corporate pur-
poses. See “lfl:“of Proceeds.”

Certain Considerations

Prospective purchasers of the Senior Notes should consider carefully the information set forth under
“Certain Considerations” as well as the other information and data in this Prospectus.
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SUMMARY HISTORICAL CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA
_(dollars In milllons, except per ton data)

The following summary historical consolidated financial data have been derived from, and should be read
in conjunction with, the consolidated financial statements of the Company and the selected historical

consolidated financial data included elsewhere in this Prospectus.

Years Ended December 31,

% 191 1592 1993

Statement of Operations Data:
Net Sales .o ooieriiiniiiiieeaseeenaernnesessannnnes $14168  $1,301.4 ''S1,4045  $1,594.5
Operating profit (10ss)(1).cceveeneeeiinniraaannans (74.3) (219.0) (499.3) 13.9
Interest €XpPense ....ccccviierrintticctattsccansanns 24.3 . 40.8 46.4 58.1
Income (loss) before income taxes, extraordinary items

and accounting changes..... ssevsetarassetcaasanas (93.6) (256.6) (542.6) (40.7)
Net income (1088)(2) ccccvevreviancnancacnnns cervee $(S8L.7) S (251.1) S§(544.1) § (40.7)
Other Data:
EBITDA (3) c.ccvvenne Ctetesestcctirastanrne ceees § 444 S(1011) $(3233) S 1367
Ratio of EBITDA to interest expense(4) ......cc0neens 1.20x - - 2.31x
Ratio of carnings to fixed charges(5) ........ ceesennes - - — 0.28x
Shipments (000°S tONS) o vveessssccceseasceccsnsaccans 3,066 2,769 3,049 3,429
Raw steel production (000’s toms) ........ vececcreveas 3,91 3,087 3,399 3,601
Effective capacity utilization.......ccvvecversasccscan 87% 68% 79% 91%
Continuously cast percentage .....ccueeeeenanacnacsas 54% 80% 90% 100%
Liquid steel to finished product yield .......... cesenas 81% 80% 82% 85%
Man hours per ton shipped.....ccceviieriecicacaannns 6.74 6.86 593 4.20
Number of employees (period-end) .......ccceeenenee 9,430 8,925 7.433 6,404
Capital expenditures .......ccoieverinincanssennnns $2118 §$ 1631 § 8.2 § 402
Operating profit (loss) per ton slupped ........ ceeevane $ (24) $ (19) $ (164) 4

ting profit (loss) per ton shi excluding s cul
ng :nd un( ) Pe cee pped ....... ‘ pe eee 8 (28) S (M9) 8 (39) S 10
As of December 3
1% o0} V% 15%
Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital (deficit) «..cocvvvvriecirccncsceeses § 830 § 761 $ (149) S 579
Total assets...... O eess  1,629.8 1,632.8 1,425.0 1,518.7
o deb

Cug;:étg:;::’n oflong term . .t. andnlated M asee 121.0 722 104.6 130.8
Long-term debt (excluding current portion) ...cccoecee 3328 49719 563.3 598.6
Partners’ capital (deficit) (6) .ccveeveericccacns ceseee S 1894 § 733 §(449.7) $(584.2)




(1)

(2)

&)

The operating profit for 1993 includes special charges and unusual items of $19.6 recorded in the fourth

quarter relating to additional fixed asset write-offs and related disposal costs as well as other miscellane-
ous charges. The operating loss for 1992 includes special charges of $379.3 ($16.0 and $363.3 recorded in
the first and fourth quarters, respectively) relating to the restructuring of the Company's operating
facilities, the shutdown of its hot-rolling mill at Ashland, Kentucky, workforce reductions and related
costs, together with the write-off of the Company’s investment in Eveleth Expansion Company
(“Eveleth”).

The net loss for 1990 includes a $491.6 charge reflecting the net cumulative efftct on prior years of a
change in accounting principle as a result of the Company’s adoption of SFAS 106, “Postretirement
Benefits Other than Pensions” (“OPEB"), effective as of January 1, 1990. The net loss for 1992 includes
a $12.1 extraordinary charge related to the Coal Industry Retiree Health Benefit Act of 1992.

EBITDA is prescnted because it is a widely accepted financial indicator of a company’s ability to service
and incur debt. EBITDA does not represent net income or cash flows from operations as those terms are
defined by generally accepted accounting principles and does not necessarily indicate whether cash flows
will be sufficient to fund cash needs. EBITDA is calculated as follows:

Years Eaded December 31,
L T T 7 15953

Income (loss) before income taxes, extraordinary

item and accounting change ....... tecesenenananas $(93.6) $(256.6) S(5426) $ (40 1)
Depreciation and amortization .....ccevveviecnnnnes 77.3 854 90.0
lnwmt IISG ---------- eessresss seesee XX EREN] 36-9 ‘7-9 49.9 59 3
Non-cash OPEB .....ccciceterutcennnececanannnss 23.8 2.2 19.3 283
Excluded special charges and unusual items® ......... - - . - 19.6
Other (income) €Xpense .....ccccevcestnnacesncasens 0.0 0.0 0.1 (2.2)
EBITDA ....ccotttviienianascscanssnsacassarsans §$444 §(101.1) $(323.3) § 1367

* For purposes of the Indenture, the definition of EBITDA excludes certain special charges taken during
1993 and thereafter. See “Description of Senior Notes — Certain Definitions — EBITDA”. Special
charges for the years ended December 31, 1990, 1991 and 1992 were S0, $O and $379.3, respectively.

(4) Eamings were insufficient to cover interest expense for the years ended 1991 and 1992 by $149.0 and

$373.2, respectively.

(5) For purposes of computing the ratio of earnings to fixed charges, fixed charges consist of interest, whether

expensed or capitalized. Eamnings consist of income (loss) before income taxes and accounting change,
the distributed income of less than 50% owned affiliates, plus fixed charges. Eamings were insufficient to
cover fixed charges for years ended 1990, 1991, 1992 and 1993 by $93.6, $256.6, $542.5 and $42.9,

respectively.

(6) The deficit at December 31, 1993 includes a direct charge to equity of $113.2 to record an increased

pensnon liability priinarily reflecting the lowering of the discount rate used 1o calculate the present value
of pension obligations from 8.5% to 7.5%.




SUMMARY HISTORICAL AND PRO FORMA CONDENSED
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA
(dollars in milllons, except per share data)

The following unaudited summary pro forma condensed consolidated financial data give effect to the
consummation of the Recapitalization as of the beginning of the penods indicated in the case of the Statement
of Operations Data and as of the end of the periods indicated in the case of the Balance Sheet Data. See
“Historical and Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Financial Data" elsewhere in this Prospectus.

Statement of Operations Data:

NetsaleS..oooreveennrnnsoatarcasssscsarscnans
Operating profit (1oss) (1) ..ccceeeeerenannanenans
Interest €Xpense ....cciiieenricntinoecanaenans
Income (loss) before income taxes(2) ............
Net income (loss)(3)(4) .c.cccceivviniannnns wee
Net income (loss) per share(5)..cccovevecncenns.
EBITDA (6) «ccvveeerunnnerereaneecsnnnnannns
Ratio of EBITDA to interest expense(7) ..........

Ratio of eamnings to fixed charges(8) ....ccce0vuee

Balance Sheet Data:

Working capital (deficit) ......ccccceeveennenn
Total aSS€tS cevvuvvnevcrorarscancasannnannsnnnas

Current portion of -term debt and tehted party
mdebt%m .e 1008 ........................

Long-term debt (excluding current portion) cesensenss

P ital (deficit IStockh Id
ax('gleeﬁ::“;:?g:) (9)(10;1) olders ety

Years Ended December 31,

1992 1993
Historical Pro Forma Historical Pro Forma
$1,404.5 $1,404.5 $1,594.5 $1,594.5
(499.3) (490.0) 13.9 23.2
46.4 4.8 58.1 48.6
(542.6) (531.7) (40.7) (21.9)
(544.1) (533.2) (40.7) (21.9)
N/A (22.89) N/A (0.94)
$(323.3) $(3140) $ 1367 $ 1460
- - 2.31x 2.93x
-— -— 0.28x 0.52x
As of December 31,
1992 1993

Historical Pro Forma

$ (149) $ 1777 § 519
1,425.0 1,532.6 1,518.7
104.6 9.6 130.8

563.3 420.9 598.6

$(449.7) S (4.7) $(584.2)

Historieal Pro Forma

$ 1971
1,546.7

9.6
402.8

$(139.2)

(1) The operating profit for 1993 includes special charges and unusual items of $19.6 recorded in the fourth

quarter relating to additional fixed asset write-offs and related disposal

costs as well

as other

miscellaneous charges. The operating loss for 1992 includes special charges of $379.3 ($16.0 and $363.3

recorded in the first and fourth quarters, respectively) relating to the restructuring of the Company’s
operating facilities, the shutdown of its hot-rolling mill at Ashland, Kentucky. workforce reductions and
related costs, together with the write-off of the Company’s investment in Eveleth.

(2) Income tax expense would not have changed had the Company operated as a corporation rather than a

partnership during the periods indicated.

(3) The pro forma amounts do not include any prepayment fees for the conversion of the Company’s bank
loans from fixed rates to floating rates (which fees are expected to be paid out of the Company’s cash
balances). The Company anticipates that this conversion will occur contemporaneously with the
Offerings and result in an extraordinary charge estimated to be approximately $16.0.

(4) The net loss for 1992 includes a $12.1 extraordinary charge related to the Coal Industry Retiree Health

Benefit Act of 1992

@




(5)

(6)

Q)]

(8)

Assumes that 23,296,594 shares of Common Stock to be issued in the Recapitalization were outstanding
throughout the periods indicated. On an historical basis, the Company was a partnership and therefore
had no shares outstanding.

EBITDA is presented because it is a widely accepted financial indicator of a company's ability to service
and incur debt. EBITDA does not represent net income or cash Aows from operations as those terms are
defined by generally accepted accounting principles and does not necessarily indicate whether cash flows
will be sufficient to fund cash needs. EBITDA is calculated as follows:
Years Ended December 31,
1992 ) 1993
Historical Pro Forma Historical Pro Forma

Income (loss) belore income taxes, extraordinary item

and 2ccounting change . ......cvvceencertaserearrasanens $(54Z6) $(531.7) S$(40.7) $(21.9)
Depreciation and amortization ...cveeeeaciccacttrieitannans 90.0 90.0 724 724
Interest €Xpemse ....cocvvviereciorecnasnctncassntancsanas 499 48.3 59.3 49.8
Non-cash OPEB .....ccciiiierennerencnesarsscnssnnasnens 3 793 28.3 283
Excluded special charges and unusual items®................. R 19.6 19.6
Other (incOME) EXPENSL . ovvveecevcencannasonaastonasanes 0.1 0.1 (2.2) (2.2)
EBITDA ...ciciceerecstsssasescssassnscscsstasascasanes $(3233) $(314.0) $136.7 $146.0

* For purposes of the Indenture, the definition of EBITDA excludes certain special charges taken
during 1993 and thereafter. See “Description of Senior Notes — Certain Definitions — EBITDA".
Special charges for the years ended December 31, 1990, 1991 and 1992 were $O, $O and $379.3,
respectively.

Earnings were insufficient to cover interest expense for the year ended 1992 by $373.2. Pro forma
carnings were insufficient to cover interest expense for the year ended 1992 by $362.3.

For purposes of computing the ratio of ecarnings to fixed charges, fixed charges consist of interest,
whether expensed or capitalized. Eamings consist of income (loss) before income taxes and accounting
change, the distributed income of less than 50% owned affiliates, plus fixed charges. Eamings were
insufficient to cover fixed charges for the years ended 1992 and 1993 by $542.5 and $42.9, respectively.
Pro forma eamings were insufficient to cover fixed charges for the years ended 1992 and 1993 by $531.6
and $24.1, respectively. '

(9) Gives retroactive effect to the reorganization of the Partnership into 2 Delaware corporation.
(10) The deficit at December 31, 1993, includes a direct charge to equity of $113.2 to record an increased

pension liability primarily reflecting the lowering of the discount rate used to calculate the present value
of pension obligations from 8.5% to 7.5%. '
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THE COMPANY

The Company is the sixth largest integrated steel producer in the United States, manufacturing primarily
high strength, low carbon flat-rolled stecl, the largest segment of the domestic steel market. The Company
concentrates on the production of premium grades, and value-added applications, of hot-rolled steel and
coated and uncoated cold-rolled steel for sale to the automotive, appliance and manufacturing markets, as well
as 10 the construction industry and independent steel distributors and service centers.

In June 1992, the Company began implementing 2 strategic business plan to improve the yield and
reduce the costs of its production operations while enhancing its ability to meet the €xtremely high product
quahty. delivery and technical support req\urements of those customers who are the principal users of
premium grades of flat-rolled steel. This strategic plan, which has already aclneved significant results, consists
of the following key elements:

New Management. A new scnior management team consisting of experienced steel executives was
installed commencing June 1992. Among other actions, new management has instituted changes in the
line management at virtually all of the Company’s production facilities and in the management of its sales
and marketing organization, and has raised the expectations and capabilities of its personnel

Productivity Improvements. Productivity has been increased significantly through the elimination
of redundant, less efficieat operations and production facilitics and the increase in the operating levels of
the Company’s remaining equipment. Among the specific measures taken are the shift to 100%
continuous casting, the idling of the hot-rolling and cold-rolling mills and associated pickling lines at the
Company’s Ashland, Kentucky, steel works and a restructuring of its equipment maintenance procedures
to increase substantially the operating speeds and productivity of its remaining facilities. As a result of
these changes, the Company has been able to increase its total volume of steel shipments from 3,049,000
tons for the year ended December 31, 1992 to 3,429,400 tons for the year ended December 31, 1993,
while reducing its man hours per ton from 5.93 for 1992 to 4.20 for 1993. In the most recent quarter, man
bours per ton were reduced to 4.01 as compared with 5.49 for the quarter ended December 31, 1992,

Cost Reduction Programs. Costs throughout the Company's operations have been reduced substan-
tially. In addition to the cost savings associated with the productivity improvements as described above,
the Company has restructured its remaining work force and remegotiated key raw materials and
transportation contracts. These measures resulted in cost reductions of $110.0 million in 1993. The
Company belicves that these savings represent permanent reductions in its cost structure and anticipates
further savings, although there can be no assurance that any such savings will in fact be achieved in future
periods.

Product Quality and Reliability. Product quality and reliability have been emphasized. Improve-
ments made in virtually every phase of the Company’s production operations have submnﬁally enhanced
the overall quality and coasistency of its steel products and its ability to meet customers’ just-in-time
delivery requirements. The Company’s customer rejection rate declined from approximately 1.23% of
tonnage shipped for the year ended December 31, 1992 to 0.61% of tonnage shipped for the year ended
December 31, 1993 (0.93% and 0.46% for the fourth quarters of 1992 and 1993, respectively), and its
tonnage shipped to the secondary market as a percentage of total tons shipped decreased from 16.6% to
12.2% for these periods (14.0% and 9.0% for the fourth quarters of 1992 and 1993, respectively). In
addition to contributing to higher margins, these improvements have led to a reduction in the need to
stockpile large inventories of key product lines to ensure timely customer deliverics and also have
enhanced revenues.

High-end Marketing. Marketing eflorts have been increasingly directed toward those high-end
customers, such as automotive and appliance manufacturers, whose exacting quality, on-time delivery
and technical support requirements and need for specialized product applications (such as those that use
coated steels) justify premium pricing. The Company belicves that its enhanced product quality and
delivery capabilities, and its emphasis on customer technical support and product planning, are critical
factors in its ability to serve this important segment of the market.
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The Company, the successor to the Eastern Steel Division of Armco, was formed in May 1989 as a joint
venture between Armco and Kawasaki, and has operated since that date in the form of the Partaership under
the name Armco Steel Company, L.P. The Company and its predecessors have been in the steelmaking
business for over 90 years. Armeco, the second largest domestic manufacturer of stainless steels, also produces
clectrical and carbon steels and steel products, non-residential construction products and tubular goods.
Kawasaki, the third largest steel company in Japan, is also engaged in engineering and construction,
electronics and chemicals. Upon the completion of the Recapitalization, Armco will own approximately 0.1%
of the outstanding Common Stock and Kawasaki will own approximately 21.6% of the outstandmg Common
Stock.

The Company's two principal manufacturing facilities are the Middletown Works in Middletown, Ohio
(the “Middletown Works™) and the Ashland Works in Ashland, Kentucky (the “Ashland Works™). The
Company’s principal executive offices are located at 703 Curtis Street, Middletown, Ohio 45043 (telephone
(513) 425-5000).

CERTAIN CONSIDERATIONS
Prospective purchasers of the Senior Notes offered hereby should consider carefully, in addition to the
other information contained in this Prospectus, the following factors:

Factors Relating to the Steel Industry
Imports

Domestic steel producers face significant competition from certain foreign steel producers who typically
have lower labor costs. In addition, many foreign steel producers are owned, controlled or subsidized by their
governments and their decisions with respect to production and sales may be influenced more by political and
economic policy considerations than by prevailing market conditions. Some foreign producers of steel and
products made of steel have continued to ship into the United States market despite decreasing profit margins
or losses. Voluntary restraint arrangements (“VRAs”™) covering 28 foreign countries, which limited steel
imports into the United States, expired on March 31, 1992. On June 30, 1992, the Company joined certain
other U.S. steel producers in filing petitions (the “Trade Proceedings™) before the United States Department
of Commerce (the “Commerce Department”) and the United States International Trade Commission (the
“ITC") alleging certain unfair trade practices by steel companies in 21 foreign nations, including widespread
subsidization of steel exports to the United States, as well as the sale of dumped steel by certain foreign
producers into the United States market. On June 22, 1993, the Commerce Department announced its final
determinations, which were favorable to the Company and the other domestic steel producers, and sent its
decisions to the ITC for final determination of injury. On July 27, 1993, the ITC made final injury
determinations that were substantially less favorable to the U.S. steel producers. Management believes the
impact of these determinations will be less detrimental to the Company, because of its concentration on cold-
rolled, corrosion-resistant, coated steels than to those producers having a higher concentration of the more
common grades of steel. The Company and the other U.S. steel producers have appealed certain of the ITC's
determinations to the United States Court of International Trade, and foreign stee! producers have appealed
certain other of the ITC's determinations, as well as certain of the Commerce Department’s determinations.
See “Business — Competition — Imports” for a discussion of the nature and status of these proceedings.

Steel imports as a percentage of apparent domestic consumption, including semifinished steel, have been
appmnmately 18% in each of 1990, 1991 and 1992 and the ten months ended October 31. 1993, below the
maximum levels permitted under the then-existing VRAs. Attractive world export prices, favorable U.S.
dollar exchange rates and the improved international compednveneu of the domestic steel industry, as well as
the pendency of the Trade Proceedings, bave all been factors in reducing import levels below the maximum
permitted under the then-existing VRAs. If the Trade Procecdings ultimately do not provide relief from
unfairly traded imports, if other relevant U.S. trade laws are weakeaed, if world demand for steel eases or if
the U.S. dollar strengthens, an increase in the market share of imports may occur, which could adversely

affect the pricing of the Company’s products.
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Domestic Steel Industry Competition

The domestic steel industry is highly competitive. Despite significant reductions in raw steel production
capability by major domestic producers over the last decade, the domestic industry continues to be adversely
affected by excess world capacity. Over the last decade, extensive downsizings have necessitated costly
restructuring charges that, when combined with highly competitive market conditions, have resulted in
substantial losses for most domestic integrated stee! producers.

In addition to the other integrated steel producers, competition is presented by the so-called “mini-mills,”
which generally have smaller, non-unionized work forces and are free of many of the employer, environmental
and other obligations that traditionally have burdened integrated steel producers. Mini-mills also derive
certain competitive advantages utilizing less capital-intensive sources of steel production. At least one of these
minj-mills is already producing flat-rolled carbon steel products and others have announced their intention to
do the same. In future years, mini-mills are expected to provide increased competition in the higher quality,
value added product lines now dominated by the integrated steel producers.

The Company’s ability to continue to successfully implement its marketing strategy of increasing its
emphasis on high-end customers will depend upon its ability to maintain, on a consistent basis, higher-quality
products, on-time delivery and sufficient technical support. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Overview” and “Business — Strategy — Product Quality
and Reliability."”

In the case of many product applications, steel competes with other materials including plastics,
aluminum, graphite composites, ceramics, glass, wood and concrete. The Company belicves that steel has a
distinct cost advantage over other materials of comparable strength and durability, In addition, the
recyclability of steel provides a competitive advantage over many other materials.

Cyclicality

The steel industry is highly cyclical in nature. In the early 1980s, domestic integrated steel producers
incurred significant restructuring charges associated with efforts 1o reduce excess capacity. Significant losses,
and bankruptcies in certain cases, occurred as a result of a number of factors, including worldwide production
overcapacity, increased interational and domestic competition, low levels of steel demand, substitution of
alternative materials for steel, high labor costs, inefficient plants and the strength of the U.S. dollar relative to
other currencies. In the late 1980s, carnings of domestic stee! producers benefited from improved industry
conditions. The 1990-1992 downtum in the economy resulted in a substantial decline in steel industry financial
performance. While demand for steel products improved during 1993, the pace of the overall economic
recovery remains slow and could delay the further recovery of the domestic steel industry.

Environmental Regulation

Domestic steel producers, including the Company, are subject to stringent federal, state and local laws
and regulations relating to the protection of buman health and the environment. The Company, like other
domestic steel producers, has expended, and can be expected to expend in the future, substantial amounts for
compliance with these environmental laws and regulations. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations ~— Liquidity and Capml Resources” and “Business —
Environmental Matters.”

Factors Relating to the Company
Recent Losses

The Company reported a net loss of $40.7 million for the year ended December 31, 1993 (which included
$19.6 million of special charges and unusual items), a net loss of $544.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 1992 (which included $379.3 million of special charges and & $12.1 million extraordinary
charge), a net loss of $251.1 million for the year ended December 31, 1991, and a net loss of $581.7 million for
the year ended December 31, 1990 (which included a $491.6 million charge due to accounting changes). The
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ability of the Company to retumn to profitability is dependent upon a number of factors, including the
continued successful implementation of its cost reduction and productivity improvement efforts, an improved
. product mix and implementation of the Recapitalization, as well as various factors beyond the Company's
control, such as the impact of the domestic steel industry’s efforts to enforce the laws against unfaitly traded
imports, the leve] of steel prices, domestic steel demand and the strength of the U.S. dollar relative to other
major currencies. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” and “Business.”

Potential Special Charges

The Company will continue to review its businesses to determine if additional facilities should be closed,
written down or otherwise restructured. In this regard, the Company is negotiating with the Eveleth partners
conceming the potential closure of, or the Company’s exit from, Eveleth. If these negotiations are successfully
completed, the closure of, or exit from, Eveleth would be subject to other events, including the approval by the
Company's Board of Directors and could result in a charge of approximately $30.0 million. Although it is not
possible at this time for the Company to determine accurately the amounts of any other special charges that
may result from the closure, write down or restructuring of other facilities, additional special charges could be
incurred and may be substantial.

Substantial Leverage

Upon consummation of the Recapitalization, the Company will continue to have substantial indebted-
ness, as well as substantial unfunded pension and retiree health obligations, as discussed below. The degree to
which the Company is leveraged could affect its ability to service its indebtedness, to make certain capital
investments, to take advantage of certain business opportunities or to obtain additional financing, and could
force the Company to restructure or refinance its indebtedness or seek additional equity capital. Following
implementation of the Recapitalization, the Company belicves that it will be able to make its principal and
interest payments, as and when required, from funds derived from its operations and will be able to comply
with its loan covenants. However, unexpected declines in the Company’s future business, declines in steel
prices, increases in costs or the inability to borrow additional funds for its operations if and when required
could impair the Company’s ability to meet its debt service obligations and, therefore, could adversely affect
the Company’s business and future prospects. No assurance can be given that additional debt or equity
financing will be available when needed, or, if available, will be obtainable on terms that are favorable to the
Company. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations —
Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

Although the terms of the new agreements with bank and other lenders are not final, they are expected to
contain a number of significant covenants that, among other things, will restrict the ability of the Company
and its subsidiaries to dispose of assets, incur additional indebtedness, pay dividends, create liens on assets,
enter into leases, make capital expenditures, investments or acquisitions, engage in mergers or consolidations,
or engage in certain transactions with subsidiaries and affiliates and otherwise restrict corporate activities. In
addition, the Company will be required to maintain specified net worth levels and comply with specified
financial ratios and tests, including minimum interest coverage ratios. See “Description of Certain Indebted-
ness.” The initial closings of the new agreements with bank and other lenders and the completion of the
Offerings are each a condition to the consummation of the other. The Company does not intend to proceed
with the Common Stock Offering without a simultaneous closing of the new agreemeants with bank and other
lenders and the concusrent consummation of the other elements of the Recapitalization. See “Description of
Certain Indebtedness.”

The Company is curreatly in compliance with the covenants and restrictions contained in its existing debt
agreements, as well as those proposed 10 be contained in the new debt agreements with bank and other
lenders. However, its ability to continue to so comply may be affected by events beyond its control. The breach
of any of these covenants or restrictions could result in a default under the new agreements with bank and
other lenders, which would permit those lenders to declare all amounts borrowed thereunder to be due and
payable together with accrued and unpaid interest, and the commitments of bank and other lenders to make
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further loans under the new agreements could be terminated. If the Company were unable to repay its
indebtedness to bank and other lenders, those lenders could proceed against the collateral securing that
indebtedness, which includes the Company's inventory, accounts receivable and certain other assets. Any
default under the agreemeats with the Company’s bank and other lenders could have a significant adverse
effect on the market value and the marketability of the Common Stock.

Retiree Health Benefits and Pension Obligations

The Company, like certain other domestic steel producers, has significant unfunded employee benefit
obligations, including those arising out of adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 106,
“Accounting for Postretircmeat Benefits Other than Pensions” (“SFAS 106"), pension plan funding
requiremeats and enactment of the Coal Industry Retiree Health Benefit Act of 1992 (the “Coal Retiree
Benefit Act”). SFAS 106, which the Company adopted retroactive to January I, 1990, requires accrual of
retiree medical and life insurance benefits rather than recognition of costs as claims are paid. The Company
estimates that, at December 31, 1993, the present value of its obligations for postretirement benefits other than
pensions, as accounted for under SFAS 106, was approximately $670.6 million. These obligations currently are
funded as claims are filed. The Company does not anticipate changing its funding practices for these
obligations and therefore does not anticipate any impact on its liquidity as a result of the adoption of the new
. standard,

The funded status of the Company’s pension plans decreased during 1993 by approximately $138.8
million (resulting in a charge to equity of $113.2 million) primarily due to the lowering of the discount rate
used for financial reporting purposes to calculate the present value of pension obligations from 8.5% to 7.5%
(which is not expected to result in an increase in funding requiremeats for the near term relative to what these
requirements would have beea without a change in such discount rate). The funded status of the pension plans
decreased during 1992 as a result of special charges for work force reductions. The Company’s funding of its
pension obligations meets the minimum funding requirements of the Employee Retirement Income Security
Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA™). These minimum funding requirements mandate that the obligations
associated with 2 workforce restructuring (such as that expericaced in 1992) be funded over a period of five to
seven years. As a result, based on current assumptions and assuming no other restructurings or significant
changes in applicable law or regulation, pension funding as required by ERISA is expected to exceed historical
pension expense by approximately $30.0 million to $55.0 million per year over the next five years until the
associated underfunding is eliminated. The Company intends to contribute $50.0 million of the proceeds from
the Offerings and shares of Common Stock having a value equal to $50.0 million (2,500,000 shares based on
an assumed initial public offering price of $20 per share) to reduce its unfunded pension obligation. See “The
Recapitalization,” “Use of Proceeds™ and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources.” Although the Company does not presently
intend to use the Pension Trust Contribution to meet future minimum pension funding requirements, it
rescrves the right to do so if cash resources become limited.

The Company recorded an extraordinary charge in 1992 of $12.1 million, representing management’s
current estimate of its potential Hability resulting from the Coal Retiree Benefit Act. This amount is based
upon preliminary data, medical cost estimates and discount rate assumptions and is subject to future
adjustment when additional information becomes available.

Rellance on the Automotive Industry

Demand for the Company’s products is substantially affected by, among other things, the relative strength
or weakness of the domestic automotive industry, Strikes, lock-outs or other work stoppages or production
interruptions in the automotive industry also could adversely affect the demand for the Company’s products.
Sales to General Motors Corporation (“General Motors™), the Company’s largest customer in 1993,
accounted for approximately 23%, 27%, 23% and 23% of net sales in 1990, 1991, 1992 and 1993, respectively;
total sales directly to the automotive market (including General Motors) accounted for appraximately 38%,
48%, 44% and 42% of the Company’s net sales in 1990, 1991, 1992 and 1993, respectively. In addition, a
substantial amount of the Company’s sales to steel distribution and service centers consist of products that are
resold (in original or modified form) to the automotive industry. See “Business — Customers,”
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Labor Relations

At December 31, 1993, approximately 21% of the Company’s active employees were represented by the
United Steelworkers of America (“USWA"), 6% by the Oil, Chemical and Atomic Workers (“OCAW")
and 56% by the Armco Employee Independent Federation (“AEIF"). The current collective bargaining
. agreement with the USWA, which covers the Company’s steelmaking employees at the Ashland Works, was
originally scheduled to expire July 31, 1993 but has been extended indefinitely, subject to the right of either
party to terminate the extension upon 72 hours' prior notice. The agreement with the OCAW, which covers
coke-making employees at the Ashland Works, was scheduled to expire October I, 1993 but has been
extended to May 1, 1994. The agreement with the AEIF, which represents the Compiny’s hourly employees
at the Middletown Works is scheduled to expire February 28, 1994. No predictions can be made as to the
results of the renegotiations of these agreements or the possible effects of the rencgotiations upon the
Company, although the Company’s agreement with the AEIF establishes procedures for revising economic
terms upon its expiration and contains a no-strike clause that is effective during the negotiation period.
See “Business — Employees.”

Taxes
The Company belicves the Recapitalization should not adversely affect its ability to deduct, for income
tax purposes, future payments when made in respect of certain of the Company’s contingent obligations,
including those for postretirement benefits other than pensions (see “Retiree Health Benefits and Pension
Obligations” above). There can be no assurance that the Company’s position will prevail if challenged by the
Internal Revenue Service or other taxing authority. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

Factors Relating to the Senlor Notes

Ranking

The Senior Notes will be senior unsecured obligations of AK Steel and will rank par! passu with all other
senior indebtedness of AK Steel. At December 31, 1993, after giving pro forma effect to the Recapitalization,
the aggregate amount of senior indebtedness of AK Steel (including secured indebtedness of $128.4 million
and the Senior Notes) would have been approximately $412.4 million. Holders of secured indebtedness of
AK Steel, including secured indebtedness outstanding after giving effect to the Recapitalization and future
secured indebtedness permitted under the Indenture, will have claims with respect to the assets constituting
collateral that are prior to the claims of holders of the Senior Notes. Subject to certain limitations, after
completion of the Senior Notes Offering, AK Steel wlll be able to incur substantial additional indebtedness.
See “Description of Senior Notes.”

The Holding Guarantee will be an unsecured senior obligation of Holding and will rank pari passu with
other senior unsecured indebtedness of Holding. The principal asset of Holding is all of the outstanding shares
of common stock of AK Steel, and virtually all of Holding’s operations are conducted through AK Steel
Under the Indenture, Holding will agree not to engage in any activities other than holding the outstanding
shares of common stock of AK Steel, the Subordinated Exchange Note and the Subordinated Pension Trust
Note (each as defined in “Description of Senior Notes — Certain Definitions™) as well as those activities
incidental to its status as a public company, and not 1o incur any liability other than those relating to its
guarantees of the Senior Notes and certain other indebtedness of AK Steel. See “Description of Senior
Notes — Centain Covenants — Restrictive Covenant of Holding.”

Absence of Public Market for the Senior Notes
The Senior Notes are new securities for which there currently is no market. Although the Underwriter
bas informed the Company that it currently intends to make a market in the Senior Notes, it is not obligated
to do so and any such market making may be discontinued at any time without notice. Accordingly, there can
be no assurances as to the development or liquidity of any market for the Senior Notes. The Company does
not intend to apply for listing of the Senior Notes on any securities exchange or for their quotation through the
National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotation System.



THE RECAPITALIZATION

The Recapitalization is intended to strengthen the Company’s capital position, reduce its total debt and
debt service costs and provide it with greater financial and operating flexibility. The other principal elements of
the Recapitalization, which are conditioned upon one another and the Senmior Notes Offering and will be
consummated concurrently with the Senior Notes Offering, include:

(i) The Common Stock Offering, consisting of the pubhc offering of 15,750,000 shares of Common
Stock of Holding;

(ii) The Equity-Indebtedness Exchange, consisting of the issuance by Holding to an affiliate of
Kawasaki of shares of Common Stock having 2 value equal to $100.0 million (5,000,000 shares based on an
assumed initial public offering price of $20 per share) in exchange for debt due to an affiliate of Kawasaki:

(iii) The Pension Trust Contribution, consisting of Holding’s contribution to the Trustee of the Pension
Trust of $50.0 million in cash and shares of Common Stock having a value equal to $50.0 million
(2,500,000 shares based on an assumed initial public offering price of $20 per share), resulting in a
corresponding reduction in the Company’s unfunded pension obligation;

(iv) The rcpayment for cash of $492.0 million principal amount of previously outstanding debt to bank
and other lenders;

(v) The extension of the maturity and adjustment of the amortization schedules of a portion of the
remaining $137.4 million aggregate pnncxpal amount of debt to bank and other lenders to more closely
coincide with the Company’s cash generating ability and operating and capital requirements; and

(vi) The replacement of the Company’s existing revolving credit facility to increase the maximum
allowable borrowings from $50.0 million to $75.0 million and to provide for a five-year term.

The following table sets forth a summary of the sources and uses of funds associated with the
Recapitalization.

Amoaat

Sources (dollars In millions)
Senior Notes Offering ........... cessessterinesanencnanen $275.0
CommonStoekOEenng Ceesecenasreenertratteersasttranone 315.0
Equity-Indebtedness Exchnge cesensane tesecssesassssrsanes 100.0
CommonStockiuuancetoPensionTmst ............. 50.0
Total SOUTCES ... vuvreeennereaccaererscnanas $740.0
=

Uses

Bank lenders repsyment «ocevevicecenciiianninnns cesneens $492.0
Exchange of Kawasaki subordinated debt........cccce0evennnaasn 100.0
Pmimetmm‘b“ﬂm.-..-.co-n ----------- eseesaccnsensen lmno
General corporate purposes ce.ecececcaces 18.0
Underwriting discount and expenses ....ccoevereecvovssessccess 30.0
Total USES ...covvveccnnnccacnans testecestessessananaannes $740.0
. L ————__}

The Recapmlmm will significantly reduce the Company’s overall level of indebtedness and other
obligations. After giving effect to the Recapnuhzahon. the Company will have outstanding, on a consolidated
basis, approximately $412.4 million of senior long-term indebtedness (including the current portion), as
compared with $729.4 million at December 31, 1993, and an estimated unfunded pension obligation (on an
accumulated benefit obligation basis) of approximately $257.7 million, as compared with approximately
$357.7 million at December 31, 1993. The Company’s stockholders’ deficit will have been reduced from
$584.2 million at December 31, 1993 to $139.2 million. See “Histoncal and Pro Forma Condensed

Consolidated Financial Data.”
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The Recapitalization also will substantially improve the Company's financial and operating flexibility.
The Company's scheduled debt amortization requirements will be reduced as follows:
December 31, 1993

Year _ Actual Pro Forma
. (dollars Ia millioas)
1994 it i e $130.8 §$ 96
2 2 200.8 17.6
1996.....0000vevenn eetessestenereanseen eereteieceaanan 215.0 212

2 93.2 25.3
1 eeees 25.0 25.3
1999 and thereafter ... c.covevvireinrirneiiecnrniannaas 1 _64.6 307.4
Total . .vuiiiinianiesssasscetanasonsensantoccscsnnas $7294 $4124

In addition to its cash on hand and cash flow generated from operation, the Company will have available a
$75.0 million, five-year revolving credit facility. See “Description of Certain Indebtedness.”

USE OF PROCEEDS

The combined net proceeds from the Offerings are estimated to be approximately $610.0 million, after
deduction of underwriting discounts and estimated expenses. The Company intends to use these proceeds to
implement the Recapitalization, which includes the retirement of certain indebtedness, the Pension Trust
Contribution and for general corporate purposes. See “The Recapitalization.”

Of the $492.0 million of indebtedness to be retired pursuant to the Recapitalization, (i) $96.0 million has
a final maturity on May 31, 1995, which, at December 31, 1993, bore interest at rates ranging from 4.22% to
4.30% per year, (ii) $57.3 million has a final maturity on June 15, 1997, bearing interest at rates ranging from
9.28% to0 9.38% per year, (iii) $240.0 million has 2 final maturity on November 30, 1997, bearing interest at a
rate of 6.67% per year, (iv) $14.7 million has a final maturity on May 22, 1999, bearing interest at a rate of
9.57% per year and (v) $84.0 million has a final maturity on January 28, 2002, bearing interest at a rate of
7.37% per year.



CAPITALIZATION

The following table sets forth the consolidated capitalization of the Company at December 31, 1993 and
as adjusted to give effect 10 the Recapitalization. The information presented below should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements of the Company and the bistorical and pro forma
condensed consolidated financial data included elsewhere in this Prospectus.

As of December 31, 1993

Actual Adjustments As Adjusted
{dollars {a milllons)

Current portion of 1ong-term debt. ... .ivvenrneneerenenenennnn. $ 1308  SU21.2)(1) 'S 9.6

Long-term Debt: ..
Debt to bank and other lenders.......cc00eeeneee tesecnsanes 490.3 (370.8)(1) 119.5
Senior Notes ...coceevnes Ceesctecesesrrvcasananenas ceeeee — 275.0 (2) 2750
Subordinated debt to affiliate of Kawasaki.....ccceeveeeneness 100.0 (100.0)(3) -
Miscellaneous. ....coveeeercnnanass cestessanns tesasnsanuas 8.3 — 8.3
Toﬂ.l 10n8°t¢m debt ........ X EEERENNNENN) e seccss sees 598.6 u95.8) 402.8

Partners’ capital (deficit) /Stockholders’ equity (deficit)
Common Stock, $.01 par value; 75,000,000 shares authorized;

23,296,594 shares issued and outstanding.......c.ccvanenn - 02(3)(4) 0.2
Preferred Stock, $.01 par value; 25,000,000 shares suthorized;
none issued or outstanding . .ceeeceeeccacececiiniaiienn —_— -— -
Deficiency in capital ...... O 1. ¥ | 444.8(3)(4)_(139.4)
Total Partners’ capital (deﬂclt)IStockholden eqmty
(deficit) «uvvveecnsansestasoasccnscnccccanns veees _(584.2) 445.0 (139.2)
Totalcapmhzatxon... ...... R I - ¥ ] $ 128.0 $ 2732

(1) Reflects the net proceeds and application of net proceeds pursuaat to the Recapitalization. See “The
Recapitalization.”

(2) Reflects the sale of $275.0 million principal amount of Seaior Notes.

(3) Reflects the exchange for equity of the subordinated debt held by an affiliate of Kawasaki. Following the
Recapitalization, this subordinated debt will remain outstanding as an obligation of AK Steel to Holding.

(4) Reflects the issuance of Common Stock pursuant to the Recapitalization at an assumed initial public
offering price of $20.00 per share, net of underwriting discounts and expenses. See “The
Recapitalization.”
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SELECTED HISTORICAL CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA
(dollars in millions, except per ton data)

The selected historical consolidated financial data set forth herein represent selected data of the
Company for the five years ended December 31, 1993.

The selected historical consolidated financial data presented below as of and for the peried from
January 1, 1989 through May 12, 1989 are derived from the combined financial statements of Armco’s
Eastern Steel Division, a predecessor of the Company .(“Predecessor’), and the selected financial data
preseated below as of and for the period from May 13, 1989 through December 31,1989 and as of and for
years ended December 31, 1990, 1991, 1992 and 1993 are derived from the audited consolidated financial

statements of the Company.

The selected historical consolidated financial data as of and for the period from January 1, 1989 through
May 12, 1989 are for the Predecessor prior to the sale by Armco of certain assets and a portion of the
Predecessor to Kawasaki Steel Investments Inc., an affiliate of Kawasaki (“KSI"). Simultaneously, KSI
contributed the purchased assets and business and assumed liabilities to the Partnership. Armco contributed
substantially all of the remaining Predecessor assets and business and liabilities to the Partnership. Upon
formation of the Partnership on May 13, 1989, the assets and liabilities of the Partnership were recorded on
the basis of Armco’s and KST's historical cost, which reflect a partial step-up in the basis of those assets sold
to KSI. Accordingly, the periods subsequeat to May 13, 1989 include the results of the Company on the new
basis of accounting established as of such date. Due to this new basis of accounting, operating results for
periods prior to May 13, 1989 are not entirely comparable to results for subsequent periods.

The selected historical consolidated financial data presented herein are qualified in their entirety by, and
should be read in conjunction with, the consolidated financial statements of the Company, “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “Certain Considerations”
appearing elsewhere in this Prospectus.



Predecessor Company(1)
January 1 May 13
11\.4‘:“1 ; 002:;?3!. Years Eaded December 31,
! 1989 BNy mm pm

Statemesnt of Operatioas Data: :
Netsales...cocacerencanenans Ceseitrereratesasiasan $686.9 $1,020.6 $1,416.8 $1,301.4 $1.404.5 $1,594.5
Cost of products sold...covvernicecnrananianienaananas 564.6 847.7 1,284.5 13034 13186 13783
Selling and administrative expenses ......ccoavereaianas 43.5 770 1338 1344 118.6 109.2
Depreciation and amortization ....ccevveerianienensens 20.6 43.3 728 82.6 823 7.5
Special charges and unusual items(2) ... iiiiiiinaiee -— - —_ " 379.3 19.6
Total OPErRLNG COBS . ... vuuenacnnerssnscesnssraces 628.7 968.0 L4911 1,504 15038  1,580.6
Operating profit (1083) .....ccoovevecnnnanacaannearonas s82 52.6 (743) (219.0) (4999) 139
Intercst €Xpense ...cceecactcannscncsnnans eseersacea 15.7 126 243 «©s 464 $8.1
Other (iDCOME) EXPERIL oo cvesacccancactasannnsosanen 2.5 ~ (3.6) {5.0) (3.2) (3.1) (3.5)
acome before income mldm.ry item and
' muguu::) change ....... m “ ................ 40.0 43.6 (93.6) (256.6) (5426) (40.7)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes .......cccvevcecens - 0.5 (3.9) (5.5) (10.6) -
Net income (lau) before exmrdmuy ftem and

2CCOUNHNG CHANGE .. vevevrnersacassrnanasancananas 40.0 4.1 (90.1) (251.1) (5320) (40.7)
Extraordinary nen()) ............................... - — - — (12.1) -
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of

accounting change .......cc00 teessasstsassscensone 400 43.1 (90.1) (251.1) (544.1) (40.7)
Nemt ”ﬂﬁﬁf)‘ Pﬂ" m I o ] (491.6) -— - -
Net income (logs) ..cccuuneeen crecscrsesssasranaane $ 40.0 § 4l SSII 1) $(251. l) $ (544 l) $ (40. 1)
Other Data:
EBITDA(S) cccvccevcscnccocracancesccsnnvassoscnas $ M.l $ 105.0 $ 44 §$(101.1) $(3233) § 1367
Ratio of EBITDA to interest etpem(‘) ........... 5.04x 691z 1.20x - -— 23x
Ratio of carnings to fixed charges(7) «ovecvaiieacnansas 3.55x kB y/ ] - - - 0.28x
Shipments (000’s net tons)....... cevessessansasascaes 1,606 1927 3068 2,769 3049 3429
Raw stee! production (000's net 1008) .. cevurereess veves 1617 2,511 3991 3087 3399 3601
Effective capacity utilization......c.ceevevesnncs cersane 9% 1% 7% 6% % 9%
Continuously cast Percentage ccoeeceeariocccnctaniesas 3% 9% 4% 0% 90% 100%
Liquid steel to finished product yleld. ... cccvennnaen e 80%(8) 00%(@8)  uN% W% 0% 5%
Maa hours per ton shipped...... certtessenressane 468 661 6.74 6.86 893 420
Number of employees (period €0d) .....cccevccncennae 9.712 9,595 9430 8928 7433 6404
Capital expenditures ..... tecessserntanaansaneaenanne $ 45 $ 1408 $ 2118 $ 1631 $ 882 § 402
Operating profit (loss) per ton shipped....ocvecaeene «w $ 3 s $ (AU)S (M S (140) S 4

. Tous .
g sy o § o i S $3% $ D s @S (S (NS 10
Predecessor Company(1)
M‘.}.‘;‘,‘ As of December 31,
Yo DS pw pu pm BB

Balance Sheet Dats:
Cash and cash equivalents ccocceeeee secesecasessancaanas - $ 213 8§ 958 18 § 12 § 142
Working capital (deficit) .coeceeircnarrccnccarsncniaainee s$12ll . 1806 8390 761 (149) §19
Tota] 33C8. . ecvercacnanaones covesae cececresestnsecaces . 9956 14080 16298 16328 14250 15187
Current partion of loag-term debt and related party transactions 23 254 1210 72 1046 1308
Long-term debt (excluding curreat portion) ....... essseaces . 142 2248 N2s 979 613 $98.6
Other long-term obligations ...... vesesnas cesetsasaans cree ns 1788 680 6991 90 1,0080
Armco's net investment ..c.cececcacnaee $581.1 -— -— -— - -
Partners’ capital (deficit)(9) ceccecvnnanccaccasaccacacanas . - $ 7007 S 1894 $ 733 $(449.7) $ (5842)
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(1) Amounts included herein are based on the net assets acquired at formation (May 13, 1989) from Armco
and Kawasaki on the basis of Armco’s and Kawasaki's historical cost.

(2) Reflects charges of $19.6 in 1993 for additional fixed asset write-offs and related disposal costs as well as
other miscellaneous charges. Reflects charges of $379.3 in 1992 for restructuring of operating facilities,
the shutdown of the hot-rolling mill at the Ashland Works, workforce reductions and related costs,
together with the write-off of the Company's investment in Eveleth.

(3) Reflects charges related to the Coal Retiree Benefit Act.

(4) Effective January 1, 1990, the Company adopted SFAS 106, Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement
Benefits Other than Pensions. :

(5) EBITDA is presented because it is a widely accepted financial indicator of a company’s ability to service
and incur debt. EBITDA does not represent net income or cash flows from operations as those terms are
defined by generally accepted accounting principles and does not necessarily indicate whether cash flows
will be sufficient to fund cash needs. EBITDA is calculated as follows:

Predecessor Compasy
Year Jasuary 1, May 13
D.j;‘b: 31, Ma ﬁ’ December 31, Years Ended December 31,
1988 1989 1989 19% 1991 192 1993
(dollars iz miilions)

Income (loss) before income taxes,
extraordinary item and accounting

ChUNgE .cvveienanrnnsnnsesacnsennan $137.6 $40.0 $ 436 $(91.6) $(256.6) $(542.6) $(40.7)
Depreciation and amortization............ 62.3 234 462 n3 $5.4 900 724
Interest EXPensC. ..ouvceranseccscaccsans 381 15.7 152 369 419 499 593
Non-cash OPEB .....cicvcveencneccncan - -— - 18 22 ™3 283
Excluded speci and

unmd?t::sd‘w ................ -— - S - -— - 196
Other (income) expense .....ccevavences —— — -— - - 0.1 (2.2)
EBITDA ..cccivcierrnnnarenacncnannes $238.0 .l $105.0 $ 444 $(101.1) $(3233) $136.7

* For purposes of the Indenture, the definition of EBITDA excludes certain special charges taken
during 1993 and thereafter. See “Description of Senior Notes — Certain Definitions — EBITDA".
Special charges for the years ended December 31, 1990, 1991 and 1992 were $0, $O and $379.3,
respectively.

(6) Earnings were insufficient to cover interest expense for the years ended 1991 and 1992 by $149.0 and
$373.2, respectively.

(7) For purposes of computing the ratio of earnings to fixed charges, fixed charges consist of interest, whether
expensed or capitalized. Earnings consist of income (loss) before income taxes and accounting change
the distributed income of less than 50% owned affiliates, plus fixed charges. Eamnings were insufficient to
cover fixed charges for years ended 1990, 1991, 1992 and 1993 by $93.6, $256.6, $542.5 and $42.9,
respectively. .

(8) Data for liquid stecl to finished product yield is for the full year of 1989.

(9) The deficit at December 31, 1993 includes a direct charge to equity of §113.2 to record an increased
pension liability primarily reflecting the lowering of the discount rate used to calculate the present value
of pension obligations from 8.5% to 7.5%.
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HISTORICAL AND PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA
(dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial data of the Company presented below reflect
the Recapitalization. The pro forma condensed consolidated statements of operations for the years ended
December 31, 1992 and 1993 were prepared assuming the transactions related to the Recapitalization were
consummated on January 1, 1992. The pro forma condensed balance sheet data as of December 31, 1992 and
1993 were prepared assuming such transactions were consummated as of the balance sheet dates.

. The pro forma financial data presented herein do not purport to represent what tie Company’s results of
operations would have been had such transactions in fact occurred at the beginning of the periods or to project
the Company’s results of operations to any future period. The pro forma financial data are based upon, and
should be read in conjunction with, the Company’s historical consolidated financial statements, including the
notes thereto, included elsewhere in this Prospectus.

Years Ended December 31,
1992 1993
Historical  Pro Forma Historical  Pro Forma

Statement of Operations Data:

Net S2188 .o oervnnecncoasscsascasassessssssssaananans $1,404.5 $1,404.5 81,5945 $1,594.5
Cost of products sold(1) ..oceereniiniiirasicreiiinnnns 1,318.6 1,393 1,378.3 1,369.0
Selling and administrative expenses.......ceeeeeecaaacnns 118.6 118.6 109.2 109.2
Depreciation and amortization .......cccareeccecasecanes 87.3 873 73.5 73.5
Special charges and unusual items......coeieeeenns cesaes 379.3 379.3 19.6 19.6
Operating profit (1088)....ccoceieeerccccaccacanane ceese  (499.3)  (490.0) 139 232
Interest expense(2) «.oceeeeceectacascrctsssoannnsnnaae 46.4 M8 58.1 48.6
Royalty expense (income) ......cccoeeenee thesercens ces (5.0) (5.0) (3.8) (3.8)
Miscellaneous other =—DNet ..coeerecercccssenanscssscess 1.9 1.9 0.3 0.3
Loss before income taXes ....cueesesicniecacssccssasnns (5426) (5iL.7) (40.7) (21.9)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes(3) ...ccocvvvrnanannn (10.6) (10.6) - —_—
Net loss before extraordinary item....... cettetnsessennas (5320) (S21.1) (40.7) (21.9)
Extraordinary item.....ccceveenecnnans Cesenenassassanas (12.1) (12.1) -— —_
Net1oss(4) ccccvvecannnerannennanennns cesasssessssaes $ (544.1) $(533.2) § (40.7) § (21.9)
Net income (loss) per share($)...ccevevcerececrnaraanss N/A $(2289) N/A $ (0.94)
EBITDA(6) - .cccoveee Cescesssasscnsersaasness cesenns (323.3) (3140) 1367 146.0
Ratio of EBITDA to interest expense(7) cccceeeeerananaes — -— 231x 293x
Ratio of eamings to fixed charges(8) ..c.cccoecasceasanans -— -— 0.28x 0.52x
: As of December 31,
1992 1993
Historical Pro Forms Historical Pro Forma

Balance Sheet Data: -
Cash and cash valents(9) ..c.cco.e. cecevecevesecess 3 12 S 988 § 1442 § 1622
Working capital (deficit) ...... ceecaaes cesceccransasens (14.9) Ina 579 197.1
Total assetS ....covvneccncacccasssanss cesessasssansecs  1,4250 1,5326 1,518.7  1,546.7
Current portion of long-term debt and related

party indebtedness(10)(11) ........ cecetcasssennases . 104.6 9.6 130.8 9.6
Long-term debt (excluding current portion) (9) (10)(11) ... 563.3 4209 598.6 402.8
Other long-term obligations(10) ........ cesscsccescnacns §79.0 790 1,008.0 908.0
Partners’ capital (deficit)/stockholders’ equity )

(deficit) (4) (10)(12)..... chsessesenans Cesesseesaeans $(449.7) § (47) $(584.2) $(139.2)
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(1) Assumes that $50.0 of cash proceeds from the Offerings and 2,500,000 shares of Common Stock were
contributed to the Trustee of the Pension Trust as of January 1, 1992, The additional contributions and
the associated return on assets have the following effect on the pension expense as shown:

Years Ended
December 31,
1% 1593
Pension expense prior to the Recapitalization.........covevviieiiiniiianes $29.1 8356
Pension expense after Pension Trust Contribution . .......ovvuuiiiiiiinnnns. 198 263
Net reduction in pension eXpense. ...cocvvetuiiteereisettaiiriracanenannas $93 $93.

(2) The Company has assumed the following for purposes of computing pro forma interest expense:

a. Interest expense and debt issuance cost associated with existing debt that is prepaid by proceeds from
the Offerings have been eliminated.

b. Interest expense on the Senior Notes is computed using a rate of 9.75% per year.

¢. Amortization of $10.0 in expenses usocxated with the issuance of the Senior Notes is included in

interest expense.

(3) Tax provisions in the pro forma financial statements reflect no changes from the historical financial
statements. Had the Company elected to become a corporation as of January 1, 1992, it would have
sustained a tax loss of $262.2 for the year ended December 31, 1992. However, such a tax loss would not
have given rise 10 a tax refund claim or a reduction in previously recorded deferred tax credits. While it
would have been available for carryforward to future years, the ability to utilize such a carryforward
following the Recapitalization would have been substantially deferred or disallowed for income tax
purposes. In addition, no deferred tax asset would have been recorded with respect to such loss

carryforward,

(4) The pro forma amounts do not include any prepayment fees for the conversion of the Company’s bank
loans from fixed rates to ﬂoanng rates (which fees are expected 10 be paid out of the Company’s cash
balances). The Company anticipates that this conversion will occur contemporaneously with the
Offerings and result in an extraordinary charge estimated to be approximately $16.0.

(5) Assumes that 23,296,594 shares of Common Stock to be issued in the Recapitalization were outstanding
throughout the periods indicated. On an historical basis, the Company was a partnership and therefore
had no shares outstanding.

(6) EBITDA is presented because it is a widely accepted financial indicator of a company’s ability to service
and incur debt. EBITDA does not represent net income or cash flows from operations as thosc terms are
defined by generally accepted accounting principles and does not necessarily indicate whether cash flows
will be sufficient to fund cash nceds. EBITDA is calculated as follows:

Yoars Eaded Docember 31,
. 1992 1993
. fiistorical Pro Forma  Historieal Pro Forma
Income (loss) before income taxes and
accounting change ....... ccecssescanns oo $(542.6) $(531.7) $ (40.7) $ (21.9)
Depreciation and smortizstion ............ . 90.0 90.0 724 724
Interest eXPenIe ...ccovcncccnccnsne cesees . 499 © 483 593 493
Non-cash OPEB...ccceccteoncccsoscnans . "3 ™3 283 28]
Excluded special charges and unusual mms‘ -— - 19.6 19.6
Other (income) expenss ....ccc... ceeseasas 0.1 0.1 (22) (22)
EBITDA ccvccvrnnccnsrcnnncaresanscses $(3233) $(3140) $ 1367 § 1460

* For purposes of the Indenture, the definition of EBITDA excludes certain special charges taken during 1993
and thereafter. See “Description of Senior Notes — Certain Definitions — EBITDA". Special charges for
the years ended December 31, 1990, 1991 and 1992 were S0, SO and $379.3, respectively.
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(7) Eamings were insuﬁs:iem to cover interest expense for the year ended 1992 by $373.2. Pro forma
carnings were insufficient to cover interest expease for the year ended 1992 by §362.3.

(8) For purposes of comput'ing the ratio of earnings to fixed charges, fixed charges consist of interest,
whether expensed or capitalized. Eamings consist of income (loss) before income taxes and accounting
change, the distributed income of less than 50% owned affiliates, plus fixed charges. Eamings were
insufficient to cover fixed charges for years ended 1990, 1991, 1992 and 1993 by $93.6, $256.6, $542.5
and $42.9, respectively. Pro forma ecarnings were insufficient to cover fixed charges for the years ended
1992 and 1993 by $531.6 and $24.1, respectively.

(9) Certain portions of the debt balances at December 31, 1993 that are being repaid did not exist at
January 1, 1992. The proceeds are assumed to be held in cash and cash equivalents until such proceeds
c:!n be applied to such debt. The Company did not assume any pro forma eamings on these cash
balances. .

(10) The sources and uses of funds associated with the Recapitalization are assumed to be as set forth under
“The Recapitalization.”
(11) As part of the agreement with the Company’s existing lenders, a portion of the remaining unpaid debt

will be rescheduled to provide for amortization of the debt over a seven year period. Indebtedness due
within one year and long-term indebtedness have been accordingly adjusted.

(12) The deficit at December 31, 1993 includes a direct charge to equity of $113.2 to record an increased
pension lability primarily reflecting the lowering of the discount rate used to calculate the present value
of pension obligations from 8.5% to 7.5%.- .




MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

As the U.S. economy and particularly the domestic automotive industry have begun to emerge from the
recession that began in 1989, the domestic steel industry bas experienced a significant resurgence in demand.
This increase in demand has enabled the Company and other domestic integrated steel producers to obtain
price increases for many of their major product lines. However, because a substantial percentage of the
Company's production is sold pursuant to long-term contracts with annual price commitments, many of these
price increases were not reflected in the Company’s results until the fourth quarter of 1993 and certain others
will not be fully reflected until the first half of 1994. The Company’s ability to sustain higher prices, includx'ng
a January 1994 price increase, is subject to, among other thmgs. continuing high levels of demand in its
principal customer markets, the absence of a material increase in the level of steel xmpons and general

economic conditions.

The Company has sought and continues to seck to increase sales of higher maxgm, value-added products
targeted to customers in the automotive and appliance industries, and to decrease its sales of lower margin
products to other markets, such as secondary distributors. Until recently, production inefficiencies, inadequate
attention to product quality and reliability, and insufficient attention to customer technical support limited the
ability of the Company to consistently meet the rigorous quality, delivery and technical support requirements
of many of the customers its high-margin products are designed to serve. Accordingly, its operating results
reflected a greater proportion of sales of lower margin products and the impact of price concessions given to
compensate for deficiencies in product quality, on-time delivery reliability and technmical support. The
Company believes that the significant improvements in its production operations achieved since implementa-
tion of its new business strategy and the revitalization of a dedicated technical support staff has established its
ability to secure orders from high-end customers and will enable it to increase the relative percentage of its
high-margin product sales.

The Company has increased the efficiency of its operations and the quality of its products by
implementing cost savings measures, improving its operating practices and modernizing existing facilities.
These cost saving measures have included the rationalization of facilities, enhanced productivity and
equipment maintenance and renegotiation of key raw materials and transportation contracts. These measures
resulted in cost reductions of $110.0 million in 1993. The Company believes that these savings represent
permanent reductions in its cost structure and anticipates further savings, including $20.0 million of additional
cost savings in 1994 from actions taken in 1993, although there can be no assurance that any such savings will
in fact be achieved in future periods. See “Business — Strategy.”

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain data from the Company’s Statement of Operations for the fiscal
years ended December 31, 1990, 1991, 1992 and 1993, as well as the percentage change in these data from
period to period (dollars in millions):

Perceatage Increase
{Decrease

e Years Evded December3L, = T991ve 19927v 193 m

1990 1991 1992 1993 1990 1991 1992
NetsaleS...cccceeeencsncrssserercncscans $1.416.8 $1,301.4 $1.404.5 §1,594.5 3B1N% 79% 13.5%
Costof products sold......cccevvenccreanss 1,284 13034 13186 13783 15 12 4.5
Sclling and administrative expenses.......... 133.8 1344 118.6 109.2 04 (11.8) 1.9)
Depreciation and amortization .........ccu0 72.8 82.6 873 735 135 8.7 (15.8)
Operating profit (1088)......ccccevveeeencne (74.3) (219.0) (499.3) 139 (194.8) (128.0) N/A
INTErest EXPENSC . ocvvvueracasnarenasanans 243 4038 464 581 619 13.7 252
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The following table sets forth certain data from the Company's Statement of Operations for the fiscal
years ended December 31, 1990, 1991, 1992 and 1993, in each case expressed as a percentage of net sales:

Years Eaded December 31,

et SaleS .. cvveivtitieeraeaeterenonsctassssaseassanonsens 1000% 1000% 100.0% 100.0%
Costof products sold . ......ccoiviiiiienncnnescnsscanannsns 90.7 100.2 93.9 86.4
Selling and administrative eXpenses......cccvveetcarcasanaans 9.4 10.3 8.4 6.8
Depreciation & amortization......ooeevereereacaenas. eveenes 5.1 6.3. 6.2 4.6
Operating profit (1088)...cccevvevrennnas Cerececneanas eeaes (5.2) (16.8) (35.6) - 0.9

Interest expense ..... Cedecerieianans Ceederetseesecananione 1.7 il 33 3.6

1993 Compared to 1992

Net Sales. The increase in net sales in 1993 reflected a 12.5% increase in tons shipped and 2 0.9%
increase in the average sclling price per ton received compared to the 1992 period. The increase in toas
shipped was due to operating efficiencies resulting from implementation of the Company’s new business
strategy. See “Business — Strategy.” The price increase was partly offset by a less favorable product mix that
included a higher proportion of lower margin products, a significant amount of which were ordered in late 1992
and were not shipped until the first quarter of 1993. Disproportionately higher sales of lower margin, hot-rolled
steel resulted from the idling in early 1993 of the cold-rolling mill and pickling facilities at the Ashland Works
and corresponding upgrading of the cold-rolling and pickling facilities at the Middletown Works that required
the Company to temporarily reduce the production of cold-rolled steel. In addition, many of the price
increases announced in 1993 were not reflected in the Company’s results until the fourth quarter of 1993 and
certain others will not be fully refiected until the first half of 1994.

Cost of Products Sold. The decrease in cost of products sold (as a percentage of net sales) reflected
continued cost reduction efforts coupled with improved operating efficiencies, including reliance on 100%
continuous casting for the entire year ended December 31, 1993. Costs benefitted from the continued
utilization of pair cross rolling techniques on the recently modernized hot-rolling mill, the installation of cold-
rolling mill improvements, various coating and finishing line improvements, the effects of facility rationaliza.
tions, implementation of new maintenance and operating philosophies and lower raw material contract prices.
The Company believes that it has not yet realized the full benefits of these measures and that continued
implementation of its cost reduction and operating efficiency efforts should further reduce costs.

" Selling and Administrative Expenses. The decline in selling and administrative expenses reflected the
impact of the salaried force reductions and the outsourcing of various functions, including data processing and
administrative services. The Company intends to continue to outsource these services (and others where
practicable) for the foresecable future.

Depreciation and Amortization. The decrease in deprecistion expense was due to facility rationaliza-
tions, which contributed to a portion of the special charges taken in December 1992,

Operating Profit (Loss). The retum to operating profitability was attributable to the increased operating
efficiencies, lower cost of products sold (including a $10.4 millicn benefit from LIFO inventory liquidations)
and reduced selling and administrative expenses discussed above, as well as substantially lower special charges
and unusual items. The Company’s operating profit in 1993 included $19.6 million of charges relating to
additional fixed asset write-offs and related disposal costs as well as other miscellaneous charges, while the
operating loss in 1992 included $379.3 million of charges that related primarily to the rationalization of
facilities, workforce reductions, and a write-off of the Company’s investment in Eveleth. The 1992 operating
loss was reduced, however, by a litigation settlement received in the first quarter. Excluding special charges
and unusual items, the Company’s operating profit was $33.5 million in 1993 compared to an operating loss of
$120.0 million in 1992.

Interest Expense. The increase in interest expense was primarily due to the increase in the Company’s

outstanding indebtedness.



1992 Compared to 1991

Net Sales. The increase in net sales in 1992 reflected a 10.1% increase in tons shipped, which offset a
2.0% decrease in selling price. Selling prices were particularly weak in the automotive and appliance,
construction and manufacturing markets, which in the aggregate constituted 60.0% of the Company’s sales in
1992. Improved operating efficiency and performance offset a reduction in profit margins that was attributable
to -greater sales to service centers and correspondingly lower sales to the automobile and appliance,
construction and manufacturing sectors. The Company’s steel production was adversely affected by interrup-
tions caused by the installation of a gas cleaning system at the Ashland Works in. 1992 and by a major
modernization of the hot-rolling mill at the Middletown Works in 1991.

Cost of Products Sold. The reduction in cost of products sold as a percentage of net sales reflected the
results of various actions taken by the Company to reduce costs and improve product quality. These actions
included the shift to 100% continuous casting in the third quarter, substantially increasing productivity at both
the newly modemnized hot-rolling mill and upgraded cold-rolling mill at the Middletown Works and improved
equipment maintenance at all of the Company’s facilities.

Selling and Administrative Expenses. The reduction in selling and administrative expenses was
primarily attributable to improved cost controls coupled with salaried workforce reductions in the fourth

quarter of 1992,

Depreciation and Amortization. The increase in depreciation expense was primarily due to additional
capital investment.

Operating Profit (Loss). The substantial increase in operating loss was due to the inclusion of special
charges, aggregating $379.3 million, that related primarily to the rationalization of facilities, including the
shutdown of the hot-rolling mill at the Ashland Works in July 1992, workforce reductions and a write-off of
the Company’s investment in Eveleth. The 1992 operating loss was reduced, however, by a litigation
settlement received in the first quarter. Excluding special charges, the Company’s operating loss was reduced
over 45% in 1992 compared to 1991, as the Company began to realize the benefits of its newly-implemented

cost reduction and efficiency program.

Interest Expense. The increase in interest expense reflected an increase in total indebtedness and a
reduction of capitalized interest related to decreased capital expenditures.

Extraordinary Item. The Company recorded an extraordinary charge of $12.1 million, representing
management's current estimate of the Company’s potential obligation under the Coal Retiree Benefit Act.

1991 Compared to 1990

Net Sales. During 1991, 2 9.7% decrease in tons shipped was offset by a 1.7% increase in selling price.
Selling prices improved 2.7% in the automotive and appliance, construction and manufacturing markets but
decreased 8.2% in the distribution and conversion markets. In 1990, the threat of a work stoppage during labor
contract negotiations at the Middletown Works led to an undesirable product mix and the loss of sales of
higher value-added automotive products, as customers cancelled orders due to the uncertainty of supply.

Cost of Products Sold. The increase in cost of products sold in absolute terms and as a percentage of
sales resulted from a decrease in steel production and various operating and quality problems. The Company
began 1991 with extremely high inventory levels, forcing it to temporarily idle certain facilities or operate them
at reduced levels in the first quarter of 1991. The Company’s results also were adversely affected by outages
related to several major modemization projects including a hot-rolling mill modification at the Middletown
Works requiring a 40-day outage, and modifications of the basic oxygen furnace at the Ashland Works and the

vacuum degasser at the Middletown Works.
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Selling and Administrative Expenses. Seclling and administrative expenses remained virtually un.
changed compared to the prior period.

Depreciation and Amortization. The increased depreciation expense was due to increased capital
spending relating to the facilities modemization which totalled $374.9 million for both years.

Operating Profit (Loss). The increase in operating loss was attributable to reduced sales levels, facility
outages and lower operating levels without a concomitant reduction in fixed costs.

Interest Expense. The increase in interest expense was due to an increase in the Company’s outstanding
indebtedness and reduced capitalized interest relating to capital expenditures.

Cumulative Effect of Changes in Accounting Principle. Eflective ‘January 1, l9§0. the Company
adopted SFAS 106 resulting in a one-time charge of $491.6 million for the cumulative effect of the adoption of
this standard.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company’s liquidity needs are primarily for capital investments, principal and interest payments on
its indebtedness, ongoing pension and other employee benefit obligations and working capital requirements.
These nceds have been satisfied over the last three years primarily by long-term borrowings and contributions
from Armco and Kawasaki. At present, cash flow from operations, cash and cash equivalents and available
borrowings under the Company’s §50.0 million revolving credit facilities are the primary sources of liquidity.
At December 31, 1993, the Company bad $144.2 million of cash and cash equivalents and $46.2 million of
borrowing capacity under its revolving credit facilities (net of $3.8 million of outstanding letters of credit).

Year Ended December 31, 1993. For the year ended December 31, 1993, cash flow from operating
activities improved to §98.8 million as the Company returned to operating profitability and efforts to reduce
working capital requirements continued. During this period, capital spending decreased to $40.2 million, The
Company made payments of $104.6 million on its long-term debt and received $166.0 million in proceeds
from additional long-term borrowings, of which $70.0 million consisted of an unsecured subordinated term
loan from an affiliate of Kawasaki. These borrowings and the improved operating cash flows accounted for the
increase in cash and cash equivalents from $1.2 million at December 31, 1992 to $144.2 million at
December 31, 1993.

Year Ended December 31, 1992. Despite the $544.1 million net loss for the year ended December 31,
1992, cash used in operating activities totalled $42.5 million, since a significant portion of the net loss was due
to special non-cash charges. Inventory reductions of $47.4 million also contributed to improved operating cash
flows. Investing activities included $86.2 million of capital expenditures and §22.2 million for a 50% equity
investment in Southwestern Ohio Steel, L.P. (“SOS"™), which was funded by contributions from Armco and
Kawasaki. Financing activities included $170.0 miillion in proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt and
$44.2 million of principal payments on long-term debt. All $58.0 million of outstanding borrowings under
short-term debt facilities were repaid in 1992,

Year Ended December 31, 1991. Operating cash flows in 1991 were negative due to a net loss of $251.1
million. Inventory reductions and other efforts to reduce working capital offset a portion of the impact on cash
from this loss. Aggregats contributions of $105.5 million from Armco and Kawasaki and proceeds of $208.2
million from the issuance of long-term debt satisfied cash requirements of $163.1 million for capital
expenditures, $38.0 million for principal psyments of long-term debt, $65.0 million for repayment of short-
term borrowings and $48.8 million to cover the net shortfall from operating activities.

Capital Expenditures. The Company spent $501.3 million during the four-year period ended
December 31, 1993 to upgrade and modernize its manufacturing facilities. With these expenditures (and
expenditures made prior to this period) and the recent restructuring of the facilities, the Company believes it
has the capacnty to compete in the markets it serves on a cost and pmduct offering basis and the ability to
implement its strategic plan. See “Business — Capital Improvemeats.” At December 31, 1993, commitments
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for capital expenditures totalled $74.8 million. The Company anticipates capital requirements will be lower
over the next three years. During this time period, the Company expects to spend capital sufficient to maintain
its competitive position in the marketplace. The Company anticipates that these expeaditures, which are
expected to range between $80.0 million and $100.0 million per year, will be funded with cash derived from
operations and, if required, additional financings.

Debt Agreements. In view of operating losses and the substantial special charges for lhe restructuring of
facilities and reduction of the work force incurred in 1992, effective December 30, 1992, the Company
obtained amendments to certain covenants contained in its various debt agreements and agreed to grant a
security interest in and mortgage on substantially all of its assets in favor of the lenders under these
agreements. In addition, on January 18, 1994 the Company entered into an agreement with certain of its
lenders under which the maturity of a portion of its debt will be extended to May 31, 1995 if the
Recapitalization is not completed by May 1994. (the original maturity date of the debt). As a result, $80.0
million of debt previously classified as current portion has beea reclassified as long-term at December 31,
1993. At December 31, 1993, the Company had $729.4 million of long-term debt (including current portion)
outstanding. As part of the Recapitalization, the Company will issue $275.0 million of Senior Notes, repay a
substantial portion of its debt and amend the debt agreements with certain of its remaining lenders to allow for
amortization of a portion of its remaining debt over a minimum of seven years in installments that will more
closely coincide with its anticipated cash gencrating ability and operating and capital requirements. After the
Recapitalization, the Company’s scheduled debt amortization requirements will be reduced as follows:

December 31, 1993

Year : Actual  Pro Forma
(dollars Ia millions)

1994 . iiiviiittntaccccettnroaanacttsnstransarassencnne $1308 § 9.6
1995 .ieiienenn tecessccesastesesnccscsasssrsssssccscscs 2008 17.6
1996 ..iiiiiinniecaanosaasanes veessasane teeseacane ees 2150 272
1997 ...... ceetsssstaranane Geessacesstsaressasaananee . 93.2 25.3
1998 ....... Ceesetecstsenanrane sevseens ceesecesenanna . 25.0 253
1999 and thereafter «occovvevennnccceossneestsscscassannas 646 3074
B -1 $729.4 $412.4
e — E———

In addition, the revised debt agreements will include amendments to certain financial covenants to
accommodate the Recapitalization. The revised debt agreements will provide that the security interests in and
mortgages on the Company’s assets will be released except for the security interests in inventory and
receivables and the security interest in the No. 1 Electrolytic Galvanizing Line (*No. 1 EGL"™) and the No. 2
Electrolytic Galvanizing Line (*No. 2 EGL"). See “Description of Certain Indebtedness.”

Employee Benefit Obligations. The Company has significant unfunded employee benefit obligations.
The Company estimates its obligations for retirement benefits other than pensions, as accounted for under
SFAS 106, were approximately $670.6 million at December 31, 1993. These obligations are currently funded
as claims are filed. The Company does not anticipate changing its funding practices for these obhgauons and,
therefore, does not anticipate any additional impact on its hqmdity as a result of this accounting standard,
which was adopted effective January 1, 1990.

The funded status of the Company’s pension plans decreased during 1993 by approximately $138.8
million (resulting in a charge to equity of $113.2 million) primarily due to the lowering of the discount rate
used for financial reporting purposes to calculate the present value of pension obligations from 8.5% to 7.5%
(which is not expected 1o result in an increase in funding requirements for the near term relative to what these
requirements would have been without a change in such discount rate). The funded status of the pension plans
decreased during 1992 as a result of the special charges for workforce reductions. The Company’s funding of
its pension obligations meets the minimum funding requirements of ERISA. These minimum funding
requirements mandate that the obligations associated with & workforce restructuring (such as that experienced
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in 1992) be funded over a period of five to seven years. As a result, based on current assumptions and
assuming no other restrucmnngs or significant changes in applicable law or regulation, pension funding as
required by ERISA is expected to exceed historical pension expease by approx:malely $30.0 million to
$55.0 million per year over the next five years until the associated underfunding is eliminated. The Company
intends to contribute $50.0 million of the proceeds from the Offerings and shares of Common Stock baving a
value equal to $50.0 million (2,500,000 shares based on an assumed initial public offering price of $20 per
share) to reduce its unfunded pension obligation. See “Use of Proceeds” and “The Recapitalization.”
Although the Company does not preseatly intend to use the Pension Trust Contribution to meet future
minimum funding standards, it reserves the right to do so if cash resources become limited.

For additional information concerning employee and retiree benefit plans. see Note 5 of “Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.”

Potential Special Charges. The Company will continue to review its businesses to determine if
additional facilities should be closed, written down or otherwise restructured. In this regard, the Company is
negotiating with the Eveleth partners concerning the potential closure of, or the Company’s exit from, Eveleth,
If these negotiations are successfully completed, the closure of, or exit from, Eveleth would be subject to other
events, including the approval by the Company's Board of Directors and could result in a charge of
approximately $30.0 million. Although it is not possible at this time for the Company to determine accurately
the amounts of any other special charges that may result from the closure, write down or restructuring of other
facilities, additional special charges could be incurred and may be substantial

Other Obligations. Domestic steel producers, including the Company, are subject to stringent federal,
state and local laws and regulations relating to the protection of human health and the environment. The
Company, like other domestic steel producers, has expended, and can be expected to expend in the future,
substantial amounts for compliance with these eavironmental laws and regulations. Capital expenditures for
environmental remediation and protection for 1993 totalled $16.4 million, and are estimated to amount to
approximately $24.2 million for 1994. In addition, the Company made payments for environmental compli-
ance of approximately $38.3 million for 1993 and expects to make similar payments of approximately $39.9
million and $41.5 million for 1994 and 1995, respectively. Because environmental laws are becoming
increasingly more stringent, the Company’s capml expendntum relating to environmental controls and costs
for environmental compliance are likely to increase in the future. In addition, unanticipated factual or
regulatory developments could affect the currently anticipated amount and timing of future enmonmenul
. .expenditures and compliance costs. See “Business — Environmental Matters.”

As discussed above, the Company is subject to a number of contingent obligations, including environ-
mental costs, unfunded pension costs, retiree medical and life insurance benefits and certain other employ-
ment related costs. The Company belicves the Recapitalization should not adversely affect its ability to
deduct, for income tax purposes, future paymeats when made in respect of these items. There can be no
assurance that the Company’s position will prevail if challenged by the Internal Revenue Service or other
taxing authority. If the Company’s position were successfully challenged, there could be a material adverse
effect on the Company.

For information conceming the potential impact of the Trade Proceedings on the Company, see
“Business — Competition.”

Impact of Recapitalization. After the Recapitalization, the Company’s liquidity position will be
dramatically improved. In addition to its cash on hand and cash flow geaerated from operations, the Company
will have available a $75.0 million, five-year working capital fa:ility. See “Description of Certain Indebted-
ness.” Given the amortization requirements of the Company’s remaining long-term debt (as described above)
and the Company’s projected capital expendnure requirements, management believes it will bave adequate
resources to address its operating and debt service needs for the foresceable future.
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BUSINESS

The Company is the sixth largest integrated steel producer in the United States. It primarily manufac.
tures high strength, low carbon flat-rolled steel, the largest segment of the domestic steel market. The
Company concentrates on the production of premium grade and value-added applications of hot-rolled steel
and coated and uncoated cold-rolled steel for sale to the automotive, appliance and manufacturing markets, as
well as to the construction industry and independent steel distributors and service centers.

Strategy

In June 1992, the Company began implementing a strategic business plan to improve the yield and
reduce the costs of its production operations while enhancing its ability to meet the extremely high product
quality, delivery and technical support requirements of those customers who are the principal users of
premium grades of flat-rolled steel. As illustrated on page 34, this strategic plan has already achieved
significant results. The plan consists of the following key elements:

New Management. Beginning in June 1992, a new senior management team assumed responsibility for
the Company’s operations. Heading the new team as chief executive officer is veteran steel executive Thomas
C. Graham, who has been credited with the successful turnaround of USX Corporation's steel operations in
the late 1980s and Washington Steel Corporation’s ¢emergence from bankruptcy and acquisition by Lukens
Inc. in early 1992. In addition to Mr. Graham, a number of other experienced executives were recruited to fill
key positions in manufacturing, marketing, finance and other areas. The new senior management team has
instituted substantial changes in line management personnel at all of the Company’s production facilities and
in the management of its sales and marketing organization, and has raised the expectations and capabilities of
its personnel. Approximately 30 individuals have been hired or reassigned to work on the plant fioors, many of
them technological development engineers who are dedicated to early involvement in the pm_duct development
process.

Productivity Improvement. Productivity has increased significantly through the elimination of redun-
dant, less cfficient operations and production facilities and the increase in the operating levels of the remaining
equipment. Among the specific measures taken are the shift to 100% continuous casting and the idling of the
bot-rolling and cold-rolling mills and associated pickling lines at the Ashland Works. In addition, with an
intensive focus on preventive and anticipatory equipment maintenance, the Company has been utilizing
comprehensive maintenance teams able to respond on a flexible basis to problems in the production process as
and when they arise. The Company also maintains flexible maintenance schedules to take opportunistic
advantage of production down time. As a result of these changes, the Company has been able to increase its
total volume of steel shipments from 3,049,000 tons for the year ended December 31, 1992 to 3,429,400 tons
for the year ended December 31, 1993, while reducing its man hours per ton from 5.93 for 1992 to 4.20 for
1993. In the most recent quarter, man hours per ton were reduced to 4.01 as compared with 5.49 for the
quarter ended December 31, 1992,

Cost Reduction Programs. Since June 1992, the Company has aggressively sought to reduce costs in all
sectors of its operations by implementing a variety of measures. In addition to the cost savings associated with
the productivity improvements described above, the Company has restructured its remaining work force and
renegotiated key raw materials and transportation contracts, including contracts for iron ore pellets, coal,
oxygen, clectricity and natural gas. These measures resulted in cost reductions of $110.0 million in 1993. The
Company believes that these savings represeat permanent reductions in its cost structure and anticipates
further savings, although there can be no assurance that any such savings will in fact be achieved in future
periods.

Product Quality and Reliability. Customer satisfaction is an important element of the Company’s
overall strategy. The Company considers itself a major pmducer of high quality steel. Product quality and
reliability are emphasized. Prior to the changes in its senior and line management, production inefficiencies,
inadequate attention to product quality and reliability and an insufficient focus on customer technical support
limited the ability of the Company to consutendy meet the rigorous quality, delivery and technical support
requirements of many of the customers its premium products are designed to serve.
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Since June 1992, improvements made in virtually every phase of the Company's production operations
have substantially enhanced the overall quality and consistency of its steel products and its ability to meet
customers’ just-in-time delivery requirements. Its technical stafl works closely with customers at early phases
of their product development schedules to ensure the suitability of the Company’s steel for the customers’
specialized applications. The Company has increased the size of its technical staff as well as the proportion of
this staff that is comprised of development engineers. In addition, Kawasaki bas in the past provided and will
continue to provide the Company with technical support.

Other major changes designed to improve customer satisfaction have been made in areas such as on-time
delivery and predictability of yield. The Company’s customer rejection rate declined from approximately
1.23% of tonnage shipped for the year ended December 31, 1992 to 0.61% of tonnage shipped for the year
ended December 31, 1993 (0.93% and 0.46% for the fourth quarters of 1992 and 1993, respectively), and its
tonnage shipped to the secondary market as a perceatage of total tons shipped decreased from 16.6% 10 12.2%
for these periods (14.0% and 9.0% for the fourth quarters of 1992 and 1993, respectively). These
improvements have led to a reduction in the need to stockpile large inveatories of key product lines to ensure
timely customer deliveries and have also enhanced revenues. The Company has won various quality
recognition awards from its customers including the General Motors Mark of Excellence, Nissan's Quality
Master Award, Saturn Corporation's GP3 Certification and Subaru-Isuzu's Quality Achicvement Award.
In addition, the Company is an Arvin Industries — Level 1 Certified Supplier and a Lennox Certified
Supplier.

Marketing Strategy. The Company’s marketing efforts are being increasingly dmected toward those
high-end customers, such as automotive and appliance manufacturers, whose exacting quality and on-time
delivery requirements and need for specialized product applications (such as those that use coated steels)
justify premium pricing. The Company believes its enhanced product quality and delivery capabilities, and its
emphasis on customer technical support and product planning, are important factors in its ability to serve this
segment of the market Its technical resources group, consisting of 42 people located at the Middletown
Works, the Ashland Works, Detroit and the Company’s headquarters at Middletown, Ohio, assists customers
with application technology and technical developments such as evaluating product performance and problem
solving. The Company recently expanded its sales offices located in Detroit, Nashville and Chicago. These
offices are well placed to attend to the needs of U.S. and certain transplant automotive manufacturers as well
as other major steel consumers located near the Great Lakes. The Company receatly opened a fourth sales
office in Cincinnati, accessible to its headquarters in Middletown.
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Results of Strategic Initiatives. The following charts illustrate the improvements that have resulted
from the implementation of the Company's new strategic initiatives:
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Customers

The Company's primary customers are in the automotive, appliance, construction and manufacturing
markets. The Company also sells its products to distributors and steel service centers.

The Company is a major supplier of hot and cold-rolled steel and coated and specialty products to
domestic automotive manufacturers and the U.S.-based plants of foreign automotive manufacturers, who
collectively represent one of the most demanding categories of steel consumers. Car and truck manufacturers
require wide sheets of steel, rolled to exact dimensions. Formability and defect-free surfaces are also critical.
The Company has successfully been able to meet these demands, and its steel products are used in a variety of
automotive applications, including exposed and unexposed panels, gas tanks and truck beds. Blanket purchase
orders for the Company’s products setting forth agreed-upon prices and anticipated tonnage requirements are
generally awarded annually, with releases made on a daily or weekly basis. The Company’s primary
automotive customers include General Motors, Ford Motor Company and certain U.S.-based facilities of
Honda, Nissan, Toyota and Suban.

The Company is also a significant supplier of cold-rolled, enameling grades and coated steel products to
the home appliance industry, including manufacturers of refrigerators, disbwashers, stoves, ovens, washers,
dryers, air conditioners and plumbing ware. Its technical staff works closely with manufacturers to maximize
their effective utilization of the Company’s products. One aspect of the Company’s strategy is to increase sales
to the home appliance market The Company’s primary home appliance customers include American
Standard, York International, A.B. Electrolux and Lennox Industries. The Company also supplies appliance
manufacturers such as General Electric, Frigidaire, Raytheon (Amana), Whiripool, Maytag (Magic Chef),
Trane, Carrier and Armstrong Air. In addition, the Company sells its products to the domestic metal buildings
market which requires galvanized steel principally for roof and building panels.

The Company supplies the distribution and service center markets with hot-rolled, cold-rolled and coated
flat-rolled steel Service centers generally purchase steel coils from the Company and may process them
further or sell them directly to third parties without further processing. Contracts are awarded periodically and
are primarily based on cost, with quality, delivery and technical services also being factors for winning
purchase orders.

. The following table sets forth the percentage of the Company’s net sales to various markets for cach of
the past four years.

1% m 1M m
Automotive ......ccocienanianas cesesaanas cevens cess  383% 43% 4% 42%
Appliance, Construction and Mnnuflctnmg ........... 2l 18 16 14
Distribution and Service Centers ....covvevnvecinnoees. 41 ) ] M

10095 lm 1m 100'5

Shipmeats to General Motors, the Compuy‘s largest customer, accounted for approximately 23% of net
sales in 1993, 23% in 1992. 27% in 1991 and 23% in 1990. No other customer accounted for more than 10% of

the Company’s net sales in any of the Company’s last four fiscal years.
For information regarding certain services provided by the Company to Armco and Kawasak, see
“Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.”

Operations

The Company operates two principal production facilities, the Middletown Works in Middletown, Ohio,
located halfway between Dayton and Cincinnati, and the Ashland Works in Ashland, Kentucky, approxi-
nmely 150 miles away from Middietown. In July 1992, the Company restructured its production operations by

moving to 100% continuous casting of molten steel and eliminating its ingot-teeming pmducuon. The
Company closely coordinates the operations of the Middletown Works and the Ashland Works in order to

maintain high operating rates throughout its processing facilities and to minimize redundant capital

investments.



The Middletown Works has been the Company’s principal facility since its founding over 90 years ago.
The Middletown Works includes three coke batteries, one blast furnace, one basic oxygen facility, one
continuous caster, one bot-rollmg mill, two pickling lines, one cold-rolling mill, two electrogalvanizing lines
and three additional coating lines. Following the 1992 shutdowns of its hot-rolling mill and the idling of its
cold-rolling mill and pickling line, the remaining steelmaking equipment at the Ashland Works consists of two
coke batteries, one blast furnace, one basic oxygen facility, ome continuous caster and two coating lines.

The Company's other major investment, in addition to the Middletown Works and the Ashland Works, is
its 50% joint venture with Itochu Corporation (“ITOCHU") in SOS. SOS processes various gradu and
gauges of hot-rolled steel. It purchased approximately 207,000 tons of steel in 1993.

The following table details effective steelmaking capacity, actual production, effective capacity utilization
and percentage of steel continuously cast for the Company and the domestic steel industry for the periods
indicated.

Raw Steel Production
Efectie  _ Actual Codty  Contn
Civsdy  Profuction Ui cam
(thousaads of tons) (%) %)
The Company
1993 . iiiieeiinnntacncacananne 3,960 3,601 91% 100%
1992 iiiiieiennasenanecnnennns 4314 3,399 9 90
1991 ..vvvvvanns cetessaaane cene 4,572 3,087 68 80
1990 .. c.iiiiieneniancanaans oo 45T2 3,991 87 54
1989 .. .civiiiiiiaiennnn cecenee 4,572 4,128 90 39
Domestic Steel Industry® '
1993 (preliminary) ...ccccveneees 109,900 97,900 89% 85%
1992 ..cciivnnne cettecsentecns 113,000 92,949 82 79
1§ ) vees 118,000 87,896 75 76
1990 ..iiiiieinnnnnitnncncannns 117,000 98,906 85 67
1989 ¢iiiiiiiiinniiiinatinnnes 116,000 97,943 85 65

s Source: American Iron and Steel Institute.

Raw Materials

Iron ore. The Company’s metallic iron requirements are satisfied primarily from iron ore pellets that are
produced from a concentration of low-grade ores. The Company purchases approximately three million tons of
iron ore pellets annually, which account for approximately 11% of the base manufacturing cost of its steel
Approximately 90% of the iron ore pellets purchased by the Company comes from the Lake Superior district
in Minnesota. At present, iron ore pellets are available to the Company from a variety of sources.

Until 1992, the Company purchased approximately one-third of its iron ore requirements from Eveleth
Mines, a venture in which the Company has an indirect 35% equity interest, pursuant to an agreement that
required all equity participants to purchase their proportionate share of Eveleth Mines’ iron ore output. In
1991, the Eveleth partners agreed to suspend this purchase requirement through 1996 (although they remain
obligated to pay their proportionate share of Eveleth's fixed costs). In 1992, the Company wrote-off its entire
equity investment in Eveleth, However, the Company continues to record and fund its proportionate share of
Eveleth’s fixed costs which amounts to approximately $12.0 million per year. If Eveleth Mines were shut
down, the Company’s share of the liabilities therefor could approximate $30.0 million. In connection with the
Eveleth venture, the Company is also required to purchase at market price approximately 300,000 tons of iron
ore per year from an affiliate of one of the Eveleth partners that itself is not an iron ore consumer.

Cyprus Northshore Mining Corporation (“Cyprus”) curreatly is the Company’s largest supplicr of iron
ore pellets. Pursuant to a recently renegotiated agreement that expires in 1997, the Company is obligated to
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purchase a minimum of 6.5 million tons of iron ore pellets from Cyprus at annually adjusted prices below or
equal to market price. In 1993, the Company purchased approximately 80% of its iron ore pellets from Cyprus.

The Lake Superior iron ore shipping season runs from approximately April to December. During this
time, the Company stockpiles iron ore to ensure available stock for its production needs during the winter
months (although shortages could be filled by non-Lake Superior sources).

Coal. The Company uses a blend of high volatile metallurgical coal, low volatile metallurgical coal and
steam coal in producing its coke, which respectively represent approximately 50%, 30% and 20% of the
Company'’s total coal mix. Coal represents approximately 9% of the base manufacturing cost of the Company's
steel.

Since 1984, the Company bas purchased all of its high volatile coal (approximately 1.5 million tons
. annually) from Peabody Coal Company (“Peabody™), which in 1984 purchased the coal producing facilities
previously owned by the Predecessor. In connection with that transaction, the Predecessor entered into a
ten-year agreement to purchase all of its high volatile coal requirements from Peabody at a fixed price that, in
recent years, has been substantially in excess of market prices. In June 1993, the Company and Peabody
negotiated a six-year agreemeant that supersedes the 1984 agreement. The new agreement provides for a fixed
market price from February 1994 through February 1996, after which annual price adjustments will be made
based on the market price of high volatile coal. Peabody also agreed to a price reduction for the remainder of
1993.

The Company purchases its low volatile coal and steam coal from various sources at competitive prices.
The Company is the only North American steel producer to use stcam coal, which is less expeasive than other
categories of coal. In settlement of 2 dispute with Peabody under the existing requirements contract, the
Company is required to pay Peabody $5.75 per ton for each ton of steam coal purchased from third parties
(approximately 400,000 to 500,000 tons per year) until February 28, 1994. Adequate sources of all categories
of coal used by the Company are available in the market at competitive prices.

Coke. The Company produces coke in sufficient amounts to supply all of its annual requirements and
sells any surplus coke to third parties, including other integrated steel producers.

Energy. Energy costs represent approximately 7% of the base manufacturing cost of the Company’s
steel. Historically, the Company has been adequately supplied at competitive rates with electricity and natural
gas and does not expect any curtailment in supply.

Oxygen/Nitrogen/Hydrogen. The Company purchases all of its oxygen, nitrogen and hydrogea require-
ments, at competitive prices, from suppliers that produce these gasses at dedicated facilities located at the
Middletown Works and the Ashland Works.

Other Commodities. Scrap, alloys and other coating materials used in the Company’s steel manufactur-
ing operations are bought on the open ‘market at competitive rates. The Company does not foresee any
shortage of these nmemls in the near future. In addition, the Company purchases steel slabs from time to
time.

Transportation. Lake Superior district iron ore purchased by the Company is transported across the
Great Lakes to Toledo, Ohio, and iron ore and coal are carried via railroad to the Middletown Works and the
Ashland Works. These transportation services are provided at prices that have been negotiated under long-
term agreements. The Company uses rail shippers and commercial truck operators to deliver its products to its
customers. The Company is seeking to increase its usage of rail shippers, which have greater capacity to carry
the Company’s products and are generally less expensive than commercial trucks.

Research and Development

The Company historically has been a technology leader in stee! manufacturing rescarch and develop-
ment. As part of its new strategy, the Company is focusing its research and development expertise on
improving the quality and reducing the costs of its production processes, as well as on specialized customer
applications and enhanced technological support. In March 1993, the Company acquired the flat-rolled carbon
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steel section of Armco’s research and technology department. This section employs approxlmately 30
individuals who coordinatc with other production areas to develop new products. improve existing products
and develop more cfficient operating procedures to meet the constantly increasing demands of the Company's
customers. The Company speat $11.9 million, $12.3 million, $11.0 million and $8.4 million for research and
development in 1990, 1991, 1992 and 1993, respectively. In addition, the Company participates in various
research efforts through the American Iron and Steel Institute (the “AISI").

Capital Improvements

Since the formation of the Partnership in May 1989, the Company has expended approximately
$670.0 million (including $591.1 million in plant, property and equipment) toward improving productivity and
reducing costs. Major projects included the addition of a second electrolytic galvanizing line at the
Middletown Works, major renovation and upgrading of the Middletown hot-rolling mill and installation of
pair-cross rolling technology at the Middletown Works, and process control equipment to upgrade finishing
capabilities in Middletown. The Company has been able to implement the changes required by its new
strategy without significant capital expenditure by better utilizing the investments and improvements made
prior 10 1992. At December 31, 1993, commitments for capital expenditures totalled $74.8 million.

Patents and Trademarks

The Company has the patents and licenses necessary for the operation of its business as now conducted.
The Company does not consider its patents and trademarks to be material to its business.

Employees

At December 31, 1993, the Company had approximately 6,400 active employees. On that date,
approximately 21% of such employees were represented by the United Steelworkers of America (“USWA"),
6% by the Oil, Chemical and Atomic Workers (“OCAW™) and 56% by the Armco Employee Independent
Federation (“AEIF™). The current collective bargaining agreement with the USWA, which covers the
Company’s steelmaking employces at the Ashland Works, was originally scheduled to expire July 31, 1993 but
has been extended indefinitely, subject to the right of either party to terminate the extension upon 72 hours’
prior notice. The agreement with the OCAW, which covers coke-making employees at the Ashland Works,
was scheduled to expire October 1, 1993 but has been extended to May 1, 1994. The agreement with the
AEIF, which represents the Company’s hourly employees at the Middletown Works, is scheduled to expire
February 28, 1994. No predictions can be made as to the results of the renegotiations of these agreements or
the possible effects of the renegotiations upon the Company, although the Company’s agreement with the
AEIF establishes procedures for revising economic terms upon its expiration and contains a no strike clause
that is effective during the negotiation period. See “Business — Employees.” The Company considers its
relationships with its employees to be satisfactory. See “Certain Considerations — Certain Factors Relating to
the Company.”

Properties

The Company’s principal properties are its corporate headquarters located in Middletown, Ohio, the
Middletown Works and the Ashland Works, all of which are owned and together comprise approximately
4,300 acres of land. The Company’s faahtm are well maintained and are considered adequate and utilized for

their intended purposes.

Competition

The Company competes with domestic and foreign flat-rolled carbon steel producers and producers of
plastics, aluminum and other materials that can be used in place of flat-rolled carbon steel in manufactured
products Price, service, delivery and quality are the primary competitive factors faced by the Company, and
vary in importance accordmg to the category of product and type of customer in question.
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Imports. Domestic steel producers face significant competition from foreign producers who typically
have lower labor costs. In addition, many foreign steel producers are owned, controlled or subsidized by their
governments and their decisions with respect to production and sales may be influenced more by political and
economic policy considerations than by prevailing market conditions. Some foreign producers of steel and
products made of steel have continued to ship into the United States market despite decreasing profit margins
or losses. VRAs covering 28 foreign countries, which had limited steel imports into the United States market,
expired on March 31, 1992.

On June 30, 1992, the Company joined other U.S. steel producers in the Trade Proceedmgs before the
Commerce Department and the ITC. Unfair trade petitions were filed against foreign steel companies alleging
widespread subsidization of steel exports to the United States, as well as the sale of dumped steel. In all, 84
cases were filed against unfairly traded imports from 21 countries. On August 21, 1992, the ITC made
affirmative preliminary determinations in 72 of the cases (affecting 95% of the volume of imports alleged to
have been unfairly traded), finding that there was a reasonable indication that the domestic steel industry had
been materially injured or was threatened with material injury by the imports in question. On June 22, 1993,
the Commerce Department reached a final determination that foreign producers from 12 countries had
unfairly benefited from government subsidies and that certain steel producers from 19 countries had
unlawfully dumped steel and steel products in the U.S. market. On July 27, 1993, the ITC made final injury
determinations, that were substantially less favorable to the Company and the other U.S. steel producers. The
ITC found no injury with regard to bhot-rolled products, and varying degrees of injury with respect to the
activities of certain foreign producers of cold-rolled and coated products. Management believes the impact of
these determinations will be less detrimental to the Company because of their concentration on cold-rolled,
corrosion-resistant and coated steels, than to producers baving higher concentrations of the more common .
grades of steel. Anti-dumping and countervailing duties might be imposed against those imports for which the
ITC made a final affirmative injury determination. These duties arc designed to offset “dumping” and the
advantages of foreign subsidies and create a “level playing field” for domestic producers in the U.S. market,
The Company and other U.S. steel producers have appealed certain of the ITC's determinations to the United
States Court of International Trade, and foreign steel producers have appealed certain other of the ITC's
determinations, as well as certain of the Commerce Department’s determinations.

Steel imports as a percentage of apparent domestic consumption, including semifinished steel, have been
approximately 18% in cach of 1990, 1991 and 1992 and the ten months ended October 31, 1993, below the
maximum levels permitted under the then-existing VRAS. Attractive world export prices, favorable U.S.
dollar exchange rates and the improved international competitiveness of the domestic steel industry have all
been factors in reducing import levels below the maximum permitted under the then-existing VRAs. If the
‘Trade Proceedings ultimately do not provide relief from unfairly traded imports, if other relevant U.S. trade
laws are weakened, if world demand for steel eases or if the U.S. dollar strengthens an increase in the market
share of imports may occur which may adversely affect the pricing of the Company’s products.

Domestic Steel Industry. The domestic steel industry is a highly competitive cyclical business. Despite
significant reductions in raw steel production capability by major domestic producers over the last decade, the
domestic industry continues to be adversely affected by excess world capacity that has hindered broad base
price increases. Over the last decade, extensive downsizings have necessitated costly restructuring charges
that, when combined with highly competitive market conditions, have resulted in substantial losses for most
domestic integrated steel producers.

In addition to the other integrated steel producers, competition is presented by the so-called “mini-mills,”
which generally have smaller, non-unionized work-forces and are free of many of the employer, eavironmental
and other obligations that traditionally have burdened integrated steel producers. Mini-mills also derive
certain competitive advantages by utilizing less capital intensive sources of steel production. At least one of
these mini-mills is already producing flat-rolled carbon steel products while others have considered doing the
same. In future years, mini-mills may provide increased competition in the higher quality, value added product
lines now dominated by the integrated steel producers.
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Alternative Materials. 1n the case of many product applications, steel competes with other materials
including plastics, aluminum, graphite composites, ceramics, glass, wood and concrete. The Company believes
that steel has a distinct cost advantage over other materials of comparable strength and durability. In addition,
the recyclability of steel provides a competitive advantage over many other materials.

Legal Proceedings

The Company and its subsidiaries are parties to various legal proceedings that are considered to be
ordinary routine litigation incidental to the Company’s business and not material to its consolidated financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.

Environmental Matters

Domestic steel producers, including the Company, are subject to stringent federal, state and local laws
and regulations relating to the protection of human health and the eavironment. The Company, like other
domestic steel producers, has expended, and can be expected to expend in the future, substantial amounts for
compliance with these environmental laws and regulations. Capital expenditures for environmental remedia-
tion and protection for 1993 totalled $16.4 million, and arc estimated to amount to approximately
$24.2 million for 1994. In addition, the Company made payments for environmental compliance of
approximately $38.3 million for 1993 and expects to make payments of approximately $39.9 and $41.5 million
for 1994 and 1995, respectively. Because environmental laws are becoming increasingly more stringent, the
Company's capital expenditures relating to environmental controls and costs for environmental compliance are
likely to increase in the future. In addition, unanticipated factual or regulatory developments could affect the
currently anticipated amount and timing of future environmental expenditures and compliance costs.

The Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 (the “CAAA”™ or “Amendments™) impose new standards
designed to reduce air emissions. The Amendments will directly affect many of the Company’s ongoing
operations, particularly its coke oven batteries. The Company estimates that through December 31, 1995, it -
will incur approximately $51.0 million in additional capital costs to bring certain of its coke oven batteries into
compliance with CAAA requirements. The Company believes that the costs of complying with the
Amendments will not have a material adverse effect on its financial condition, results of operations or cash

flows.

Federal regulations promulgated pursuant to the Clean Water Act impose categorical pretreatment limits
on the concentrations of various constituents in coke plant wastewaters prior to discharge into publicly owned
treatment works (“POTW™). Due to concentrations of ammonia and phenol in excess of these limits at the
Middletown Works, the Company, through the Middletown POTW, petitioned the United States Environ-
mental Protection Agency (the “EPA™) for “removal credits,” a type of compliance exemption, based on the
Middletown POTW’s satisfactory treatment of the Company’s wastewater for ammonia and phenol. The EPA
declined to review the Company’s application on the grounds that the EPA had failed to promulgate new
sludge management rules. As a result of the EPA's refusal, the Company sought and obtained from the
Federal District Court for the Southem District of Ohio an injunction prohibiting the EPA from instituting
enforcement action against the Company for noncompliance with the pretreatment limitations, pending the
EPA’s promulgation of the applicable sludge management regulations. Although the Company is unable to
predict the outcome of this matter, if the EPA eventually refuses to grant the Company’s request for removal
credits, the Company could incur additional costs to construct pretreatment facilities at the Middletown
Works. The Company believes those costs would not have a material adverse effect on its financial condition,
results of operations or cash flows.

A similar problem exists at the Ashland Works with respect to discharges of ammonia. The Company
believes it will obtain removal credits on account of the promulgation of sludge management rules for
ammonia, and consequently does not expect any adverse consequences.

The Company operates an on-site landfill for the disposal of various sludges and dusts, principally
resulting from air and water pollution treatment systems at the Middletown Works. These materials are
curreatly considered non-hazardous wastes. The Company currently intends, subject to approval by the Ohio
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Environmental Protection Agency (the “Ohio EPA™), to expand the present landfill, which is expected to
reach capacity in the next eight to nine years. Based on current projections, the Company estimates that the
design and construction of the expansion, which is slated to begin in mid-1994 with an anticipated completion
date of January 1, 1996, will cost approximately $6.2 million. If the expansion is not approved by the Ohio
EPA, the Company may incur increased disposal costs due to the need for off-site disposal. The Company
belicves these costs would not have a material adverse effect on its financial condition, results of operations or
cash flows.

Environmental Remediation

The Company and its predecessors have been conducting steel manufacturing and relatéd operations for
over 90 years. Although the Company believes that its predecessors utilized operating practices that were
standard in the industry at the time, hazardous materials may have been released in or under currently- or
previously-operated sites, Consequently, the Company may be required to remediate contamination at some of
these sites. Although the Compaay does not have sufficient information to estimate its potential liability in
connection with any potential future remediation, it believes that if any such remediation is required, it will
occur over an extended period of time.

Pursuant to the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (“RCRA"), which governs the treatment,
handling and disposal of hazardous waste, the EPA and authorized state environmental agencies may conduct
inspections of RCRA-regulated facilities to identify areas where there have been releases of hazardous waste
or hazardous constituents into the environmerit and order the facilities to take corrective action measures to
remediate such releases. In February and August of 1991, both the Middletown Works and the Ashland
Works were subject to RCRA inspections by environmental regulators. Neither the EPA, which inspected the
Middletown Works, nor the Kentucky Department of Environmental Protection (the “DEP”), which
reviewed the Ashland Works, has issued the results of their inspections. While the Company cannot predict
with any accuracy the future actions of the agencies, the potential exists for the EPA and/or the DEP to
require the Company to take corrective action at these facilities. As a result, the Company could incur
significant costs in implementing agency directives. The Company does not believe, however, that these costs
would have a material adverse effect on its financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Under the authority of the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act
(“CERCLA"), EPA and state environmental authorities have conducted site investigations at certain of the
Company’s facilities, portions of which previously had been used for disposal of tar decanter shudge. While the
results of these investigations are still pending, the Company could, in the future, be directed to incur costs for
remedial activities at the former disposal areas. Given the uncertain status of these investigations, however, the
Company currently is unable to predict if and when such costs might arise or their magnitude.

The Company also anticipates certain expenditures for environmental matters involving Eveleth.
However, the Company is potentially liable for only 35% of any environmental costs arising at the Eveleth
mining complex, including any future reclamation costs. The Company does not believe that cavironmental
expenditures related to Eveleth’s operations will have a material adverse effect on its financial condition,
results of operations or cash flows.

Environmental Proceedings

In addition to the foregoing matters, the Company is or may be-involved in legal proceedings with various
regulatory authoritics that may require the Company to pay fines relating to violations of environmental laws
and regulations, comply with more rigorous standards or other requirements, and incur capital and operating
expenses to meet such obligations.

The Company is in the process of finalizing settlement negotiations with the Obio EPA that will resolve
two separate air-related enforcement matters. One of these matters arose from occasionally exceeding Ohio’s
air emission standards for coke oven batteries as a result of leaking doors and other fugitive emissions at the
Middletown Works. Although the Company implemented improved work practices and took other measures
to climinate these excess emissions, the Ohio EPA sought monetary penalties based on past, self-reported
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violations. In addition, in January 1992, the Company received a draft Findings and Orders letter from the
Ohio EPA alleging that the Company had operated two blast furnaces at an idled plant without approved air
permits during various periods from 1980 through 1990. As a result of recent negotiations with the Ohio EPA,
the Company anticipates settling both enforcement actions by agreeing to install a flame suppression system,
an additional form of environmental control technology, at the blast furnace at the Middletown Works and by
paying a nominal penalty. Flame suppression, which is otherwise not required under applicable eavironmental
law, will reduce particulate emissions from the furnace. The Company does not belicve that the pending
settlement of these matters, nor any alternative resolution of these alleged violations, whether by litigation or .
settlement, will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operauons or

cash flows.

Under the authority of CERCLA, EPA Region IV and the DEP’s Division of Waste conducted a
comprehensive review of the waste management control systems and handling practices at the Ashland Works
coke department and steel making facility in July, August and September of 1991. As a result of this
inspection, the Kentucky Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Cabinet instituted an administra-
tive proceeding against-the Company in November 1993, alleging certain regulatory violations conceming the
coke department. The Company believes it is in compliance with the regulatory requirements identified in the
complaint and intends to vigorously contest these allegations. To date, the EPA has not indicated whether it
will scek additional penalties for these or other alleged violations as a result of the above inspection. The
Company does not believe that any monetary sanctions, should they be imposed, would have a material
adverse effect on its financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

In March 1991, the Ohio EPA notified the Company that it bad referred to the Ohio Attorney General
for potential enforcement action certain alleged violations of Ohio’s hazardous waste regulations at the
Middletown Works. Although the Company believes it has a strong basis for contesting the alleged violations,
it is in the process of negotiating with the Ohio Attorney General a consent order addressing the State’s
concerns. The Company believes that the potential fines and compliance costs resulting from this consent
order would not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or

cash flows.

In November 1993, the Company’s Ashland Works received a series of citations from the Kentucky
Labor Cabinet, which alleged various violations of worker health and safety regulations promulgated under the
Kentucky Occupational Safety and Health Act. The Company is contesting the citations and the proposed
penalties and believes that any fines ultimately resulting from this matter will not have a material adverse
cffect on the company’s financial condition, results of operation or cash flows.

CERCLA Proceedings

CERCLA is a federal statutory scheme designed to identify and then ensure the necessary funding for
cleanup of hazardous waste sites. CERCLA authorizes the government and private eatities to sue potentially
responsible parties (“PRP"’s) for cleanup costs at such sites. While the courts have construed liability under
~ CERCLA as joint and several without regard to fault, liability is often apportioned among PRPs based on the

volume and/or toxicity of the wastes disposed by each PRP.

On December 5, 1986, Armeo received notification from the EPA advising that it was being considered
as a PRP at the Maxey Flats Nuclear Disposal Site necar Morehead, Kentucky. Records from the landfill
indicated that the Ashland Works had seat approximately 120 cubic feet of material to the site. The Company
has been identified as de minimis contributor to the Maxey Flats site, and as a result, anticipates that it will be
able to resolve its Liability for a nominal amount.

. @



MANAGEMENT

Directors and Execu.tlve Officers

At present, Thomas C. Graham, James F. Will and Kanji Emoto are directors of Holding and AK Steel.
and Jobhn B. Corey, David G. Harmer, Kinya Yamaguchi and Tadaaki Yanazawa also are directors of AK
Steel. It is anticipated that, at or prior to completion of the Recapitalization, four additional independent
directors will be added to Holding’s Board of Directors and Messrs. Corey, Harmer, Yamaguchi and
Yanazawa will resign as directors of AK Steel. The executive officers of Holding and AK Steel are identical,
The names and ages of the persons who are directors and executive officers of Holding and AK Steel and the
positions of these persons with the Company are set forth below. Information concerning the principal
occupations or employments of these persons during the past five years. .(if different) and certain other
information is set forth under “Business Experience.”

Name Aps Position
Thomas C. Graham ......... 66 Ell:(axman‘le of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Holding and
James F. Will .............. 55 Director of Holding and AK Stee]
Kanji Emoto .......e.ceee.. ST Director of Holding and AK Steel
John B. Corey.....coccuuen. $1 Director of AK Steel
David G. Harmer .. ....0000s S0 Director of AK Steel
Kinya Yamaguchi........... §9 Director of AK Steel
Tadaaki Yanazawa.......... 63 Director of AK Steel
Richard M. Wardrop, Jr. .... 48 President and Chief Operating Officer
Mark G. Essig ........00000 36 Executive Vice President — Commercial
Mark W. Kontos ........... 43 Vice President — Finance, Chief Financial Officer
and Treasurer
Randall F. Preheim ......... 47 Vice President, General Counse! and Secretary
Patrick J. Piccioni .......... 47 Vice President and Assistant to the President
David F. Alexander ....... .. '54 Vice President — Research and Design Engineering
Edward L. Hare ...... veesss 46 Controller

In addition, Holding and Kawasaki are negotiating an agreement pursuant to which, for so long as
Kawasaki beneficially owns an agreed upon minimum percentage of the outstanding shares of Common Stock,
Holding will take all action necessary to nominate and support the nomination of one person designated by
Kawasaki for election as a director of Holding and to solicit proxies in favor (and otherwise recommend to
stockholders) the election of such nominee as a director. See “Certain Relationships and Related Transac-
tions.” Mr, Emoto is Kawasaki’s initial designee to Holding's Board of Directors.

Business Experience .

Thomas C. Graham, who has 47 years of experience in the steel industry, has beea a Director, President
and Chief Executive Officer of the Partnership since June 1992. Prior to joining the Partnership, Mr. Graham
served from July 1991 to May 1992 as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Washington Steel
Corporation, a privately held specialty steel producer, and headed its successful turnaround and eventual sale
to Lukens, Inc. in April 1992, From October 1990 to May 1991, Mr. Graham served as President, Steel and
Diversified Group of USX Corporation. Mr. Graham also served as Vice Chairman and Chief Operating
Officer, Steel and Related Resources of U.S. Steel Corporation from 1983 to October 1990 and as a director of
U.S. Steel Corporation. Mr. Grabam served as Chairman of the AISI from 1986 to May 1989, and, since
February 1991, has been a principal investigator for the Sloan Foundation's study of the competitiveness of the
American steel industry. He has been a director of International Paper Company since 1986 and a director of

Hershey Foods Corporation since April 1989.

43




James F. Will has been a Director of the Partnership since May 1992 and Chairman since June 1992.
Mr. Will was named President and Chiel Executive Officer of Armco in December 1993, having been its
President and Chief Operating Officer since April 1992. Mr. Will served as President and Chief Executive
Officer of Cyclops Industries, Inc. from January 1989 to March 1992 and as President and Chief Operating
Officer of that Company from 1986 to December 1988. Mr. Will has been a Director of Armco since April
1992 and a Director of Allegheny Corporation since January 1992,

Kanji Emoto has been a Director of the Partnership since June 1992. Mr. Emoto has been a Managing
Director of Kawasaki since June 1991 and was a Director of Kawasaki from June 1988 to May 1991. Prior to
that time Mr. Emoto held various management positions with Kawasaki. .

John B. Corey has been a director of the Partnership since March 1989. Mr. Corey was appointed
Assistant to the President of Armeco in July 1992, Prior to that time, Mr. Corey was named to Armco's
General Management Group in 1985 and served from March 1991 until July 1992 as Corporate Director —
Business Development and from 1986 to March 1991 as Corporate Director — Corporate Strategy &
Development. '

David G. Harmer has been a director of the Parmership since March 1993. Mr. Harmer was named
Corporate Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Armco in April 1993. From 1987 until April 1993,
Mr. Harmer served as Corporate Controller of FMC Corporation.

Kinya Yamaguchi has been a director of the Partnership since March 1992, Mr. Yamaguchi bas been a
Managing Director of Kawasaki since June 1993 and was a Director of Kawasaki from June 1990 until June
1993. He was named General Manager, Corporate Planning of Kawasaki in September 1988.

Tadaaki Yanazawa has been a director of the Partnership since June 1992. Mr. Yanazawa has been a
Senior Managing Director of Kawasak since June 1990 and was a Managing Director of Kawasaki from 1987
until June 1990. He was named an Executive Vice President of Kawasaki in June 1992,

Richard M. Wardrop, Jr. has been Vice President — Manufacturing of the Partnership since June 1992
and will become President and Chief Operating Officer of the Company upon completion of the Recapitaliza-
tion. He has been employed in the steel industry for more than 24 years. Prior to joining the Partnership,
Mr. Wardrop served from January 1992 to May 1992 as Corporate Vice President, Engineering & Purchasing,
for Washington Steel Corporation. Mr. Wardrop was Consultant to the President for Quigley Company, Inc.,
a subsidiary of Pfizer, Inc., from July 1990 to December 1991. He was General Manager, Mon Valley Works,
U.S. Steel Corporation, from February 1988 to June 1990, and Plant Manager, Primary Operations, Flat
Rolled Products Group, U.S. Steel Corporation from 1986 to June 1990.

Mark G. Essig, who began his steel industry career in October 1988, joined the Partnership in August
1992 as Vice President, Employee Relations and Assistant to the President. In April 1993 Mr. Essig was
named Vice President, Sales and Marketing, and he will become Executive Vice Presideat — Commercial
upon completion of the Recapitalization. Mr, Essig was Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of
Washington Steel Corporation from July 1991 to June 1992. He was Vice President, Finance and
Administration of Washington Steel Corporation from July 1989 to June 1991 and mill group coatroller from
November 1988 to June 1989. From 1986 to October 1988, Mr. Essig operated a management consulting firm
specializing in structuring turnarounds for manufacturing companies.

Mark W. Kontos has been Vice President — Finance, Chief Financial Officer of the Partnership since
June 1993 and will become Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer upon completion of the
Recapitalization. Prior to joining the Partnership, Mr. Kontos was a Vice President of Citibank/Citicorp in
New York where he had worked since 1978. He was Vice President, Institutional Recovery Management for
Citibank from June 1989 to July 1993, where he was responsible for restructuring troubled companies, and
was Vice President, World Corporation Group, Chemicals Department of Citibank/Citicorp from 1986 to
June 1989.

Randall F. Preheim has been General Counsel and Secretary of the Partnership and the Predecessor

since February 1989, and Vice President since January 1993, and he will continue in this position with the

“ '




Company. In addition to legal matters, Mr. Prebeim is responsible for buman resources, industrial relations,
purchasing and transportation and environmental affairs. From August 1988 to February 1989, Mr. Preheim
was Division Counsel for Armco. He was Vice President and General Counsel for the Armco Financial
Services Group from 1986 to July 1988.

Patrick J. Piccioni has been a Vice President of the Partnership and the Predecessor since 1985. He has
been Vice President and Assistant to the President of the Company since June 1993, respoasible for public
affairs, communications, administrative services, divestments and subsidiary company activities, and he will
continue in this position with the Company. From May 1989 to June 1993, Mr. Piccioni was Vice President —
Finance and Chief Financial Officer of the Partnership.

David F. Alexander has been Vice President — Research and Design Engineering for the Pannershxp
since April 1993 and will continue in this position with the Company. From-August 1992 to April 1993 he was
Vice President, Design Engineering and from August 1990 to July 1992 he was Assistant to the President of
the Partnership. From 1965 to August 1990, Mr. Alexander served in various engineering and maintenance
management positions at the Ashland Works.

Edward L. Hare has been Controller of the Partnership since June 1989 and will continue in this position
with the Company. From 1972 to May 1989, Mr. Hare held various management positions in internal
auditing, finance and accounting for Armco.

Compensation of Directors

Following completion of the Recapitalization, each aon-employee director will receive an annual fee of
$20,000 for service on the Board of Directors, one-half of which will be paid in shares of Restricted Stock (see
“AK Steel Holding Corporation 1994 Share Incentive Plan™ below) and the remainder will be paid, at the
director’s option, in cash or shares of Restricted Stock. Each chairperson of a committee of the Board of
Directors will receive an additional fee of $2,500 per year. Non-employee directors also will be paid a fee of
$1,000 for attendance at each meeting of the Board of Directors and $500 for each committee meeting
attended. Officers of the Company will not receive any additional compensation for serving as directors. All
directors will be reimbursed for expenses incurred in attending Board and committee meetings. Non-employee
directors will be required to retire from the Board at age 70 but will be eatitled to an annual retainer equal to
the annual fee payable to a director at the time of such retirement provided that he or she is available to the
chairman on a consulting basis. Each non-employee director also will be granted options under the Company’s
1994 Stock Incentive Plan to purchase a total of 5,000 shares of Common Stock upon his or her initial election
to the Board.

The Company intends to obtain directors and officers liability insurance in connection with the Offerings.

Committees of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors intends to establish an Audit Committee and a Compensation Committee within
30 days after consummation of the Recapitalization consisting of independent directors. The Board may
establish such additional committees as it deems advisable.

The Audit Committee will recommend to the Board of Directors the appointment of the independent
public accountants of the Company, review and approve the scope and fees of the annual audit and review the
results thereof with the Company’s independent accountants. The Audit Committee will also assist the Board
in fulfilling its fiduciary responsibilities relating to accounting and reporting policies, practices and procedures,
and will review the continuing effectiveness of the Company’s business ethics and conflicts of interest policies.

The Compensanon Committee will review and recommend to the Board of Directors compenution of the
pnnctpal officers, review the duties and responsibilities of the Company’s principal officers, review compensa-
tion and personnel policies, administer the Company’s Stock Incentive Plan (as described below) and certain
other employee benefit plans, and review and make recommendations to the Board with respect to the
Company’s incentive compensation plans, pension and savings plans and its employee retirement and benefit

policies and plans.
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Executive Compensation
Summary of Compensation
Set forth below is a summary of information with respect to 1993 compensation of the Company’s chief

executive officer and the four other most highly compensated executive officers who were serving as executive
officers of the Company on December 31, 1993.

Summary Compensation Table
. All Otber
Name and Priacipal Position Yoar S gogll‘)' Compen?ﬂo.(z)
Thomas C. Graham .......ceeiiiinnrieircnncannsannans 1993 250,008 (*](3) 11,915
President and Chief Executive Officer
Fumiya Yanagishima ....... R, cenees 1993 175,008 87,584 21,779
Executive Vice President
Richard M. Wardrop, Jf...eeeeueeeeenneerennnsseneanens 1993 175002 87,501 12,530
Vice President — Manufacturing
Mark G. EsSig..ocvueveiveracanarcansans Ceterrscens oo 1993 165,003 82,502 12,364
Vice Pmsxdent — Sales & Marketmg
David F. Alexander ....cccceevncstenccrscscsasascsnans 1993 147,507 73,751 6,075

Vice President — Research and Design Enginecring

* Tobe supplied by amendment.
(1) Bonuses for all named officers other than Mr. Graham are payable on or before February 28, 1994,

(2) The amounts shown in this column were derived from the following figures: (i) for Mr. Graham, $11,315
was attributed to him for imputed income arising out of a Company provided life insurance plan; (ii) for
Mr. Yanagishima, $1,579 was attributed to him for imputed income arising out of a Company provided
life insurance plan, $200 was reimbursed to him pursuant to a Company provided medical plan and
$20,000 was paid to him to compensate him for the difference in salary between what he would have
eamed at Kawasaki and what he earned with the Company; (iii) for Messrs. Wardrop and Essig, $1,030
and $364, respectively, were attributed to them for imputed income arising out of a Company provided
life insurance plan and $11,500 and $12,000, respectively were attributed to them as an automobile
allowance; (iv) for Mr. Alexander, $1,412 was attributed to bhim for imputed income arising out of a
Company provided life insurance plan, $200 was reimbursed to him pursuant to 8 Company provided
medical plan and $4,463 was paid to him pursuant to a restricted stock plan of Armco.

(3) Mr. Graham's bonus is expected to be paid in cash and shares of Common Stock in accordance with a
formula to be determined.

Employment Contract

Upon completion of the Recapitalization, the Company and Mr. Graham intend to enter into & new
employment agrecment with 8 one year term, sutomatically renewable for successive one year terms unless
cither party gives 90 dayl’ advance notice not to renew. The contract will provide for an annual base salary of
$450,000, subject to increase at the discretion of the Board of Directors. If certain performance targets are
achicved, Mr. Graham will be eligible for a bonus equal to 50% of his annual salary, as determined by the
Board of Directors. Pursuant to the employment agreement, upon completion of the Recapitalization,
Mr. Graham will be granted options under the Company’s 1994 Stock Incentive Plan to purchase a total of
350,000 shares of Common Stock at the initial public offering price, which options will vest one year after
grant and will expire after ten years. Vesting of the opuom will accelerate upon Mr. Graham's death,
disability, involuntary termination without cause or termination with the Company’s consent. Mr. Graham will
be entitled to exercise the options for six years after the date he ceases to be 2 member of the Board of
Directors. Pursuant to the employment agreement, Mr. Graham also will be issued 150,000 restricted stock
units, all of which will vest upon his 70th birthday. Mr. Graham has agreed to remain affiliated with the



Company until his 70th birthday, Vesting of the units will accelerate upon Mr. Graham's death, disability or
involuntary termination without cause (o be defined in the employment agreement). Mr. Graham may elect
to accumulate and reinvest any dividends on a pre-tax basis. The employment agreement also provides for
Mr. Graham's use of a Company leased automobile, Company air travel and participation in the Company's
employee benefit plans and programs. If Mr. Graham's employment is terminated within the first year of the
employment agreement for any reason other than cause, he will receive the balance of payments due for that
year.

Severance Arrangements

Upon completion of the Recapitalization, each of the Company’s officers (other than Mr. Graham) and
certain other key managers will be covered by severance agreements which provide for severance payments
and certain other beaefits in the event of a diminution of the covered employee’s salary or responsibility or a
termination of such employee’s employment other than for cause as defined in the agreements. Upon the
occwrence of an event which triggers these benefits, a covered employee would be entitled to (i) 2 lump sum
severance payment equal to 24 months' pay for the president and any vice presidents and 18 moaths’ pay for
other covered employees (“the severance paymeat period”); (ii) a lump sum payment under the Annual
Management Incentive Plan for the relevant severance payment period based upon the actual payment under
that plan for the year preceeding the triggering event; (iii) the immediate lapse of all restrictions related to
Restricted Stock granted under the Company’s 1994 Stock Incentive Plan; (iv) the right to exercise any stock
options granted under that plan within three years from the date of termination; and (v) coverage under the
Company’s welfare benefit plans (including life, health and other insurance benefits) during the severance

payment period.

Annual Management Incentive Plan

The Company established the Annual Management Incentive Plan effective January 1, 1993. Under the
plan, full-time management employees whose participation has been approved by the chief executive officer
can qualify to receive an incentive award. The award comprises two components: operating results based upon
Company performance, weighted at 75% of the total award and individual performance based upon
accomplishment of specific objectives, weighted at 25% of the total award. Aggregate awards can range from
0% to 50% of base salary. Awards for 1993 will be paid.on or before the last working day of February 1994,

AK Steel Holding Corporation 1994 Stock Incentive Plan

On January 13, 1994, the stockholders of the Company approved the AK Steel Holding Corporation 1994
Stock Incentive Plan (the “SIP”). The SIP, which is to be administered by the Compensation Committee,
permits the grant of Nonqualified Stock Options (excluding incentive stock options as defined in Section 422
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code™)) and Restricted Stock, to dmcton and to

executive and key management employees of the Company.

A total of 2,300,000 shares of Common Stock of the Company is available under the SIP, subject to anti-
dilution adjustment in the event of & merger, recapitalization or other change in corporate structure. Grants of
stock options exercisable for up to 1,916,667 shares will be made by means of, and be subject to the terms of,
an Award Agreement specifying the option price, duration, number of shares subject to the option and
conditions of exercise. The option price may be not less than the fair market value of a share on the date of the
grant. Awards may not be exercised during the first six months following the date of grant (or such longer
period as may be specified in the Award Agreement) or after the tenth anniversary of the date of grant.
Payment upon exercise may be made in cash or its equivalent or by tendering shares held for at least
six months, Cashless exercises will be permitted if in accordance with Regulation T of the Federal Reserve
Board and applicable securities laws. Awards of up to 383,333 shares of Restricted Stock will be made by
means of and subject to the terms of an Award Agreement specifying the number of shares of Restricted
Stock. Restrictions on the transfer of shares of Restricted Stock will lapse as to 25% of the shares on each of
the second, third, fourth and fifth anniversary of the date of grant. In all cases, the Compensation Committee
will retain the right to accelerate the exercisability of an option and to waive restrictions in respect of
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Restricted Stock. The Company expects to award to each SIP participant one share of Restricted Stock for
every five shares subject to options. Upon his or her election to the Board, each non-employee director will be
awarded options under the SIP to purchase 5,000 shares. In addition, one-half of each non-employee director's
annual fee for service on the Board will be paid in shares of Restricted Stock and the remainder will be paid, at
the director’s option, in cash or shares of Restricted Stock.

A stock option will expire upon voluntary termination of employment or involuntary termination for
cause. The award will remain exercisable for three years following the date of an optionee's death, retirement,
disability or involuntary termination for reasons other than cause or retirement. Restricted Stock awards will
be forfeited upon termination of employment for reasons other than retirement, death or disability or as
provided in the severance agreements described above.

On . 1994, grants totalling shares of Common Stock were made under the SIP to
Mr. Graham and other key management members. It is expected that the grants to management members will
be in the aggregate approximately % of the outstanding shares of the Company following the
Recapitalization.

Pension Plans

The following table shows the maximum annual pension benefits payable under the Company’s
Noncontributory Pension Plan (the “Pension Plan") as in effect for both corporate staff and employees of the
Company as of January 1, 1993 before applying the maximum limitations of the Code and before reduction for
50% of the social security benefit recewed at retirement.

Annge Annl Elnllp

Couewdn ears h Annual lar Pension Benefits for Years of Servics Shows

Last 10 Years of Servics S Yoars 10 Years 15 Years 20 Yoars 30 Years 40 Years
$100,000 82875 $ 15750 - $ 23,625 $ 31,500 $ 47250 $ 63,000
200,000 15,750 31,500 47,250 63,000 94,500 126,000
300,000 23,625 47,250 70,875 94,500 141,750 189,000
400,000 31,500 63,000 94,500 . 126,000 189,000 252,000
500,000 39,375 78,750 118,128 157,500 236,250 315,000
600,000 47,250 94,500 141,750 189,000 283,500 378,000
700,000 55,125 110,250 165,375 220,500 330,750 441,000
800,000 63,000 126,000 189,000 - 252,000 378,000 504,000

The Peasion Plan provides a lifetime income upon an employee's retirement at or after having attained
age 65 and having completed at least five years of service, or upon an earlier date if various stated conditions
are satisfied. If an employee’s most recent date of hire was before January 1, 1992, the employee’s pension
accrues under one of three basic formulas, the higher of which establishes the employee’s monthly pension
benefit eatitlement (the “Pension Provisions”). If the employee’s date of hire is on or after January 1, 1992,
the employee’s pension accrues under an alternate cash balance formula (the “Cash Balance Provisions™).
Both formulas are described below. Benefits paid under the Pension Provisions are subject to reductions for
(i) amounts paid under other Company pension plans (excluding amounts attributable to contributions made
by the employee); (ii) amounts paid due to discharge, liquidation, dismissal or severance allowance;
(iif) amounts paid on account of injury or occupational disease incurred in the course of employment with the
Company pursuant to Workers’ Compensation or other law; and (iv) one-half of the social security benefits
received at age 62.

Under the Pension Provisions, which are applicable to Mr. Alexander and most of the other officers, key

management members and employees, an emplayee s average pensionable earnings is determined based upon
the highest 60 consecutive months of service during the last 120 consecutive months of service (based upon
the 12 months’ periods ending on the last day of the month in which retirement becomes effective).

Pensionable eamings includes base salary, bonuses, and, for years prior to 1992, Company contributions to the
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Company's L.P. Thrilt Plan for Nonrepresented Employees and income imputed by reason of life insurance
benefits provided by the Company.

Mr. Alexander has 29 years of credited service. If his employment were continued until mandatory
retirement at age 65 at the 1992 rate of remuneration, Mr. Alexander would receive a yearly peasion of
$84,336. Messrs. Graham, Yanagishima, Wardrop and Essig are not eligible for benefits uader the Pension
Provisions.

Under the Cash Balance Provisions, which are applicable to Messrs. Graham, Wardrop, Essig and other
employees hired on or after January 1, 1992, employees have an account that accumulates credits lmed upon
length of service in accordance with the following table:

Years of Servics . Pay-Base Credit
One, butless than 10 ......ocviuvicininiiiinnceannnnns «o 20% of Pay
10, but less than 20..... ceevesscanesanans cisesetnsarenes 2.5% of Pay
20, butless than 25......cccvnvnnnnnenn crecissnsesnesana 3.0% of Pay
25, but less than 30..... Ceteeteatiesecarierieisnsnaas eeo  3.5% of Pay
30and @BOVE ...iiviiiteeteniiiiieiiiriieteiiarietenae 4.0% of Pay

For this purpose, pay includes base salary, bonus and incentive pay and overtime. Annual interest credits
are made to each account at the beginning of each year based upon the previous year's balance. The rate is
based upon the preceding year's average rate for one-year Treasury Bills. Accounts vest in five years and are
payable in a lump-sum, as a lifetime annuity or as a joint and survivor annuity commencing upon retirement
on or after age 65. Messrs. Graham, Wardrop and Essig have 1.7, 1.5 and 1.4 years of credited service,
respectively. If each works until the later of age 65 or the completion of 5 years of credited service at the 1993
rate of remuneration, they would receive a lump sum payment of $16,577, $92,667 and $242,613 respecnvely
Benefits paid under the Cash Balance Provisions are not subject to reduction for social security or other
payments received by the employee.

In the case of both the Pension Provisions and the Cash Balance Provisions, compensation in excess of
$228,860 ($150,000 in 1994, as adjusted from year to year by the Secretary of the Treasury) must be
disregarded and pension benefits may not exceed the value permitted under Section 415 of the Code.

The AK Steel Holding Corporation Executive Minimum and Supplemental Retirement Plan (the
“MRP") provides a supplemental pension benefit to selected officers and members of key management whose
peasion under the Pension Plan is limited by the Code provisions or by reason of short service with the
Company. The MRP provides that the aggregate pension benefit for an elected officer will be not less than
45% of the officer’s average annual earnings determined under the Pension Plan provisions discussed above.
The aggregate pension includes the pension payable under the Pension Plan, and any pension benefit paid or
payable by any former employer, with bencfits gencrally commencing upon retirement under the Pension Plan
in most cases. An officer who retires prior to attaining age 62 will not receive an MRP 45% peasion benefit
supplement until attaining age 62. MRP benefits are payable from the general assets of the Company. The
MRP was amended effective as of January 1, 1994 to provide for a “rabbi trust” to secure benefit payments

_and to provide for supplemental thrift plan contributions prohibited by Code restrictions on compensation and
maximum benefits, If Messrs. Wardrop, Essig and Alexander continue their employment to age 68, at their
1993 rate of remuneration, Messrs. Wardrop and Essig would qualify for a monthly pension under the MRP of
$6,887 and $4,420, respectively, and Mr. Alexander would not qualify.
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OWNERSHIP OF COMMON STOCK

The following table sets forth, as of the date of this Prospectus (after giving effect 10 the Recapitalization
and based upon an assumed initial public offering price of $20 per share), certain information with respect to
the beneficial ownership of the Common Stock by cach person known by the Company to own beneficially
more than five percent of the Common Stock, by each director of the Company, by each executive officer
named in the table on page 46 and by all directors and executive officers of the Company as a group.

Name of Beneficial Owner
AK Steel Corporation Master Pension Trust.......c.ovvereesescncnnnnns
703 Curtis Street
Middletown, Ohio 45043
Kawasaki Steel Corporation® ......cccucveevensecenorssnsecccccasnas
Hibiya, Kokusai Building
2-3, Uchisaiwaicho, 2-Chome
Chiyoda-Ku, Tokyo 100 Japan
Thomas C. Graham ............. ceesacentearane cececesens
James F.Will ... ..ciivinirinianenanans Cetedtesssenseesansntasancan
Kanji Emoto ......... Cresesinqetserstaseane .
JOhn B. COMeY ccvveeeeeeesserseseatocseresssssessssassessscncsacnss
David G. Harmer ...... ceenee Ceeeersesersenane
Kinya Yamaguchi . ccovvsieensccecencecncssnnsescnccnns
Tadaaki Yanazawa .....cccoeeveeceeccenecinsiscscecnsccnnnne
Fumiya Yanagishima ........c00000. ceesssennsaane Geesessrsasassens .
Richard M. Wardrop, JI. ....ccoce0ee teesenesessansasaseascananse
All directors and executive officers as & group (  persons) .......ccuueeen

¢ Includes shares owned by subsidiaries

Amount aod Nature of Percent
Beneficial Ownership




CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

During 1990, 1991, 1992 and 1993, the Company was party to certain transactions with Armco,
Kawasaki, and their affiliates, consisting of charges to and from the Company for various services rendered, as
follows:

Services provided to Armco and affiliates by the Company:

0 e 2 m
Data processing «...vvietiniiniiiiiiieieniiiratniaaaas 549 $36 $31 $s14
Administrative and acCOUBNNG . ... ovvveevcnrrcacararans 24 1.9 -« 09 0.7
Processing and conversion...........coveieeiiaiennians 0.6 0.9 4.6 133
Purchasing and selling........ccocvviieaneaianiiinnn 0.3 0.2 0.1 -
B (7 7 [ $82 S$66 $87 SIS
———3 —— t———§ —
Services provided to the Company by Armco, Kawasaki and their affiliates:
e B vm
Research and engineering ....ccccovveviiennacncssnsans SIl.l S116  $98 $4.0
[0 11 7 1.8 2.5 0.3 0.8
0 (17 $129 S141 S101 S 48

During 1990, 1991, 1992 and 1993, the Company purchased stainless steel from Armco amounting to
$7.5 million, $8.7 million, $15.3 million and $20.2 million, respectively. Armco and its affiliates provided
processing services and other materials to the Company for 1990, 1991 and 1992 in the amount of $2.9 million,
$3.9 million and $2.0 million, respectively. No such services were provided in 1993,

In the ordinary course of its business, the Company regularly rolls certain grades of steel produced by
Armco for resale by Armco and recently entered into a ten-year agreement with respect to these services. The
Company’s charges for its rolling services on behalf of Armco are determined on an arms’ length basis and,
during 1993, aggregated approximately $13.3 million.

Armco has made a capital contribution of $20.0 million to the Company which the Company will use for
the purchase of certain specialized equipment used in rolling steel, including stainless steel. Of this amount,
$0.6 million was contributed in 1992 and the balance was contributed during 1993,

Sales to Armco, Kawasaki and their affiliates amounted to $101.2 million, $89.8 million, $85.9 million
and $36.7 million during 1990, 1991, 1992 and 1993 respectively. Other miscellancous sales to Armco,
Kawasaki and their affiliates for these periods amounted to $5.0 million, $2.5 million, $1.7 million and
$0.7 million, respectively. Sce Note 6 of “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.”

Pursuant to the Joint Venture Formation Agreement dated March 24, 1989 between Armco and
Kawasaki (the “Formation Agreement™), the Company is obligated to indemnify each of Armco and
Kawasaki for losses relating to, among other things, the Company’s management, control, ownership and
operation of its business and for liabilities (including eavironmental and employee-related liabilities) relating
to its business. Following the Recapitalization, the Company will continue to have this indemnification
obligation. Under the Formation Agreement, Armco is obligated to indemnify the Company for (i) certain
supplemental unemployment benefit payments up to a maximum of $20.0 million, and (ii) 50% of its costs to
exit Eveleth if such exit occurs prior to May 13, 1996. In connection with the Recapitalization, the Company,
Armco and Kawasaki have agreed to terminate these indemnification obligations of Armco.

The Company and Kawasaki are negotiating an agreement pursuant to which, among other things, the
Company will agree that, for 0 long as Kawasaki beneficially owns an agreed upon minimum percentage of
the outstanding shares of Common Stock, the Company will take all action necessary to nominate and support
the nomination of one person designated by Kawasaki for election as a director of the Company and to solicit
proxies in favor of (and otherwise recommend to stockholders) the election of such nominee as a director.



If the proceeds of the Common Stock Offering are less than $315.0 million but greater than or equal to
$305.0 million, the cash portion of the Pension Trust Contribution will be reduced, and the Common Stock
portion increased, by the amount of the shortfall. The Company, Kawasaki and Nissho Iwai Corporation, an
affiliate of one of the Company’s lenders (“Nissho Iwai"), are negotiating an agreement pursuant to which
Kawasaki and Nissho [wai will undertake, if the proceeds of the Common Stock Offering are less than
$305.0 million but at least $255.0 million, to purchase shares of Common Stock having an aggregate value
(based on the initial public offering price) equal to such shortfall (the “Standby Shares™). Kawasaki and
Nissho Iwai will purchase 60% and 40%, respectively, of any Standby Shares. If any Standby Shares are
purchased, Kawasaki and Nissho Iwai will agree with the Underwriter that they will not, without prior consent
of CS First Boston Corporation, sell such shares within the first [80 days after the date of this Prospectus. The
Company intends that if any Standby Shares are purchased, it will file with the Commission a shelf
registration statement under the Securities Act with respect to the sale of those shares, use its best efforts to
cause such registration statement to be declared effective prior to the expiration of the 180-day period,
maintain that registration statement in effect for a period of five years, pay all expenses associated with such
registration and, if those shares are sold within six months after the expiration of the 180-day period, the
Company will pay certain selling costs up to an amount equal to $0.10 per share sold. Kawasaki will agree that
(i) if Nissho Iwai after the 180-day period sells any of its Standby Shares, Nissho Iwai will pay to Kawasaki
any amount realized in excess of the purchase price of such Standby Shares and Kawasaki will pay to Nissho
Iwai any shortfall the amount realized below the purchase price of such Standby Shares, (ii) Kawasaki will
pay interest to Nissho Iwai at an agreed rate on the purchase price of Nissho Iwai’s Standby Shares from the
date of purchase to the date of sale, and (iii) in compliance with applicable law, Nissho Iwai will effect sales
of its Standby Shares as directed by Kawasaki.

The Company expects to enter into agreements with the Pension Trust, Kawasaki and Armco for the
shelf registration under the Securities Act (at the Company’s expense) of the Common Stock to be owned by
each. See “Shares Eligible For Future Sale.”

The No. 1 EGL Loan is partly secured with $8.8 million of cash collateral provided by Armco. See
“Description of Certain Indebtedness — Commercial and Other Debt — No. 1 EGL Loan.”
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DESCRIPTION OF SENIOR NOTES

The Senior Notes are to be issued under an indenture to be dated as of . 1994 (the
“Indenture™) among AK Steel, Holding and » @s trustee, a copy of which is filed as an exhibit to
the Registration Statement. The following summaries of certain provisions of the Indenture do not purport to
be complete and are subject to, .and are qualified in their entirety by reference to, all the provisions of the
Indenture, including the definitions therein of certain terms. Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined
herein have the respective meanings ascribed to them in the Indenture.

General

The Senior Notes will be senior unsecured obligations of AK Steel, will be limited to $275,000,000
aggregate principal amount and will mature on » 2004. The Senior Notes will bear interest at the rate
per annum shown on the front cover of this Prospectus from » 1994 or from the most recent Interest
Payment Date to which interest has been paid, payable semi-annually on and ~of
each year, commencing » 1994 to cach Person in whose name a Senior Note is registered at the
close of business on the preceding or » s the case may be. Principal of and premium,
if any, and interest on the Senior Notes will be payable, and the transfer of Senior Notes will be registrable, at
the office or the agency maintained by AK Steel in The City of New York. In addition, paymeat of interest
may, at the option of AK Steel, be made by check mailed to the address of the Person entitled thereto as it
appears in the Register. Interest will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months.

The Senior Notes will be issued only in registered form, without coupons, in denominations of $1,000 and
whole multiples thereof. No service charge will be made for any registration of transfer or exchange of Senior
Notes, but AK Steel may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any taxes, assessments or other
governmental charges payable in connection therewith.

Optional Redemption

The Senior Notes will be redeemable at AK Steel’s option, at any time on or after »1999,asa
whole or from time to time in part, upon not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice mailed to each holder
of Senior Notes to be redeemed at the holder’s address appearing in the Register, at the following redemption
prices (expressed as percentages of principal amount) if redeemed during the 12-month period beginning

of the years indicated:
Redemption
Yeur Price
1”9 e S0 00 GRS OGOCTQRSTISES 9060600080003 CRNRSTEDRNCSOEISONDIOSIES LN ®6CsanseerBes %
2“.. LR BN B B B BB B B N ) QR 8000 E0 S0 OSIOIBSEBRLOINPOSEOEOREDRTOIS o8B0 O eBSRIYS a0 e %
2m1 llllllllllllllllllllll e ecoens ot S8 09 "0 0CEGESNRCESOENESERSRRBSAED %

2m2Mmm..'ll.l.l.“..I..I....I.I.'.l..'.ll..ll.l‘.l.l.' lm

together in the case of any such redemption with accrued interest (if any) to the redemption date. If less than
all of the Senior Notes are to be redeemed, the Senior Notes will be chosen for redemption by the Trustee on
a pro rata basis or by lot or by a8 method that complies with applicable legal and securitics exchange

requirements.
Change in Coatrol Offer

Under the Indeature, within 30 days following any Change in Control, AK Steel shall notify the Trustee
and each holder in writing of the occurrence of the Change in Control and shall make an offer to repurchase
(the “Change in Control Offer”) the Senior Notes for cash at a purchase price equal to 101% of the principal
amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon to and including the Change in Control Payment
Date (as defined below) (such price, the “Change in Control Payment Price™) on the Change in Control
Payment Date. The “Change in Coatrol Payment Date” shall be a date.no earlier than 45 days nor later than
60 days from the date the Change in Control Offer is mailed. AK Steel shall purchase all Senior Notes
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properly tendered in the Change in Control Offer and not withdrawn in accordance with the procedures set
forth in the Indenture. The Change in Control Offer shall state, among other things, the procedures that
holders must follow to accept the Change in Control Offer.

If a Change in Control Offer is made, there can be no assurance that AK Steel will have funds sufficient
to pay the Change in Control Payment Price for all the Senior Notes that might be delivered by holders
secking to accept the Change in Control Offer. See “Certain Considerations — Factors Relating to the
Company — Substantial Leverage.”

AK Steel will comply with the applicable tender offer rules, including Rule 14e-I under the Exchange
Act, and any other applicable securities laws or regulations in connection with a Change in Control Offer. The
existence of a holder’s right to require AK Steel to repurchase such holder’s Senior Notes upon a Change in
Control may deter a third party from acquiring AK Steel in a transaction thatf constitutes a Change in Control.

Ranking

The Senior Notes will be senior unsecured obligations of AK Steel ranking pari passu with other senior
unsecured Debt of AK Steel At December 31, 1993, after giving pro forma effect to the Recapitalization, the
aggregate amount of senior indebtedness of AK Steel (including secured indebtedness of $128.4 million and
the Senior Notes) would have been approximately $412.4 million. Following consummation of the Senior
Notes Offering and the Recapitalization, AK Steel will have the ability to borrow, subject to certain
limitations contained in the Indenture, additional senior indebtedness. See “Certain Covenants — Limitation
on Liens.”

The Holding Guarantee will be an unsecured senior obligation of Holding and will rank pari passu with
other senior unsecured indebtedness of Holding. The principal asset of Holding is all of the outstanding shares
of common stock of AK Steel, and virtually all of Holding’s operations are conducted through AK Steel
Under the Indenture, Holding will agree not to engage in any activities other than holding the outstanding
shares of common stock of AK Steel, the Subordinated Exchange Note and the Subordinated Pension Trust
Note (each as defined in “Certain Definitions™) as well as those activities incidental to its status as a public
company, and not to incur any liability other than those relating to its guarantees of the Senior Notes and
certain other indebtedness of AK Steel as well as those liabilities incidental to its status as a public company.
See “Certain Covenants — Restrictive Covenant of Holding.”

Senior Note Guarantees

Holding and any Person (a “Guarantor Subsidiary” and, together with Holding, the “Guarantors”) that
shall become a Subsidiary (other than a Non-Recourse Subsidiary) after the date on which the Senior Notes
‘were originally issued (see “When AK Steel and its Subsidiaries May Merge or Transfer Assets”) will
guarantee on a joint and several basis the payment and performance by AK Steel of the Obligations (the
“Senior Note Guarantees™) and will pay all expenses (including, without limitation, fees and disbursements of

- counsel) paid or incurréd by the Trustee or the holders in enforcing their rights under the Senior Note
Guarantees, Each of the Senior Note Guirantees will be a senior unsecured obligation of the Guarantor
providing such Senior Note Guaraatee, and will rank pari passu with other senior unsecured Debt of such
Guarantor.

Claims of creditors of the Subsidiaries, including trade creditors, will have priority over the equity
interests of AK Steel and creditors of AK Steel, including holders of the Senior Notes. Although holders of
the Senior Notes will be direct creditors of each Guarantor Subsidiary by virtue of the Senior Note
Guarantees, existing or future creditors of 2 Guarantor Subsidiary could attempt to avoid or subordinate
Senior Note Guarantees, in whole or in part, under fraudulent conveyance laws. To the extent any Senior Note
Guarantee is avoided as a fraudulent conveyance or held unenforceable for any other reason with respect to
any Senior Notes, the holders thereof would cease to be creditors of such Guarantor Subsidiary and would be
solely creditors of AK Steel and of any Guarantor Subsidiary whose Senior Note Guarantee was not voided or

held unenforceable.
*



Certain Covenants

The Indenture will contain certain covenaats, including the ones summarized below, which covenants will
be applicable (unless waived or amended) so long as any of the Senior Notes are outstanding.

SEC Reports. Notwithstanding that Holding may not be subject to the reporting requirements of
Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, Holding shall file with the SEC and provide the Trustee and
Holders with such annual reports and such information, documcnts and other reports specified in Sections 13
and 15(d) of the Exchange Act.

Limitation on Liens. AK Steel shall not, and shall not permit any Subsidiary to, Create or permit to exist
any Lien upon any of its property or assets, now owned or bereafter acquired, securing any obligation unless
concurrently with the creation of such Lien effective provision is made 10 secure the Senior Notes equally and
ratably with such obligation for so long as such obligation is so secured; provided, that if such obligation is a
Subordinated Obligation, the Lien securing such obligation shall be subordinated and junmior to the Lien
securing the Senior Notes with the same or lesser relative priority as such Subordinated Obligation shall have
with respect to the Senior Notes. The preceding restriction shall not require AKX Steel or any Subsidiary to
equally and ratably secure the Senior Notes if the Lien consists of the following:

(i) Liens created by the Indenture and Liens existing as of the date on which the Senior Notes were
originally issued;
(ii) Permitted Liens;

(iii) Liens to secure Debt issued by AK Steel for the purpose of financing all or a part of the
purchase price of assets or property acquired or constructed in the ordinary course of business after the
date on which the Senior Notes were originally issued; provided, however, that (a) the aggregate
principal amount (or accreted value in the case of Debt issued at 2 discount) of Debt so issued shall not
exceed the lesser of cost or Fair Market Value, as determined in good faith by the Board of Directors of
Holding, of the assets or property so acquired or constructed, (b) cither (1) the Debt secured by such
Liens shall have been permitted to be issued under clause (vi) of “Limitation on Debt” or (2) additional
Debt secured by such Liens, at the time of determination on a pro forma basis, would not exceed, in the
case of Normal Replacement Assets, 50%, or in the case of Special Assets, 100%, of the aggregate
principal amount of Debt which AK Steel would have been permitted to issue at such time under the
Consolidated EBITDA Coverage Ratio as set forth in the first paragraph of “Limitation on Debt” at an
interest rate equal to the rate of interest on the additional Debt to be secured by such Liens and (c) such
Liens shall not encumber any other assets or property of AK Steel or any of its Subsidiaries other than
such assets or property or any improvement on such assets or property and shall attach to such assets or
property within 90 days of the construction or acquisition of such assets or property;

(iv) Liens on the assets or property of a Subsidiary existing at the time such Subsidiary became a
Subsidiary and not-issued as a result of (or in connection with or in anticipation of) such Subsidiary
becoming a Subsidiary; provided, however, that such Liens do not extend to or cover any other property
or assets of AK Steel or any of its other Subsidiaries;

(v) Liens on the inventory or receivables or proceeds thereof of AK Steel securing Debt under any
Permitted Revolving Credit Facility;

(vi) Liens on the inveatory or receivables or proceeds thereof of AK Steel securing Debt under any
Permitted Restructured Facility;

(vii) Liens securing industrial revenue or pollution control bonds issued by AK Stecl; provided,
however, that (a) the aggregate principal amount of Debt secured by such Liens shall not exceed the
lesser of cost or Fair Market Value, as determined in good faith by the Board of Directors of Holding, of
the assets or property so financed, and (b) such Liens do not encumber any other property or assets of

AK Steel or any of its Subsidiaries;
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(viii) Liens securing Debt issued to refinance Debt which has been secured by a Lien permitted
under the Indenture and is permitted to be refinanced under the Indenture; provided, however, that such
Liens do not extend to or cover any property or assets of AK Steel or any of its Subsidiaries not securing
the Debt so refinanced, and the principal amount (or accreted value) of the Debt so secured is not
increased except as otherwise permitted pursuant to the Indeature;

(ix) Liens on the assets or property of a Non-Recourse Subsidiary securing Non-Recourse Debt; or

(x) Liens securing Debt which, together with all other Debt secured by Liens (excluding Debt
secured by Liens permitted by clauses (i) through (ix) above) at the time of determination does not
exceed 5% of Consolidated Net Tangible Assets of Holding (as determined at the end of the most
recently ended fiscal quarter of Holding);: provided, however, that the Attributable Debt in connection
with Sale/Leaseback Transactions permitted under clause (iii) of.“*Limitation on Sale/Leaseback
Transactions” will be included in the determination and treated as Debt secured by a Lien not otherwise

- permitted by clauses (i) through (ix) above.

Limitation on Sale/Leaseback Transactions. AK Steel shall not, and shall not permit any Subsidiary to,
enter into, guarantee or otherwise become liable with respect to any Sale/Leaseback Transaction unless at

least one of the following conditions is satisfied:

(i) the lease is between AK Steel and a Wholly Owned Guarantor Subsidiary, or between Wholly
Owned Guarantor Subsidiaries; provided, however, that upon either (a) the transfer or other disposition
by such Wholly Owned Guarantor Subsidiary of any such lease to a Person other than AK Steel or
another Wholly Owned Guarantor Subsidiary or (b) the issuance, sale, lease, transfer or other disposition
of Equity Interests (including by consolidation or merger) of such Wholly Owned Guarantor Subsidiary
to a Person other than AK Steel or another such Wholly Owned Guarantor Subsidiary, the provisions of
this clause (i) shall no longer be applicable to such lease and such lease shall be deemed for purposes of
this paragraph to constitute the entering into of such Sale/Leaseback Transaction by the parties thereto;

(ii) AK Steel or such Subsidiary under clauses (ii) through (ix) of “Limitation of Liens™ could
create a Lien on the property to secure Debt in an amount at least equal to the Attributable Debt in
respect of such Sale/Leaseback Transaction and the Company or such Subsidiary, as the case may be,
receives consideration at least equal to the Fair Market Value, as determined in good faith by the Board
of Directors of Holding, of tlie property transferred;

(iii) AK Steel or such Subsidiary could create a Lien under clause (x) of “Limitation on Liens”
above on the property to secure Debt at least equal to the Attributable Debt in respect of such
Sale/Leaseback Transaction and AK Steel or such Subsidiary, as the case may be, receives consideration
at least equal to the Fair Market Value, as determined in good faith by the Board of Directors of Holding,

of the property transferred; or

(iv) the Sale/Leaseback Transaction is treated as an Asset Disposition and all the conditions of
“Limitation on Sales of Assets and Equity Interests of Subsidiarics” are satisfied with respect to such
Sale/Leaseback Transaction (without giving effect to the exceptions for Net Available Cash in amounts
less than $25.0 million or $10.0 million, as set forth in the last paragraph of “Limitation of Sales of Asscts
and Equity Interests of Subsidiaries™). -

Limitation on Debt. AK Steel shall not issue, directly or indirectly, any Debt unless, immediately after
giving effect to the issuance of such Debt and the receipt and application of the proceeds thereof, the pro
forma Consolidated EBITDA Coverage Ratio would be greater than 2.5 to 1.0.

Notwithstanding the foregoing limitation, AK Steel may issue the following Debt:
(i) Debt issued by AK Steel pursuant to the Permitted Revolving Credit Facilities;

(ii) Debdt issued by AK Steel pursuant to the Permitted Restructured Facilities in an aggregate
original principal amount not to exceed $137.4 million and Debt issued in exchange for, or the proceeds of
which are used to refund or refinance, any then outstanding Debt permitted by this clause (ii); provided,
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however, that (a) the principal amount of the Debt so issued shall not exceed the principal amount of the
Debt so exchanged, refunded or refinanced, and (b) the Debt so issued (1) shall not mature prior to the
Stated Maturity of the Debt so exchanged, refunded or refinanced and (2) shall have an Average Life
equal to or greater than the remaining Average Life of the Debt so exchanged, refunded or refinanced;

(iii) Debt issued by AK Steel pursuant to the Kawasho Intemational (USA) Inc. Trade Credit
Agreement, or successor trade credit facility similar to such agreement, in an aggregate principal amount
not to exceed $30.0 million, for the purpose of financing trade payables of AK Steel; provided, however,
that (a) Debt issued to finance any trade payable is due less than 180 days from the invoice date of such
trade payable and (b) (1) the principal amount of the Debt so issued shall not exceed the principal
amount of the trade payable so exchanged, refunded or refinanced and (2) the Debt so issued (A) shall
not mature prior to the Stated Maturity of the trade payable so exchanged, refunded or refinanced and
(B) shall have an Average Life equal to or greater than the remaining Average Life of the trade payable
so exchanged, refunded or refinanced;

(iv) Debt issued by AK Steel owed to and held by a Wholly Owned Subsidiary; provided, however,
that any subsequent issuance or transfer of any Equity Interests that results in such Wholly Owned
Subsidiary ceasing to be a Wholly Owned Subsidiary or any transfer of such Debt (other than to another
Wholly Owned Subsidiary) shall be deemed, in each case, to constitute the issuance of such Debt by
AK Steel;

(v) The Senior Notes issued by AK Steel and Debt issued in exchange for, or the proceeds of which
are used to refund or refinance, any Debt permitted by this clause (v); provided, however, that (a) the
principal amount of the Debt so issued shall not exceed the principal amount of the Debt so exchanged,
refunded or refinanced, and (b) the Debt so issued (1) shall not mature prior to the Stated Maturity of
the Debt so exchanged, refunded or refinanced and (2) shall have an Average Life equal to or greater
than the remaining Average Life of the Debt so exchanged refunded or refinanced;

(vi) Debt issued by AK Steel, whether or not secured by a Lien, constituting all or & part of the
purchase price of assets or property acquired or constructed in the ordinary course of business after the
date on which the Senior Notes were originally issued; provided, however, that Debt issued under this
clause (vi) in any calendar year shall not exceed in aggregate principal amount the sum of
(a) $50.0 million for each of 1994, 1995 and 1996, and $35.0 million for each calendar year from and
including 1997 to and including 2003 plus (b) the excess of the aggregate principal amount otherwise
permitted to be issued under this clause (vi) in all previcus calendar years since and including the
calendar year in which the Senior Notes were originally issued over the aggregate principal amount
actually issued by AK Steel during such period under this clause (vi) and Debt issued by AK Steel in
exchange for, or the proceeds of which are used to refund or refinance, any thea outstanding Debt
permitted by this clause (vi); provided, however, that (1) the principal amount of the Debt so issued
shall not exceed the principal amount of the Debt so exchanged, refunded or refinanced, and (2) the
Debt so issued (A) shall not mature prior to the Stated Maturity of the Debt s0 exchanged, refunded or
refinanced and (B) shall have an Average Life equal 1o or greater than the remaining Average Life of the
Debt so exchanged, refunded or refinanced;

(vii) Debt (other than Debt described in clause (i), (i), (ii), (iv), (v), (vi) or (ix) of this
covenant description) outstanding on the date on which the Senior Notes were originally issued, and
Debt issued by AK Steel in exchange for, or the proceeds of which are used to refund or refinance, any
Debt permitted by this clause (vii) or permitted by the first paragraph of “Limitation of Debt"; provided,
however, that (a) the principal amount of the Debt 30 issued shall not exceed the principal amount of the
Debt so exchanged, refunded or refinanced and (b) the Debt so issued (1) shall not mature prior to the
Stated Maturity of the Debt so exchanged, refunded or refinanced and (2) shall have an Average Life
equal to or greater than the remaining Average Lifc of the Debt so exchanged, refunded or refinanced;

(viii) Obligations of AK Steel pursuant to (a) interest rate swap or similar agreements designed to
protect AK Steel against fluctuations in interest rates in respect of Debt of AK Steel to the extent the
notional principal amount of such obligation does not exceed the aggregate principal amount of the Debt
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to which such interest rate contracts relate, and (b) foreicn exchange or commodity hedge, exchange or
similar agrecments deslzned to protect AK Steel against flucruations in foreign currency exchangc rates
or commodity prices in respect of foreign exchange or commodity exposures mcurred by AK Steel in the
ordinary course of its business;

(ix) Debt issued by AK Steel, so long as the same shall be owed to and held by Holding pursuant to
(a) the Subordinated Exchange Note and (b) the Subordinated Pension Trust Note; provided, however,
that any transfer of such Debt by Holding shall be decmed to be an incurrence of Debt; or

(x) Debt (not otherwise permitted to be issued pursuant to clauses (i) through (ix) of this Section)
in an aggregate principal amount which, together with (a) any other outstanding Debt issued by
AK Steel pursuant to this clause (x) and (b) Debt issued and Preferred Equity Interests then
outstanding and issued by Subsidiaries pursuant to clause (vii) of “Limitation on Debt and Preferred
Equity Interests of Subsidiaries,” does not exceed $60.0 million.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, AK Steel shall not issue any Debt if the proceeds thereof are used,
directly or indirectly, to repay, prepay, redeem, defease, retire, refund or refinance any Subordinated
Obligations unless such Debt shall be subordinated to the Senior Notes to at least the same extent as such
Subordinated Obligations.

Limitation on Debt and Preferred Equity Interests of Subsidiaries. AK Steel shall not permit any
Subsidiary to issue, directly or indirectly, any Debt or Preferred Equity Interests except:

(i) Debt or Preferred Equity Interests issued to and held by AK Steel or a Wholly Owned
Subsidiary; provided, however, that (a) any subsequent issuance or transfer of any Equity Interests that
results in any such Wholly Owned Subsidiary ceasing to be 2 Wholly Owned Subsidiary or (b) any
subsequent transfer of such Debt or Preferred Equity Interests (other than to AK Steel or a Wholly
Owned Subsidiary) shall be deemed, in each case, to constitute the issuance of such Debt or Preferred

Equity Interests by the issuer thereof:

(ii) Debt or Preferred Equity Interests, other than any described in clause (i), outstanding on the
date on which the Senior Notes were originally issued;

(iii) Debt or Preferred Equity Interests of a Subsidiary issued and outstanding on or prior to the date
on which such Subsidiary became a Subsidiary (other than Debt or Preferred Equity Interests issued as
consideration in, or to provide all or any portion of the funds or credit support utilized to consummate, the
transaction or series of related transactions pursuant to which such Subsidiary became a Subsidiary);

(iv) Debt or Preferred Equity Interests issued in exchange for, or the proceeds of which are used to
refund or refinance, Debt or Preferred Equity Interests referred to in clause (ii) or (iii); provided,
however, (a) the principal amount or liquidation value of such Debt or Preferred Equity Interests so
issued shall not exceed the principal amount or the liquidation value of the Debt or Preferred Equity
Interests so refunded or refinanced and (b) the Debt or Preferred Equity Interests so issued (1) shall
have a Stated Maturity later than the Stated Maturity of the Debt or Preferred Equity Interests being
exchanged or refinanced and (2) shall have an Average Life equal to or greater than the remaining
Average Life of the Debt or Preferred Equity Interests being exchanged or refinanced;

(v) Non-Recourse Debt of a Non-Recourse Subsidiary issued after the date of the issuance of the
Senior Notes; provided, however, that if any such Debt thereafter ceases to be Non-Recourse Debt of a
Non-Recourse Subsidiary, then such event will be deemed to constitute the issuance of such Debt by the

issuer thereof;

(vi) Guarantees of the Senior Notes or any Debt 'isued to refinance the Senior Notes as permitted
in clause (v) of “Limitation on Debt” above; or

(vii) Debt or Preferred Equity Interests not otherwise permitted 1o be issued pursuant to clauses (i)
through (vi) above, which, together with (a) any other outstanding Debt or Preferred Equity Interests
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issued pursuant to this clause (vii) and (b) Debt issued by AK Steel pursuant to clause (x) under
“Limitation on Debt,” does not exceed $60.0 million.

Limitation on Restricted Payments. Holding shall not, and shall not permit any Subsidiary of Holding to.
directly or indirectly, (i) declare or pay any dividend or make any distribution on or in respect of, or make any
distribution to the holders of, Equity Interests of Holding (except dividends or distributions payable solely in
its Non-Convertible Equity Interests or in options, warrants or other rights to acquire its Non-Convertible
Equity Interests and except dividends or distributions payable to a Wholly Owned Guarantor Subsidiary),
(ii) purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire or retire for value any Equity Interests of Holding, (iii) declare or
pay any dividend or make any distribution on or in respect of, or make any distribution to holders of, Equity
Interests of any Subsidiary of Holding (other than with respect to any such Equity Interests held by Holding,
AK Steel or any Wholly Owned Guarantor Subsidiary) or purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire or retire for
value any Equity Interests of any Subsidiary of Holding (other than such Equity Interests held by Holding,
AK Steel or any Wholly Owned Guarantor Subsidiary), (iv) purchase, repurchase, redeem, defease or
otherwise acquire or retire for value, prior to scheduled maturity, scheduled repayment or scheduled sinking
fund payment, any Subordinated Obligations (other than the purchase, repurchase or other acquisition of
Subordinated Obligations purchased in anticipation of satisfying a sinking fund obligation, principal install-
ment or final maturity, in each case due within one year of the date of acquisition), or (v) make any
Investment other than Permitted Investments (any such dividend, distribution, purchase, redemption,
repurchase, defeasance, other acquisition, retirement or Investment being herein referred to as a “Restricted
Payment”) if:

(a) a Default shall have occurred and be continuing (or would result therefrom);

(b) upon giving effect to such Restricted Payment, on 2 pro forma basis, AK Steel is not able to
issue an additional $1.00 of Debt pursuant to the Consolidated EBITDA Coverage Ratio as set forth in
the first paragraph of “Limitation oa Debt™; or

(c) upon giving effect to such Restricted Payment, the aggregate amount of such Restricted
Payment and all other Restricted Payments since the date on which the Senior Notes were originally
issued would exceed the sum of (1) 50% of the Consolidated Net Income of Holding accrued during the
period (treated as one accounting period) from the first day of the month of the fiscal quarter in which
the Senior Notes were originally issued through the last full fiscal quarter for which quarterly or annual
financial statements are available prior to the date of such Restricted Payment (or, in case such
Consolidated Net Income shall be a deficit, minus 100% of such deficit), plus (2) the aggregate Net
Cash Proceeds received by AK Steel from the issue or sale of its Equity Interests (other than
Redeemable Equity Interests or Exchangeable Equity Interests) subsequent to the date on which the
Senior Notes were originally issued (other than to a Subsidiary of AK Steel or an employee stock
ownership plan or similar trust), plus (3) the aggregate Net Cash Proceeds received by AK Steel from
the issue or sale of its Equity Interests (other than Redeemable Equity Interests or Exchangeable Equity
Interests) to an employee stock ownership plan subsequent to the date on which the Senior Notes were
originally issued, provided, that, if such employee stock ownership plan issues any Debt only to the extent
that any such proceeds are equal to any increase in the Consolidated Net Worth of Holding resulting
from principal repsymeats made by such employee stock ownership plan with respect to Debt issued by it
to finance the purchase of suck Equity Interests, plus (4) the amount by which consolidated Debt of
AKX Steel is reduced on Holding’s balance sheet upon the conversion or exchange (other than by a
Subsidiary), subsequent to the date on which the Senior Notes were originally issued, of any Debt of
AK Steel or any of its Subsidiaries convertible or exchangeable for Equity Interests (other than
Redeemable Equity Interests or Exchangeable Equity Interests) of AK Steel (less the amount of any
cash, or other property, dlstnbuted by AK Steel or any of its Subsidiaries upon such conversion or
exchange). .

So long as no Default shall have occurred and be continuing (or would result therefrom), the foregoing

limitations on Restricted Payments shall not prohibit, (A) any purchase or redemption of Equity Interests of
Holding or Subordinated Obligations made by exchange for, or out of the proceeds of the substantially
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concurrent sale of, Equity Interests of Holding (other than Redeemable Equity Interests or Exchangeable
Equity Interests and other than Equity Interests issued or sold to a Subsidiary or an employee stock ownership
plan); provided, however, that (x) such purchase or redemption shall be excluded in the calculation of the
amount of Restricted Payments and (y) the Net Cash Proceeds from such sale shall be excluded from clauses
(¢)(2) and (c)(3) of the preceding paragraph; (B) any purchase or redemption of Subordinated Obligations
(other than Redeemable Equity Interests) made by exchange for, or out of the proceeds of the substantially
concurrent sale of, Debt of AK Steel other than to a Subsidiary; provided, however, that such Debt (x) shall
be subordinated to the Senior Notes to at least the same extent as the Subordinated Obligations so exchanged,
purchased or redeemed, (y) shall have a Stated Maturity later than the Stated Maturity of the Senior Notes
and (z) shall have an Average Life greater than the remaining Average Life of the Senior Notes; provided
Jurther, however, that such purchase or redemption shall be excluded in the calculation of the amount of
Restricted Payments; (C) any purchase or redemption of Subordinated Obligations from Net Available Cash
1o the extent permitted under “Limitation on Sales of Assets and Equity Interests of Subsidiaries™; provided,
however, that such purchase or redemption shall be excluded in the calculation of the amount of Restricted
Payments; (D) dividends paid within 60 days after the date of declaration if at such date of declaration such
dividend would have complied with this provision; provided, however, that at the time of payment of such
dividend, no Default shall have occurred and be continuing (or would result therefrom); provided further,
however, that such dividend shall be included in the calculation of the amount of Restricted Payments;
(E) any repurchase by Holding of employee stock granted under an employee stock option plan; provided,
however, that the aggregate amount of such repurchase in any calendar year shall not exceed $1.0 million per
employee and the aggregate amount of all repurchases in any calendar year shall not exceed $5.0 million (it
being understood that the excess of any such amounts permitted to be expended under this clause (E) during
any calendar year over the amount actually expended during such penod shall not be carried forward);
provided further, however, that such repurchase shall be included in the calculation of the amount of
Restricted Payments; or (F) any purchase, repurchase, redemption, defeasance or other acquisition by any
Non-Recourse Subsidiary of Non-Recourse Debt of such Non-Recourse Subsidiary; provided, however, that
the amount of such purchase, repurchase, redemption, defeasance or other acquisition shall be excluded from
the calculation of the amount of Restricted Payments,

Limitation on Issuance and Sale of Equity Interests of Subsidiaries. AK Steel shall not permit any
Subsidiary to issue or sell any Equity Interests, or permit any Person, other than AK Steel and its Subsidiaries,
to own or hold an interest, other than any interest owned or held on the date of the issue of the Senior Notes
by a Person other than AK Steel and its Subsidiaries, in any Equity Interests, of any Subsidiary (other than a
Non-Recourse Subsidiary or a JV Subsidiary); provided, however, that the foregoing limitation shall not apply
to (i) the sale of all but not less than all of the Equity Interests of any Subsidiary made in accordance with
“Limitation on Sales of Assets and Equity Interests of Subsidiaries,” (ii) issuances of Preferred Equity
Interests permitted pursuant to paragraphs (iii), (v) and (vii) under the heading “Limitation on Debt and
Preferred Equity Interests of Subsidiaries,” and (iii) the ownership or holding of an interest by any Person,
other than AK Steel and its Subsidiaries, in any Equity Interests of any Subsidiary issued pursuant to
(ii) above.

Limitation on Restrictions on Distributions from Subsidiaries. AK Steel shall not, and shall not permit
any Subsidiary to, create or permit to exist or become effective any consensual encumbrance or restriction on
the ability of any Subsidiary to (i) pay dividends or make any other distributions on its Equity Interests or pay
any Debt or other obligation owed to AK Steel or any Subsidiary, (ii) make any Investment in AK Steel or
any Subsidiary or (iii) transfer any of its property or assets to AK Steel or any Subsidiary.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, AK Steel may, and may permit any Subsidiary of AK Steel to, suffer to
exist any such encumbrance or restriction (a) pursuant to an agreement in effect at or entered into on the date
the Senior Notes are issued, (b) with respect to a Subsidiary pursuant to an agreement relating to any Debt
issued by such Subsidiary on or prior to the date on which such Subsidiary became a Subsidiary (other than
Debt issued as consideration in, or to provide all or any portion of the funds utilized to consummate, the
transaction or series of related transactions pursuant to which such Subsidiary became a Subsidiary) and
outstanding on such date, (c) pursuant to an agreement effecting a refinancing of Debt issued pursuant to an
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agreement referred to in clause (a) or (b) or contained in any ameadment to an agreement referred to in
clause (a) or (b), provided, however, that the encumbrances and restrictions contained in any of such
refinancing agreement or amendment are no less favorable to the bolders of Senior Notes than encumbrances
and restrictions contained in such agreements, (d) consisting of customary nonassignment provisions in leases
governing leaschold interests to the extent such provisions restrict the transfer of the lease, (¢) in the case of
clause (iii) above, restrictions contained in security agreements securing Debt of a Subsidiary otherwise
permitted under the Indeature, to the extent such restrictions restrict the transfer of the property subject to
such security agreements, and (f) relating to a Non-Recourse Subsidiary.

Limitation on Sales of Assets and Equity Interests of Subsidiaries. AK Steel shall not, and shall not
permit any Subsidiary (other than Non-Recourse Subsidiaries) to, make any Asset Disposition unless:

(i) AK Stee! or such Subsidiary receives consideration at the time'of such Asset Disposition at least
equal to the Fair Market Value, as determined in good faith by the Board of Directors of Holding
(including as to the value of all non-cash consideration), of the shares and assets subject to such Asset
Disposition and at least 85% of the consideration thereof received by AK Steel or such Subsidiary is in
the form of cash or Cash Equivalents; and

(ii) An amount equal to 100% of the Net Available Cash from such Asset Disposition is applied by
AK Steel or such Subsidiary, as the case may be, (a) firss, to the extent AK Steel elects (or is required
by the terms of any Debt), to prepay, repay or purchase Debt (other than any Redeemable Equity
Interests or Non-Recourse Debt) of AK Steel, such Subsidiary or a Wholly Owned Guarantor Subsidiary
(in each case other than Debt owed to AK Steel or an Affiliate of AK Steel) within 60 days from the
later of the date of such Asset Disposition or the receipt of such Net Available Cash; (b) second, to the
extent of the balance of such Net Available Cash after application in accordance with clause (a), at
AK Steel’s election, to the investment by AK Steel or such Subsidiary or any Wholly Owned Guarantor
Subsidiary in assets to replace the assets that were the subject of such Asset Disposition or an asset that
(as determined by the Board of Directors of Holding) will be used in the business of AK Steel and the
Wholly Owned Guarantor Subsidiaries existing on the date of original issuance of the Senior Notes or in
businesses reasonably related thereto, in each case within the later of one year from the date of such
Asset Disposition or the receipt of such Net Available Cash; and (¢) third, to the extent of the balance of
such Net Available Cash after application in accordance with clauses (a) and (b), to make an offer to
purchase Scnior Notes at par; provided, however, that in connection with any prepayment, repayment or
purchase of Debt pursuant to clause (a) above, AK Steel shall cause the related loan commitment (if
any) to be permanently reduced in an amount equal to the principal amount so prepaid, repaid or
purchased.

. Notwithstanding the mquixement in clause (i) above that at least 85% of consideration consist of cash or
Cash Equlvalents. AK Steel and its Subsidiaries may make one or more Asset Dispositions for which the
consideration, in addition to the non-cash consideration permitted by such clause, consists of or includes
(A) non-cash consideration, the aggregate Fair Market Value (as determined in good faith by the Board of
Directors of Holding) of which, for all Asset Dispositions made after the date on which the Senior Notes were
originally issued, does not exceed $10.0 million, and (B) non-cask consideration, the aggregate Fair Market
Value (as determined in good faith by the Board of Directors of Holding) of which, for all Asset Dispositions
made after the date on which the Senior Notes were originally issued, does not exceed $50.0 million,
consisting of the cancellation of Debt of AK Steel or any Subsidiary existing on the date on which the Senior
Notes were originally issued; provided, however, that in connection with any such cancellation of Debt,
AK Steel or such Subsidiary shall cause the related loan commitment (if any) to be permanently reduced in
an amount equal to the principal so canceled.

Notwithstanding the provisions of clause (ii) above, in the event that the Net Available Cash resulting
from any Asset Disposition is less than $25.0 million, the application of an amount equal to such Net
Available Cash in accordance with this Section may be deferred until such time as such Net Available Cash
from any prior or subsequent Asset Dispositions not otherwise applicd in accordance with this Section, is at
least equal to $25.0 million. In the event that the Net Available Cash resulting from any Asset Disposition,
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after giving effect to clauses (a) and (b) above, is less than $10.0 million, the application of such amount
equal to such Net Available Cash to make an offer to purchase Senior Notes in accordance with clause (¢)
may be deferred until such time as such Net Available Cash, together with Net Available Cash from any prior
or subsequent Asset Dispositions not otherwise applied. in accordance with this Section, is at least equal to
$10.0 million. Pending application of Net Available Cash pursuant to this Section, such Net Available Cash
shall be invested in Cash Equivalents. To the extent any portion of the amount of Net Available Cash remains
after compliance with this Section, and provided that all holders of Senior Notes have been given the
opportunity to tender their Senior Notes for repurchase as provided in clause (¢) above, AK Steel may use
such remaining amount for general corporate purposes. ‘e

Limitation on Transactions with Affiliates. AK Steel shall not, and shall not permit any Subsidiary to,
conduct any business or enter into any transaction or series of similar transactions (including the purchase,
sale, lease or exchange of any property or the rendering of any service) withany Affiliate of AK Steel or any
legal or beneficial owner of 5% or more of any class of Equity Interests of Holding or with an Affiliate of any
such owner (other than 2 Wholly Owned Subsidiary or any employee stock ownership plan for the benefit of
AKX Steel or a Subsidiary’s employees) unless the terms of such business, transaction or series of transactions
are (i) set forth in writing, (ii) not less favorable to AK Steel or such Subsidiary, as the case may be, than
terms that would be obtainable at the time for a comparable transaction or series of similar transactions in
arms-length dealings with an unrelated third Person, (iii) if such business or transaction or series of
transactions involves in excess of (a) $5.0 million, the Board of Directors of Holding has, by resolution,
determined in good faith that such business or transaction or serics of transactions meets the criteria set forth
in (if) above, and (b) $25.0 million and as to which there are no disinterested directors, AK Steel has
obtained an opinion of a nationally recognized expert with experience in appraising the terms and conditions of
the type of business or transaction or series of transactions stating that such business or transaction or series of
transactions is fair (from a financial point of view) to AK Steel or such Subsidiary, as the case may be;
provided, however, that the provisions of this paragraph do not apply to performance of contractual obligations
with respect to Eveleth Mines existing as of the date of the Indenture under which the Senior Notes were
originally issued.

Lines of Business. AK Steel shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, enter into any
business, either directly or through any Subsidiary, except for those businesses in which AK Steel and its
Subsidiaries were engaged on the date of the original issuance of the Senior Notes or businesses reasonably
related thereto.

Restrictive Covenant of Holding. Holding (i) shall not engage in any activities or hold any assets other
than- (a) holding 100% of the Equity Interests of AK Steel, the Subordinated Exchange Note and the
Subordinated Pension Trust Note and (b) those activities incidental 10 maintaining its status as a public
company, and (ii) it will not incur any Habilities other than Liabilities relating to its guarantees of the Senior
Notes, any Permitted Revolving Credit Facility and any Permitted Restructured Facility and any other
obligations or liabilities incidental to holding 100% of the Equity Interests of AK Steel and those liabilities
incidental to its status u a public company.

Certain Definitions

Certain terms to be defined in the Indenture are summarized below. Reference is made to the Indenture
fortheﬁxlldeﬁnitionofallsuchterms.uwellasanyothertemsusedhereinforwhichnodeﬁnitionis
provided.

“Affiliate” of any speqﬁed Person means (i) any other Pemn which, directly or indirectly, is in control
of, is controlled by or is under common control with such specified Person or (ii) any other Person who is a
director or officer (a) of such specified Person, (b) of any subsidiary of such specified Person or (c) of any
Person described in clause (i) above. For purposes of this definition, control of a Person means the power,
direct or indirect, to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person whether by
contract or otherwise and the terms “controlling” and “controlled” have meanings correlative to the foregoing.

“Asset Disposition” means any sale, lease, transfer or other disposition (or series of related sales, leases,
transfers or dispositions) of Equity Interests of a Subsidiary (other than directors’ qualifying shares), property
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or other assets (cach referred to for the purposes of this definition as a “dispasition™) by AK Steel or any of its
Subsidiaries, including any disposition by means of a merger, consolidation or similar transaction, other than
(i) a disposition by AK Steel or a Subsidiary to AK Steel or a Wholly Owned Guarantor Subsidiary, (ii) a
disposition of property or assets at Fair Market Value (as determined in good faith by the Board of Directors
of Holding) in the ordinary course of business, (iii) a disposition of obsolete assets in the ordinary course of
business, (iv) a disposition that constitutes a Restricted Payment or a Sale/Leaseback Transaction and (v) a
sale of accounts receivable under a Permitted Revolving Credit Facility.

“Attributable Debt”, in respect of a Sale/Leaseback Transaction means, as at the time of determination,
the preseat value (discounted at the lower of the interest rate of such Sale/Leaseback Transaction and the
interest rate borne by the Senior Notes, compounded annually) of the total obligations of the lessee for rental
payments during the remaining term of the lease included in such Sale/Leaseback Transaction (including any
period for which such lease has been extended). o

“Average Life” means, as of the date of determination, with respect to any Debt, the quotient obtained by
dividing (i) the sum of the products of the numbers of years from the date of determination to the dates of
each successive scheduled principal payment of such Debt multiplied by the amount of such principal
payment by (ii) the sum of all such principal payments.

“Board of Directors” of a Person means the Board of Directors of that Person or any committee thereof
duly authorized to act on behalf of such Board.

“Business Day" means any day that is not a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which banking institutions
are required to close in the State of New York.

“Capital Lease Obligations™ of & Person means any obligation which is required to be classified and
accounted for as a capital lease on the face of a balance sheet of such Person prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles; the amount of such obligation shall be the capitalized amount
thereof, determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; and the Stated Maturity
thereof shall be the date of the last payment of rent or any other amount due under such lease prior to the first
-date upon which such lease may be terminated by the lessee without payment of a penalty.

“Cash Equivalents” means:

(i) Investments in U.S. Government Obligations maturing within 365 days of the date of
acquisition thereof;

(ii) Investments in certificates of deposit or Eurodoliar deposits maturing within 365 days of the
date of acquisition thereof issued by a bank or trust company which is organized under the laws of the
United States or any state thereof and which has a combined capital and surplus of at least $1.0 billion

and rated at least A3 by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc;

(iii) Investments in repurchase agreements, involving Investments in U.S. Government Obligations
or other Cash Equivalents maturing within 365 days of the date of acquisition thereof, entered into with
any bank, trust company or investment bank rated at least A- and A-1 by Standard & Poor’s Company
and at least A3 and P-1 by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc;

'(iv) Investments in commercial paper maturing not more than 90 days from the date of acquisition
thereof and rated at least A-1 by Standard & Poor’s Company and at least P-1 by Moody’s Investors
Service, Inc.; and

(v) Investments in money market accounts or funds whose assets solely consists of cash or Cash
Equivalents.
“Change in Control” means the occurrence of any of the following events:
_ (i) any “Person” (as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act) is or
becomes the beneficial owner (as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-$ under the Exchange Act except that
a Person shall be deemed to have “beneficial ownership” of all shares that any such Person has the right
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to acquire, whether such right is exercisable immediately or only after the passage of time), directly or
indirectly, of more than 40% of the total voting power of the Voting Equity Interests of Holding; provided,
however, that the Person shall not be deemed the “beneficial owner” of shares tendered pursuant to a
tender or exchange offer made by that Person or any Affiliate of that Person until the tendered shares are

accepted for purchase or exchange;

(ii) during any period of two consccutive years, individuals who at the beginning of such period
constituted the Board of Directors of Holdmg (together with any new directors whose election by such
Board of Directors of Holding, or whose nomination for election by the shareholders of Holding, as the
case may be, was approved by a vote of 66-2/3% of the directors thea still in office who were either
directors at the beginning of such period or whose election or nomination for election was previously so
approved) cease for any reason to constitute a majority of the Board of Directors of Holding then in

office; or

(iii) Holding fails to own 100% of the Equity Interests of AK Steel; provided, however, that it shall
not be deemed a Change of Control if Holding merges into AK Steel except that, in such case, AK Steel
shall be substituted for Holding for purposes of this definition of “Change of Control” and clause
(iii) shall no longer be applicable.

“Consolidated EBITDA Coverage Ratio™ as of any date of determination means the ratio of (i) the
aggregate amount of EBITDA for the period of the most recent four consecutive fiscal quarters ending at least
45 days prior to the date of such determination to (ii) Consolidated Interest Expense for such four fiscal
quarters; provided, however, that (a) if AK Steel or any Subsidiary has issued any Debt since the beginning of
such period that remains outstanding or if the transaction giving rise to the need to calculate the Coasolidated
EBITDA Coverage Ratio is an issuance of Debt, or both, EBITDA and Consolidated Interest Expease for
such period shall be calculated after giving effect on a pro forma basis to such Debt as if such Debt had been
issued on the first day of such period and the discharge of any other Debt repaid, repurchased, defeased or
otherwise discharged with the proceeds of such new Debt as if such discharge had occurred on the first day of
such period, (b) if since the beginning of such period AK Steel or any Subsidiary shall have made any Asset
Disposition, the EBITDA for such period shall be reduced by an amount equal to the EBITDA (if positive)
directly attributable to the assets which are the subject of such Asset Disposition for such period, or increased
by an amount equal to the EBITDA (if negative), directly attributable thereto for such period, and
Consolidated Interest Expense for such period shall be reduced by an amount equal to the Consolidated
Interest Expense directly attributable to any Debt of AK Steel or any Subsidiary repaid, repurchased, defeased
or otherwise discharged with respect to AK Steel and its continuing Subsidiaries in connection with such
Asset Dispositions for such period (or, if the Equity Interests of any Subsidiary is sold, the Consolidated
Interest Expense for such period directly attributable to the Debt of such Subsidiary to the extent AK Steel
and its continuing Subsidiaries are no longer liable for such Debt after such sale), (¢) if since the beginning of
such period AK Steel or any Subsidiary (by merger or otherwise) shall have made an Investment in any
Subsidiary (or any Person which becomes a Subsidiary) or an acquisition of assets, including any acquisition
of assets occurring in connection with a transaction causing a calculation to be made hereunder, which
constitutes all or substantially all of an operating unit of a business, EBITDA and Consolidated Interest
Expense for such period shall be calculated after giving pro forma effect thereto (including the issuance of any
Debt) as if such Investment or acquisition occurred on the first day of such period, and (d) if since the
beginning of such period any Person (that subsequently became a Subsidiary or was merged with or into
Holding or any Subsidiary since the beginning of such period) shall have made any Asset Disposition or any
Investment that would have required an adjustment pursuant to clause (b) or (c) above if made by AK Steel
or a Subsidiary during such period, EBITDA and Consolidated Interest Expense for such period shall be
calculated after giving pro forma effect thereto as if such Asset Disposition or Investment occurred on the first
day of such period. For purposes of this definition, whenever pro forma effect is to be given to an acquisition of
assets, the amount of income or carnings relating thereto, and the amount of Consolidated Interest Expense
associated with any Debt issued in connection therewith, the pro forma calculations shall be determined in
good faith by a responsible financial or accounting Officer of AK Steel. If any Debt bears 2 ﬂoatmg rate of
interest and is being given pro forma effect, the interest of such Debt shall be calculated as if the rate in effect
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on the date of determination had been the appl.icable'me for the entire period (taking into account any
Interest Rate Protection Agreement applicable to such Debt if such Interest Rate Protection Agreement has a
remaining term in excess of 12 moaths).

“Consolidated Interest Expense” means, for any period, the total interest expense of Holding and its
consolidated Subsidiaries (other than Non-Recourse Subsidiaries), including (i) interest expense attributable
to capital leases, (ii) amortization of debt discount and debt issuance cost, (iii) capitalized interest, (iv) non-
cash interest payments, (v) commissions, discounts and other fees and charges owed with respect to letters of
credit and bankers’ acceptance financing, (vi) net costs under Interest Rate Protection Agreements (including
amortization of fees), (vii) Preferred Equity Interests.dividends or distributions in respect of all Preferred
Equity Interests held by Persons other than AK Steel or a Wholly Owned Subsidiary, (viii) interest allocated
in connection with investments in discontinued operations and (ix) interest actually paid by Holding or any of
its consolidated Subsidiaries (other than Non-Recourse Subsidiaries) under any guarantee of Debt or other
obligation of any other Person.

“Consolidated Net Income” means for any period, the net income (or loss) of Holding and its
consolidated Subsidiaries; provided, however, that there shall not be included in such Consolidated Net

Income:

(i) any net income (or loss) of any Person if such Person is not a Subsidiary of AK Steel, except
that AK Steel’s equity in the net income of any such Person for such period shall be included in such
Consolidated Net Income up to the aggregate amount of cash actually distributed by such Person during
such period to AK Steel or a Subsidiary (other than a Non-Recourse Subsidiary) as a dividend or other
distribution (subject, in the case of a8 dividend or other distribution to a Subsidiary, to the limitations
contained in clause (iif) below);

(ii) any net income (or loss) of any Person acquired by AK Steel or a Subsidiary in a pooling of
interests transaction for any period prior to the date of such acquisition;

(iii) any net income of any Subsidiary if such Subsidiary is subject to restrictions, directly or
indirectly, on the payment of dividends or the making of distributions by such Subsidiary, directly or
indirectly, to AK Steel, except that (A) AK Steel's equity in the net income of any such Subsidiary for
such period shall be included in such Consclidated Net Income up to the aggregate amount of cash
actually distributed by such Subsidiary during such period to AK Steel or another Subsidiary as a
dividend or other distribution (subject, in the case of a dividend or other distribution to another
Subsidiary, to the limitation contained in this clause) and (B) AK Steel's equity in a net loss of any such
Subsidiary for such period shall be included in determining such Consolidated Net Income;

(iv) any gain or loss realized upon the sale or other disposition of any property, plant or equipment of
AK Steel or its consolidated Subsidiaries (including pursuant to any sale-and-leaseback arrangement)
which is not sold or otherwise disposed of in the ordinary course of business and any gain or loss realized
upon the sale or other disposition of any Equity Interests of any Person;

(v) any net income (or loss) of any Non-Recourse Subsidiary, except that AK Steel’s equity in the
net income of any such Non-Recourse Subsidiary for such period shall be included in such Consolidated
Net Income up to the aggregate amount of cash actually distributed by such Non-Recourse Subsidiary
during such period to AK Steel as a dividend or other distribution; and -

(vi) the cumulative effect of a clnnge in aeeounun; principles.
*“Consolidated Net Tangible Assets” of any Person means the total assets of such Person and its
consolidated subsidiaries after deducting therefrom all intangible assets, current liabilities (excluding any

thereof which are by their terms exteadible or renewable at the option of the obligor thereon to a time more
than 12 months after the time as of which the amount thereof is being computed) and minority interests, if

any, in any assets of such Person’s subsidiaries.
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“Consolidated Net Worth" of any Person means the total of the amounts shown on the balance sheet of
such Person and its consolidated subsidiaries, determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, as of the ead of the most recent fiscal quarter of such Person ending at least
45 days prior to the taking of any action for the purpose of which the determination is being made, as (i) the
par or stated value of all outstanding Equity laterests of such Person plus (ii) paid-in capital or capital surplus
relating to such Equity Interests plus (iii) any retained earnings or earned surplus less (a) any accumulated
deficit, (b) any amounts attributable to Redeemable Equity Interests and (c) any amounts attributable to

Exchangeable Equity Interests.
“Debt" of any Person means, without duplication,

(i) the principal of and premium (if any) in respect of (a) indebtedness of such Person ror money
borrowed and (b) indebtedness evidenced by notes, debentures, bonds or other similar mstrumenu for
the payment of which such Person is responsible or liable;

(ii) all Capital Lease Obligations of such Person;

(iif) all obligations of such Person issued or assumed as the deferred purchase price of property, all
conditional sale obligations of such Person and all obligations of such Person under any title retention
agreement (but excluding trade accounts payable arising in the ordinary course of business);

- (iv) all obligations of such Person for the reimbursement of any obligor on any letter of credit,
banker’s acceptance or similar credit transaction (other than obligations with respect to letters of credit
securing obligations (other than obligations described in (i) through (iii) above) entered into in the
ordinary course of business of such Person to the extent such letters of credit are not drawn upon or, if
and to the extent drawn upon, such drawing is reimbursed no later than the third Business Day following
receipt by such Person of a demand for reimbursement following payment on the letter of credit);

(v) the amount of all obligations of such Person with respect to the redemption, repayment or other
repurchase of any Redeemable Equity Interests (but excluding any accrued dividends);

(vi) all obligations of such Person under interest rate swap or similar agreements, or foreign currency
or commodity hedge, exchange or similar agreements of such Person;

(vii) all obligations of the type referred to in clauses (i) through (vi) of other Persons and all
dividends of other Persons for the payment of which, in either case, such Person is responsible or liable,
directly or indirectly, as obligor, guarantor or otherwise, including by means of any Guarantee; and

(viii) all obligations of the type referred to in clauses (i) through (vii) of other Persons secured by
any Lien on any property or asset of such Person (whether or not such obligation is assumed by such
Person), the amount of such obligation being deemed to be the lesser of the value of such property or
assets or the amount of the obligation so secured.

“Default™ means any eveat which is, or after notice or passage of time or both would be, an Event of
Default

“EBITDA" for any period means the Consolidated Net Income of Holding for such period (but without
giving effect to adjustments, accruals, deductions or eatries resulting from purchase accounting, extraordinary
losses or gains and any gains or losses from any Asset Dispositions), plus (a) the following to the extent
deducted in calculating such Consolidated Net Income: (i) income tax expense, (ii) Consolidated Interest
Expense, (iii) deprecistion expense, (iv) amortization expense, (v) the non-cash portion of post retirement
benefits other than pensions, (vi) up to $50.0 million of special charges taken in respect of a fiscal period
ended or ending December 31, 1993, March 31, 1994 and/or June 30, 1994, and (vii) special charges taken
after December 31, 1993 to the extent not included in clause (vi) of this definition and in respect of which
Holding has delivered to the Trustee (A) an Officers’ Certificate setting forth estimates, made in good faith by
a responsible financial or accounting Officer of Holding, of the cash costs estimated, at the time such special
charges are recorded, to be paid during any period for such special charges and containing an undertaking of
Holding to deliver to the Trustee, as soon as practicable after Holding determines that such estimates are not
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appropriate, a supplemental Officers' Centificate setting forth appropriate adjustments to such estimates and
(B) together with any Officers’ Certificate or supplemental Officers’ Certificate referred to in clause (A), a
report prepared by Holding's independeat auditors setting forth the procedures performed by such auditors in
connection with such special charges and the related cash costs estimated to be paid during any period for
such charges minus (b) to the extent not deducted in calculating such Consolidated Net Income, cash costs
estimated to be paid during such period for special charxes taken during any period as set forth in the Officers’
Certificate most recently delivered to the Tmstec in respect of such special charges pursuant to clause
(a) (vii) of this definition. .

“Equity Interests” means any and all shares, interests, rights to purchase, warrants;, options, participations
or other equivalents of or interest in (however designated) corporate stock or other equity participations,
including partnership interests, whether general or limited, including any !"xeferred Equity Interests.

“Exchangeable Equity Interests” of any Person means any Equity Interest which is exchangeable for or
convertible into another security (other than any Equity Interest of such Person which is neither an
Exchangeable Equity Interest nor 2 Redeemable Equity Interest).

*“Fair Market Value* means, with respect to any asset or property, the sale value that would be obtained
in an arm's-length transaction between an informed and willing seller under no compulsion to sell and an
informed and willing buyer.

“Guarantee” means any obligation, contingent or otherwise, of any Person directly or mdxrectly
guaranteeing any Debt or other obligation of any other Person and any obligation, direct or indirect, contingent
or otherwise, of such Person (i) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase or payment
of) such Debt or other obligation of such other Person (whether such obligation to purchase or pay such Debt
or other obligation of such other Person arises by virtue of partnership arrangements, or by agreement to keep-
well, to purchase assets, goods, securities or services, to take-or-pay, or to maintain financial statement
conditions or otherwise) or (ii) entered into for purposes of assuring in any other manner the obligee of such
Debt or other obligation of the payment thereof or to protect such obligee against loss in respect thereof (in
whole or in part); provided, however, that the term “Guarantee” shall not include endorsements for collection
or deposit in the ordinary course of business. The term “Guarantee” used as & verb has a corresponding
meaning.’

“Interest Rate Protection Agreement” means any interest rate swap agreement, interest rate cap
agreement or other financial agreement or arrangement designed to protect AK Steel or any Subsidiary
against fluctuations in interest rates.

“Investment” in any Person means any loan or advance to, any acquisition of Equity Interests, equity
interest, obligation or other security of, or capital contribution or other investment in, such Person.

“Issue” means issue, assume, guarantee, incur or otherwise become liable for; provided, however, that any
Debt or Equity Interests of a Person existing at the time such Person becomes a Subsidiary (whether by
merger, consolidation, acquisition or otherwise) shall be deemed to be issued by such Subsidiary at the time it
becomes & Subsidiary.

*JV Subsidiary” means a Guarantor Subsidiary which (i) was created or became a Subsidiary after the
date on which the Senior Notes were originally issued and (ii) bunotncqmedmymeudmuyor
indirectly from AK Steel or any Subsidiary, other than (a) cash constituting a Restricted Payment or
(b) assets, in an Asset Disposition, which were acquired by AK Steel and its Subsidiaries within cne year prior
to such Asset Disposition.

“Lien” means any mortgage, pledge, security interest, conditional sale or other title retention agreement
or other similar lien or encumbrance of any kind.

“Net Available Cash” from an Asset Disposition means cash payments received (including any cash
payments received by way of deferred payment of principal pursuant 10 2 note or installment receivable or
otherwise, but only as and when received, but excluding any other consideration received in the form of
assumption by the acquiring Person of Debt or other obligations relating to such properties or assets or
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received in any other soncash form) therefrom, in each case net of all legal, title and recording tax expenses,
commissions and other fees and expenses incurred, and all Federal, state, provincial, foreign and local taxes
required to be accrued as a liability under generally accepted accounting principles, as a consequence of such
Asset Disposition, and in each case net of all payments made on any Debt which is secured by any assets
subject to such Asset Disposition, in accordance with the terms of any lien upon or other security agreement of
any kind with respect to such assets, or which must by its terms, or in order to obtain a necessary consent to
such Asset Disposition, or by applicable law be repaid out of the proceeds from such Asset Disposition, and
net of all distributions and other payments required to be made to minority interest holders in Subsidiaries or
joint ventures as a result of such Asset Disposition.

“Net Cash Proceeds”, with respect to any issuance or sale of Equity Interests, means the cash proceeds of
such issuance or sale net of attorneys’ fees, accountants’ [ees, underwriters’ or placcment agents’ fees,
discounts or commissions and brokerage, consultant and other fees actually incurred in connection with such
issuance or sale and net of taxes paid or payable as a result thereof.

“Non-Convertible Equity Interests” means, with respect to any Person, any non-convertible Equity
Interests of such Person and any Equity Interests of such Person convertible solely into non-convertible Equity
Interests of such Person; provided, however, that Non-Convertible Equity Interests shall pot include any

Redeemable Equity Interests or Exchangeable Equity Interests.

*“Non-Recourse Debt* means Debt or that portion of Debt (i) as to which neither AK Steel nor any of its
Subsidiaries (other than 2 Non-Recourse Subsidiary) (a) provides credit support (including any undertaking,
agreement or instrument which would constitute Debt), (b) is directly or indirectly liable, or (c) constitutes
the lender and (ii) no default with respect to which (including any rights which the holders thereof may have
to take enforcement action against a Non-Recourse Subsidiary) would permit (upon notice, lapse of time or
both) any holder of any other Debt of AK Steel or its Subsidiaries to declare a default on such other Debt or
cause the payment thereof to be accelerated or payable prior to its Stated Maturity.

“Non-Recourse Subsidiary” means a Subsidiary of AK Steel which (i) has not acquired any assets
directly or indirectly from AK Steel or any Subsidiary (other than (a) cash constituting a Restricted Payment
and (b) accounts receivable that have been sold or otherwise transferred to such Subsidiary in an accounts
receivable financing for AK Steel or such other Subsidiary), (ii) only owns properties acquired after the date
of the issuance of the Senior Notes, and (iii) has no Debt other than Non-Recourse Debt.

“Normal Replacement Assets” means any asscts other than Special Assets.

“Obligations” means the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Senior Notes and all other
amounts due and payable under the Indenture and the Senior Notes and all other obligations and liabilities of
AK Steel whether direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, due or to become due, now existing or hereafter
issued, which may arise under, out of or in connection with the Indenture and the Senior Notes or any other
documents made, delivered or given in connection therewith, whether on account of principal, premium, if
any, interest, reimbursement obligations, fees, indemnities, costs, expenses (including without limitation all
fees and disbursements of counsel to the Trustee or the holders which AK Steel has become obligated
pursuant to the terms of this Indenture) or otherwise whether or not an allowable claim against AK Steel

. under the Bankruptcy Law or otherwise enforceable against AK Steel, and including, in any event, interest
and other liabilities accruing or arising after the filing by or against AK Steel of a petition under the
Bankruptcy Law or that would have 5o accrued or arisen but for the filing of such a petition.

“Permitted Investments™ means:
(a) Cash Equivalents;

(b) Investments in AK Steel or a Wholly Owned Guarantor Subsidiary (or any Person which will
become a Wholly Owned Guarantor Subsidiary as a result of such Investment);

(c) loans and reasonable advances to employees of AK Steel or its Subsidiaries for travel,
entertainment and relocation expenses in the ordinary course of business; and
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(d) Ianvestments with respect to joint ventures in existence prior to the date on which the Senior
Notes are originally issued, in an aggregate amount not exceeding $40.0 million, in connection with the
disposition and termination of all, but not less than all, of the Investments and obligations of AK Steel
and its Subsidiaries relating to such joint ventures, except for contractual obligations to pay the purchase
price of commodities purchased at the Fair Market Value, as determined in good faith by the Board of
Directors of Holding.

“Permitted Liens” means, with respect to any Person, (a) pledges or deposits by such Person under
workers' compensatiop laws, unemployment insurance laws or similar legislation, os good faith deposits in
connection with bids, tenders, contracts (other than for the paymeat of Debt) or leases 1o which suck Person
is a party, or deposits to secure public or statutory obligations of such Person or deposits or cash or United
States government bonds to secure surety or appeal bonds to which such Person is a party, or deposits as
security for contested taxes or import duties or for the payment of rent, in each case incurred in the ordinary
course of business; (b) Liens imposed by law, such as carriers’, warchousemen's and mechanics’ Liens, in
cach case for sums not yet due or being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings; or other Liens
arising out of judgments or awards against such Person with respect to which such Person shall then be
proceeding with an appeal or other proceedings for review or time for appeal has not yet expired; (c) Liens for
property taxes not yet subject to penalties for non-payment or which are being contested in good faith by
appropriate proceedings; (d) Liens in favor of issuers of surcty bonds or letters of credit issued pursuant to the
request of and for the account of such Person in the ordinary course of its business; provided, however, that
such letters of credit do not constitute Debt; (¢) survey exceptions, encumbrances, easements or reservations
of, or rights of others for, licenses, rights of way, sewers, electric lines, telegraph and telephone lines and other
similar purposes, or zoning or other restrictions as to the use of real properties or liens incidental to the
conduct of the business of such Person or to the ownership of its properties which were not incurred in
connection with Debt and which do not in the aggregate materially adversely affect the value of said properties
or materially impair their use in the operation of the business of such Person; (f) Liens securing an Interest
Rate Protection Agreement so long as the related Debdt is, and is permitted to be under the Indenture, secured
by a Lien on the same property securing the Interest Rate Protection Agreement; and (g) leases and subleases
of real property which do not interfere with the ordinary conduct of the business of AK Steel or any of its
Subsidiaries, and which are made on customary and usual terms applicable to similar properties.

“Permitted Restructured Facility” ot “Facilities” means one or more agreements between AK Steel, one
or more Subsidiaries and a financial institution or institutions providing for the restructuring of outstanding
Debt of AK Steel

“Permitted Revolving Credit Facility” or “Facilitles” means any agreement or agreements between
AK Steel and a financial institution or institutions, providing for (i) the making of loans on a revolving basis,
(ii) the sale of accounts receivable under any asset securitization facility or (iii) the issuance of letters of
credit and/or the creation of bankers® acceptances the aggregate amount that may be borrowed or otherwise
obtained under which, in the case of (i), (ii) and (iii), is based upon eligible accounts receivable and eligible
inventories and under, in the case of (i), (i) and (iii), which the aggregate principal amount of Debt, or (in
the case of (ii)) purchaser investment ocutstanding under any such asset securitization facility, is not greater,
in the aggregate, than the greater of (i) $75.0 million and (ii) to the extent such accounts receivable and
inventory do not secure any other Debt of AK Steel or any of its Subsidiaries, the sum of (2) 85% of the book
value of the accounts receivable of AK Steel and (b) 60% of the book value (excluding last-in-first-out
reserves) of the inventory of AK Steel

“Preferred Equity Interests”, as applied to the Equity Interests of any Person, means Equity Interests of
any class or classes (however designated) which is preferred as to the paymeant of dividends or distributions, or
as to the distribution of assets upon any voluntary or involuntary liquidation or dissolution of such Person, over
Equity Interests of any other class of such Person.

“Redeemable Equity Interests” means any Equity Interests that by its terms or otherwise is required to be
redeemed on or prior to the first anniversary of the Stated Maturity of the Senior Notes or is redeemable at the
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option of the holder thereof at any time on or prior to the first anniversary of the Stated Maturity of the Senior
Notes.

“Sale/Leaseback Transaction™ means an arrangement relating to property now owned or hereafter
acquired whereby AK Steel or a Subsidiary transfers such property to a Person and AK Steel or a Subsidiary
leases it from such Person.

“Significant Subsidiary” means (i) any domestic Subsidiary of AK Steel (other than a Non-Recourse
Subsidiary) which at the time of determination either (a). had assets which, as of the date of the Holding's
most recent quarterly consolidated balance sheet, constituted at least 5% of Holding's total assets on a
consolidated basis as of such date, or (b) had revenues for the 12-month period ending on the date of
Holding's most recent quarterly consolidated statement of income which constituted at least 5% of Holding’s
total revenues on a consolidated basis for such period, (ii) any Foreign Subsidiary (other than a Non-
Recourse Subsidiary) of AK Steel which at the time of determination either (a) had assets which, as of the
date of Holding's most recent quarterly consolidated balance sheet, constituted at least 5% of Holding's total
assets on a consolidated basis as of such date, in each case determined in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles or (b) had revenues for the 12-month period ending on the date of Holding's most
recent quarterly consolidated statement of income which constituted at least 5% of Holding’s total revenues on
a consolidated basis for such period, or (iii) any Subsidiary (other than a Non-Recourse Subsidiary) of
AK Steel which, if merged with all Defaulting Subsidiaries of AK Steel, would at the time of determination
cither (a) have had assets which, as of the date of Holding's most recent quarterly consolidated balance sheet,
would bave constituted at least 10% of Holding's total assets on a consolidated basis as of such date or
(b) have bad revenues for the 12-month period ending on the date of Holding's most recent quarterly
consolidated statement of income which would have constituted at least 10% of Holding's total revenues on a
consolidated basis for such period (each such determination being made in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles). “Defaulting Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary of AK Steel (other.than a
Non-Recourse Subsidiary) with respect to which a Default has occurred.

“Special Assets” means a capital asset, or series of related capital assets, with an aggregate purchase price
in excess of $20.0 million that enhances the competitiveness or productivity of the business of AK Steel and its
Subsidiaries or are required so that AK Steel and its Subsidiaries will remain in compliance with all material

requirements of applicable law.

“Stated Maturity” means, with respect to any security, the date specified in such security as the fixed date
on which the principal of such security is due and payable, including pursuant to any mandatory redemption
provision (but excluding any provision providing for the repurchase of such security at the option of the holder
thereof upon the happening of any contingency unless such contingency has occurred).

“Subordinated Exchange Note” means the promissory note of AK Steel, in the principal amount of $100
million, evidencing the Subordinated Obligation held by an affiliate of Kawasaki pﬁor to the Recapitalization
and exchanged for Common Stock of Holding pursuant to the Recapitalization, as in effect on the date the
Senior Notes were onmally issued. Following the Recapitalization, the Debt evidenced by the Subordinated
Exchange Note will remain outstanding as an obligation of AK Steel to Holding.

“Subordinated Obligation™ means any Debt of AK Steel (whether outstanding on the date on which the
Senior Notes were originally issued or thereafter issued) wlnch is subordinate or junior in right of payment to
the Senior Notes.

“Subordinated Pension Trust Note” means the promissory note of AK Steel, as in effect on the date the
Senior Notes were originally issued, evidencing the Subordinated Obligation owed to Holding issued as
consideration for shares of Common Stock having a value equal to $50.0 million. Pursuant to the
Recapitalization, AK Steel will contribute these shares to the Pension Trust as part of the Pension Trust

Contribution.

“Subsidiary” of any Person means any corporation, association, partnership or other business entity of
which more than 50% of the total voting power of shares of Equity Interests or other interests (including
partnership interests) entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the election of
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directors, managers or trustees thereof is at the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, through one or
more intermediaries, or both, by such Person. Unless otherwise qualified, all references to a “Subsidiary™ or to
“Subsidiaries” shall refer to a Subsidiary or Subsidiaries of AK Steel.

“US. Government Obligations” means direct obligations (or certificates representing an ownership
interest in such obligations) of the United States of America (including any ageacy or instrumentality
thereof) for the payment of which the full faith and credit of the United States of America is pledged and
which are not callable at the issuer’s option.

“Voting Equity Interests” of a corporation means all classes of Equity Interests of*a corporation or other
eatity then outstanding and normally eatitled to vote in the election of directors or other governing body of
such corporation or other entity.

“Wholly Owned Guarantor Subsidiary” means any Wholly Owned Subsidiary that is a Guarantor
Subsidiary.

“Wholly Owned Subsidiary™ of a Person means a Subsidiary of such Person (other than a Non-Recourse
Subsidiary) all the Equity Interests (other than non-voting, non-cumulative money market preferred shares)
of which (other than directors’ qualifying shares) are owned by such Person or another Wholly Owned
Subsidiary of such Person. Unless otherwise qualified, all references to a “Wholly Owned Subsidiary” or to
“Wholly Owned Subsidiaries” shall refer to a Wholly Owned Subsidiary or Wholly Owned Subsidiaries of the
Company.

Events of Defanlt
The following will be Events of Default under the Indenture:

(i) default in any payment of interest on any Senior Note when the same becomes due and payable,
and such default continues for a period of 30 days; .

(ii) default in the payment of the principal of any Senior Note when the same becomes due and
payable at its Stated Maturity, upon redemption, upon declaration or otherwise;

(iii) failure to redeem or purchase Senior Notes when required pursuant to the Indenture and the
Senior Notes;

(iv) failure to (a) comply with the covenant described under “When AK Steel and its Subsidiaries
May Merge or Transfer Assets,” (b) make or consummate an Offer in accordance with the provisions of
“Certain Covenants — Limitation on Sales of Assets and Equity Interests of Subsidiaries” or (c) make
or consummate a Change in Control Offer in accordance with the provisions of “Change in Control™;

(v) failure to comply with any of the agreements in the Senior Notes or the Indeature (other than
those referred to in (i), (ii), (iii) or (iv) above), which continues for 60 days after there has been given
to AK Steel by the Trustee or to AK Steel and the Trustee by the holders of at least 25% in principal
amount of Senior Notes then outstanding a written notice specifying such failure;

(vi) Debt of AK Steel or any Significant Subsidiary is not paid within any applicable grace period
after final maturity or is accelerated by the holders thereof because of a default, the total amount of such
Debt unpaid or accelerated exceeds $10.0 million or its foreign currency equivaleat;

(vii) any Senior Note Guarantee issued by Holding or any Significant Subsidiary ceases to be in full
force and effect other than in accordance with its terms, or Holding or any Significant Subsidiary or any
Person acting on behalf of Holding or such Significant Subsidiary shall deny or disaffirm its obligations
under its Senior Note Guarantee;

(viii) certain events in bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization with respect to Holding, AK Steel
or any Significant Subsidiary; and

(ix) any judgment or decree for the payment of money in excess of $10.0 million is rendered against
Holding, AK Steel or any Significant Subsidiary and is not dkchmed and either (a) an enforcement
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proceeding has been commenced by any creditor upon such judgment or decree or (b) there is a period of
60 days following such judgment during which such judgment or decree is not discharged, waived or the
execution thereof stayed.

If an Event of Default shall occur and be continuing, either the Trustee or the holders of at least 25% in
_ principal amount of the Senior Notes then outstanding may, accelerate the maturity of all Senior Notes and
thereupon the principal of, premium, if any, and any accrued and unpaid interest on the Senior Notes shall
become due and payable immediately; provided, that in the case of amy bankruptcy, insolvency or
reorganization Event of Default, such amount shall become immediately due and payable without any
declaration or other act on the part of the Trustee or any holder. The bolders of at least a majority in principal
amount of Senior Notes may, under certain circumstances, rescind such acceleration and its consequences if
the rescission would not conflict with any judgment or decree and if all Events of Default, other than the
nonpayment of accelerated principal of, premium, if any, and interest on Senior Notes, have been cured or
waived as provided in the Indenture. The holders of at least a majority in principal amount of the Senior Notes
may waive any past default under the Indenture, except a default in the payment of principal, premium or
interest on a Senior Note or default with respect to certain covenants under the Indenture.

Subject to provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee, the holders of at least a majority in principal
amount of the Senior Notes will have the right to direct the time, method and place of conducting any
proceeding for any remedy available to the Trustee or excrcising any trust or power conferred on the Trustee,
subject to certain limitations contained in the Indenture.

No holder of any Senior Note will have any right to pursue any remedy with respect to the Indenture or
the Senior Notes unless (i) such holder shall have previously given to the Trustee written notice of a
continuing Event of Default, (i) the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the Senior Notes shall
have made written request to the Trustee to pursuc the remedy, (iii) such holder shall have offered the
Trustee rcasonable indemnity against any liability, (iv) the Trustee shall have failed to comply with the
request within 60 days after the receipt of such request and the offer of indemnity, and (v) no written direction
inconsistent with such request shall have been given to the Trustee during such 60-day period by the holders of
at least 2 majority in principal amount of the Senior Notes.

AK Steel and the Guarantors will be required to furnish to the Trustee annually a statement as to the
performance by AK Steel and such Guarantor of certain of the obligations under the Indenture and as to any
default in such performance. Upon becoming aware of any default, AK Steel and each Guarantor will be
required to deliver an Officers’ Certificate to the Trustee setting forth the details of such default and the action
which Holding, AK Steel or any Guarantor proposes to take with respect thereto.

Modification and Waiver

Amendments of the Indenture or the Senior Notes may be made by AK Steel, the Guarantors and the
Trustee with the consent of the holders of at least a majority in principal amount of the Senior Notes;
provided, however, that no such modification or amendment may, without the conseat of the holder of each
Senior Note affected thereby, (i) reduce the amount of Senior Notes whose holders must consent o an
amendment, (ii) reduce the rate or extend the interest psyment time of any Senior Note, (iii) reduce the
principal amount of or extend the Stated Maturity of any Senior Note, (iv) reduce the premium payable upon
redemption or change the time at which any Senior Note may be redeemed, (v) change the curreacy of
payment of any Senior Note, (vi) make any change in the provisions concerning waiver of Defaults by holders
of the Senior Notes or the rights of holders to receive payments of principal or interest, (vii) make any change
in provisions regarding Change in Control, (viii) make any change adversely affecting the rights of any holder
of the Senior Notes or (ix) make any change in this provision.

Without the conseat of any holder of the Senior Notes, AK Steel, the Guarantors and the Trustee may
amend the Indenture or the Senior Notes (i) to cure any ambiguity, omission, defect or incansistency, (ii) to
comply with “When AK Steel and its Subsidiaries May Merge or Transfer Assets,” (iii) to provide for
uncertificated Senior Notes in addition to or in place of certificated Senior Notes, (iv) to add guarantees with
respect to the Securities, (v) to add to the covenants of AK Steel or the Guarantors for the benefit of the
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holders or to surrender any right or power conferred upon AK Steel or the Guarantors in the Indenture, (vi) to
reflect the release or addition of a Guarantor pursuant to the terms of the Indenture, (vii) to comply with any
requirements of the SEC in connection with qualifying the Indenture under the Trust Indenture Act, or
(viii) to make any change that does not adversely affect the rights of any holder of the Seaior Notes.

When AK Steel and its Subsidiaries May Merge or Transfer Assets

AK Steel shall not (i) consolidate with or merge With or into any other Person, (ii) permit any other

Person to consolidate with or merge into (2) AK Steel or (b) any Subsidiary in a transaction in which such
Subsidiary (or successor Person) remains (or becomes) a Subsidiary, (iii) directly or indirectly, transfer,
convey, sell, lease or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its properties and assets, (iv) directly or
indirectly, (a) acquire Equity Interests or other ownership interests of any other Person such that such Person
becomes a Subsidiary or (b) purchase, lease or otherwise acquire all or substantially all of the property and
assets of any Person or any existing business (whether existing as a separate entity, subsidiary, division, unit or
otherwise) of any Person, or (v) permit any of its Subsidiaries to enter into any such transaction unless:

(1) AK Steel or such Subsidiary shall be the continuing entity or the resulting, surviving or
transferee Person (if not AK Steel or such Subsidiary) shall be a Person organized and existing under the
laws of the United States of America, any State thereof or the District of Columbia and such Person shall
expressly assume, by an indenture supplemental to the Indenture, executed and delivered to the Trustee,
all the obligations of AK Steel or such Subsidiary, as the case may be, under the Senior Notes and the

Indenture;

(2) Immediately after giving effect to such transaction (and treating any Debt which becomes an
obligation of the resulting, surviving or transferee Person or any Subsidiary as a result of such transaction
as having been issued by such Person or such Subsidiary at the time of such transaction), no Default shall
have occurred and be continuing;

(3) Immediately after giving effect to such transaction, on a pro forma basis, AK Steel (or the
resulting, surviving or transferee Person (if not AK Steel) ) would be able to issue at least $1.00 of Debt
pursuant to the Consolidated EBITDA Coverage Ratio set forth in the first paragraph of “Certain
Covenants — Limitation on Debt"”;

(4) Immediately after giving effect to such transaction, Holding shall have Consolidated Net Worth
which is not less than the Consolidated Net Worth of Holding immediately prior to such transaction;

(5) Each Guarantor, unless it is the other party to the transactions described above, shall expressly
confirm, by an indenture supplemental to the Indenture, executed and delivered to the Trustee, that its
Guarantee shall apply to such Person’s obligations under the Notes; and

(6) AK Steel shall have delivered to the Trustee an Officers’ Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel,
each stating that such consolidation, merger or transfer and such supplemental indentures (if any)
comply with the Indenture;

provided, however, that clauses (3) and (4) shall not apply to (A) the consolidation or merger of any Wholly
Owned Subsidiary with or into any other Wholly Owned Subsidiary or AK Steel or (B) the transfer,
conveyance, sale, lease or other disposal (including any disposition by means of a merger, consolidation or
similar transaction) of all or substantially all of the properties or assets of a Non-Recourse Subsidiary or a
Subsidiary which is not a Significant Subsidiary or (C) the merger of Holding into AK Steel.

If after the date on which the Senior Notes were originally issued any Person shall become a Subsidiary
(other than a Non-Recourse Subsidiary), such Person shall (a) unconditionally guarantee, by an indenture
supplemental to the Indenture, executed and delivered to the Trustee, all of AK Steel's obligations under the
Senior Notes on the terms set forth in the Indenture and (b) deliver to the Trustee an Opinion of Counsel
stating that such supplemental indenture bas been duly authorized and constitutes the enforceable obligations

of such Person.
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Defeasance

AK Steel at any time may terminate all its obligations under the Senior Notes and the Indenture (“legal
defeasance™), except for certain obligations, including those respecting the defeasance trust and obligations to
register the transfer or exchange of the Senior Notes, to replace mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Senior
Notes and to maintain a registrar and paying agent in respect of the Senior Notes. AK Steel at any time may
terminate its obligations under the covenants described under “Certain Covenants™ and “Change in Control
Offer” above (“covenant defeasance™). AK Steel may exercise the legal defeasance option aotwithstanding
the prior exercise of the covenant defeasance option. If AK Steel exercises the legal defeasance option,
payment of the Senior Notes may not be accelerated because of an Eveat of Default. If AK Steel exescises the
covenant defeasance option, payment of the Senior Notes may not be accelerated because of an Event of
Default specified in clause (v) of the first paragraph of “Events of Default” above.

In order to exercise its defeasance options, AK Steel must irrevocably deposit in trust (the “defeasance
trust”) with the Trustee money or U.S. Government Obligations for the payment of principal of, premium, if
any, and interest on the Senior Notes to maturity or redemption, as the case may be, and must comply with
certain other conditions, including delivery to the Trustee of an opinion of counsel to the effect that holders of
the Senior Notes will not recognize income, gain or loss for federal income tax purposes as a result of such
defeasance and will be subject to federal income tax on the same amounts, in the same manner and at the
same times as would have been the case if such defeasance had not occurred (and, in the case of legal
defeasance only, such opinion of counsel must be based on a ruling of the Internal Revenue Service or other

change in applicable federal income tax law).

Concerning the Trustee

The Trustee may become owner or pledgee of Senior Notes and may otherwise deal with either Holding
or Affiliates of Holding with the same rights it would have if it were not Trustee. -

The Indeature will provide that in case an Event of Default shall occur and be continuing, the Trustee
will exercise the rights and powers vested in it by the Indenture and use the same degree of care and skill in
their exercise as a prudent Person would exercise or use under the circumstances in the conduct of such

Person’s own affairs.

Transfer and Exchange

A holder may transfer or exchange Senior Notes in accordance with the Indenture. Such holder may be
required, among other things, to furnish appropriate endorsements and transfer documents, and to pay any
taxes and fees required by law or permitted by the Indenture. The Registrar is not required to transfer or
exchange any Senior Note selected for redemption. Also, the Registrar is not required to transfer or exchange
any Senior Note for a period of 15 days before a selection of Senior Notes to be redeemed or an interest

payment date,

Governing Law

The Indenture, the Senior Notes and the Senior Note Guarantees shall be governed by, and construed in
accordance with, the law of the State of New York but without giving effect to applicable principles of
conflicts of law to the extent that the application of the laws of another jurisdiction would be required thereby.
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DESCRIPTION OF CERTAIN INDEBTEDNESS

The following is a description of the expected terms for the Company's restructured debt after the
Recapitalization, subject to the finalization of the definitive agreemeats.

Bank and Other Debt

After the Recapitalization, AK Steel expects to bave $128.4 million of outsta.ndmg indebtedness with
banks and other lenders. This indebtedness will represent principal amounts remaining oa pre-Recapitalization
debt as follows: $40.3 million to Dai-Ichi Kangyo Bank Limited (New York Branch) (the “DKB:Loan");
$37.8 million to Nissho Iwai American Corporation (“NIAC") for projects at the Middletown Works'
hot-rolling mill and the Ashland Works’ caster (the “NIAC Loan™); $36.0 million to ITOCHU for the
construction of the No. 2 EGL (the “ITOCHU Loan"); and $14.3 million to a group of lenders for the
financing of the No. | EGL (the “No. | EGL Loan").

DKB Lean. 1t is anticipated that the DKB Loan will bear interest at a fixed rate of 9.57%. Scheduled
principal repayments will be $5.0 million for 1995, $10.0 million per year for 1996 through 1998 and a final
payment of $5.3 million in 1999. In addition, 50% of annual “Excess Cash Flow” (to be defined in the DKB
Loan agreement) will be shared pro rata with NIAC, pursuant to the NIAC Loan, to retire outstanding debt.
Pursuant to the DKB Loan agreement, DKB is expected to release its existing security interest in a pool of AK
Steel’s assets in exchange for a shared security interest in AK Steel’s inveantory that will be shared with NIAC,

It is anticipated that the DKB Loan agreement will coatain a number of covenants, including restrictions
on mergers, consolidations and sales of assets; changes in ownership; and transactions with affiliates. AK Steel
also will be required to meet certain financial covenants, including 2 minimum tangible net worth, a minimum
current ratio and a maximum leverage ratio. The DKB Loan agreement will contain customary events of
default, including a cross default to other debt agreements if the effect of an event of default with such other
agreements permits acceleration of the maturity of indebtedness thercunder.

NIAC Loan. 1t is anticipated that the NIAC Loan will bear interest at fixed rates ranging from 10.6% to
11.1%, with scheduled maturities of $0.4 million for 1994, $2.7 million for 1995, $8.8 million for 1996,
$10.8 million for each of 1997 and 1998 and $4.3 million for 1999. NIAC is expected to release its existing
security interest in a pool of AK Steel's assets in exchange for a shared security interest in AK Steel's
inventory with DKB. Covenants and eveats of default under the NLAC Loan agreement are expected to be
similar but somewhat less restrictive than under the DKB Loan agreement.

ITOCHU Loan. 1t is anticipated that the [TOCHU Loan will have covenants similar to those contained
in the NIAC Loan agreement, and will bear interest at the fixed rate of 9.38%. Annual principal paymeats of
$3.6 million will commence in 1994 and end in 2003. Pursuant to the ITOCHU Loan agreemeat, ITOCHU is
expected to release its second mortgage and security interest in & pool of AK Steel’s assets in exchange for an
unshared security interest in the No. 2 EGL.

No. 1 EGL Loan. The No. 1 EGL Loan represents the remaining debt under a leveraged lease financing
entered into in 1986 by Armco and transferred to AK Steel in 1989. In 1990, AK Steel purchased the equity
interest in the lease from Bumham Leasing Corporation. The Recapitalization will not affect the terms and
conditions of this indebtedness. The No. 1 EGL Loan is secured by a liea on the No. 1 EGL:ndbynSlSO
million letter of credit issued by Dai-Ichi Kanm Bank Limited. The No. 1 EGL Loan is also secured by
$8.8 million cash collateral that Armco provided prior to the transfer of the loan. The agreement does not have
financial covenants; however, there are cross-default provisions to AK Steel’s other indebtedness agreements.
The No. 1 EGL indebtedness bears interest at the fixed rate of 11.5%. Scheduled principal payments are $4.8
million for 1994, $5.6 million for 1995 and $3.9 million for 1996.

Miscellaneous Debt

AK Steel has $9.0 million of other outstanding total indebtedness, consisting of government subsidized
loans for capital improvemeats. The Recapitalization will not affect the terms and conditions of this
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indebtedness. This indebtedness is unsecured, bears below market interest rates and contains minimal
covenants and events of default (although there are cross-default provisions if the effect of an event of default
with respect to other indebtedness of AK Steel permits acceleration of the maturity of that indebtedness). The
longest maturity is 2006, with average principal payments of less than $1.0 million annually.

Revolving Credit Facility

Pursuant to the Recapitalization, AK Steel expects to enter into a new revolving credit facility providing
for allowable borrowings of up to $75.0 million and a final maturity of five years from the closing date of the
Recapitalization. The banks under AK Steel’s existing revolving credit facility are expected to release their
security interests in a pool of AK Steel assets in exchange for a security interest in AK Steel’s receivables. The
new revolving credit facility is expected to have terms and conditions similar to those set forth in the
DKB Loan agreement. AK Steel expects to pay to the lenders under the new revolving credit facility :
one-time origination fee and an annual commitment fee on the unused commitment amount.

DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of 75,000,000 shares of Common Stock and
25,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share, issuable in series (the “Preferred Stock™). The
following summary description of the capital stock of the Company is qualified in its eatirety by reference to
the Certificate of Incorporation and the Bylaws of the Company, copies of which have been filed as exhibits to
the Registration Statement of which this Prospectus is a part.

Common Stock

Dividends

The holders of Common Stock will be entitled to receive dividends when and as dividends are declared by
the Board of Directors of the Company out of funds legally available therefor, provided that if any shares of
the Preferred Stock are at the time outstanding, the payment of dividends on the Common Stock or other
distributions may be subject to the declaration and payment of full cumulative dividends on outstanding shares
of Preferred Stock. Payment of dividends on the Common Stock is curreatly prohibited by certain provisions
in the Company’s financing arrangements. See “Dividend Policy.”

Voting Rights
Holders of Common Stock are entitled to one vote per share.

No Preemptive Rights
The holders of Common Stock are not entitled to preemptive or subscription rights.

Transferability

There is no restriction on the transfer of Common Stock. Hmver.mhofAmeo and Kawasaki has
agreed for a period of 365 days after the date of this Prospectus not to sell any shares of Common Stock
without the prior written consent of CS First Boston.

Transfer Agent and Registrar of Common Stock
The transfer agent and registrar for the Common Stock is

Preferred Stock

Pursuant to the Certificate of Incorporation, the Board of Directors is authorized to establish and
designate one or more series of Preferred Stock, without further authorization of the Company’s stockholders,
and to fix the number of shares, the dividend and the relative rights, preferences and limitations of any such
series. Thus, any series’ may, if so determined by the Board of Directors, bave full voting rights with the
Common Stock or superior or limited voting rights, be convertible into Common Stock or another security of
the Company, and have other relative rights, preferences and limitations as the Board of Directors shall
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determine. As a result, any class or series of Preferred Stock could have rights that would adversely affect the
voting power of the Common Stock. The shares of any class or series of Preferred Stock need not be identical.

Business Combination Statute

Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law prohibits certain transactions between a Delaware
corporation and an “interested stockholder,” which is defined as a person who, together with any affiliates
and/or associates of that person, beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, 15% or more of the outstanding
voting shares of a Delaware corporation. This provision prohibits certain business combinations (defined
broadly to include mergers, consolidations, sales or other dispositions of assets having an aggregate value in
excess of 10% of the consolidated assets of the corporation, and certain transactions that would incfease the
interested stockholder's proportionate share ownership in the corporation) between an interested stockholder
and a corporation for a period of three years after the date the interested stotkholder acquired its stock, unless
(i) the business combination is approved by the corporation’s board of directors prior to the date the interested
stockholder acquired shares; (ii) the interested stockholder acquired at least 85% of the voting stock of the
corporation in the transaction in which it became an interested stockholder; or (iii) the business combination
is approved by a majority of the board of directors and by the affirmative vote of two-thirds of the votes
entitled to be cast by disinterested stockholders at an annual or special meeting.

UNDERWRITING

CS First Boston Corporation (the “Underwriter”) has agreed to purchase from AK Steel, at the price
specified on the cover page of this Prospectus under “Proceeds to AK Steel,” $275,000,000 principal amount
of the Senior Notes, subject to the terms and conditions of the Underwriting Agreement among Holding, AK
Steel and the Underwriter. The Underwriting Agreement provides that the Underwriter is obligated to
purchase all of the Senior Notes if any are purchased.

Holding and AK Steel have been advised by the Underwriter that it proposes to offer the Senior Notes to
the public initially at the public offering price set forth on the cover page of this Prospectus and to certain
dealers at such price less a concession of not more than % of the principal amount of the Senior Notes;
that the Underwriter and such dealers may allow a discount of not more than % of such principal amount
on sales to certain other dealers; and that the public offering price and concession and discount to dealers may
be changed by the Underwriter.

Holding and AK Steel have each agreed to indemnify the Underwriter against certain liabilities,
including civil liabilities under the Securities Act, or to contribute to payments that the Underwriter may be
required to make in respect thereof.

The Senior Notes will not be listed on any securities exchange. The Senior Notes will be tradeable in the
over-the-counter market, but any such trading will be limited and sporadic. The Underwriter has advised
Holding and AK Steel that it intends to act as a market-maker for the Senior Notes. However, any such
market-making may be discontinued by the Underwriter at any time in the Underwriter’s sole discretion and
without notice. No assurance can be given as to the liquidity of the trading market for the Senior Notes.

LEGAL MATTERS
The validity of the Senior Notes will be passed upon for the Company by Weil, Gotshal & Manges (a

partnership including professional corporations), New York, New York, and for the Underwriter by Winthrop,
Stimson, Putnam & Roberts, New York, New York.
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EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements of Armco Steel Company, L.P, and Subsidiaries as of Decem-
ber 31, 1991, 1992 and 1993 and for each of the years in the four year period ended December 31, 1993
included in this Prospectus and the related financial statement schedules included elsewhere in the
Registration Statement of which this Prospectus is a part have been audited by Deloitte & Touche,
independent auditors, as stated in their reports appearing herein and elsewhere in the Registration Statement
(which reports express unquahﬁed opinions and include explanatory paragraphs relating to the change in the
method of accounting for retiree nealth care and life insurance benefits), and are included in rehance upon the
reports of such firm given upon their authority as experts in accounting and auditing.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Holding has filed with the Commission in Washington, D.C., a Registration Statement on Form S-1
under the Securities Act with respect to the Common Stock Offerings, and Holding and AK Steel have filed
with the Commission a Registration Statement Form S-1 under the Securities Act with respect to the Senior
Notes Offering. For the purposes hereof, the term “Registration Statement” means the original Registration
Statement and any and all amendments thereto. This Prospectus, that constitutes a part of the Registration
Statemeant with respect to the Senior Notes Offering, does not contain all the information set forth in that
Registration Statement and the exhibits and schedules thereto, to which reference is hereby made. Statements
made in this Prospectus as to the contents of any contract, agreemeat or other document are not necessarily
complete; with respect to each contract, agreement or other document filed as an exhibit to the Registration
Statement with respect to the Senior Notes Offering, reference is made to the exhibit for a more complete
description of the matter involved.

The Company will be subject to the periodic reporting and other informational requirements of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act™), and in accordance therewith will file
reports and other information with the Commission. The Registration Statement with respect to the Senior
Notes Offering and the exhibits thereto as well as the periodic reports, proxy statements and other information
filed by the Company with the Commission may be inspected and copied at the public reference facilities
maintained by the Commission at Room 1024, 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549, or at its
regional offices located at Northwestern Atrium Center, 500 West Madison Street, Suite 1400, Chicago,
Illinois 60661, and Seven World Trade Center, 13th Floor, New York, New York 10048. Copies of such
material can be obtained from the public reference section of the Commission at 450 Fifth Street, N.W.,
Washington, D.C. 20549, at prescribed rates. As long as the Company is subject to such periodic reporting and
informational requirements, it will furnish all reports and other information required thereby to the
Commission and will furnish copies of such reports and other information to the Trustee. The Company
agrees, so long as the Senior Notes remain outstanding, to continue to file reports under Section 13 or 15(d) of
the Exchange Act. The Company will also make such reports available to prospective purchasers of the Senior
Notes, securities analysts and broker-dealers upon their request.

The Company will have securities listed on the New York Stock Exchange. Reports, proxy statements

and other information concerning the Company can also be inspected at the offices of the New York Stock
Exchange, 20 Broad Street, New York, New York, 10006.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Board of Directors of AK Management Corporation:

We bave audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Armco Steel Company, L.P. and
Subsidiaries as of December 31, 1991, 1992 and 1993 and the related consolidated statements of operations
and partners’ capital (deficit) and of cash flows for each of the four years in the period ended December 31,
1993. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our °
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based upon our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statemeats are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statemeats. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall consolidated financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable ba.us
for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company at December 31, 1991, 1992 and 1993 and the results of its operations and its cash .
flows for each of the four years in the period ended December 31, 1993 in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles.

As discussed in Note S to the consolidated financial statements, in 1993 the Company changed its
method of accounting for retiree health care and life insurance benefits to conform with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 106 and, retroactively, restated its 1990, 1991 and 1992 financial
statements for the change.

Deloitte & Touche
Cincinnati, Ohio
January 26, 1994.



ARMCO STEEL COMPANY, L.P.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, 1991, 1992 and 1993
(dollars in millions)

ASSETS

Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 1) .......ccvvvvnrencansnnnnes
Accounts and notes receivable (Note 3):

Trade (less allowance for doubtful accounts of $2.5,
$2.7 and $4.5 for 1991, 1992 and 1993, respectively) .........

Other receivables .......cv0eeee ctecsesesscncienn
Total accounts and notes receivable..ccvevercrecnaenas crecenes
Inveatories (Notes 1 and 3)........... Cessseserecitettstcanns
Other current assetS....ccevees tesetessesaavactttanssansnana .

Total Current ASSEtS «oovceeerreccecescosesassccsssasesasscsane

Investments (Note 1):
Investment in Eveleth (net of impairment of $46.6 for 1992 and
1993 — NOte 8) cvvvrrerannentnsesocetsaassesscanas

Investment in SOS (Notes 1 and 11).........cccvvveccnrannnne

Other...... A cesrsene
Total InvestmentS . occvveeeroreccccrrssssccsonsnscens
Property, plant and equipment (Notes 1 and 3):

Land, land improvements and leascholds ....cccccc0n. cerencas .

Buildings ....oooeetteccesnctsecntsesesssasascssensanes

Machinery and equipment ......cci000000000ns cesseee tereneae

Construction in Progress .....cccceseeeeas tetessssesesacennana
Total ..ccecennnannns tesesesacsancas
Less accumulated depreciation...... Cteeesccesestssencranstanaae
Property, plant and equipment — Net..............
Other (NOtE 5) .vccvienecencrocssssesscascsansssssssscessans

1991 1992 1993
$ 138 0§ 12 0§ 1442
1011 125.4 1313
26.7 13.0 14.1
1278 1384 151.4
3240 276.6 255.1
21 12 3.3
4611 417.4 554.0
492 - -
- 20.1 2.7
10.5 36.2 22.1
59.7 56.3 48
454 420 404
92.6 80.6 80.1
1,0396  1,033.1  1,05.5
821 25.7 3.1
12597 LisL4 1217
199.8 272.6 344.9
1,059.9 908.3 872.2
455 45 411
$16328 $14250  $13187

See notes 10 consolidated financial stateménts.
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ARMCO STEEL COMPANY, L.P.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 1991, 1992 and 1993
(dollars in millions)

LIABILITIES AND PARTNERS' CAPITAL (DEFICIT)

L]} 19 1
Current Liabilities: "
Notes payable (Note 3) ....... . . 1.7 1] — -—
Overdrafts payable ....cccoeivienennncennnann cresesesseaseas . 66 0§ 543 0§ 528
Accounts payable:
Tmeo-o--.-oo-l-onc'|oo.oolno.-olIccocn..co'uolonctuoco m.s 8208 101.8
other ooooooooo 0 €0 080000 R0E080CCV0TRsOROORORORAOSTOORONCOOREOEETDRTODS 18-8 24.6 l7o9
Total accounts payable ......... cesecsarreanaanes cerecerenens 109.6 1074 119.7
Accrued salaries, wages and commiSSionS.....c.voveecerrecsasans 404 32.5 35.8
Otheramak (Nomzsmd’) 90 000000000000 00000000 000000 132.8 13305 157.3
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 3) ...ccvuveceennnens . 4.2 104.6 130.8
Tom‘cumtl‘hbiliﬁll.l.l..ll..'lll.ll.ll..ll.ll........l' 39106 432‘3 496'1
Long-term debt (Note 3) ...ccvveienecrerinrnnnnacannncnenans . 497.9 563.3 598.6
Deferred income taxes (NOt€ 2) vivcevvsenccccansccossscasssenns 109 0.1 0.2
Other liabilities (Notes 5 and 9) . ccccveerecencccroccnscsnccsenss 659.1 879.0 1,008.0
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 3, 1and 1) — -— —

Total Liabilities ..vccveveeeccciscstancesesaccesssscesssccances  1,559.8 1,874.7 2,1029
Partners’ Capital (Deficit) (lm xecexvabla from affiliates of 317.6

$16.5 and $16.5 for 1991, 1992 and 1993, respectively) (Notes 1, § '

1T, ) T 733 (449.7) (584.2)

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND PARTNERS' CAPITAL (DEFICIT) $1,632.8  $1,4250  $1,518.7

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ARMCO STEEL COMPANY, LP.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND PARTNERS' CAPITAL (DEFICIT)
For the Years Ended December 31, 1990, 1991, 1992 and 1993

(dollars in millions)

Net Sales:
CUSIOMETS . o cvvveerreecnnronnoas cersenaas Ceearrerenas
Affiliates (Note 6) ......cce00eunes verecns Ceesestescanns
Total Net Sales ........ teessrecannns erseevesesserestaane
Operating Costs:

Cost of products sold (Notes 1 and 10) ...ccivvvenecennens
Selling and administrative expenses (Note 6) ..............

Depreciation and amortization (Note 1) ..............
Special charges and unusual items (Note 8) .............0.
Total Operating Costs ........coo0veesccncencanas
Operating Profit (Loss).....c.vveeeeciireeccsaccascacnsans
Other (Income) Expense:
Interest expense (Note 3) ....cccveeneccen ceeesstcsasene
Royalty income .......ccocoeeenrenrcccnces
Mismulnmothﬂ—net nnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnn esersevencece
Total Other Expense ......cccoeetneciecnncccsceccsasanee
Loss Before Income Tmes. Extraordinary Item and
Accounting Change .......cec00unee
Benefit for Income 'l‘uu (Note2)...oceeeneaeannss
Net Loss before Extraordinary Item and Accounting Change ...
Extraordinary Item (Note 9) ..cocvveeccncconcssasancncanan
Cumulative Effect of Chanﬁm Aceounung for Certain
Postretirement Benefits (Note §) ...... ceeeesstensnans
NetLoss............ tetessesssscssssseanan esesssanas
Partners’ Capital (Deficit), BegmmngBalanee essssssssssssse
Distribution 0o partners .....ceveeocaescenss
Additional capital contributions ........c.ce00nnccnsoncens

Asset adjustment due to ownership change ......ccc000000ens
Ch to record a minimum Accumulated Benefit
6%1?83&“ (NO'BS) dascevencsccccn essssssscsnes s sesssese

Partners’ Capital (Deficit), Ending Balance........ccceeeeens

19%0 1991 1992 199

$1,315.6 $1,211.6 $1,2926 $1,458.3
101.2 89.8 111.9. 136.2

14168 13014 14045 1,594.5

1,284.5 11,3034 1318:6 1,3783
1338 1344 1186 1092
728 826 813 1.5
- — 33 196
1491.1 _1.5204 19038 1,580.6

(743) (2190) (499.3) 13.9

243 408 464 s8I
(39) (46) (50) (3.8)
(1.1) 1.4 1.9 0.3

19.3 37.6 43.3 54.6

(93.6) (256.6) (542.6) (40.7)
(3.5) __ (55) __(106) =

(90.1) (25L1) (5320) (40.7)
- - (121) -

—{491.6) = = =
(58L.7) (251.1) (544.1) (40.7)
700.7 189.4 733 (449.7)
(14.8) (1.5) - -
70.0 115.1 2L.1 19.4
152 214 — -—

- — 113.2
S 189.4 $ 733 §(449.7) § [5842)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ARMCO STEEL COMPANY, L.P.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31, 1990, 1991, 1992 and 1993
(dollars In milllons)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACT IVITIES
NetLossS .cecveneenennn Ceeteasesrenereranarssanearoe

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash Gows from
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization .....c.ccceneetancenases
Blast furnace reline amortization ....cccooeveevsee.
Special charges and unusual items ....................
Other — et . icevviiinnsresscasrsncenassassancases
Changes in Assets and Liabilities:
Accounts receivable . ... c0iienanes
Inventories ........ Cecescstesssacsssesnnroanonns
Current liabilities .............. ceevsetsnrsecnsene
Om“ms e 0 S ss NSO POORIENPISOSRRNsb IR N NN NN NI
Other liabilities....... cevecsaacessrsresesssaseans

TomAdjmmen” lllll fe GO CRLIPNOOPOEONESED S0 av oo LN ]
NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES...c.ccvierannnnssencsescncesanncsnns
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Capital expenditures ....... teeteesasnestastasracsonns
Other —Bet ..ccurenereercrncscccaencasensssonsscens

NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Principal payments on long-term debt........
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt ...............
Changes in notes payable ......ccccen0nvecene cresrsene
Change in overdrafts payable ............ tescecssasaee .
Partners’ contributions = 0et .ceevvvvescccccscnncancass
othet—netoo---. ---------------- ®ecestccssssconcne
NET CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
Aamnm..llillll...‘. .......... [ NN NENNENNNNN) L]

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS .....cc00eevtcosccccnscnncs

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period .c...cve0ee

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period ......cc0en.....
Supplemental disclosare of cash Sow Information:
Cash paid during the period for:

Interest (net of amount capitalized) ..........
INCOME tAXES cevvcveerccncsnacasnonsansans

1 o v
S(S8LT)  S(SL1)  S(544.1) $ (40.7)
72.8 82.6 87.3 73.5
6.4 48 43 4.5
- - 3793 196
19.6 260 354 411
213 40  (26)  (147)
(999) 590 414 184
43.6 27 407) 329
(5.9) 18 (1.5)  (6.8)
(3.1) (55)  (107) 0.1
465.1 1.9 234  _(35.1)
5205 _2023 5016 1395
(612) _ (488) _ (42.5 98.8
(211.8)  (163.0)  (862)  (402)
74 109 _ (16.0) 1.4
(2044) _(1523) _(1022) _ (328)
(349)  (380)  (442)  (1046)
196 2082 100 1660
1230  (650)  (58.0)
(132) (1) 416 (1.4)
552 1055 190 194
(19) 23) (23) (2.4)
_24718 _2053 1321 71.0
(17.8) 43 (126) 140
273 9.5 138 1.2
$ 95 S 138 $ 12 § 1442
e — ——— ]
I pm m pm
$215  $383  $447  $528
s ol o1 ol

See notes 10 consolidated financial staeinenu.
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ARMCO STEEL COMPANY, L.P.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollars in millions)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation — Armco Steel Company, L.P. (the “Company”) is a limited pannership formed
pursuant to an agreement dated as of March 24, 1989 (the “Joint Venture Agreement”) between Armco Inc.
("Armco”) and Kawasaki Steel Corporation (“Kawasaki”). The general partner of the Company is
AK Management Corporation (the “General Partner”), a Delaware corporation owned one-half by each of
AJV Investments Corp., a2 Delaware corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of Armco and KSCA,
Incorporated, a Delaware corporation and indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Kawasaki. The limited partners
of the Company are Armco and Kawasaki Steel Investments, Inc., a Delaware corporation and indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of Kawasaki (*KSI”).

Under the Joint Venture Agreement, on May 13, 1989, Armco sold certain assets, properties and business
of its Eastem Steel Division (“Predecessor”) to KSI for $350.0. Simultaneously, KSI contributed the
purchased assets, properties and business to the Company in exchange for a 39.5% limited partnership interest.
Armco transferred to the Company substantially all of the remaining assets, properties and business of
Predecessor and the Company also assumed certain of Armco's liabilities and obligations related to or arising
out of Predecessor and its properties, assets and the conduct of Predecessor business for a 59.5% limited
partnership interest. On May 14, 1990, KSI made a cash contribution to the Company of $70.0. On May 13,
1991 and October 4, 1991, KSI contributed another $70.0 and $33.8, respectively. The latter contribution was
in satisfaction of its obligation to make an additional $35.0 capital contribution on March 15, 1992, without
any change in its limited partnership interest. As a result of these contributions, on May 14, 1990, KSI's
limited partnership interest increased to 44.5% with a corresponding reduction in Armco’s interest and on
May 13, 1991, KSI's limited partnership interest increased, and Armco’s limited partnership interest
decreased, to 49.5%. The General Partner has a 1.0% general partnership interest in the Company.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Company include the net assets acquired at
formation from Armco and Kawasaki on the basis of Armco's and Kawasaki’s historical cost, and the changes
in the net assets of the Company subsequent to the formation, and the results of operations, partners’ capital
(deficit) and the cash flows for the periods since inception on such historical cost basis, Kawasaki’s historical
cost was based on the purchase price paid on May 13, 1989 by Kawasaki for its 40% interest in the net assets
of the Company. Armco’s historical cost is based on the book value of net assets contributed on May 13, 1989
by Armco for its 60% interest in the Company, adjusted for changes resulting from the 5% reductions in
limited partnership interest effective May 14, 1950 and May 13, 1991.

The Company consists of the operations and accounts of the Middletown Works, Ashiand Works,
Headquarters and ASC Investments, Inc. and its group of wholly-owned subsidiaries, (the “ASCII group”).
With plants in Middletown, Ohio, and Ashland, Kentucky, the Company provides coated, high strength, low
carbon flat-rolied steels to the sutomotive, appliance, construction, and service center markets primarily in the
Midwest. The Company had one major customer that accounted far 23.0%, 27.9%, 23.0% and 22.5% of its net
sales in 1990, 1991, 1992 and 1993, respectively. .

Armco and Kawasali agreed to share a portion of the 1992 Special Charges and Unusual Items
(see Note 8) unequally with Armco being allocated 74.5%, Kawasaki 24.5% and the General Partner 1.0%.

On August 31, 1992, the Company acquired a 50% ownership interest in Southwestern Ohio Steel, L.P.
(SOS), a joint venture to which substantially all of the businesses of Southwestern Ohio Steel, Inc. and SOS
Leveling Company, Inc. were transferred by Armco. The Company’s interest in SOS was funded through
capital contributions from Kawasaki, in the form of cash of §11.1, and from Ammco, in the form of a 25%

ownership interest in SOS with an estimated fair value of $11.1.
F-7



ARMCO STEEL COMPANY, L.P.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
(dollars in millions)

Inventories — Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. The cost of the majority of
inventories is measured on the last in, first out (LIFO) method. Other inventories are measured principally at
average cost. ' '

December 31, December 31, .. December 31,
1991 1992 1993

Inventories on LIFO:

Finished and semifinished............. $251.6 $210.4 $191.7
Raw materials and supplies..... Cesenas 103.3 103.5 80.5
Adjustment to state inventories at LIFO
VAIUG ...cvvvrncescacnsctnsncnnans (41.3) (46.3) (23.7)
Total ...covvevnenns cerrecernans 3136 267.6 248.5
Other inventories ......cocoveeveeacss 10.4 9.0 6.6
Total inventories........cc.ueee $324.0 $276.6 $255.1
— L —— ] E———

Liquidation of LIFO inventory layers caused by certain inventory reductions reduced the net Josses in
1992 and 1993 by $2.6 and $10.4, respectively.

Investments — Virginia Horn Taconite Company, a member of the ASCII group (“Virginia Hom"),
owns a 56% share of Eveleth Expansion Company (“Eveleth™), a company that produces iron ore pellets,
which equates to a 35% interest in Eveleth Mines. In connection with such investment, Virginia Hom has
certain commitments to Eveleth. Because Virginia Horn does not control Eveleth, the investment is accounted
for under the equity method (see Note 7).

The following summary financial information is the Company’s share of the net assets of SOS at
December 31, 1992 and 1993, Virginia Homn's share of the net assets of Eveleth at December 31, 1990, 1991,
1992 and 1993, and operating results of SOS for the four months ended December 31, 1992 and the year
ended December 31, 1993 and of Eveleth for the years of 1990, 1991, 1992 and 1993.

I s m pm
Current asSetS....ccooeereescccctcocnsscccnsssanss $29.1 $29 S46 $417
Noncurrent assets...... eeecesearncesasas I i X B4.1 91.7 874
Current liabilities ......ccccvveeennsanees R X | 174 229 25.6
Noncurrent liabilities .....ccococcetceseceeccecences 307 230 25.8 18.6
Netsales.......cco0cveeeansenae - 7 X 36.1 64.6 126.8
Gross margin «...cceccccescesersranasanans seseans 6.2 -— (2.4) 29.5
Net loss..... P (X)) (14.0) (15.1) (16.3)

Property, Plant and Equipment — Steelmaking plant and equipment are depreciated under the straight
line method over their estimated lives ranging from 2 to 31 years. Maintenance and repair expenses for 1990,
1991, 1992 and 1993 were $278.5, $267.1, $265.5 and $261.3, respectively.

Financial Instruments — The carrying value of the Company’s financial instruments does not differ
materially from their estimated fair value.

Cash Equivalents — Cash equivalents include short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and are of an original maturity of three months or less,

2. INCOME TAXES

The ASCII group will file a consolidated federal income tax return for the year ended December 31,
1993. No federal tax will be due for 1993 due to the incurrence of a consolidated 1993 loss.
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ARMCO STEEL COMPANY, LP.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
(dollars in millions)

Deferred federal income taxes in the accompanying Consohdated Balance Sheets relate to temporary
differences of the ASCII group, primarily differences between book and tax carmying values of the groups
investments in joint veatures. The ASCII group recorded a consolidated deferred tax benefit of $10.8 in 1992
which represents the net reduction during the year of the group's consolidated deferred 1ax liability.
No deferred tax charge or benefit was recorded in 1993,

The ASCII group has consolidated net operating loss (NOL) carryforwards into 1994 of $34.3 under the
“regular” tax system ($32.5 under the alternative minimum tax (AMT) sy's'lem) These NOLSs, if unused to
offset future consolidated taxable income of the ASCII group, will expire in 2006, 2007 and 2008. In addition,
Virginia Hom, one of ASCII's wholly-owned subsidiaries, has ‘available an NOL carryforward into 1994 of
$1.5 under the “regular” tax system ($1.7 under the AMT system). This carryforward, if unused to offset
future Virginia Hom taxable income, will expire in 2001. However, for federal income tax purposes, the
amount of NOL carryforwards arising prior to the Recapitalization which will annually be available to offset
taxable income following the Recapitalization may be restricted by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code.
As a result, the use of all or a significant portion of these NOL carryforwards may be deferred or disallowed.

The ASCII group adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 109, Accounting
for Income Taxes, effective January 1, 1993. The effect of this standard was not material

Other than for the ASCII group, the financial statements do not reflect U.S. federal income tax liabilities
because each of the partners’ U.S. federal income tax returns will include their appropriate share of the
Company’s taxable income or loss.

3. NOTES PAYABLE AND LONG-TERM DEBT

At December 31, 1993, the Company had agreements that provide credit facilities for borrowings up to
$50.0 with 2 group of banks on a revolving credit basis until May, 1994. At December 31, 1993, $3.8 letters of
credit were issued under these facilities. Under the terms of a Security Agreement between the Company and
its lenders, these credit facilities and the majority of the Company’s long-term debt are secured by a pool of
Company assets which includes accounts receivable, inventories, and property, plant and equipment. The
terms of the Security Agreement will permit additional financings, which are yet to be negotiated, of up to
$254.0 through 1995 to be secured by the pledged assets.

At December 31, 1993, the Company also had a $100.0 unsecured term loan, maturing in 1996, with an
affiliate of Kawasaki, The Company bas incurred interest expense and commitment fees to an affiliate of
Kawasak of $2.1, $2.4, $1.3 and $4.2 during 1950, 1991, 1992 and 1993, respectively, relating to borrowings
under the revolving credit agreement and the unsecured term loan.

On January 18, 1994, the Company’s various lenders agreed to amendments to the revolving credit
agreements and long-term debt agreemeats to revise certain financial covenants effective as of December 31,
1993. The Company is required to maintain as of December 31, 1993 a minimum tangible net worth of $650.0,
a minimum current ratio of 1.0 and a maximum leverage ratio of 1.0, as defined in the agreements.
At December 31, 1993, the Company’s actual measures under these financial covenants were a tangible net
worth of $742.1, a current ratio of 1.76 and a leverage ratio of 0.85.

In addition, on January 18, 1994 the Company entered into an agreement with certain of its lenders
whereby the maturity of a portion of its debt will be extended to May 31, 1995 in the event that the proposed
recapitalization described in Note 11 is not completed by May 1994 (the original maturity date of the debt).
As a result, $80.0 of debt has been classified as long-term at December 31, 1993.
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ARMCO STEEL COMPANY, L.P.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
(dollars in millions)

At December 31, 1991, 1992 and 1993, the Company's long-term debt, less current maturities, was as
follows:

mo m s

6.62% to 6.67% due 1994-1997(a) .......... ceesreens $160.0 52400 51800
7.27% t0 7.37% due 1994-2002(a) ........ teetisnenns 84.0 84.0 78.8
9.23% 10 9.38% due 1994-1997 .......... Cheeseaseans 73.6 $1.3 409
9.52% 10 9.57% due 19941999 .....cciiniiiininnannn 65.0 55.0 450
10.55% to 11.1% due 1994-1996 ..........eiveeenenes S18 378 23.8
9.26% t0 9.38% due 1994-2003 ...... ceessccssanseses 360 36.0 324
11.50% due 1994-1996(b) ........ccucns P ¥ X | 143 9.4
6.42% due 1994-2003 .. ... 0icvieecnncnnationnneaas 9.6 8.9 83
Floating rate due 1995(¢) ....cccceeene tecesesseease -— — 80.0
Hoatmgmeduel996(d) ......... -— 300 100.0
Other .....c.covevereiectiranciasacsasscscacananss 0.1 — -

Tom --------------------- eswens (X NN RN N R NN “97-9 s.’ 3598-6

(a) Rate fixed in 1992

(b) Debt secured by the No. ! Electrogalvanizing Line and a $15.0 letter of credit.
(¢) Debt with extended maturity to May 31, 1995.

(d) Unsecured subordinated term loan with an affiliate of Kawasaki.

At December 31, 1993, the maturities of long-term debt are as follows:

1994....cc000ninennen eessecscsesttsncsetcnannans cecesseccns $130.8
1995 ---------- R R R R R R R R RN N T I N m-s
1996...-.................... -------- Sseecsssesccccacnsns ecse 215.0
1991lot.lo'cl.o.l.o..lo..ll.l..|.0.!.OQ...!'Q!.!.II..I..I'. 93-2
L vesesensacsanas 2350
lmmmeﬂlfm --------------- eecssacccesnnnsscccn sscone . “06

Tom sevsesscccncsvevasacnes Gevesecsscecstcsscsssnsnsse (X 3729-‘

The Company capitalized interest on projects under construction of $12.6, §7.1, $3.5 and $1.2 during
1990, 1991, 1992 and 1993, respectively.

4. OPERATING LEASES
Rental expense was $9.7, $11.2, $14.6 and $10.1 for 1990, 1991, 1992 and 1993, respectively.

At December 31, 1993, obligations to make future minimum lease payments were as follows:

1994 .. ccccveicenensccataccecaes veseceressassssacusasacsannes $3.
I”SI Ssnsccecssssnnsonses sssssses ®ecsesssncsnnccse Sesssssesene
lmol.oo.cooo.nlo.a-uoo.no.oo.-un-- -------- Secscscccsoncs scee

lm.0vttl'-.-ltl00'l..o.l ...... (AR R R N AN NN NN NN XY

IIﬁGn_

Total lease obligations . .ccoeeccerecccarccsccccscsanssesanons

[ <
~3
&S

S. EMPLOYEE AND RETIREE BENEFIT PLANS

Pension Plans — The Company provides noncontributory pension beaefits to virtually all employees.
Benefits are based on years of service and earnings in the highest 60 consecutive months in the last 120 months
prior to retirement or a minimum amount per year of service, whichever is higher. The qualified plans are



ARMCO STEEL COMPANY, LP.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
(dollars in millions)

funded in accordance with the minimum funding requirements of the Employee Retirement Income Security
Act of 1974, as amended.
The details of the net periodic peasion expense for 1990, 1991, 1992 and 1993 are as follows:
B0 1 m
Economic Assumptions:

Discount rate....cooeicieeernrsnesssannenes Cetteenne 85% 90% 82% 85%
Expected long-term rate of xetum oD assets ......0cee. o 925% 975% 90% 9.25%
Rate of future compensation increases.....cceeeenvecsss 0% 50% S0% SO0%
Cost of benefits carned during the nod_ YIIITTIIRIL T . S$I181 $158 $152 $123
Interest cost on the projected benefit obligation ...... vees 62.6 67.1 696  80.7
Actual retum on plan assets ......ce0ecenens Cetiececnans ;B 0) (144.6) (36.3) (83.6)
Net amortization and deferml..... cececanniee Cereeadae . 97.6 194) 26.2
Net periodic pension expense ........cccevvtaanas . $37 3 $ 359 $29.1 § 356

The funded status of the plans at December 31, 1991, 1992 and 1993, using the assumptions stated below
for each period, was as follows:

o m om

Economic Assumptions:

DBOOII.Q‘I’I‘G Steesccsacsessecsaserae (AN EERE NN NNNNENNRN N 8.25* 8-5% 1.5%

Rateoffnm:eoompemaﬁonlncrwu ......... 5.0% 5.0% 4.0%
Actuarial present value of benefit obligations:

v“wd“neﬁul-oaoocnn.ooooontcc ooooo eessssenesse Tesae s.’“-s 386107 31.029.9

Nonvested beaefits............ . cecnnanae .« _ 60.6 45.6 54.1

Accumulated benefits ....cccvciniccaniacnnn cesasesase «« _805.4 907.3 1,084.0

Projected benefit obligation........c.cceuee. tecssaceses .. 8792 987.1 1,1184

Plan assets at fair value............. sececsssassenstasnns 671.8 688.4 726.3

Reconciliation of funded status to recorded amounts:
Unfunded projected benefit obligation....cco0veeervneeees. 2074 298.7 392.1

Unrecognized prior service ........ costectnctcanancnanans (604) (38.7) (35.4)
Unrecognized net loss ......... evsssea P ¢ X-) | (58.5) (147.4)
Accrued pension COBt......coiverenecssianaeniaseecens S110.5  $2015  $ 209.3

The mix of penuon assets held at December 31, 1993 was as follows:

Equities «.ccocvveccceccccncecs. 65% Fixed income securities .......... 34%
ShOI"m mﬂ’ﬂ“ -------- vees 1*

OfF the total accrued peasion cost of $110.5, $201.5 and $209.3 at December 31, 1991, 1992 and 1993,
respectively, $45.4, $24.9 and $56.6 are included in Other accruals, and $65.1, $176.6 and $152.7 are included
in Other liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The 1992 pension disclosures above include the effects on the Company’s pension plans of the Special
Charges and Unusual Items described in Note 8. The total loss resulting from the related curtailment and
special and contractual termination benefits amounted to $105.9.

A minimum Liability and corresponding intangible asset of $23.2, $25.9 and $35.2 at December 31, 1991,
1992 and 1993, respectively, was recognized for the excess of the accumulated benefit obligation over the total



ARMCO STEEL COMPANY, LP.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (coatinued)
(dollars in millions)

of plan assets and the accrued pension liability. These balances are included in Other liabilities and Other
assets, respectively, in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. In addition, a direct charge to equity
of $113.2 was recorded in 1993 primarily as a result of the reduction in the discount rate for peasion liabilities
from 8.5% to 7.5%. The corresponding credit is included in Other liabilities.

Retiree Health Care and Life Insurance Benefits— In addition to providing pension benefits, the
Company provides certain health and life insurance benefits for retirees. Most employees become eligible for
these benefits at retirement. The retiree health and life insurance benefits aré funded as claims are paid and for
1990, 1991, 1992 and 1993 the Company paid benefits totalling $24.2, $28.1, $29.7 and $32.2, respectively.

In December 1993, the Company adopted SFAS 106, “Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement
Benefits Other than Pensions,” retroactive to January 1, 1990. SFAS 106 requires the Company to accrue the
estimated cost of retiree benefit payments during the years the employee provides services. The Company
previously expensed the cost of these benefits, which are principally health care, as claims were incurred.
SFAS No. 106 allows recognition of the cumulative effect of this obligation in the year of the adoption or the
amortization of the obligation over a period of up to twenty years. The Company elected to recognize this
obligation immediately effective January 1, 1990 and recorded $491.6 as the cumulative effect of this charge.
The Company’s cash flows are not affected by implementation of this statement, but implementation
increased the operating loss by $23.8, $22.2 and $22.9 in 1990, 1991 and 1992, respectively, and decreased the
operating profit by $27.0 in 1993.

The Company is pmently paying for these plans from its general assets as the benefits become payable.
The Company does not anticipate funding these benefits in the foreseeable future. In 1990, 1991, 1992 and

1993, the Company recognized $48.0, $50.3, $52.6 and $59.2, respectively, as an expense for postretirement
health care and life insurance benefits. A special charge of $56.5 for retiree health care benefits associated

with restructuring and a voluntary salary reduction program was takea in the fourth quarter of 1992 (see
Note 8).

The following table sets forth the plans’ funded status, reconciled with amounts recognized in the
Company’s statement of financial position at December 31, 1991, 1992 and 1993,
m v by
Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation:
Retrees ...covceenscessscnns Cecsercsccnscssncnnsascsescesss $359.1 $410.8 $4424
Fullyel:pbleacuvephnpuuc:pln ctesescesesctccascsescccess 652 T46 4.1

o‘h“mmpm”ooooco-ao-.o-lco--oococnco.o..-.o 127-3 1‘5-6 IS‘J
Totll --------- 00 E00000000000000000000000 000000008000 0ccnss 551-6 631.0 670.6

FmvﬂuGOfPhnmu.. ----- Aasessacsscccesne @asesscseevansasnnsesns —

Accumulated postretirement benefit obligations in excess of
PlumIll....l...l......l...l....l.'...'ll.'ll..ll.lII. ssll‘ 631'0 670.6

Prior service cost not yet recognized in net periodic postretirement

meﬁtm 20000000 00000000CR000EC00E10000000000000c00TO0ES — — —
Ummmdﬁmoh“"ﬁm ee0000000E0Es0s0000000COORBREO0TS —-— — -
Unrewmdne“m.c--oo-'....n.. --------------------------- _— L nd !ll.’,
Accrued postretirement benefit cost .....ceveeranianians ceessseses $551.6 $631.0 $659.3



ARMCO STEEL COMPANY, L.P.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
. (dollars in millions)
% 1991 191 199

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost for 1990, 1991, 1992
and 1993 included the following components:

Service cost — benefits attributed to service during the

T £ 1S $ 60 $ 65 S 69 $69
Interest cost on accumulated postretirement benefit .

Obligations .......icieiiiiiieiiitietariiiieneaans 420 43.8 45.7 523
Actual return on aSSets .......c.cceintnanrasissanaans — - — -
Amortization of transition obligation ................... -— — —_ —

. For measurement purposes, health care costs are assumed to increase 10% in 1994 grading down by 1%
per year to a constant level of 4.5% annual increase for pre-65 benefits and 7% in 1994 grading down by 1% per
year to a constant level of 4.5% annual increase for post-65 benefits. A one (1) percentage point increase in
the assumed health care cost trend rate for each year would increase the accumulated postretirement benefit
obligation as of January 1, 1994 by $75.7 and the aggregate of the service cost and interest cost components of
net period benefit cost for the year then ended by $6.8. The weighted average discount rate used in
determining the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation was 7.5%.

The Company adopted SFAS 112, Employers’ Accounting for Postemployment Benefits, effective
January 1, 1993. Adoption of this standard did not have a material effect on the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

6. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During 1990, 1991, 1992 and 1993, the Company was party to certain transactions with Armco,
Kawasaki, and their affiliates. These transactions consisted of charges to and from the Company for various
services rendered and received, and are reflected primarily in Selling and administrative expenses in 1990,
1991 and 1992 and in Cost of products sold in 1993 in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of
Operations. The following is a summary of such related party services for the periods:

Services provided to Armco and affiliates by the Company:
I m v 1%

Data processing ....cccviiieraniiinneannes $49 $ 36 st $ 14
Administrative and accounting............... 24 19 0.9 0.7
Processing and conversion........cccecevenes 0.6 0.9 4.6 13.3
Purchasing and selling..........ccc0nnnnense 0.3 0.2 0.1 —
Total ...oiiiiiiieiiiinccencecnnannan $82 566 $87 S154
Services provided to the Company by Armco, Kawasaki and their affiliates:

Rescarch and engineering «..cccveveeeccaenns Si1L.1 SIl6 $98 S$40
Other.....ioiiviicencncnnnncnsasacannanss 1.8 2.5 0.3 0.8
Total ..cccvvivinaneanennanans ceeseses S129 S141  S10.1 S 48

m— —— m—— - ——

During 1990, 1991, 1992 and 1993, the Company purchased stainless steel from Armco. Such purchases
amounted to $7.5, $8.7, $15.3 and $20.2, respectively. Armco and its affiliates provided processing services and
other materials to the Company in the amount of $2.9, $3.9 and $2.0 for 1990, 1991 and 1992, respectively. No

such services were provided in 1993.

Sales to Armco, Kawasaki and their affiliates were $101.2, $89.8, $85.9 and $36.7 during 1990, 1991,
1992 and 1993, respectively, and sales to SOS were $26.0 for the four months ended December 31, 1992 and
. $99.5 for 1993. All of these amounts are included in Total Net Sales in the accompanying Consolidated
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ARMCO STEEL COMPANY, L.P.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
(dollars in millions)

Statements of Operations. Other miscellaneous sales to Armco, Kawasaki and their affiliates were $5.0, $2.5,
$1.7 and $0.7 during 1990, 1991, 1992 and 1993, respectively.

Under the Joint Venture Agreement, Armco is obligated to indemnify the Company for certain
supplemental uncmployment benefit payments up to a maximum of $20.0. As a result, the related receivables
are included as reductions in Partners’ Capital (Deficit) in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

7. COMMITMENTS

Virginia Hom is committed to fund its percentage share of certain deﬁned fixed costs of Eveleth, Through
an agreement with Armco the Company has assumed Armco's obligations relating to Virginia Homm which
include a guarantee of Virginia Hom's performance to the other participants of Eveleth Mines. Under
agreement with another owner of Eveleth, the Company purchased 300,000 tons of iron ore from this Eveleth
partner in 1993 and is expected to purchase at least 250,000 tons per year through 1996. Beginning in the
fourth quarter of 1992, Virginia Horn elected not to nominate to purchase equity iron ore pellets from Eveleth.
As a result of that decision together with doubts regarding the continued level of support by the Eveleth Mines
partaers, in light of worldwide excess iron ore capacity and Eveleth Mines’ position as a high cost producer,
the Company concluded that its ability to recover its investment was doubtful and therefore impaired its
investment in Eveleth Mines (see Note 8). However, the Company continues to record and fund its
proportionate share of Eveleth's fixed costs, which share amounts to approximately $12.0 per year,

As of December 31, 1993, the Company had agreed to purchase a total of 1.6 million tons of iron ore
pellets from a Brazilian iron ore company through 1998. Under this contract, the Company also has agreed to
purchase sinter feed ore requirements. In addition, the Company has agreed to purchase at least 6.5 million
tons through 1997 from a North American pellet producer.

The Company has committed to purchase property, phnt and equipment (including unexpended
amounts relating to projects substantially under way) mountmg to approximately $74.8 at December 31,
1993.

8. SPECIAL CHARGES AND UNUSUAL ITEMS
The special charges and unusual items recorded in 1992 and 1993 are:

Shutdown of Ashland Hot Strip Mill:
Disposal of assets(2) .....ccceereecnnccnroacsccsssnsseansnns $ 23
Employee and retiree benefits including pensions .............. _13.7
Subtotal — Shutdown of Ashland Hot Strip Mill ........  16.0-
Reduction of Salaried Workforce....cccocerrectrocnacccasaees 390

Restructuring of Facilities:

Dupaalmdwnte-oﬂ'ofeeﬂainsmlmakingaseu(a) cevsesees 1172 § 76
Employee and retiree benefits mcludmg pensions ....i.cce000n 144.5 5.0
Environmental Liabilities .......ccciceeueacnnnens cecestteces 11.0 -—
Impairment of investment in Eveleth ........c.ccveeenneenen 46.6 -
Other..... Cetetiscessttesenseseasecnrastoanns cesseeseses 5.0 -
Subtotal — Restmcmnng of Fwilma ..... teseessresaes 3243 12.6

Legal, litigation and other........ccecniecencncnccienncennse -— 7.0
TOTAL...coteeeiesssesssessasesssssasscasannssnes $379.3 $ 196

. S ————

(a) Net of estimated realizable values.
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ARMCO STEEL COMPANY, L.P.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
(dollars In millioas)

9. EXTRAORDINARY ITEM
The extraordinary item recorded in 1992 represents the following:

“The Coal Industry Retirce Health Benefit Act” requires that health benefits for.any pre-1976 retirees
who were previously covered by one of two insolveat United Mineworkers multi-employer welfare funds revert
to their former employers. Retirees of employers that no longer exist are also assigned to surviving companies
using a formula included in the legislation. The Company was required to assume a portioa of their beaefits
and recorded an extraordinary loss of $12.1 of which $1.2 and $0.9 are included in Other accruals and $10.9
and $11.9 in Other liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 1992 and
1993, respectively.

10. LITIGATION AND CONTINGENCIES

There are various claims pending involving the Company with respect to matters arising out of the
conduct of the business. The total liability related to these claims at December 31, 1993 cannot be determined;
however, in management’s opinion, the ultimate liability resulting from such claims will not materially affect
the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In June 1990, the Company filed an antitrust action against several companies. Effective February 25,
1992, the Company reached a confidential settlement with three of the four remaining defendants. The
settlement reduced 1992 Cost of products sold in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations.
The Company is continuing to pursue the claim against the remaining defendant.

11. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 13, 1994, the General Partner approved the filing with the Securities and Exchange
Commission of registration statements in connection with a proposed recapitalization of the Company.

The Company is currently negotiating for the sale of its ownership interest in SOS and another subsidiary
of ASCIL No prediction can be made conceming the ultimate outcome of such negotiations which, if
successful, would be subject to other eveats including the approval by the Company’s Board of Directors.
However, the ultimate sale, if any, will not result in a loss.



e ——————

No dealer, salesman or other person has
been authorized to give any Information or
to make any representation not contained in
this Prospectus and, If given or made, such
Information or representation must not be
relied upon as having been authorized by
the Company or any Underwriter. This Pro-
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PART II
INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN THE PROSPECTUS

Item 13. Other Expenses of Distribution.

The following table sets forth an estimate of the expenses that will be incurred by the Registrants in
connection with the distribution of the securities being registered hereby:

SEC registration fee ......coveiiriiiiiiiiisiiiiiiietiiiiiiiiiiinia., $94,828
NASD fling fees .....cocviniiirianeeierncssrenssseassenconanonss s 28,000
Blue Sky fees and expenses® .......cooviieeananaanns Ceesteectnainnanns b
Printing, engraving and postage fees® ......cocucveeiannans ceeertstsiaanes . oe
Transfer Agent and Registrar’s fees® ..... Cetteciersensenas tiveveanncnns i
Legal fees and eXpenses® .. ..cceveeeveecsosnsocsorrecesssrcncnacnsanes se
Accounting fees and expenses® ....... tetescscacsesesnsonte cesesearnsas ee
Miscellaneous® ........cocc0eneees ceteenenaens Secsescsostantaccancns o

Total®.......... ceeerenes Cessretscrcnsisnaccerstraantnanns § ¢

® Estimated

*¢ To be filed by amendment

Item 14. Indemnificztion and Limitation of Liability of Directors and Officers.

Generally, Section 145 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “GCL") permits 2
corporation to indemnify certain persons made a party 0 an action, by reason of the fact that such person is or
was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation or is or was serving at the request of the
corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation or enterprise. In the case of an
action by or in the right of the corporation, 20 indemnification may be made in respect of any matter as to
which that person was adjudged liable for negligence or misconduct in the performanee of that person’s duty
to the corporation unless the Delaware Court of Chancery or the court in which the action was brought
determines that despite the adjudication of liability that person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity
for proper expenses. To the extent that person has been successful in the defense of any mtter. that person
shall be indemnified against expenses actually and reasonably incurred by him.

Section 102(b)(7) of the GCL enables a Delaware corporation to include a provision in its eemﬁcate of
incorporation limiting a director’s liability to the corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for
breaches of fiduciary duty as a director. The Registrants have adopted a provision in its Certificate of
Incorporation that provides for indemnification of its officers and directors to the full extent permitted under
Delaware law.

Item 15. Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities.

None.

Item 16. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.
(a) Exhibits '

The following is a complete list of Exhibits filed as part of this Registration Statement, which are
incorporated herein:

Exhiblt
Number Descriptios

1.1  Form of Underwriting Agreement.®

3.1  Cenificate of Incorporation of Holding, filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware
on December 20, 1993, as amended.

3.2 By-laws of Holding.

* To be filed by amendment.
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Exhibit
Number
33

34
4.1
4.2

4.3

44

4.5
4.6
4.7
4.8
4.9

s.l
10.1

-10.2
10.3
104
10.5
10.6
10.7
10.8

10.9

Description

Amended and Restated Centificate of Incorporation of AK Steel filed with the Secretary of State
of the State of Delaware on , 1994,

By-laws of AK Steel®

Form of Indenture relating to the Senior Notes.*

Term Loan Agreement, dated as of ], between the Company and Dai-Ichi Kangyo
Bank Limited, New York Branch.® .

Term Loan Agreement, dated [ , 1988], between Armco Inc. and Nissho Iwai American

Corporation, as assumed by the Company and amended on June 30, 1989 and as amended on
( , 1994].°

Loan Agreement, dated July 27, 1989, among the Company, C. Itoh & Co., The Bank of Tokyo,
and The Long-Term Credit Bank of Japan, Ltd., as amended on March 18, 1991, January 29,
1992, January 24, 1993 and [ , 1994].*

Loan Agreement, dated as of { ' ], between [ and ]{No. 1
EGL Loan).*

Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of May 1, 1992 between the Company and the Bank of
Tokyo Trust Company, as amended on March 29, 1993 and [ . 1994).¢

Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of May 1, 1992 between the Company and The Sakura
Bank, Limited, as amended on March 29, 1993 and ( » 1994].°

Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of May 1, 1992 between the Company and The Long-
Term Credit Bank of Japan, Ltd,, as amended on March 29, 1993 and ( » 1994].¢

Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of May 1, 1992 between the Company and The Dai-Ichi
Kangyo Bank, Limited, as amended on March 29, 1993 and [ » 1994).¢

Opinion of Weil, Gotshal & Manges with respect to the legality of the Senior Notes.®

Limited Partnership Agreement, dated as of March 24, 1989, by and among AK Management
Corporation, Kawasaki Steel Investments, Inc. and Armco Inc., as amended on May 9, 1989,

Joint Venture Formation Agreement, dated March 24, 1989, between Armeo Inc. and Kawasaki
Steel Corporation.

Second Stainless Steel Toll Rolling Services Agreement, dated as of December 28, 1993 between
Armco Steel Company, L.P. and Armco Inc.

Coal Sales Agreement, dated as of June 1, 1993, by and between Peabody Coalsales Complny
and Armco Steel Company, L.P.

Pellet Supply Agreemeat, dated November 22, 1993 between Armco Steel Company, L.P. and
Cyprus Northshore Mining Corporation.

Transportation ‘Agreement, dated January 9, 1957 between Armco Steel Corporation and The
Columbia Transportation Company, as amended.

Railroad Transportation Agreement, Contract Number CSXT-C-62521, dated as of October 11,
1993 by and between Armco Steel Company, L.P. and CSX Transportation, Inc.

Transportation Agreement, dated as of April 1, 1982, between Armco Inc. and The Toledo Ore
Railroad Company, as amended.

Railroad Transportation Contract, Contract Number CSXT-C-632185, dated as of { )
between Armco Steel Company, L.P. and CSX Transportation, Inc.*

* To be filed by amendment.
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Exhiblt
Number Dualgtl

10.10  Restated Modified Term Partnership Operating Agreement, dated as of January 1, 1991 among
Eveleth Expansion Company, Onco Eveleth Company, Ontario Eveleth Company and Virginia
Hom Taconite Company.

10.11  Eveleth Mines Restated Modified Term Management Agreement, dated as of January 1, 1991,
among Eveleth Taconite Company, Eveleth Company and Oglebay Norton Company.

10.12 Restated Modified Term Pellet Sales Agreement, dated as of January 1, l991 between
Oaco Eveleth Company and Armco Steel Company, L.P.

10.13  Board Designation and Standstill Agreement, dated as of [ » 1994] between the
Company and Kawasaki Steel Corporation.®

10.14  Side Letter, dated as of » 1994] among the Company. Kawasah Steel Corporation and
Nissho Iwai Corporation.®

10.15 Employment Contract, dated { ], between the Company and Thomas C. Graham.*

10.16 Form of Severance Contract for President and Vice Presidents.

10.17 Proposed form of Annual Management Incentive Plan of the Company.

10.18 Proposed form of AK Steel Holding Corporation 1994 Stock Incentive Plan.®

10.19 Form of AK Steel Holding Corporation Executive Minimum and Supplemental Retirement Plan.

21.1  List of Subsidiaries of the Registrants,

23.1  Consent of Deloitte & Touche and Report on Schedules.

23.2  Consent of Weil, Gotshal & Manges (included in the opinion filed as Exhibit 5.1).®

24.1  Power of Attorney (included on the signature page of this part IT).®

* To be filed by Amendment,
(b) Financial Statement Schedules:

Description _ Pape
Schedule V — Property, Plant and Equipment......ccoiviiiiiiiecnnniinnaiieniaaa, S-1
Schedule VI — Accumulated, Depreciation Depletion and Amortization of Property, Plant

and Equipment .. ..ccceveeectinccccncareccnanns Cesesesecestttetcanttnseannane S-2
smmem—sw-r@mm et eesresvcecens Secessscsccennvssans tesescssnnsase S'J

Item 17. Undertakings.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Act may be permitted to directors, officers and
controlling persons of the Registrants pursuant to the provisions in Item 14 above, or otherwise, the
Registrants have been advised that in the opinion of the Securitics and Exchange Commission such
indemnification is against public policy as expressed in such act and is, therefore, unenforcesble. In the event
that a claim for indemnification against such Liabilities (other than the payment by the Registrants of expenses
incurred or paid by a director or officer or controlling person of the Registrant in the successful defense of any
action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the
securities being registered, the Registrants will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled
by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question of whether such
indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in such act and will be governed by the final

adjudication of such issue.
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The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes that:

(1) For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act, the information omitted from the
form of prospectus filed as part of this registration statement in reliance upon Rule 430A and contained in a
form of prospectus filed by the registrants pursuant to Rule 424(b) (1) or (4) or 497(h) under the Securities
Act shall be deemed to be part of this registration statement as of the time it was declared effective.

(2) For the purpase of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each post-effective
amendment that contains a form of prospectus shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to
the securities offered therein, and this offering of such securities at that time shall be dsemed to be the initial
bona fide offering thereof.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the rﬁquiremem of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the registrant has duly caused
this Registration Statement on Form S-1 to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized in the City of Middletown, State of Ohio, on January 25, 1994.

AK STEEL CORPORATION

By: /s/ THOMAS C. GRAHAM
Thomas C. Graham
President and -
Chief Executive Officer

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and
appoints Thomas C. Graham and Mark W. Kontos, and each of them, such person’s true and lawful attorneys-
in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and revocation, for such person and in such person’s name,
place and stead, in any and all capacities to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective
amendments to this Registration Statement) and to file the same with all exhibits thereto, and the other
documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said
attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act
and things requisite and necessary to be done, as fully to all intents and purposes as such person might or could
do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and ageats or any of them, or their
or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue thereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, this Registration Statement and
the foregoing Power of Attomney have been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates
indicated.

Siguature Tith Dats
s/ THOMAS C. GRAHAM President and Chief January 25, 1994
Thomas C. Grabam . Executive Officer; Director
Is/ MArx W. KONTOS Vice President; January 25, 1994
Mark W. Koatos: Chief Financial Officer
/s/ EDWARD L. HARE Controller January 25, 1994
Edward L. Hare (Chief Accounting Officer)
/s/ JaMes F. WLL Director January 25, 1994
James F.
Is/ Kann EMOTO Director January 25, 1994
Kanji Emoto
1s/ DaviD G. HARMER Director January 25, 1994
avid G. Harmer




Slﬂuu

Is/ JOHN B. CoreY
John B. Corey
/s/ KINYA YAMAGUCHI
Kinya Yamaguchi
/s/ TADAAKI YANAZAWA
Tadsaki Yanazaws
II-6

Director

Director

Director

Ttk

January 25, 1994

January 25, 1994

January 25, 1994



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the registrant has duly caused
this Registration Statement on Form S-1 to be signed on its bebalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized in the City of Middletown, State of Ohio, on January 25, 1994.

AK STEEL HOLDING CORPORATION

By: /s/ THOMAS C. GRAHRAM
Thomas C. Graham
President and.
Chief Executive Officer

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS that each person whose signature appeaxs below constitutes and
appoints Thomas C. Graham and Mark W. Kontos, and each of them, such person’s true and lawful attomeys-
in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and revocation, for such person and in such person's name,
place and stead, in any and all capacities to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective
amendments to this Registration Statement) and to file the same with all exhibits thereto, and the other
documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said
attorneys-in-fact and agents, and cach of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act
and things requisite and necessary to be done, as fully to all inteats and purposes as such person might or could
do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of them, or their
or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue thereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as unended. this Registration Statement and
the foregoing Power of Attomey have been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates
indicated.

- Siguaters Tite Dats
Is! THOMAS C. GRAHAM President and Chief January 25, 1994
Thomas C. Grabam Executive Officer; Directar
Is/ MARK W. KoNnTOS Vice Presideat; January 25, 1994
Muk W, Koatos Chief Financial Officer
and Treasurer
Is] Epwarp L. Hare Controller January 25, 1994
Edward L. Hare (Chief Accounting Officer)
Is/ JaMES F. WiLL Director January 25, 1994
James F. Wil : .
Is/ Kann EMoro Director January 25, 1994
Km' Emoto



SCHEDULE V

ARMCO STEEL COMPANY, LP.
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Dollars in Millions)
Columa A Columa B Columa C Columa D Collm E Colume F
Balasce Balance
Beginaiag Additons Olbc - ot Ead
Classification of Perlod at Cost Retiremesnts Chaoges of Period
For the Year ended December 31, 1990: .
Land, land improvements and
feasebolds......coovvunees cavess $ 423 $ 13 $ 02 $ 03 (B) $ 4.7
nundil" ------------ eseccvssccsce “-o llno 003 6-, ‘B) 85.‘
Machinery and equipment....... .o 5699 165.3 0.8 137 (A) 2615
192 (B)
02 (C)
Construction in progress ........... 193.4 354 — (26.4)(B) 202.4
TOTAL .....ccovvennees weees $ B73.6 $213.0 $ 13 $ 139 $1.099.2
For the Year ended December 31, 1991:
Land, land improvements and
lﬂuholdl --------------- esesnne s ‘3c1 s l-’ s -— s -— s ‘5'4
Buﬂdn’ --------------- seesssses “o‘ 7-0 -—_ -am ”.6
Machinery and equipment.......... 7615 2149 2.6 - 1,039.6
Qumcﬁo‘hm ..... easvoe w !tm, — -— 82.1
TOTAL .cccceeaveccccananane s:gz $163.1 i — $1.259.7
For the Year ended December 31, 1992:
Land, land improvements and
leaseholds..ccoeveccccarcnnas eee $ 454 $ 31 $ 08 $ (5.7)(D) $ 4«0
Buildings «..ccocevectarcsccncnnnes 926 13 -— (133)(D) 80.6
Machinery and equipment......... . 10396 115.6 1.6 (120.5)(D) 1,033.1
Construction in progress .....c..... 82.1 (33.8) -— (22.6)(D) 28.7
TOTAL ...cccveeeee cecanaans $1.289.7 $ 862 S 24 85162.!) $1.181.4

=
$ (0.1)(D) S 404
80.1

lmhw ....... (AN AEREEANNNNENNN] s m s al s l“
B“ﬂdiw. essseccsce :--u ..... XX N - “ -
Machnetymdequpmem cesscees 10831 285 43 2.7(D) 1,059.5
Construction in progress ...cceoeeee  ___25.7 iy 02 —_— 37.1
mAL [ EE RN NN N ] [E R E NN ARENN N] ‘l!l".‘ s m s 1‘1 ';7 sl2l7 l
NOTES:

(A) Reclassification from Lease-rights to Property upon payment of leases.

(B) Reclassify additional portions of Caster undergeing modification to construction in progress.

(C) Transfer of steel processing companies from Armco Inc.

(D) Impairment and reclassification to investments, assets which are to be idled and sold as part of the

Company’s restructuring plan.




SCHEDULE VI

ARMCO STEEL COMPANY, L.P.

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION, DEPLETION AND AMORTIZATION OF
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Dollars in Millious)

Columa A ColumaB ColumaC Columa D Columa E Column F

Additons
Balasce Charged )
Begioning to Costs & .- Other o
Classification of Period Expesses  Retirements Chaages Ead of Perlod

For the Year ended December 31, 1990:
Land, land improvements and leaseholds $ 12 $ 13 § — $ — $ 30
Buildings ....co0veccntccsccniocecane 47 50 -— - 9.7
Machinery and equipment ............. 36.7 66.0 02 0.8 (A) 105.6
233 ___
TOTAL ....ceovvecnccancnccnces $ 426 $=1£ séu g &

For the Year ended December 31, 1991:
Land, land improvements and leasebolds $ 30 $ 16 $ — S$(I)C) § 45
Buildings .c..ccccvvencennnsanscncses 9.7 S4 -— (L.7)(C) 134
Machinery and equipment .....cocceeee 105.6 7546 20 09 (B) 1819

1.8 (C)

TOTAL ....cccvviencrcnnannnnes $118.3 $ 826 3_2._0 $ 09

For the Year ended December 31, 1992
Land, land improvements and leaseholds $ 45 $ 14 s al $(02)(D) $ 56
Buildings .....cco000000nen veerecnaen 134 $2 -— (4.4)(D) 142
Machinery and equipment .v.e...0. caee 1819 80.7 11 (8.7)(D) 252.8
TOTAL ..ccccvevnenernncnarcaes $199.8 $ 873 m SSIJJ) $272.6

For the Year ended December 31, 1993:
Land, land improvements and leascholds $ 56 $ 13 $0S $ LI(B) $ 7S
Buildings .ccccceeertcenccscscnanases 142 40 0.l 02(B) 183
Machinery and equipment ......... cees 252.8 682 23 0.9(D) 319.1
TOTAL ..cccennenas cesese essees  S2T26 $ NS '3_34 $ 22 $344.9

NOTES:

(A) Reclassification from Lease-rights to Property upon payment of leases.
(B) Impairment of a blast furnace and other equipment.
(C) Reclassification of asset groups.

(D) ImMnt and reclassification to investments, assets which are to be idled and sold as part of the
Company’s restructuring plan.

(E) Generally, depreciation rates on assets are 5% for land improvemeats and leaseholds, 3-4% for Buildings

and 5% for Machinery and equipment.



SCHEDULE KX

ARMCO STEEL CUMPANY, L.P.
SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS
(Dollars in Mlillions)
Columa A Column B Columa C Columa D Colums E Columa F
- A ) \Xelghtul
Maximum e
Welghted Amoust Amoust Taterest
Balasce Average Qutstaading Outstaadiag Rate
Category of Aggregate st Ead Interest « Duriag the Dariag the Duriag the
Short-Term Borrowiags of Period Rate Period (B) Perlod(B) Period (B)
For the Year Ended December 31, 1990:
Payable to banks .......... $40.0 8.8% $40.0 $39 8.8%
Other(A) ccvvveerecenseccccecsansessns 83.0 98 (C) _830 22.2 8.9
For the Year Ended December 31, 1991: )
Payable to banks ......ccce0000000000ee $30.0 6.3% $68.0 $20.5 1.0%
othel'(A) 0800000000000 0CTRCORORRGOGETRETDS 2800 ﬁ _9_2-2 33-3 605
For the Year Ended December 31, 1992 .
Payable to banks .......cccceveeiencnanan $ — -—% $30.0 $ 48 5.5%
othel'(A) ----- Cssessscsvssssssnusnes eee — _: 55-0 2606 4.2
For the Year Ended December 31, 1993: '
Payable to banks ............. $ — -% S — $ — —%

NOTES:

(A) Borrowings from an affiliate, which are payable within one year.

(B) Based on daily balances.

(C) Based on average rates for two weeks preceding ana following year-end.
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Act of 1933 or until the Registration Statement shall become efective on such date as the Commission,

acting pursuant to said Section 8(s), may determine. '@
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substantial amouat of the Company’s sales to steel distribution and service centers consist of products that are
resold (in original or modified form) to the automotive industry. See “Business — Customers."”

Labor Relations

At December 31, 1993, approximately 21% of the Company’s active employees were represented by the
United Steelworkers of America (“USWA"), 6% by the Oil, Chemical and Atomic Warkers (“*OCAW™)
and 56% by the Armco Employee Independent Federation (“AEIF”). The current collective bargaining
agreement with the USWA, which covers the Company's steelmaking employees at the Ashland Works, was
originally scheduled to expire July 31, 1993 but has been extended indefinitely, subject to the right of either
party to terminate the extension upon 72 hours’ prior notice. The agreement with the OCAW, which covers
coke-making employees at the Ashland Works, was scheduled to expire October 1, 1993 but has been
extended to May 1, 1994. The agreement with the AEIF, which represeats the Company’s hourly employees
at the Middletown Works is scheduled to expire February 28, 1994. No predictions can be made as to the
results of the rencgotiations of these agreements or the possible effects of the renegotiations upon the
Company, although the Company’s agreemeat with the AEIF establishes procedures for revising economic
terms upon its expiration and contains a no-strike clause that is effective during the negotiation period.
See “Business — Employees.”

Taxes

The Company belicves the Recapitalization should not adversely affect its ability to deduct, for income
tax purposes, future payments when made in respect of certain of the Company’s contingent obligations,
including those for postretirement benefits other than pensions (see “Retiree Health Benefits and Pension
Obligations™ above). There can be no assurance that the Company’s position will prevail if challenged by the
Internal Revenue Service or other taxing authority, See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

Factors Relating to the Common Stock
Effect of Future Sales of Common Stock

Sales of substantial amounts of Common Stock in the public market following the Common Stock
Offering could adversely affect the market price of the Common Stock. In connection with the Recapitaliza-
tion, the Company intends to contribute to the Peasion Trust shares of Common Stock having a value equal to
$50.0 million (2,500,000 shares based on an assumed initial public offering price of $20 per share),
representing approximately 10.7% of the shares of Comman Stock to be outstanding after completion of the
Recapitalization. The contributed shares may be sold without restriction. The Company intends to file with
the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission™) and will agree to maintain continuously in
effect a shelf registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”),
relating to the sale of these shares. All expenses associated with this registration statement will be borne by the
Company. While the initial decision regarding acceptance of the Common Stock portion of the Pension Trust
Contribution will be made by plan fiduciaries who are members of the Company’s management (assisted by
an independent financial adviser), subsequent decisions with respect to the sale of the contributed shares will
be made by an independent investment manager who will have discretionary suthority to make such sales as it
deems appropriate. It is expected that some portion of the shares contributed to the Pension Trust will be sold
from time to time,

In addition, 5,023,297 shares of Common Stock to be held by Kawasaki and the 23,297 shares of
Common Stock to be held by Armco also will be eligible for resale in the public market, subject to certain
volume and other restrictions set forth in Rule 144 under the Securities Act. Each of Kawasaki and Armco
has agreed for a period of 365 days, not to scll any of these shares without the prior written conseat of CS First
Boston Corporation (“CS First Boston™). The Company intends to file with the Commission and maintain in
effect for a period of five years from the end of such 365-day period a shelf registration statement relating to
the sale of these shares and pay all expenses in connection therewith. See “Certain Relationships and Related
Transactions,” “Shares Eligible for Future Sale” and “Underwriting.”
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Absence of Public Market

There currently is no public market for the Common Stock and there can be no assurance that an active
public market for the Common Stock will develop. Application will be made to list the Common Stock on the
New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE™). The initial public offering price will be determined- through
negotiations between the Company and the representative of the Underwriters and there can be no assurance
that future market prices for the Common Stock will equal or exceed the initial public offering price. For a
discussion of the factors considered in determining the initial public offering price, see “Underwriting.”

Restrictions on the Payment of Common Stock Dividends

The Company is restricted in the payment of cash dividends on its Common Stock by covenants
contained in certain of the Company’s financing arrangements and, notwithstanding such covenants, the
Company does not presently expect to pay any dividends in the foresceable future. See “Dividend Policy.”

Dilution

The initial public offering price per share of Common Stock will exceed the net tangible book value per
share of Common Stock. Accordingly, the purchasers of the Common Stock hereunder will experience
immediate dilution of $27.67 per share (assuming an initial public offering price of $20 per share),
See “Dilution.”
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PROSPECTUS

17,572,222 Shares
AL AKX Steel Holding Corporation

AK Steel Common Stock
(par value §.01)

All of the shares of Common Stock, $.0! par value (~‘Common Stock"), of AK Steel Holding Corporation ( “Holding"} offered
hereby are being sold by Holding. Of the 11,572,222 shares of Common Stock km‘g ogerzd, 14,072,222 shares are initally
being offered in the United States and Canada (the “U.S. Shares”) by the US. Underwriters (ihe “U.S. Offering”)
and 3,500,000 shares are initially being concurremtly offered outside the United States and Canade (Ilﬁ
“Iuternational Shares”) by the Managers (the “International Offering” and, together with the U.S. Qffering,
the ““Common Stock Offering”’). The offering price and snderwriting discounts of the U.S. Offering and the
International Offering are ‘identical. Prior to the Common Stoc b(;lm'lg, there has been no public
maréket for the Common Stock. It is auh'a_'paltd that the initial public offering price will be betwveen
321 and $24 per share. For information relating 1o the Jamls considered in determining the
initial public offering price, see “Undervwriting.”

The Common Stock Offering is part of a recapitalization (the “Recapitalization™) that also includes (i) the public offering,
pursuant 10 a s n£e ~ pd:u‘, :fj 3325 million of % Sensor Notes due 2004 (the “Senior Notes”), (ii) the dliﬂd‘g
issuance by Holding of an estimated additional 6,492,318 shares of Common Stock in exchange for $100 million of existing
indebredness and certain equily interests in a predecessor company, (i) a substantial reduction in the amount of
remaining indebtedness and extension of the maturity dates for a portion of this indebtedness, (iv) a $100 million
cash contribution to the AK Steel Corporation pension trust and a co nding reduction in the unfunded
pension obligation and (v) a new 5715 million revolving credit facility with a five-year term. The
consummation of the Common Stock Offering is conditioned upon the concurvent consummation of the
other elementis of the Recapitalization. See *The Recapitalization.”

Tbe Common Stock bas been approved for quotation on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “AKST",
subject to notice of issuance.

See “Risk Factors” for a discussion of certain factors that should be considered in
connection with an investment in the Common Stock offered hereby.

THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE SECURITIES
AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION NOR
HAS THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR ANY STATE
SECURITIES COMMISSION PASSED UPON THE ACCURACY OR AD-

EQUACY OF THIS PROSPECTUS. ANY REPRESENTATION
TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.

Price to Underwriting Proceeds to
Public Discount Company (1)
Per Share
Total(2)
<-_—L;——

(1) Before deduction of expenses payable by Holding estimated at $ .
(2) Holding has granted the U.S. Underwriters and the Managers an option, exercisable by CS First Boston Corporation
30 days from the date of the initial public offering ﬂ‘ shares offered hereby, to purchase a maximum of 2,635,
additional shares in order 1o cover over-allorments of shares. If the option is exercised in £nll the 1otal price to public will be
i | , anderwriting discount will be $ » and proceeds to Holding will be $ .

The U.S. Shares are offered by the several U.S. Underwriters when, as and if issued by Holding, delivered to and accepted
by the U.S. Underwriters and subject to their right to reject orders in whole or in part. It is expected that the U.S. Skares will be
ready for delivery on or about , 1994.

CS First Boston I /

The date of this Prospectus is , 1994.



PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

The following summary is qualified in its entirety by, and should be read in conjunction with, the more
detailed information and financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Prospectus. Except where otherwise
indicated, the information in this Prospectus assumes that the over-allotment option granted to the US.
Underwriters and the Managers is not exercised. In addition, unless the context requires otherwise,
information in this Prospectus has been adjusted 1o reflect the reorganization of Armco Steel Company, L.P, a
Delaware limited partnership (the “Partnership”), into AK Steel Corporation (“AK Steel”), a Delaware
corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of AK Steel Holding Corporation (“Holding"). a transaction
which will be consummated immediately prior to the Recapitalization. All references to the Company shall
mean Holding, AK Steel and Holding's other consolidated subsidiaries, as the successor to the Partnership. See
“The Company” and “The Recapitalization."” References to “dollars” and “$" are to United States dollars.

The Company

The Company is the sixth largest integrated steel producer in the United States in terms of production
and shipments, based on publicly available data compiled by the Company. It manufactures primarily high
strength, low carbon flat-rolled steel, the largest segment of the domestic steel market. The Company
concentrates on the production of custom-engineered grades, and value-added applications, of hot-rolled steel
and coated and uncoated cold-rolled steel for sale to the automotive, appliance and manufacturing markets, as
well as to the construction industry and independent steel distributors and service centers.

In June 1992, the Company began implementing a strategic business plan to improve the yicld and
reduce the costs of its production operations while enhancing its ability to meet the extremely high product
quality, delivery and technical support requirements of those customers who are the principal users of
premium grades of flat-rolled steel. This strategic plan, which has already achieved significant results, consists
of the following key elements: '

. New Management. A new senior management team consisting of experienced steel executives was
instalied commencing June 1992. Among other actions, new management has instituted changes in the
line management at virtually all of the Company’s production facilities and in the management of its sales
and marketing organization, and has raised the expectations and capabilities of its personnel.

Productivity Improvements. Productivity has been increased significantly through the elimination
of redundant, less efficient operations and production facilities and the increase in the operating levels of
the Company's remaining equipment. Among the specific measures taken are the shift to 100%
continuous casting, the idling of the hot-rolling and cold-rolling mills and associated pickling lines at the
Company's Ashland, Kentucky, steel works and a restructuring of its equipment maintenance procedures
to increase substantially the operating speeds and productivity of its remaining facilities. As a result of
these changes, the Company has been able to increase its total volume of steel shipments from
3,049,000 tons for the year ended December 31, 1992 to 3,429,400 tons for the year ended December 31,
1993, while reducing its man hours per ton from 5.93 for 1992 to 4.20 for 1993. In the most recent
quarter, man hours per ton were reduced to 4.01 as compared with 5.49 for the quarter ended
December 31, 1992.

Cost Reduction Programs. Costs throughout the Company’s operations have been reduced substan-
tially. In addition to the cost savings associated with the productivity improvements described above, the
Company has restructured its remaining work force and rencgotiated key raw materials and transporta-
tion contracts. These measures resulted in cost reductions of $110.0 million in 1993. See “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Overview.” The Company
belicves that these savings represent permanent reductions in its cost structure and anticipates further
savi:gs, although there can be no assurance that any such savings will in fact be achieved in future
periods.

Product Quality and Reliability. Product quality and reliability have been emphasized. Improve-
ments made in virtually every phase of the Company's production operations have substantially enhanced
the overall quality and consistency of its stecl products and its ability to meet customers’ just-in-time
delivery requirements. The Company’s customer rejection rate declined from approximately 1.23% of




tonnage shipped for the year ended December 31, 1992 to 0.61% of tonnage shipped for the year ended
December 31, 1993 (0.93% and 0.46% for the fourth quarters of 1992 and 1993, respectively), and its
tonnage shipped to the secondary market as a percentage of total tons shipped decreased from 16.6% to
12.2% for these periods (14.0% and 9.0% for the fourth quarters of 1992 and 1993, respectively). In
addition to contributing to higher margins, thesec improvements have led to a reduction in the need to
stockpile large inventories of key product lines to ensure timely customer deliverics and also have
enhanced revenues.

High-end Marketing. Marketing efforts have been increasingly directed toward those high-end
customers, such as automotive and appliance manufacturers, whose exacting quality, on-time delivery
and technical support requirements and need for specialized product applications (such as those that use
coated steels) justify commensurate pricing. The Company believes that its enhanced product quality and
delivery capabilities, and its emphasis on customer technical support and product planning, are critical
factors in its ability to serve this important segment of the market.

The Company, the successor to the Eastern Steel Division of Armco Inc. (*Armco”), was formed in
May 1989 as a joint venture between Armco and Kawasaki Steel Corporation (“Kawasaki™), and has
operated since that date as the Partnership under the name Armco Steel Company, L.P. The Company and its
predecessors have been in the steelmaking business for over 90 years. Armco, the second largest domestic
manufacturer of stainless steels, also produces clectrical and carbon steels and steel products, non-residential
construction products and tubular goods. Kawasaki, the third largest stcel company in Japan, is also engaged
in engineering and construction, electronics and chemicals. Upon the completion of the recapitalization
described below, Armco will own approximately 4.2% of the outstanding shares of Common Stock and
Kawasaki will own approximately 22.7% of the outstanding shares of Common Stock.

The Recapitallntlt;n

The Common Stock Offering is part of a recapitalization (the “Recapitalization™) that is intended to
strengthen the Company’s capital position, reduce its total debt and debt service costs and provide it with
greater financial and operating flexibility. The other principal elements of the Recapitalization, which are
conditioned upon one another and the Common Stock Offering and will be consummated concurrently with
the Common Stock Offering, include:

(i) The public offering, pursuant to a separate prospectus (the “Senior Notes Offering”), of $325.0 mil-
lion principal amount of % Scnior Notes due 2004 (the “Senior Notes™) issued by AK Steel and
guaranteed by Holding. The Senior Notes Offering and the Common Stock Offering are referred to herein
collectively as the “Offerings™;

(ii) The issuance by Holding of shares of Common Stock having a value equal to $100.0 million
(4,444,444 shares based on an assumed initial public offering price of $22.50 per share), in exchange for
$100.0 million of subordinated debt due to an affiliate of Kawasaki (the “Equity-Indebtedness Exchange”);

(iii) The issuance by Holding of 1,023,937 shares of Common Stock to each of ‘Armco and Kawasaki in
exchange for their respective equity interests in the Partnership; this number of shares may be changed if the
initial public offering price is outside the range set forth on the cover page of this Prospectus (see “Certain
Relationships and Related Transactions™);

(iv) The contribution by the Company to the Trustee of the AK Steel Corporation Master Pension Trust
(the “Pension Trust™) of $100.0 million in cash (the “Pension Trust Contribution™), and a corresponding
reduction in the Company’s unfunded pension obligation;

(v) The repayment in cash of $530.4 million principal amount of previously outstanding term debt to
bank and other lenders; ’

(vi) The extension of the maturity and adjustment of the amortization schedules of a portion of the
remaining $99.0 million aggregate principal amount of term debt to bank and other lenders; and

(vii) The replacement of the Company’s existing revolving credit facility to increase the maximum
allowable borrowings from $50.0 million to $75.0 million and to provide for a five-year term.




Unless otherwise indicated, all calculations herein of Common Stock outstanding after the consummation
of the Recapitalization assume an initial public offering price of $22.50 per share.

The following table sets forth a summary of the sources and uses of funds associated with the
Recapitalization.

Sources Amount
(dollars in millions)
Common Stock Offering .......covevvreieiiierianneiinnns $395.4
Senior Notes Offering. . .......covviveiaiiiiiiiiiineaiiaas, 325.0
Equity-Indebtedness Exchange ..........ccovvieinnnniia.. 100.0
Total SOUTCES. .. cveereereenroresorssanassonnnnnnsanns $820.4
Uses
Bank and other lender repayments ...........ccoeeivaeniannn, $530.4
Exchange of Kawasaki subordinated debt ............ creseaen 100.0
Pension Trust Contribution ............ccovvieeieeanaeaen, 100.0
General COTPOrate PUIPOSES . ...vveveeereansrcsssoaacsssanas 50.0
Underwriting discount and eXpenses .....cccceveeccecccnaans 40.0
Total Uses .....cvvvinrercanareaesennssessannesronans $820.4

The Recapitalization will significantly reduce the Company’s overall level of indebtedness and other
obligations. After giving effect to the Recapitalization, the Company will have outstanding, on a consolidated
basis, approximately $424.0 million of senior long-term indebtedness (including the current portion), as
compared with $729.4 million at December 31, 1993, and an estimated unfunded pension obligation (on an
accumulated benefit obligation basis) of approximately $257.7 million, as compared with approximately
$357.7 million at December 31, 1993. Further, the Company’s stockholders’ deficit will have been reduced
from $584.2 million at December 31, 1993 to $136.8 million. See “Historical and Pro Forma Condensed
Consolidated Financial Data.”

The Recapitalization also will substantially improve the Company’s financial and operating flexibility.
The Company’s scheduled debt amortization requirements will be reduced as follows:

December 31, 1993

Year . Actual Pro Formsa
(dollars in millions)
L S e $1308 $ 438
1995, it it it ie et ettt e et e, 200.8 12.1
1996, . it iiiiiiiiiiiiietia ettt ittt e nae 215.0 233
1997 .cciiiianen Meesnsessraasrsssstssasaterrsneanan 93.2 25.3
1998........... Sitesescsessaesanasesacesaorateratnnas 25.0 184
1999 and thereafter . ......cvecvereriiecanesineansennans 64.6 340.1
TOMAl .o eeeerenenanieneneaenneeeeaeenaaanas ceee. $7294 34240

In addition to its cash on hand and cash flow generated from operations, the Company will have available a
$75.0 million, five-year revolving credit facility. See “Description of Certain Indebtedness.”




The Common Stock Offering

Common Stock offered in the U.S. Offering .......... 14,072,222
Common Stock offered in the International Offering . . . 3,500,000
Total .....eeiiiiiiiiiie it iiaiee i 17,572,222 shares
Common Stock to be outstanding after the Common
Stock Offering(1) ....covvviiiirieneiirennnnnnes 24,136,762 shares
Useof Proceeds......cooiviiiienineneinnniananees To retire certain outstanding indebtedness

and reduce the Company’s unfunded pension
obligation as part of the Recapitalization, and
for general corporate purposes.
LASting . . oovivei ittt tier e ia e Nasdaq National Market
Proposed Symbol.............cciiiiiiiiiiinn, AKST

(1) Assuming an initial public offering price of $22.50 per share. Includes 4,444,444 shares of Common
Stock issued for the Equity-Indebtedness Exchange, a total of 2,047,874 shares of Common Stock issued
to Armco and Kawasaki in respect of their equity interests in the Partnership, and an estimated 72,222
shares of Common Stock to be issued upon consummation of the Recapitalization to Thomas C.
Graham, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive of the Company, in licu of cash in payment of a
portion of his bonus under his current employment agreement (sec “Management — Executive Compen-
sation — Summary of Compensation™). Does not include a total of 1,916,667 shares reserved for issuance
pursuant to options that may be granted under the Company’s 1994 Stock Incentive Plan and
383,333 shares reserved for issuance as restricted stock that may be awarded under this plan. See

“Management — Executive Compensation — AK Steel Holding Corporation 1994 Stock Incentive
Plan” and “Ownership of Common Stock.”

Risk Factors

Prospective purchasers of the Common Stock should consider carcfully the information set forth under
“Risk Factors™ as well as the other information and data in this Prospectus.




THE RECAPITALIZATION

The Recapitalization is intended to strengthen the Company’s capital position, reduce its total debt and
debt service costs and provide it with greater financial and operating flexibility. The other principal elements of
the Recapitalization, which are conditioned upon onc another and the Common Stock Offering and will be
consummated concurrently with the Common Stock Offering, include:

(i) The Senior Notes Offering, consisting of the public offering of $325.0 million principal amount of
Senior Notes issued by AK Steel and guaranteed by Holding;

(ii) The Equity-Indebtedness Exchange, consisting of the issuance by Holding to an affiliate of
Kawasaki of shares of Common Stock having a value equal to $100.0 million (4,444,444 shares based on an
assumed initial public offering price of $22.50 per share) in exchange for $100.0 million of subordinated debt
due to an affiliate of Kawasaki;

(iii) Thei issuance by Holding of 1,023,937 shares of Common Stock to each of Armco and Kawasaki in
exchange for their rcspecuvc equity interests in the Partnership; this number of shares may be changed if the
initial public offering price is outside the range set forth on the cover page of this Prospectus (see “Certain
Relationships and Related Transactions”).

(iv) The Pension Trust Contribution, consisting of the Company’s contribution to the Trustee of the
Pension Trust of $100.0 million in cash, resulting in a corresponding reduction in the Company's unfunded
pension obligation;

(v) The repayment in cash of $530.4 million principal amount of previously outstanding debt to bank
and other lenders;

(vi) The extension of the maturity and adjustment of the amortization schedules of a portion of the
remaining $99.0 million aggregate principal amount of term debt to bank and other lenders; and

(vii) The replacement of the Company’s existing revolving credit facility to increase the maximum
allowable borrowings from $50.0 million to $75.0 million and to provide for a five-year term.

Unless otherwise indicated, all calculations herein of Common Stock outstanding after the consummation
of the Recapitalization assume an initial public offering price of $22.50 per share.

The following table sets forth a summary of the sources and uses of funds associated with the
Recapitalization.

Amount
Sources (dollars in millions)
Common Stock Offering.......ccovvivveeerveernrsresosnnerans $395.4
Senior Notes Offering . . .......ociiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinneianen. 325.0
Equity-Indebtedness Exchange .............coviiiiiinniniais, 100.0
Total SOUrCES ... ..cocvrviinnartnnanscasssnssrssnnonsnsos $820.4
Uses
Bank and other lender repayments ..........c.c.coiiiiiiiiiianan, $5304
Exchange of Kawasaki subordinated debt........................ 100.0
Pension Trust Contribution............c.cceviieeieniniinnannans 100.0
General COrporate PUrPOSES .. ........cveeeensccncnncnnncoances 50.0
Underwriting discount and expenses ........c.cccvveevenceeannens 40.0
Total USeS ... .oiinrriviiienernsnectesconssecnanensanans $820.4

The Recapitalization will significantly reduce the Company’s overall level of indebtedness and other
obligations. After giving effect to the Recapitalization, the Company will have outstanding, on a consolidated
basis, approximately $424.0 million of senior long-term indebtedness (including the current portion), as
compared with $729.4 million at December 31, 1993, and an estimated unfunded pension obligation (on an
accumulated benefit obligation basis) of approximately $257.7 million, as compared with approximately
$357.7 million at December 31, 1993. The Company’s stockholders’ deficit will have been reduced from
$584.2 million at December 31, 1993 to $136.8 million. Sec “Historical and Pro Forma Condensed
Consolidated Financial Data.”
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The Recapitalization also will substantially improve the Company's financial and operating flexibility.
The Company’s scheduled debt amortization requirements will be reduced as follows:

December 31, 1993

Year Actual Pro Forma
(dollars in millions)
12 7. $130.8 $ 48
D998 it ittt iiiireeeerneearaoananoncaasaatasensanaananas 200.8 12.1
1996. .. i iiininrieeeeerescntaesenansnnss Ceterttenenaran 2150 233
2 27 93.2 25.3
1998..... Ceereeaenes S et tascatecencnntt ettt etaraaranan 250 184
1999 and thereafter ....covveviieenecreeesacrcntortcannonns 64.6 340.1
0 I $7294 . $424.0

In addition to its cash on hand and cash flow generated from operations, the Company will have available a
$75.0 million, five-year revolving credit facility. See “Description of Certain Indebtedness.”

USE OF PROCEEDS

The combined net proceeds from the Offerings are estimated to be approximately $680.4 million, after
deduction of underwriting discounts and estimated expenses. The Company intends to usc these proceeds to
implement the Recapitalization, which includes the retirement of certain indebtedness, the Pension Trust
Contribution and for general corporate purposes. See “The Recapitalization.” If the U.S. Underwriters’ and
the Managers’ over-allotment option is exercised, the estimated additional $50.3 million of net proceeds would
be used primarily for the retirement of indebtedness, with the remainder for general corporate purposes.

Of the $530.4 million of indebtedness to be retired pursuant to the Recapitalization, (i) $96.0 million has
a final maturity on May 31, 1995, which, at December 31, 1993, bore interest at rates ranging from 4.22% to
4.30% per year, (ii) $57.3 million has a final maturity on June 15, 1997, bearing interest at rates ranging from
9.28% to 9.38% per year, (iii) $240.0 million has a final maturity on November 30, 1997, bearing interest at a
rate of 6.67% per year, (iv) $23.2 million has a final maturity on November 22, 1998, bearing interest at a rate
of 9.57% per year, (v) $84.0 million has a final maturity on January 28, 2002, bearing interest at a rate of
7.37% per year, (vi) $14.3 million has a final maturity on July 7, 1996, bearing interest at a rate of
11.5% per year, (vii) $7.6 million has a final maturity on October 12, 2001, bearing interest at a rate of 9.38%

per year and (viii) $8.0 million has a final maturity on December 15, 1998, bearing interest at rates ranging
from 10.6% to 11.1% per year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company is restricted in the payment of cash dividends on its Common Stock by covenants
contained in certain of the Company's financing arrangements and, notwithstanding such covenants, the
Company does not presently expect to pay any dividends in the foresecable future.



DILUTION

The Company's deficit in net tangible book value (defined as stockholders’ equity less goodwill and other
intangible asscts) at December 31, 1993 was $623.8 million or $25.84 per share of Common Stock. Based
upon an assumed initial public offering price of $22.50 per share, the Company’s deficit in pro forma net
tangible book value of the Common Stock at December 31, 1993 after giving effect to the Recapitalization
would have been $176.4 million or $7.31 per share. This represents an immediate increase in the pro forma net
tangible book value of $18.53 per share to existing stockholders and an immediate dilution (i.c., the difference
between the initial public offering price per share and the pro forma net tangible book value per share
immediately after the Recapitalization) of $29.81 per share to purchasers of the shares of Common Stock
offered hereby (the “New Investors™).

The following table illustrates the calculation of the per share dilution described above:

Assumed initial public offering price..............c.cciiiiiiien., $22.50
Deficit in net tangible book value per share prior to the
Recapitalization ........ccocieiiiiiieteniocntiesescnsnns $(25.84)
Increase in net tangible book value per share attributable to the
Recapitalization .........cccocviiieivieriiriniiacesnnenas 18.53
Pro forma deficit in net tangible book value per share after giving
cffect to the Recapitalization .........covvveiiiiiieriiienaee, (1.31)
Dilution to New Investors. ......coveirieesrnriascensernsnnss $29.81

The actual number of shares of Common Stock to be issued to Kawasaki pursuant to the Equity-
Indebtedness Exchange will have a value equal to $100.0 million and, accordingly, may differ from the
4,444,444 shares referred to herein if the actual initial public offering price is different from $22.50. Any such
change in the number of shares will not affect the amount of dilution to New Investors.
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MANAGEMENT

Directors and Executive Officers

At present, Thomas C. Graham, James F. Will and Kanji Emoto are directors of the Company. It is
anticipated that, at or prior to completion of the Recapitalization, the Company will add Cyrus Tang,
Dr. Bonnic Guiton Hill, Joha A. Georges and Robert E. Northam as additional independent directors to its
Board of Directors. The names and ages of the persons who are directors and executive officers of the
Company and the positions of these persons with the Company are set forth below. Information concerning
the age and principal occupations or employments of these persons (including the director nominees) during
the past five years (if different) and certain other information is set forth under “Business Experience.”

Directors '
Name Age Posltion
Thomas C. Graham................. 67 Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
James F. Will.......coiiiiieinnnees §S Director
Kanji Emoto...... N 57 Director

In addition, the Company and Kawasaki have entered into an agreement pursuant to which, for so long as
Kawasaki beneficially owns not less than 15% of the outstanding shares of Common Stock, the Company will
take all action necessary to nominate and support the nomination of one person designated by Kawasaki for
election as a director of the Company and to solicit proxies in favor (and otherwise recommend to
stockholders) the clection of such nominee as a director. See “Certain Relationships and Related Transac-
tions.” Mr. Emoto is Kawasaki's initial designee to the Company’s Board of Directors.

Executive Officers

Name Age Position
Richard M. Wardrop, Jr. ......... ... 48 President and Chief Operating Officer
Mark G. Essig .....covveiieieainnns 36 Executive Vice President — Commercial
Mark W. Kontos ..... O, 43 Vice President — Finance, Chief Financial Officer
and Treasurer
Randall F. Preheim ................. 47 Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
David F. Alexander ................. 54 Vice President — Research and Design Engineering
Gary L. Melampy ......cccv0evnennn 37 Vice President — Employee Relations
Edward L. Hare..........c......... 46 Controller

Business Experience — Directors

Thomas C. Graham, who has 47 years of experience in the steel industry, has been a Director, President
and Chief Executive Officer of the Partnership since June 1992. Prior to joining the Partnership, Mr. Graham
served from July 1991 to May 1992 as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Washington Steel
Corporation, a privately held specialty steel producer, and headed its successful turnaround and eventual sale
to Lukens, Inc. in April 1992. From October 1990 to May 1991, Mr. Graham served as President, Steel and
Diversified Group of USX Corporation. Mr. Graham also served as Vice Chairman and Chicf Operating
Officer, Steel and Related Resources of U.S. Steel Corporation from 1983 to October 1990 and as a director of
U.S. Steel Corporation. Mr. Graham served as Chairman of the AISI from 1986 to May 1989, and, since
February 1991, has been a principal investigator for the Sloan Foundation's study of the competitiveness of the
American steel industry. He has been a director of International Paper Company since 1986 and a director of
Hershey Foods Corporation since April 1989.

James F. Will has been a Director of the Partnership since May 1992 and Chairman since June 1992.
Mr. Will was named President and Chief Executive Officer of Armco in December 1993, having been its
President and Chief Operating Officer since April 1992. Mr. Will served as President and Chief Executive
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Officer of Cyclops Industrics, Inc. from January 1989 to March 1992 and as President and Chief Operating
Officer of that Company from 1986 to December 1988. Mr. Will has been a Director of Armco since April
1992 and a Director of Allegheny Corporation since January 1992.

Kanji Emoto has been a Director of the Partnership since June 1992. Mr. Emoto has been a Managing
Director of Kawasaki since June 1991 and was a Director of Kawasaki from June 1988 to May 1991. Prior to
that time Mr. Emoto held various management positions with Kawasaki.

Cyrus Tang, 64, has served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Tang Industries, Inc. since 1971,
Chief Executive Officer of National Material L.P. since 1964, and President and Chief Executive Officer of
National Material Corporation since January, 1994. Tang Industrics and its affiliates operate businesses
including steel distribution and processing, metal stamping and fabrication, ferrous and non-ferrous scrap
trading and processing, aluminum die casting, extrusions and recycling, wood and steel office furniture
manufacturing and pharmaceuticals. In 1982, Mr. Tang became the first private owner of an integrated steel
company following his acquisition of McLouth Steel Corporation. .

Dr. Bonnic Guiton Hill, 50, has been Dean of the Mclntire School of Commerce at the University of
Virginia since July 1992. She served as Secretary of the State and Consumer Services Agency for the State of
California from April 1991 to June 1992. From September 1990 to March 1991, Dr. Hill was the President
and Chief Executive Officer of Earth Conservation Corporation. From April 1989 to September 1990, she
served as Director of the United States Office of Consumer Affairs and Special Advisor to the President for
Consumer Affairs, and has previously served as the Assistant Secretary of the United States Department of
Education and as Vice-Chair of the United States Postal Rate Commission. She has been a director of
Niagara Mohawk Corporation since February 1991, a director of Hershey Foods Corporation since August
1993, and a director of Louisiana-Pacific Corporation since August 1993.

John A. Georges, 63, has been Chairman of the Board of International Paper Company (“IP") since
1985 and Chief Executive Officer of IP since 1984. He has been a director and Chairman of the Board of IP
Forest Resources Company (the managing general partner of IP Timberlands, Ltd.) since 1985. He has also
been a director of Ryder System Inc. since August 1993, a director of Scitex Corporation Ltd. since May 1992
and a director of Warner-Lambert Company since April 1983. Mr. Georges is a member of The Business
Council and the Policy Committee of The Business Roundtable and is also a board member of The Business
Council of New York State and a trustee of its Public Policy Institute, a trustee of Drexel University and a
member of the President’s Advisory Committee for Trade Policy and Negotiations.

Robert E. Northam, 63, has been Executive Vice President of J.C. Penney & Company since February -
1990 and Chief Financial Officer of J.C. Penney since 1982. He has also served in the Office of the Chairman
of J.C. Penney since June 1992. Mr. Northam is a member of the Financial Executives Institute, the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the New York State Society of Certified Public
Accountants, the Conference Board Council of Financial Exccutives, and the CFO Task Force of the Private
Sector Council.

Business Experience — Executive Officers

Richard M. Wardrop, Jr. has been Vice President — Manufacturing of the Partnership since June 1992
and will become President and Chief Operating Officer of the Company upon completion of the Recapitaliza-
tion. He has been employed in the steel industry for more than 24 years. Prior to joining the Partnership,
Mr. Wardrop served from January 1992 to May 1992 as Corporate Vice President, Engineering & Purchasing,
for Washington Steel Corporation. Mr. Wardrop was Consultant to the President for Quigley Company, Inc.,
a subsidiary of Pfizer, Inc., from July 1990 to December 1991. He was General Manager, Mon Valley Works,
U.S. Steel Corporation, from February 1988 to Junc 1990, and Plant Manager, Primary Operations, Flat
Rolled Products Group, U.S. Steel Corporation from 1986 to June 1990.

Mark G. Essig, who began his steel industry career in October 1988, joined the Partnership in August
1992 as Vice President, Employee Relations and Assistant to the President. In April 1993 Mr. Essig was
named Vice President, Sales and Marketing, and he will become Executive Vice President — Commercial
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upon completion of the Recapitalization. Mr. Essig was Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of
Washington Steel Corporation from July 1991 to June 1992. He was Vice President, Finance and
Administration of Washington Steel Corporation from July 1989 to June 1991 and mill group controller from
November 1988 to June 1989. From 1986 to October 1988, Mr. Essig operated a management consulting firm
specializing in structuring tunarounds for manufacturing companies.

Mark W. Kontos has been Vice President — Finance, Chief Financial Officer of the Partnership since
June 1993 and will become Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer upon completion of the
Recapitalization. Prior to joining the Partnership, Mr. Kontos was a Vice President of Citibank/Citicorp in
New York where he had worked since 1978. He was Vice President, Institutional Recovery Management for
Citibank from June 1989 to July 1993, where he was responsible for restructuring troubled companies, and

was Vice President, World Corporation Group, Chemicals Department of Citibank/Citicorp from 1986 to
June 1989.

Randall F. Preheim has been General Counsel and Secretary of the Partnership and the Predecessor
since February 1989, and Vice President since January 1993, and he will continue in this position with the
Company. In addition to legal matters, Mr. Preheim is responsible for public affairs, purchasing and
transportation and environmental affairs. From August 1988 to February 1989, Mr. Preheim was Division
Counsel for Armco. He was Vice President and General Counsel for the Armco Financial Services Group
from 1986 to July 1988.

David F. Alexander has been Vice President — Research and Design Engineering for the Partnership
since April 1993 and will continue in this position with the Company. From August 1992 to April 1993 he was
Vice President, Design Engineering and from August 1990 to July 1992 he was Assistant to the President of
the Partnership. From 1965 to August 1990, Mr. Alexander served in various engineering and maintenance
management positions at the Ashland Works.

. Gary L. Melampy has been Labor Counsel to the Partnership since September 1991 and will become
Vice President-Employec Relations of the Company upon completion of the Recapitalization with responsibil-
ity for human resources and industrial relations. From June 1988 to August 1991 Mr. Melampy was the labor
and employment counsel with the law firm of Collier, Shannon, Rill & Scott in Washington, D.C. From 1981
to May 1988, he was associated with the law firm of Reed Smith Shaw & McClay in Washington, D.C., where
he practiced labor and employment law.

Edward L. Hare has been Controller of the Partnership since June 1989 and will continue in this position
with the Company. From 1972 to May 1989, Mr. Hare held various management positions in internal
auditing, finance and accounting for Armco.

Compensation of Direclors

Following completion of the Recapitalization, each non-employee director will receive an annual fee of
$20,000 for service on the Board of Directors, one-half of which will be paid in shares of Restricted Stock (see
“AK Steel Holding Corporation 1994 Stock Incentive Plan” below) and the remainder will be paid, at the
director’s option, in cash or shares of Restricted Stock. Each Chairperson of a committee of the Board of
Directors will receive an additional fee of $2,500 per year. Non-employee directors also will be paid a fee of
$1.000 for attendance at cach meeting of the Board of Directors and $500 for each committee meeting
attended. Officers of the Company will not receive any additional compensation for serving as directors. All
directors will be reimbursed for expenses incurred in attending Board and committee meetings. Non-employee
directors will be required to retire from the Board at age 70 but will be entitled to an annual retainer equal to
the annual fee payable to a director at the time of such retirement provided that he or she is available to the
chairman on a consulting basis. Each non-employee director also will be granted options under the Company's

1994 Stock Incentive Plan to purchase a total of 5,000 shares of Common Stock upon his or her initial election
to the Board.

_The Company has obtained directors and officers liability insurance in connection with the Offerings.
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Committees of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors intends to establish an Audit Committee and a Compensation Committee within
30 days after consummation of the Recapitalization consisting of independent directors. The Board may
establish such additional committees as it deems advisable.

The Audit Committee will recommend to the Board of Directors the appointment of the independent
public accountants of the Company, review and approve the scope and fees of the annual audit and review the
results thereof with the Company's independent accountants. The Audit Committee will also assist the Board
in fulfilling its fiduciary responsibilitics relating to accounting and reporting policies, practices and procedures,
and will review the continuing effectiveness of the Company’s business cthics and conflicts of interest policies.

The Compensation Committee will review and recommend to the Board of Directors compensation of the
principal officers, review the duties and responsibilities of the Company's principal officers, review compensa-
tion and personnel policies, administer the Company’s Stock Incentive Plan (as described below) and certain
other employee benefit plans, and review and' make recommendations to the Board with respect to the
Company's incentive compensation plans, pension and savings plans and its employee retirement and benefit
policies and plans.

Executive Compensation

Summary of Compensation

Set forth below is a summary of information with respect to 1993 compensation of the Company’s chief
executive officer and the four other most highly compensated executive officers who were serving as executive
officers of the Company on December 31, 1993,

Summary Compensation Table

All Other
Salary Bonus Compensation(2)

Name and Principal Position Year S $() S

Thomas C. Graham ..........cccveevnerenncannianna, 1993 250,008 5,300,000(3) 11,915
President and Chief Executive Officer .

Fumiya Yanagishima .............coccvvevnienceeanss 1993 195,008 87,504 1,779
Executive Vice President

Richard M. Wardrop, Jr........cccieiiinierenneniannes 1993 175,002 87,501 12,530
Vice President — Manufacturing .

Mark G. Essig...........coiveinrinerennerannacnnns 1993 165,003 82,502 12,364
Vice President — Sales & Marketing :

David F. Alexander ................. Ceereteensesanra 1993 147,507 73,751 6,075

Vice President — Research and Design Engincering

(1) Bonuses for all named officers other than Mr. Graham were paid on January 31, 1994.

(2) The amounts shown in this column were derived from the following figures: (i) for Mr. Graham, $11,915
was attributed to him for imputed income arising out of a Company provided life insurance plan; (ii) for
Mr. Yanagishima, $1,579 was attributed to him for imputed income arising out of a Company provided
life insurance plan and $200 was reimbursed to him pursuant to a Company provided medical plan;
(iii) for Messrs. Wardrop and Essig, $1,030 and $364, respectively, were attributed to them for imputed
income arising out of a Company provided life insurance plan and $11,500 and $12,000, respectively were
attributed to them as an automobile allowance; (iv) for Mr. Alexander, $1,412 was attributed to him for
imputed income arising out of a Company provided life insurance plan, $200 was reimbursed to him
pursuant to a Company provided medical plan and $4,463 was paid to him pursuant to a restricted stock
plan of Armco. All premium costs of the Company provided life insurance plan are paid by the Company.
Income is imputed to employees for premium costs applicable to coverage exceeding $50,000 per
employee. :

(3) Pursuant to Mr. Graham's employment agreement with the Partnership, Mr. Graham is entitled to a
performance bonus of $2.0 million upon achicvement of two consecutive quarters of operating profit (as
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defined in the agreement) which has occurred, plus 6% of cumulative net income (as defined in the
agreement). Payment is due upon termination of the agreement. This agreement will be terminated
effective upon the Recapitalization and Mr. Graham will, at that time, be paid the bonus amount accrued
thereunder which is presently estimated to be approximately $6.5 million. Payment of such bonus will be
made to Mr. Graham one-half in cash and one-half in Common Stock. The $5.3 million reflected in the

table is the amount that would have been payable had the agreement been terminated as of December 31,
1993.

Employment Contract

Upon completion of the Recapitalization, the Company and Mr. Graham intend to enter into a new
employment agreement with a one year term, automatically renewable for successive one year terms unless
cither party gives 90 days’ advance notice not to renew. The contract will provide for an annual base salary of
$450,000, subject to increase at the discretion of the Board of Directors. If certain performance targets are
achieved, Mr. Graham will be cligible for a bonus in an amount to be determined by the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors. Performance targets for calculation of Mr. Graham's bonus will be set
by the Compeasation Committee and will be weighted 75% upon achievement of established financial goals
and 25% upon achievement of individual objectives established by the Compensation Committee. Pursuant to
the employment agreement, upon completion of the Recapitalization, Mr. Graham will be granted options
under the Company’s 1994 Stock Incentive Plan to purchase a total of 350,000 shares of Common Stock at
the initial public offering price, which options will vest one year after grant and will expire after ten years.
Vesting of the options will accelerate upon Mr. Graham's death, disability, involuntary termination without
cause or termination with the Company’s consent. Mr. Graham will be entitled to exercise the options for six
years after the date he ceases to be a member of the Board of Directors. Pursuant to the employment
agreement, Mr. Graham also will be issued 150,000 restricted stock units, all of which will vest upon his 70th
birthday (January 26, 1997). Mr. Graham has agreed to remain affiliated with the Company until his 70th
birthday. Vesting of the units will accelerate upon Mr. Graham's death, disability or involuntary termination
without cause (to be defined in the employment agreement). Mr. Graham may elect to accumulate and
reinvest any dividends on a pre-tax basis. The employment agreement also provides for Mr. Graham's use of a
Company leased automobile, Company air travel and participation in the Company’s employee benefit plans
and programs. If Mr. Graham's employment is terminated within the first year of the employment agreement
for any reason other than cause, he will receive the balance of payments due for that year.

Severance Arrangements

Upon completion of the Recapitalization, each of the Company’s officers (other than Mr. Graham) and
certain other key managers will be covered by severance agreements which provide for severance payments
and certain other benefits in the event of a diminution of the covered employee’s salary or responsibility or a
termination of such employee’s employment other than for cause as defined in the agreements. Upon the
occurrence of an event which triggers these benefits, a covered employee would be entitled to (i) a lump sum
severance payment equal to 24 months’ pay for the president and any vice presidents and 18 months' pay for
other covered employces (“the severance payment period”); (ii) a lump sum payment under the Annual
Management Incentive Plan for the relevant severance payment period based upon the actual payment under
that plan for the year preceding the triggering event; (iii) the immediate lapse of all restrictions related to
Restricted Stock granted under the Company’s 1994 Stock Incentive Plan; (iv) the right to exercise any stock
options granted under that plan within three years from the date of termination; and (v) coverage under the
Company’s welfare benefit plans (including life, health and other insurance benefits) during the severance
payment period. '

Annual Management Incentive Plan
The Company established the Annual Management Incentive Plan effective January 1, 1993. Under the

plan, full-time management employees whose participation has been approved by the chief executive officer
can qualify to receive an incentive award. The award is comprised of two components: (1) achieving the
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financial targets established for the plan (based on pre-tax income before special charges and extraordinary
items) which is weighted at 75% of the total award, and (2) achicving individual objectives which is weighted
at 25% of the total award. Financial targets arc cstablished by the Compensation Committee. Individual
objectives are established by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company subject to approval by the
Compensation Committee. Awards for 1993 were paid on January 31, 1994.

AK Steel Holding Corporation 1994 Stock Incentive Plan

On January 13, 1994, the stockholders of the Company approved the AK Steel Holding Corporation 1994
Stock Incentive Plan (the “SIP"). The SIP, which is 1o be administered by the Compensation Committee,
permits the grant of Nonqualified Stock Options (cxcluding incentive stock options as defined in Section 422
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code™)) and Restricted Stock, to directors and to
executive and key management employees of the Company.

A total of 2,300,000 shares of Common Stock of the Company is available under the SIP, subject to anti-
dilution adjustment in the event of a merger, recapitalization or other change in corporate structure. Grants of
stock options exercisable for up to 1,916,667 shares will be made by means of, and be subject to the terms of,
an Award Agreement specilying the option price, duration, number of shares subject to the option and
conditions of exercise. The option price may be not less than the fair market value of a share on the date of the
grant. Awards may not be exercised during the first six months following the date of grant (or such longer
period as may be specified in the Award Agreement) or after the tenth anniversary of the date of grant.
Payment upon excrcisc may be made in cash or its equivalent or by tendering shares held for at least
six months. Cashless exercises will be permitted if in accordance with Regulation T of the Federal Reserve
Board and applicable securities laws. Awards of up to 383,333 shares of Restricted Stock will be made by
means of and subject to the terms of an Award Agreement specifying the number of shares of Restricted
Stock. Restrictions on the transfer of shares of Restricted Stock will lapse as to 25% of the shares on each of
the second, third, fourth and fifth anniversary of the date of grant. In all cases, the Compensation Committee
will retain the right to accelerate the exercisability of an option and to waive restrictions in respect of
Restricted Stock. The Company expects to award to each SIP participant one share of Restricted Stock for
every five shares subject to options. Upon his or her election to the Board, each non-employee director will be
awarded options under the SIP to purchase 5,000 shares. In addition, one-half of each non-employee director’s
annual fee for service on the Board will be paid in shares of Restricted Stock and the remainder will be paid, at
the director’s option, in cash or shares of Restricted Stock.

A stock option will expire upon voluntary termination of employment or involuntary termination for
cause. The award will remain exercisable for three years following the date of an optionee’s death, retirement,
disability or involuntary termination for reasons other than cause or retirement. Restricted Stock awards will

be forfeited upon termination -of employment for reasons other than retirement, death or dxsabthty or as
provided in the severance agreements described above.

It is expected that grants totalling approximately 1,600,000 shares .of Common Stock will be made under
the SIP to Mr. Graham and other key management members following consummation of the Recapitaliza-
tion. It is expected that the grants to management members will be in the aggregate approximately 6.6% of the

outstanding shares of the Company following the Recapitalization.

Pension Plans

The following table shows the maximum annual pension benefits payable under the Company’s
Noncontributory Pension Plan (the “Pension Plan™) as in effect for both corporate staff and employees of the
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Company as of January 1, 1993 before applying the maximum limitations of the Code and before reduction for
S0% of the social security benefit received at retirement.

Average Covered Compens'atlon

D'{,'::g'::‘:‘;:" ioc;::::“:}“ Annual Regular Pension Benefits for Years of Service Shown
Service S Years 10 Years 15 Years 20 Years 30 Years 40 Years

$100,000 $ 7,875 $ 15,750 $ 23,625 $ 31,500 $ 47,250 $ 63,000

200,000 15,750 31,500 47,250 63,000 94,500 126,000
300,000 23,625 47,250 70,875 94,500 141,750 189,000
400,000 31,500 63,000 94,500 126,000 189,000 252,000
500,000 39,375 78,750 118,125 151,500 236,250 315,000
600,000 47,250 94,500 141,750 189,000 283,500 378,000
200,000 55125 110,250 165375 220,500 330,750  441.000
800,000 63,000 126,000 189,000 252,000 378,000 504,000

The Pension Plan provides a lifetime income upon an employee’s retirement at or after having attained
age 65 and having completed at least five years of scrvice, or upon an carlier date if various stated conditions
are satisfied. If an employee’s most recent date of hire was before January 1, 1992, the employee’s pension
accrues under one of three basic formulas, the higher of which establishes the employee’s monthly pension
benefit entitlement (the “Pension Provisions™). If the employee’s date of hire is on or after January 1, 1992,
the employee's pension accrues under an alternate cash balance formula (the “Cash Balance Provisions™).
Both formulas are described below. Benefits paid under the Pension Provisions are subject to reductions for
(i) amounts paid under other Company pension plans (excluding amounts attributable to contributions made
by the employee); (ii) amounts paid duc to discharge, liquidation, dismissal or severance allowance;
(iii) amounts paid on account of injury or occupational disease incurred in the course of employment with the
Company pursuant to Workers’ Compensation or other law; and (iv) one-half of the social security benefits
reccived at age 62.

Under the Pension Provisions, which are applicable to Mr. Alexander and most of the other officers, key
management members and employees, an employee’s average pensionable earnings is determined based upon
the highest 60 consecutive months of service during the last 120 consecutive months of service (based upon
the 12 months’ periods ending on the last day of the month in which retirement becomes effective).

Mr. Alexander has 29 years of credited service. If his employment were continued until mandatory
retirement at age 65 at the 1993 rate of remuneration, Mr. Alexander would receive a yearly pension of
$85,512. Messrs. Graham, Yanagashima, Wardrop and Essig are not eligible for benefits under the Pension
Provisions.

Under the Cash Balance Provisions, which are applicable to Messrs. Graham, Wardrop, Essig and other
employees hired on or after January 1, 1992, employees have an account that accumulates credits based upon
length of service in accordance with the following table:

Years of Service Pay-Base Credit
One, butlessthan 10..................0e 2.0% of Covered Compensation
10,butlessthan 20 ............couvnnnnn 2.5% of Covered Compensation
20, but lessthan 25 ..........cccvevvnnnn 3.0% of Covered Compensation
25, butlessthan 30 ...........cceevvennn 3.5% of Covered Compensation
J0andabove..........ciiiiiiiiinnnennns 4,0% of Covered Compensation

Annual interest credits are made to each account at the beginning of each year based upon the previous
year’s balance. The rate is based upon the preceding year’s average rate for one-year Treasury Bills. Accounts
vest in five years and are payable in a lump-sum, as a lifetime annuity. or as a joint and surviver annuity
commencing upon retirement on or after age 65. Messrs. Graham, Wardrop and Essig have 1.7, 1.5 and 1.4
years of credited service, respectively. If each works until the later of age 65 or the completion of § years of
credited service at the 1993 rate of remuneration, they would receive a lump sum payment of $16,577, $92,667
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and $242,613 respe'ctively. Benefits paid under the Cash Balance Provisions are not subject to reduction for
social security or other payments received by the employee.

In the case of both the Pension Provisions and the Cash Balance Provisions, compensation in excess of
$235,840 ($150,000 in 1994, as adjusied from year to year by the Secretary of the Treasury) must be
disregarded and pension benefits may not exceed the value permitted under Section 415 of the Code.

The AK Steel Holding Corporation Executive Minimum and Supplemental Retirement Plan (the
“MRP") provides a supplemental pension benefit to selected officers and members of key management whose
pension under the Pension Plan is limited by the Code provisions or by reason of short service with the
Company. The MRP provides that the aggregate pension benefit for an elected officer will be not less than
45% of the officer’s average covered compensation determined under the Pension Plan provisions discussed
above. The aggregate pension includes the pension payable under the Pension Plan, and any pension benefit
paid or payable by any former employer, with benefits generally commencing upon retirement under the
Pension Plan in most cases. An officer who retires prior to attaining age 62 will not receive an MRP 45%
pension benefit supplement until attaining age 62. MRP benefits are payable from the general assets of the
Company. The MRP was amended effective as of January 1, 1994 to create a “Rabbi Trust” to fund benefit
payments under the Pension Provisions, Cash Balance Provisions and company thrift plan which would
otherwise be limited by the limitations imposed by Sections 401(a)(17) and 415 of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986. The Rabbi Trust and all assets held by the Rabbi Trust conform to the terms of the model trust
described in Revenue Procedure 92-64, IRS 1992-93, and will be accounted for using the accrual method as
the benefits are earned. If Messrs. Wardrop, Essig and Alexander continue their employment to age 65, at
their 1993 rate of remuneration, Messrs. Wardrop, Essig and Alexander would qualify for a monthly pension
under the MRP of $9,169, $7,513 and $3,703, respectively.

Covered compensation under cach plan described above includes Salary and Bonus but excludes All
Other Compensation as reported in the Summary Compensation Table.
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OWNERSHIP OF COMMON STOCK

The following table sets forth, as of the date of this Prospectus (after giving effect to the Recapitalization
and based upon an assumed initial public offering price of $22.50 per share), certain information with respect
to the beneficial ownership of the Common Stock by each person known by the Company to own beneficially
more than five percent of the Common Stock, by each director and director nomince of the Company, by each
executive officer named in the table on page 53 and by all directors and executive officers of the Company
as a group.

Amount and Nature of Percent

Name of Beneficial Owner Beneficial Ownership of Class(1)
Kawasaki Steel Corporation (2) ...cvvvieeiienrenrreeannanenaanas 5,468,381 22.7
Hibiya, Kokusai Buildin
2-3, Uchisaiwaicho, 2-Chome
Chiyoda-Ku, Tokyo 100 Japan
Thomas C. Grahgm (3) ......cvoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiienennnn, 572,222 24
James F.Will (4) ....cooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiiiieia, 5,000
Kanji Emoto (5) .....covniiiinriinineeineacisenrennennessnnsens 5,000
Cyrus Tang (6) ...ccvvveeieneinreeenranrinissecesnranronananans 5,000
Dr. Bonnie Guiton Hill (6) .........ccoviiiiiiniiniiinianiennn, 5,000
John A. Georges (6) ....ocvvnriiinreiennrnneeroostesasennnenas 5,000
Robert E. Northam (6).......ccccvevriiiennecarsractonnnennnnes 5,000
Fumiya Yanagishima ............coiiiiiiiiiiinniiaiiiannnnnnnas -
Richard M. Wardrop, Jr. (7) ....coiiiieiiiiiiiiiiiencecarennnnnns 180,000
Mark G. Essig (8) -.ccvvviiiiiniiiiiriiireniiiarinniiiaiianneens 120,000
David F. Alexander (9)....ccvvvverireniennreritrenecrennsannnas 48,000
All directors, director nominees and executive officers as a group
(1S persons) (4)(5)(10) ....cvirminriniiiiiiiiiiiiinrnnnanans 1,154,222 43

(1) Rounded to the nearest one-tenth of one percent. No percentage is given for shares representing less
than 1%.

(2) Includes shares owned by subsidiaries.

(3) Includes 350,000 shares subject to stock options to be awarded under the SIP, 150,000 restricted stock
units and an estimated 72,222 shares which will be paid to Mr. Graham pursuant to his existing
agreement with the Partnership (sec footnote 3 to the Summary Compensation Table above in
“Management — Executive Compensation — Summary of Compensation™).

(4) Shares subject to stock options to be granted under the SIP. Excludes the 1,023,937 shares of Common
Stock to be owned by Armco, of which Mr. Will is President and Chiefl Executive Officer, as to which
. he disclaims beneficial ownership.

(5) Shares subject to stock options to be granted under the SIP. Excludes the 5,468,381 shares of Common
Stock to be owned by Kawasaki, of which Mr. Emoto is Managing Director, as to which he disclaims
beneficial ownership. :

(6) Shares subject to stock options to be granted under the SIP.

(7) Includes 150,000 shares subject to stock options and 30,000 shares subject to restricted stock awards to
be granted under the SIP.

(8) Includes 100,000 shares subject to stock options and 20,000 shares subject to restricted stock awards to
be granted under the SIP.

(9) Includes 40,000 shares subject to stock options and 8,000 shares subject to restricted stock awards to be
granted under the SIP. :

(10) Except for 72,222 shares of Common Stock owned by Mr. Graham, all of these shares are subject to
stock options or awards of restricted stock to be granted under the SIP.
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

During 1990, 1991, 1992 and 1993, the Company was party to certain transactions with Armco,
Kawasaki, and their affiliates, consisting of charges to and from the Company for various services rendered and
inventory purchased from Armco, as follows:

Services provided to Armco and affiliates by the Company:

19% 1991 1992 1993

Data processing ........oceemvernrnracntetariiaiaine, $49. $36 $31 S§14
Administrative and accounting . .......cieininieniaan.. 24 1.9 0.9 0.7
Processing services and other materials.................. 29 39 20 —_
Processing and conversion........ocvveeervinernennans. 0.6 0.9 4.6 133
Purchasing and selling ........ccooeviiiiiiiiiinni,, 0.3 0.2 0.1 —
Total ..covniiiiiiii ittt it $1l.1 $105  $10.7  $154

Services provided to the Company by Armco, Kawasaki and their affiliates, and inventory purchases from
Armco:

v ;o wm
Stainless purchases .......ccccvvntienerneriernencins, $75 $87 S$I153 $20.2
Research and engineering ..........cociiiaiiiiiiia,, 11.1 1.6 9.8 4.0
L0 11 1.8 2.5 0.3 0.8

Total L..oiiiii e $204 $228  $254  $25.0

Selling and administrative expenses are provided on a cost basis while processing and materials are
provided on an arm's-length basis.

In the ordinary course of its business, the Company regularly rolls certain grades of steel produced by
Armco for resale by Armco and recently entered into a ten-year agreement with respect to these services. The
Company's charges for its rolling services on behalfl of Armco are determined on an arm’s-length basis and,
during 1993, aggregated approximately $13.3 million.

Armco has made a capital contribution of $20.0 million to the Company which the Company will use for
the purchase of certain specialized equipment used in rolling steel, including stainless steel. Of this amount,
$0.6 million was contributed in 1992 and the balance was contributed during 1993.

Sales to Armco, Kawasaki and their affiliates amounted to $101.2 million, $89.8 million, $85.9 million
and $36.7 million during 1990, 1991, 1992 and 1993 respectively. Other miscellancous sales to Armco,
Kawasaki and their affiliates for these periods amounted to $5.0 million, $2.5 million, $1.7 million and
$0.7 million, respectively. See Note 6 of “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.”

After the Recapitalization, the Company expects to continue rolling steel for Armco pursuant to the
ten-year agreement referred to above. The Company also may continue to purchase and sell steel products to
Armco and Kawasaki on arm’s-length terms.

Pursuant to an Advisor Agreement dated May 18, 1989 between the Company and Kawasaki, cach party
agreed to make certain technical personnel available to the other party to provide technical advice and
problem analysis with regard to the requesting partics’ steel operations. The party rendering such services
agreed to supply technical advisors at the recipient parties’ facilities for a per diem fee. Management expects
that this agreement will continue following consummation of the Recapitalization.

Pursuant to the Joint Venture Formation Agreement dated March 24, 1989 between Armco and
Kawasaki (the “Formation Agreement™), the Company is obligated to indemnify each of Armco and
Kawasaki for losses relating to, among other things, the Company’s-management, control, ownership and
operation of its business and for liabilitics (including environmental and employee-related liabilities) relating
to its business. Following the Recapitalization, the Company will continue to have this indemnification
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obligation. Under thie Formation Agreement, Armco is obligated to indemnify the Company for (i) certain
supplemental unemployment benefit payments triggered by events occurring prior to the Partnership’s
formation, up to a maximum of $16.5 million, and (ii) 50% of its costs to exit Eveleth if such exit occurs prior
to May 13, 1996. In connection with the Recapitalization, the Company, Armco and Kawasaki have agreed to
terminate these indemnification obligations of Armco.

The Company and Kawasaki intend to enter into an agreement pursuant to which, among other things,
the Company will agree that, for so long as Kawasaki beneficially owns not less than 15% of the outstanding
shares of Common Stock, the Company will take all action necessary to nominate and support the nomination
of one person designated by Kawasaki for election as a director of the Company and to solicit proxies in favor
of (and otherwise recommend to stockholders) the election of such nominee as a director.

The Company has $100.0 million of subordinated debt due to an affiliate of Kawasaki. This debt will be
exchanged for Common Stock pursuant to the Equity-Indebtedness Exchange. See “The Recapitalization.”

As indicated under “The Recapitalization™, cach of Armco and Kawasaki is to receive 1,023,937 shares
of Common Stock in exchange for its equity interests in the Partnership. This number of shares is based on the
assumption that the initial public offering price will be within the range of $21 and $24 per share. The
Company has agreed with cach of Armco and Kawasaki that if the initial public offering price is greater than
$24 per share, then the number of shares to be issued to each of Armco and Kawasaki in exchange for its
equity interests in the Partnership will increase. In such event, the additional shares for Armco and Kawasaki
shall equal onc-third of (i) the excess of the initial public offering price per share over $24 (net of
underwriting discounts), multiplied by (ii) the number of shares sold in the Common Stock Offering
(excluding any shares sold pursuant to the exercise of the U.S. Underwriters’ and Managers’ over-allotment
option), and divided by (iii) the initial public offering price per share. If the initial public offering price is less
than $21 per share, then the number of shares to be issued to Armco and Kawasaki in exchange for their

equity interests in the Partnership will be reduced to an amount to be agreed upon prior to the establishment
of the initial public offering price.

The Company intends to enter into agreements with Kawasaki, Armco and Mr. Graham for the shelf
.registration under the Securities Act (at the Company's expense) of the Common Stock to be owned by each.
Scc “Shares Eligible For Future Sale.”

Prior to the Recapitalization, the indebtedness which financed the Company’s No. 1 EGL (which will be
paid in full) was partly secured with $8.8 million of cash collateral provided by Armco.




DESCRIPTION OF CERTAIN INDEBTEDNESS

The following is a description of the principal terms for AK Steel's debt as restructured after the
Recapitalization. Copies of the definitive agreements setting forth the terms of such debt have been filed as
exhibits to the Registration Statement of which this Prospectus is a part. The following summaries of certain
provisions of such agreements do not purport to be complete and are subject to, and are qualified in their
entirety by reference to, all of the provisions of such agreements. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined
herein have the respective meanings set forth in such agreements.

Bank and Other Lender Debt

Immediately after the Recapitalization, AK Steel will have outstanding $99.0 million principal amount of
term indebtedness owed to banks and other lenders, not including the subordinated debt held by Holding
pursuam to the Equity-Indebtedness Exchange. This indebtedness will represent the principal amounts
remaining on pre-Recapitalization debt as follows: $31.8 million to The Dai-Ichi Kangyo Bank Limited
(New York Branch) (the “DKB Loan"); $29.8 million to Nissho Iwai American Corporation (“NIAC") for
projects at the Middletown Works' hot-rolling mill and the Ashland Works® caster (the “NIAC Loan");
$28.4 million to ITOCHU for the construction of the No. 2 EGL (the “ITOCHU Loan"); and $9.0 million in
miscellancous debt.

The DKB Loan

The Partnership entered into a Credit Agreement dated as of May 15, 1989 with DKB, as amended,
pursuant to which DKB loaned $100 million to the Partnership to defease certain debt previously issued by
Armco. $55.0 million principal amount is currently outstanding with respect to such loan. As part of the
Recapitalization, AK Steel will assume all of the obligations of the Partnership with respect to such
indebtedness, $23.2 million principal amount of such indebtedness will be prepaid and the terms of the
remaining indebtedness will be amended and restated as set forth in an Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement (the “Amended DKB Agreement™).

Amount, Interest Rate and Amortization. The principal amount of the DKB Loan immediately after the
Recapitalization will be $31.8 million. The DKB Loan will bear interest at a fixed rate of 9.57%. Scheduled
principal repayments will be $5.0 million in 1995, $10.0 million in each of 1996 and 1997, and a final payment
of $6.8 million in 1998. In addition, 50% of annual Excess Cash Flow (as defined in the Amended DKB
Agreement) for each fiscal year commencing with the year ending December 31, 1994 will be applied to
prepay the DKB Loan and the NIAC Loan on a pro rata basis. Such prepayments in respect of any year will
not cxceed 30% of the aggregate principal amount of the DKB Loan and the NIAC Loan then outstanding.

Guaranty. The DKB Loan will be guaranteed by Holding and AK Stecl’s Significant Subsidiaries
(other than Non-Recourse Subsidiaries).

Security. The DKB Loan will be secured by a pledge of AK Steel’s Inventory that will also secure the
NIAC Loan and, subject to certain borrowing base limitations, indebtedness to other lenders under
agreements which AK Steel may enter into in the future.

Conditions. The effectiveness of the Amended DKB Agreement is subject to a number of conditions,

including (i) completion of the Recapitalization, (ii) payment of certain fees and expenses of DKB and its
agents, (iii) accuracy of representations and warranties and (iv) absence of any Default.

Representations and Warranties. The Amended DKB Agreement contains a number of customary
. representations and warranties, including those with respect to (i) organization and good standing,
(ii) authorization and enforceability of the loan documents, (iii) litigation, (iv) financial condition,
(v) absence of material adverse change, (vi) compliance with laws, (vii) employee benefit plans and
employee matters, (viii) payment of taxes, (ix) indebtedness, (x) title to properties, (xi) liens, (xii) solvency,
(xiii) securities activities, (xiv) collective bargaining agréements, (xv) pari passu ranking,
(xvi) environmental matters, and (xvii) full disclosure



DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of 75,000,000 shares of Common Stock and
25,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par valuc $0.01 per share, issuable in series (the “Preferred Stock™). The
following summary description of the capital stock of the Company is qualified in its entirety by reference to
the Centificate of Incorporation and the Bylaws of the Company, copies of which have been filed as exhibits to
the Registration Statement of which this Prospectus is a part.

Common Stock
Dividends

The holders of Common Stock will be entitled to receive dividends when and as dividends are declared by
the Board of Directors of the Company out of funds legally available therefor, provided that if any shares of
the Preferred Stock are at the time outstanding, the payment of dividends on the Common Stock or other
distributions may be subject to the declaration and payment of full cumulative dividends on outstanding shares
of Preferred Stock. The Company is restricted in the payment of cash dividends on the Common Stock by
covenants contained in certain of the Company's financing arrangements. See “Dividend Policy” and
“Description of Certain Indebtedness.”

Voting Rights

Holders of Common Stock are entitled to one vote per share.

No Preemptive Rights

A The holders of Common Stock are not entitled to preemptive or subscription rights.
Transferability

There is no restriction on the transfer of Common Stock. However, Kawasaki has agreed for a period of
365 days after the Common Stock Offering (with respect to the shares of Common Stock received by it in the
Equity-Indebtedness Exchange), and each 'of Kawasaki (with respect to its remaining shares), Armco and
Mr. Graham has agreed for a period of 180 days after the Common Stock Offering, not to sell any of their
shares of Common Stock without the prior written consent of CS First Boston, as representative of the
U.S. Underwriters, and CSFB, on behalf of the Managers. See “Underwriting.”

Transfer Agent and Registrar of Common Stock
The transfer agent and registrar for the Common Stock is The Bank of New York.

Preferred Stock

Pursuant to the Certificate of Incorporation, the Board of Directors is authorized to establish and
designate one or more series of Preferred Stock, without further authorization of the Company’s stockholders,
and to fix the number of shares, the dividend and the relative rights, preferences and limitations of any such
series. Thus, any serics may, if so determined by the Board of Directors, have full voting rights with the
Common Stock or superior or limited voting rights, be convertible into Common Stock or another security of
the Company, and have other relative rights, preferences and limitations as the Board of Directors shall
determine. As a result, any class or series of Preferred Stock could have rights that would adversely affect the
voting power of the Common Stock. The shares of any class or series of Preferred Stock need not be identical.

Business Combination Statute

Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law prohibits certain transactions between a Delaware
corporation and an “interested stockholder,” which is defined as a person who, together with any affiliates
and/or associates of that person, beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, 15% or more of the outstanding
voting shares of a Delaware corporation. This provision prohibits certain business combinations (defined
broadly to include mergers, consolidations, sales or other dispositions of assets having an aggregate value in
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excess of 10% of the consolidated assets of the corporation, and certain transactions that would increase the
interested stockholder's proportionate share ownership in the corporation) between an interested stockholder
and a corporation for a period of three years after the date the interested stockholder acquired its stock, unless
(i) the business combination is approved by the corporation’s board of directors prior to the date the interested
stockholder acquired shares; (ii) the interested stockholder acquired at least 85% of the voting stock of the
corporation in the transaction in which it became an interested stockholder; or (iii) the business combination
is approved by a majority of the board of directors and by the affirmative vote of two-thirds of the votes
entitled to be cast by disintercsted stockholders at an annual or special meeting.

SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE

Upon completion of the Common Stock Offering, the Company will have 24,136,762 shares of Common
Stock outstanding and an additional 50,863,238 shares of Common Stock authorized for possible future
issuance. The Common Stock sold in the Common Stock Offering will be freely tradeable without restriction
or further registration under the Securitics Act, except for ‘any shares purchased by an “affiliate” of the
Company that will be subject to the resale limitations of Rule 144 under the Securities Act (“Rule 144™).
Sales of substantial amounts of Common Stock in the public market following this offering could adversely
affect the market price of the Common Stock.

Under Rule 144, “restricted securities” that have been held for two years may be publicly sold, provided
that the amount of securities sold within any three-month period does not exceed the greater of 1% of the then
outstanding Common Stock or the average weekly trading volume in the Common Stock in composite trading
on all exchanges during the four calendar weeks preceding that sale. Sales under Rule 144 are also subject to
certain manner-of-sale provisions, notice requirements and availability of current public information about the
Company. If three years have clapsed since the date of acquisition of restricted securities from the Company
or from any affiliate of the Company, and the acquiror or subsequent holder thereof is deemed not to have
been an affiliate of the Company for at least three months immediately preceding the sale, that person may sell
those securities under Rule 144 without regard to the volume and other limitations described above. The
foregoing summary of Rule 144 is not intended to be a complete description thereof.

In connection with the Recapitalization, 5,468,381 shares of Common Stock will be held by Kawasaki,
1,023,937 shares of Common Stock will be held by Armco and 72,222 shares of Common Stock will be held
by Mr. Graham. Kawasaki has agreed for a period of 365 days (with respect to the shares of Common Stock
received by it in the Equity-Indebtedness Exchange), and each of Kawasaki (with respect to its remaining
shares), Armco and Mr. Graham has agreed for a period of 180 days, without the prior consent of CS First
Boston, as representative of the U.S. Underwriters, and CSFB, on behalf of the Managers, not to issue, sell or
contract to sell or otherwise dispose of any shares of Common Stock or any securities convertible into or
exchangeable for Common Stock or grant options or warrants to purchase any shares of Common Stock
(other than in connection with employee benefit plans). See “Underwriting.” The Company intends to file
with the Commission and maintain in effect shelf registration statements under the Securities Act relating to
the sale of these shares and to pay all expenses associated therewith.

Prior to the Common Stock Offering there has been no public market for the Common Stock, and no
prediction can be made as to the effect, if any, that sales of shares of Common Stock under Rule 144 or the
future availability of such shares for sale will have on the market price of the Common Stock prevailing from
time to time following this offering. Nevertheless, sales of substantial amounts of Common Stock in the public
market, or the perception that such sales could occur, could adversely affect prevailing market prices for the
Common Stock.

CERTAIN UNITED STATES FEDERAL INCOME AND ESTATE TAX CONSIDERATIONS FOR
NON-U.S. HOLDERS OF COMMON STOCK

The lollowing is a summary of certain U.S. federal income and estate tax consequences of the ownership
and disposition of Common Stock by holders who are non-U.S. holders (as defined below). This summary
discusses only Common Stock held as “capital assets” (as defined in the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the “Code™)) by the holders thereof. This summary does not discuss all aspects of United States
federal income and estate taxation that may be relevant to a particular non-U.S. holder of Common Stock in
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light of its individual investment circumstances. This discussion does not address the tax consequences to
sharcholders, partners, or beneficiaries in 2 non-U.S. holder. Further, it does not consider non-U.S. holders
subject to special tax treatment under the federal income tax laws (including dealers in securities, holders of
securities held as part of a “straddle,” hedge, or “conversion transaction,” or situations in which the

“functional currency” within the meaning of Section 985(b) of the Code of 2 holder is not the United States
dollar).

The following discussion is based upon the Code, the applicable Treasury regulations promulgated and
proposed thereunder, judicial authority and current administrative rulings and practices. All of the foregoing

are subject to change (possibly on a retroactive basis) and any such change could affect the continuing validity
of this discussion,

For purposes hereof, a “non-U.S. holder” means any person other than: (i) a citizen or resident of the
United States; (ii) a corporation or partnership created or organized in the United States or under the laws of
the United States or of any state; or (iii) an estate or trust whose income is includible in gross income for
United States federal income tax purposes regardless of its source. For purposes of the withholding tax on
dividends discussed below, a non-resident alien or other non-resident fiduciary of an estate or trust will be
considered a non-U.S. holder. '

For purposes of the following discussion, dividend income and gain on the sale, exchange or retirement of
Common Stock will be “United States trade or business income” if such income or gain is (i) eflectively
connected with a trade or business carried on by the non-U.S. holder within the United States or (ii) if a tax
treaty applies, attributable to permanent establishment (or in the case of an individual, a fixed place of
business) in the United States. United States trade or business income would be taxed at regular United
States federal income tax rates. In the case of a non-U.S. holder that is a corporation, such United States
trade or business income may also be subject to the branch profits tax (which is generally imposed on a foreign
corporation on the actual or deemed repatriation from the United States of earnings and profits attributable to
United States trade or business income) at a 30% rate. The branch profits tax may not apply (or may apply at

a reduced rate) if a recipient is a qualified resident of certain countries with which the United States has an
income tax treaty. :

THE FOLLOWING SUMMARY IS INCLUDED HEREIN FOR GENERAL INFORMATION
ONLY. ACCORDINGLY, EACH NON-U.S. HOLDER OF COMMON STOCK SHOULD CONSULT
ITS OWN TAX ADVISOR AS TO THE SPECIFIC TAX CONSEQUENCES TO SUCH NON-US.
HOLDER OF THE OWNERSHIP AND DISPOSITION OF COMMON STOCK, INCLUDING THE

APPLICATION AND EFFECT OF UNITED STATES FEDERAL, STATE AND LOCAL AND FOR-
EIGN INCOME AND OTHER TAX LAWS.

Dividends

Generally, dividends paid to a non-U.S. holder of Common Stock that are not United States trade or
business income will be subject to federal withholding tax at a 30% rate or such lower rate as may be specified
by an applicable income tax treaty. Dividends paid to an address outside the United States in a forcign country
are presumed (absent definite knowledge to the contrary) to be paid to a resident of such country for purposes
of determining the applicability of a tax treaty rate. Thus, non-U.S. holders receiving dividends at addresses
outside the United States are not currently required to file tax forms to obtain the bencfit of an applicable
treaty rate. If there is excess withholding on a person eligible for a treaty benefit, the person can file for a
refund with the United States Internal Revenue Service (the “Service™). Proposed Treasury Regulations, if
finally adopted, however, would require non-U.S. holders to file certain forms to obtain the benefit of any
applicable U.S. tax treaty. Such forms would be required to contain the holder's name and address and,
subject to a de minimis exception, an official statement by the competent authority of the relevant foreign
country (as designated in the applicable tax treaty) attesting to the holder’s status as a resident thereof.

Generally, upon the filing of a Form 4224 with the Company, there is no withholding tax on dividends
that are effectively connected with the non-U.S. holder’s conduct of a trade or business within the United
States. The same is true, if a tax treaty so provides (and the appropriate form is filed), for certain dividends
attributable to a permanent establishment, or in the case of an individual, a “fixed base,” in the United States.
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Gain on Disposition of Common Stock

Generally, a non-U.S. holder will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on gain realized from a sale or
other disposition of Common Stock unless (i) the gain is United States trade or business income, (ii) the
holder is an individual present in the United States for 183 days or more during the year of the disposition and
certain other conditions are met, (iii) the non-U.S. holder is subject to tax pursuant to the provisions of the
U.S. tax law attributable to certain United States expatriates or (iv) the Company has been or becomes a
“U.S. real property holding corporation™ for United States federal income tax purposes and the holder
disposing of the Common Stock owned, directly or indirectly, at any time during the five-year period preceding
the disposition, more than 5% of the Common Stock. The Company belicves that it has not been, and the
Company does not anticipate becoming, a “U.S. real property holding corporation.” Non-U.S. corporations
also might be subject to the “branch profits tax™ regime discussed above. Non-U.S. holders should consult
applicable treatics, which may provide for different rules.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding Tax

Generally, the Company must report annually to the Service the amount of dividends paid, the name and
address of the recipient and the amount, if any, of tax withheld. A similar report is sent to the holder. These
reporting requirements apply whether or not withholding was reduced or eliminated by an applicable tax
treaty. Pursuant to tax treatics or other agreements, the Service may make its reports available to tax
authorities in the holder’s country of residence. United States federal backup withholding (which, generally, is
withholding imposed at the rate of 31% on certain payments to persons not otherwise exempt who fail to
furnish certain identifying information to the Service) will generally not apply to dividends paid to a non-U.S.
holder that are subject to withholding at the 30% rate (or would be so subject but for a reduced rate under an
applicable treaty). In addition, the payor of dividends may rely on the payee’s foreign address in determining
that the payee is exempt from backup withholding and information reporting, unless the payor has actual
knowledge that the payee is a U.S. person.

If the proceeds of a disposition of Common Stock are paid by or through a U.S. office of a broker, the
payment is subject to information reporting and possible backup withholding unless the disposing holder
certifies under penalty of perjury as to his name, address and non-United States status or otherwise establishes
an excmption. Generally, United States information reporting and backup withholding will not apply to a
payment of disposition proceeds if the payment is made outside the United States through a non-U.S. office of
a non-U.S. broker. However, U.S. information reporting requirements (but not backup withholding) will
apply to a payment of disposition procceds if the payment is made through an office outside the United States
of a broker (i) that is a U.S. person, (ii) 50% or more of whose gross income for certain periods is effectively
connected with the conduct of a trade or business in the United States or (iii) that is a “controlled foreign
corporation” for United States federal income tax purposes unless the broker maintains documentary evidence
that the holder is a non-U.S. holder and that certain conditions are met, or the holder otherwise establishes
that it is entitled to an exemption.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules
will be refunded or credited against the non-U.S. holder's United States federal income tax liability, provided
that required information is furnished to the Service. The backup withholding and information reporting rules
are currently under review by the Treasury Department and their application to shares of Common Stock is
_ subject to change.

Federal Estate Taxes

Common Stock held at death by an individual who is neither a citizen nor a resident of the United States
for federal estate tax purposes will be included in such individual’s estate for United States federal estate tax
purposes, unless an applicable estate tax treaty provides otherwise. The definition of residence for purposes of
United States federal estate tax is different from the definition of residence for purposes of United States
federal income tax, and generally is based on domicile. Estates of nonresident aliens are generally allowed a
statutory credit which is the equwalent of an exclusion of $60,000 of assets from the United States federal
estate tax. Tax treaties may permit a larger credit.
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NOTICE TO CANADIAN RESIDENTS

Resale Restrictions

The distribution of the Common Stock in Canada is being made only on a private placement basis
exempt from the requirement that the Company prepare and file a prospectus with the securities regulatory
authorities in each province where trades of Common Stock are effected. Accordingly, any resale of the
Common Stock in Canada must be made in accordance with applicable securitics laws which will vary
depending on the relevant jurisdiction, and which may require resales to be made in accordance with available
statutory exemptions or pursuant to a discretionary exemption granted by the applicable Canadian securities
regulatory authority. Purchasers are advised to seek legal advice prior to any resale of the Common Stock.

Representations of Purchasers

Each purchaser of Common Stock in Canada who reccives a purchase confirmation will be deemed to
represent to the Company and the dealer from whom such purchase confirmation is received that (i) such
purchaser is entitled under applicable provincial securitics laws to purchase such Common Stock without the
benefit of a prospectus qualified under such securities laws, (ii) where required by law, such purchaser is

purchasing as principal and not as agent and (iii) such purchaser has reviewed the text above under “Resale
Restrictions™.

Notice to Ontario Residents

The Common Stock offered hereby is being issued by a foreign issuer and Ontario purchasers will not
receive the contractual right of action prescribed by section 32 of the Regulation under the Securities Act
(Ontario). As a result, Ontario purchasers must rely on other remedies that may be available, including

common law rights of action for damages or rescission or rights of action under the civil liability provisions of
the U.S. federal securities laws.

All of the Company's directors and officers as well as the experts named herein may be located outside of
Canada and, as a result, it may not be possible for Ontario purchasers to effect service of process within
Canada upon the Company or such persons. All or a substantial portion of the assets of the Company and such
persons may be located outside of Canada and, as a result, it may not be possible to satisfy a judgment against
the Company or such persons in Canada or to enforce a judgment obtained in Canadian courts against the
Company or persons outside of Canada.

Notice to British Columbia Residents

A purchaser of Common Stock to whom the Securities Act (British Columbia) applies is advised that
such purchaser is required to file with the British Columbia Securities Commission a report within ten days of
the sale of any Common Stock acquired by such purchaser pursuant to this offering. Such report must be in
the form attached to British Columbia Securities Commission Blanket Order BOR #88/5, a copy of which

may be obtained from the Company. Only one such report must be filed in respect of Common Stock acquired
on the same date and under the same prospectus cxemption.

:



UNDERWRITING

Under the terms and subject to the conditions contained in an Underwriting Agreement dated
1994 (the “U.S. Underwriting Agreement™), the underwriters named below (the “U.S. Underwriters™), l'or
whom CS First Boston is acting as representative, have severally agreed to purchase from the Company the
following respective numbers of U.S. Shares:

Underwriters o'?g:::::s
CS First Boston Corporation ..........ccveevarieienentneciennsaneas
X1 14,072,222

The U.S. Underwriting Agreement provides that the obligations of the U.S. Underwriters are subject to
certain conditions precedent and that the Underwriters will be obligated to purchase all of the U.S. Shares
offered hercby if any are purchased.

The Company has granted to the U.S. Underwriters and the Managers of the International Offering
(the “Managers™) an option, exercisable by CS First Boston, expiring at the close of business on the 30th day
after the date of the initial public offering of the Common Stock offered hereby, to purchase up 10 2,635,833
additional shares at the public offering price, less the underwriting discount, all as sct forth on the cover page
of this Prospectus. The U.S. Underwriters and the Managers may exercise such option only to cover over-
allotments in the sale of the shares of Common Stock offered hereby. To the extent that this option to
purchase is exercised, each U.S. Underwriter and cach Manager will become obligated, subject to certain
conditions, to purchase approximately the same percentage of optional shares being sold to the U.S.
Underwriters and the Managers as the number of shares set forth next to such U.S. Underwriter’s name in the
preceding table bears to the total number of shares in such table and as the number set forth next to such
Manager’s name in the corresponding table in the prospectus relating to the International Offering bears to the
total number of International Shares in such table.

The Company has been advised by CS First Boston that the U.S. Underwriters propose to offer the U.S.
Shares in the United States or Canada to the public initially at the public offering price set forth on the cover
page of this Prospectus and, through CS First Boston, to certain dealers at such price less a concession of
$ per share; that the Underwriters and such dealers may allow a discount of § per share on sales to
certain other dealers; and that after the initial public offering, the public offering price and concession and
discount to dealers may be changed upon the mutual agreement of CS First Boston, as representative of the
U.S. Underwriters, and CSFB, on behalf of the Managers.

The Company has entered into a Subscription Agreement (the “Subscription Agreement™) with the
Managers providing for the concurrent offer and sale of the International Shares outside the United States and
Canada. The public offering price, the aggregate underwriting discount per share and per share discount to
dealers for the U.S. Offering and the concurrent International Offering will be identical. The closing of the
U.S. Offering is a condition to the closing of the International Offering and vice versa.

Pursuant to an Agreement between the U.S. Underwriters and Managers (the “Agreement Between”)
relating to the Common Stock Offerings, each of the U.S. Underwriters has agreed or will agree that, as part
of the distribution of the U.S. Shares and subject to certain exceptions, (a) it is not purchasing any shares of
Common Stock for the account of anyone other than a U.S. or Canadian Person (as defined below) and (b) it
has not offered or sold, and will not offer or sell, directly or indirectly, any shares of Common Stock or
distribute any prospectus relating to the Common Stock to any person outside the United States or Canada or
to anyone other than a U.S. or Canadian Person nor to any dealer who does not so agree. Each of the
Managers has agreed or will agree that, as part of the distribution of the International Shares and subject to
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certain exceptions, (i) it is not purchasing any shares of Common Stock for the account of any U.S. or
Canadian Person and (ii) it has not offered or sold, and will not offer or sell, directly or indirectly, any shares
of Common Stock or distribute any prospectus relating to the Common Stock in the United States or Canada
or to any U.S. or Canadian Person nor to any dealer who does not so agree. The foregoing limitations do not
apply to stabilization transactions or to transactions between the U.S. Underwriters and the Managers
pursuant to the Agreement Between. As used herein, “United States™ means the United States of America
(including the States and the District of Columbia), its territorics, possessions and other areas subject to its
jurisdiction, “Canada” means Canada, its provinces, territories, possessions and other areas subject to its
jurisdiction, and “U.S. or Canadian Person™ means a citizen or resident of the United States or Canada, or a
corporation, partnership or other entity created or organized in or under the laws of the United States or
Canada (other than a foreign branch of such an entity) or an estate or trust the income of which is subject to
United States or Canadian federal income taxation, regardiess of its source of income, and includes any
United States or Canadian branch of a non-U.S. or non-Canadian Person.

Pursuant to the Agreement Between, sales may be made between the U.S. Underwriters and the
Managers of such number of shares of Common Stock as may be mutually agreed upon. The price of any
shares so sold shall be the initial public offering price, less such amount as may be mutually agreed upon by
CS First Boston, as representative of the U.S. Underwriters, and CSFB, on behalf of the Managers, but not
exceeding the selling concession applicable to such shares. To the extent there are sales between the U.S.
Underwriters and the Managers pursuant to the Agreement Between, the number of shares of Common Stock
initially available for sale by the U.S. Underwriters or by the Managers may be more or less than the amount
appearing on the cover page of the Prospectus. Neither the U.S. Underwriters nor the Managers are obligated
to purchase from the other any unsold shares of Common Stock.

CS First Boston and the Managers have informed the Company that they do not expect discretionary
sales by the Underwriters and the Managers to exceed 5% of the number of shares of their underwriting
commitments.

The Company has agreed to indemnify the U.S. Underwriters and the Managers against certain
liabilities, including civil liabilities under the Securities Act, or contribute to payments that the U.S.
Underwriters and the Managers may be required to make in respect thereof.

Kawasaki has agreed for a period of 365 days after the date of the Common Stock Offering (with respect
to the shares of Common Stock received by it in the Equity-Indebtedness Exchange), and each of Kawasaki
(with respect to its remaining shares), Armco and Mr. Graham has agreed for a period of 180 days after the
Common Stock Offering, that it or he will not, without the prior written consent of CS First Boston, as
representative of the U.S. Underwriters, and CSFB, on behalf of the Managers, offer, sell, contract to sell or
otherwise dispose of any Common Stock or preferred stock or any substantially similar securities of the
Company or any security convertible into or exchangeable for such Common Stock or preferred stock or
similar securities other than to the U.S. Underwriters or the Managers pursuant to the Underwriting and the
Subscription Agreements, upon the exercise of an option or warrant or the conversion of securities outstanding

on the date hereof or pursuant to employee benefit plans (including stock ownership plans, stock ownership
trusts and stock purchase plans).

Prior to the Common Stock Offering, there has been no public market for the Common Stock. The initial
price to the public for the shares of Common Stock will be determined by negotiation among the Company,
CS First Boston, as representative of the U.S. Underwriters, and CSFB, on behalf of the Managers, and will
be based on, among other things, the Company’s financial and operating history and condition, its prospects

and the prospects for its industry in general, the management of the Company and the market prices for
securities of companies in businesses similar to that of the Company.

The Common Stock has been approved for quotation on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol
“AKST", subject to notice of issuance.
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LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the Common Stock will be passed upon for the Company by Weil, Gotshal & Manges (a
partnership including professional corporations), New York, New York, and for the U.S. Underwriters and
the Managers by Winthrop, Stimson, Putnam & Roberts, New York, New York.

EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements of Armco Steel Company, L.P. and Subsidiaries as of Decem-
ber 31, 1991, 1992 and 1993 and for cach of the years in the four year period ended December 31, 1993
included in this Prospectus and the related financial statement schedules included elsewhere in the
Registration Statement of which this Prospectus is a part have been audited by Deloitte & Touche,
independent auditors, as stated in their reports appearing herein and elsewhere in the Registration Statement
(which reports express unqualified opinions and include explanatory paragraphs relating to the change in the
method of accounting for retiree health care and life insurance benefits), and are included in reliance upon the
reports of such firm'given upon their authority as experts in accounting and auditing.

The balance sheet of AK Steel Holding Corporation as of December 31, 1993 included in this Prospectus
has been audited by Deloitte & Touche, independent auditors, as stated in their report appearing herein and is
included in reliance upon the report of such firm given upon their authority as experts in accounting and
auditing. ’

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

The Company has filed with the Commission in Washington, D.C., a Registration Statement on
Form S-1 under the Securities Act with respect to the Common Stock Offering, and the Company and AK
Steel have filed with the Commission a Registration Statement on Form S-1 under the Securities Act with
respect to the Senior Notes Offering. For the purposes hereof, the term “Registration Statement”™ means the
original Registration Statement and any and all amendments thereto. This Prospectus, which constitutes a
part of the Registration Statement with respect to the Common Stock Offering, does not contain all the
information set forth in that Registration Statement and the exhibits and schedules thereto, to which reference
is hereby made. Statements made in this Prospectus as to the contents of any contract, agreement or other
document are not necessarily complete; with respect to cach contract, agreement or other document filed as an
exhibit to the Registration Statement with respect to the Common ‘Stock Offering, reference is made to the
exhibit for a more complete description of the matter involved.

The Company will be subject to the periodic reporting and other informational requirements of the
Seccurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act™), and in accordance therewith will file
reports and other information with the Commission. The Registration Statement with respect to the Common
Stock Offering and the exhibits thereto as well as the periodic reports, proxy statements and other information
filed by the Company with the Commission may be inspected and copied at the public reference facilities
maintained by the Commission at Room 1024, 450 Fifth Strect, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549, or at its
regional offices located at Northwestern Atrium Center, 500 West Madison Street, Suite 1400, Chicago,
Illinois 60661, and Seven World Trade Center, 13th Floor, New York, New York 10048. Copies of such
material can be obtained from the public reference section of the Commission at 450 Fifth Street, N.W.,
Washington, D.C. 20549, at prescribed rates.
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ARMCO STEEL COMPANY, L.P.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollars in millions)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation — Armco Steel Company, L.P. (the “Company™) is a limited partnership formed
pursuant to an agreement dated as of March 24, 1989 (the “Joint Venture Agreement™) between Armco Inc.
(“Armco”) and Kawasaki Steel Corporation (*‘Kawasaki™). The general partner of the Company is AK Steel
Corporation (the “General Partner”), formerly AK Management Corporation, a Delaware corporation owned
one-half by each of AJV Investments Corp., a Delaware corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of Armco
and KSCA, Incorporated, a Delaware corporation and indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Kawasaki. The
limited partners of the Company are Armco and Kawasaki Steel Investments, Inc., a Delaware corporation
and indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Kawasaki (“KSI").

Under the Joint Venture Agreement, on May 13, 1989, Armco sold certain assets, propertics and business
of its Eastern Steel Division (“Predecessor”) to KSI for $350.0. Simultaneously, KSI contributed the
purchased assets, properties and business to the Company in exchange for a 39.5% limited partnership interest.
Armco transferred to the Company substantially all of the remaining assets, propertics and business of
Predecessor and the Company also assumed certain of Armco’s liabilities and obligations related to or arising
out of Predecessor and its properties, assets and the conduct of Predecessor business for a 59.5% limited
partnership interest. On May 14, 1990, KSI made a cash contribution to the Company of $70.0. On May 13,
1991 and October 4, 1991, KSI contributed another $70.0 and $33.8, respectively. The latter contribution was
in satisfaction of its obligation to make an additional $35.0 capital contribution on March 15, 1992, without
any change in its limited partnership interest. As a result of these contributions, on May 14, 1990, KSI's
limited partnership interest increased to 44.5% with a corresponding reduction in Armco’s interest and on
May 13, 1991, KSI's limited partnership interest increased, and Armco’s limited partnership interest
decreased, to 49.5%. The General Partner has a 1.0% general partnership interest in the Company.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Company include the net assets acquired at
formation from Armco and Kawasaki on the basis of Armco’s and Kawasaki’s historical cost, and the changes
in the net assets of the Company subsequent to the formation, and the results of operations, partners’ capital
(deficit) and the cash flows for the periods since inception on such historical cost basis. Kawasaki's historical
cost was based on the purchase price paid on May 13, 1989 by Kawasaki for its 40% interest in the net assets
of the Company. Armco’s historical cost is based on the book value of net assets contributed on May 13, 1989
by Armco for its 60% interest in the Company, adjusted for changes resulting from the 5% reductions in
limited partnership interest effective May 14, 1990 and May 13, 1991.

The Company consists of the operations and accounts of the Middletown Works, Ashland Works,
Headquarters and ASC Investments, Inc. and its group of wholly-owned subsidiaries, (the “ASCII group”).
With plants in Middictown, Ohio, and Ashland, Kentucky, the Company provides coated, high strength, low
carbon fiat-rolled steels to the automotive, appliance, construction, and service center markets primarily in the

Midwest. The Company had one major customer that accounted for 23.0%, 27.9%, 23.0% and 22.5% of its net
sales in 1990, 1991, 1992 and 1993, respectively.

Armco and Kawasaki agreed to share a portion of the 1992 Special Charges and Unusual Items
(see Note 8) unequally with Armco being allocated 74.5%, Kawasaki 24.5% and the General Partner 1.0%.

On August 31, 1992, the Company acquired a 50% ownership interest in Southwestern Ohio Steel, L.P.
(SOS), a joint venture to which substantially all of the businesses of Southwestern Ohio Steel, Inc. and SOS
Leveling Company, Inc. were transferred by Armco. The Company's interest in SOS was funded through
capital contributions from Kawasaki, in the form of cash of $11.1, and from Armco, in the form of a 25%
ownership interest in SOS with an estimated fair value of $11.1.
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